

6TH CRITICAL APPROACHES TO DISCOURSE ANALYSIS ACROSS DISCIPLINES CONFERENCE

CADAAD 2016

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

EDITED BY MARCO VENUTI AND ANTONIO FRUTTALDO

UNIVERSITY OF CATANIA

Scientific Committee

STEFANIA ARCARA University of Catania

DAVIDE BENNATO University of Catania

PIOTR CAP University of Łód

DONATA CUCCHIARA University of Catania

LOUIS DE SAUSSURE University of Neuchâtel

BERNHARD FORCHTNER University of Leicester

SIMON GOODMAN Coventry University

DARREN KELSEY Newcastle University

VERONIKA KOLLER Lancaster University

CRISTINA LA ROSA University of Catania

DAVID MACHIN Örebro University

KIERAN O'HALLORAN KING's College London

STEVE OSWALD University of Fribourg

GIULIANA RUSSO University of Catania PAUL BAKER Lancaster University

CINZIA BEVITORI University of Bologna

MARIA CARRERAS University of Murcia

MANUELA D'AMORE University of Catania

PAOLO DONADIO University of Naples Federico II

FEDERICO GASPARI University for Foreigners of Reggio Calabria "Dante Alighieri"

IAIN HALLIDAY University of Catania

MAJID KHOSRAVINIK Newcastle University

NELYA KOTEYKO Queen Mary University of London

MARIA GRAZIA NICOLOSI University of Catania

GERLINDE MAUTNER Vienna University of Economics and Business

CLAUDIA OLIVIERI University of Catania

CARLO PENNISI University of Catania

CHRISTINA SCHÄFFNER Aston University GIUSEPPE BALIRANO University of Naples 'L'Orientale'

MARIAVITA CAMBRIA University of Messina

MIRELLA CASSARINO University of Catania

DEBORAH DE FELICE University of Catania

LAURA FILARDO-LLAMAS University of Valladolid

GIUSEPPE GIURA University of Palermo

CHRISTOPHER HART Lancaster University

OLIVIA KNAPTON University of Birmingham

MICHAŁ KRZY ANOWSKI Örebro University

FELICITAS MACGILCHRIST Georg-August-Universität Göttingen

ANDREAS MUSOLFF University of East Anglia

FLORIANA PUGLISI University of Catania

JOHN RICHARDSON Loughborough University

MARIA GRAZIA SINDONI University of Messina CHRISTINE SING Vienna University of Economics and Business

ARRAN STIBBE University of Gloucestershire JOHNNY UNGER Lancaster University

MARCO VENUTI University of Catania FRANCESCA VIGO University of Catania

ENZO IERNA

University of Catania

PAOLO VILLANI University of Salerno

RUTH WODAK Lancaster University

Organising Committee

ANTONIO FRUTTALDO University of Naples Federico II

VALERIA MONELLO University of Catania

University of Catania

OFFICINE CULTURALI SERVIZI S.R.L.

FABIOLA MARASSÀ University of Catania

ANGELA ZOTTOLA University of Naples Federico II

Conference volunteers

Student volunteers have played a crucial role in ensuring the success of CADAAD 2016 and in supporting the overall conference and conference attendees. A special mention is reserved for the following undergraduate, graduate and postgraduate students that have helped with the organisation of the conference thanks to their enthusiasm, friendliness, and reliability:

MARIANNA ALÙ	MARCO BONFIGLIO	GIORGIA BUFFARDECI
University of Catania	University of Catania	University of Catania
ROBERTA GRAZIANA CARRUBBA University of Catania	RICHARD CAVALLARO University of Catania	ESTER DI SILVESTRO University of Catania
SALVATORE D'URSO	SARA ELENA FABBIO	GIULIA FILÍ
University of Catania	University of Catania	University of Catania
ANGELA FIMMANÒ	MARIANGELA FISICARO	ROBERTO GAMBINO
University of Catania	University of Catania	University of Catania
GIULIANA GIUMMULÈ	GIULIA LICCIARDELLO	ALFIO GIULIO LOMBARDO
University of Catania	University of Catania	University of Catania
Samantha Longo	FRANCESCA MACCARRONE	Federica Mendolia

University of Catania

University of Catania

NADINE NAUMAVA University of Catania

PILAR ANDREA PIACENTI University of Catania

LORIANA RUGGERI University of Catania

CHIARA TURIANO University of Catania WANG NAN University of Malaya

ANNARITA GIUSY PIAZZA University of Catania

CARMEN SERENA SANTONOCITO University of Catania GIUSEPPE PATTI University of Catania

MARIAPAOLA PUGLISI University of Catania

GIORGIAMICHELA SORTINO University of Catania

The Conference is sponsored by







The Conference is organised together with





CONTENTS

PLENARIES

IS A HER-STORY OF SCIENCE POSSIBLE? THE DOUBLE BIND EFFECT IN THE PRETENDED GENDER NEUTRALITY OF SCIENCE DISCOURSE Maria Carmela Agodi	3
STAGING THE EXEMPLARY SPEAKER: LANGUAGE-IDEOLOGICAL DISCOURSES IN A MEDIATIZED AGE Jannis Androutsopoulos	4
CLIMATE CHANGE, ENERGY POLICY, AND THE 'ARGUMENTATIVE TURN' IN CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF POLICYMAKING. ANALYSING THE DEBATE OVER FRACKING FOR SHALE GAS IN THE UK Isabella Fairclough and Norman Fairclough	6
ROUGH CROSSINGS AND SAFE HAVENS: ON THE CHALLENGES OF INTERDISCIPLINARY DISCOURSE STUDIES <i>Gerlinde Mautner</i>	7
QUEERING CRITIQUE – DISCOURSE, BODY, AFFECT Tommaso Milani	8
CORPUS-ASSISTED DISCOURSE STUDIES (CADS) Alan Partington	9
PANELS	
MULTIMODAL RESEMIOTISATIONS ACROSS MEDIA: UNPACKING MEANINGS AND UNVEILING IDEOLOGIES Convenors: <i>Maria Grazia Sindoni and Sandra Petroni</i> Discussant: <i>Kay L. O'Halloran</i>	13
LANGUAGING THE OTHER IN TV SERIES Convenors: Mariavita Cambria and Marco Venuti Discussant: Stefania Rimini	15
DISCOURSE SPACE AND EVALUATION ACROSS DISCIPLINES AND DOMAINS Convenors: Bertie Kaal and Laura Filardo-Llamas	17
DISCOURSES FROM LATIN AMERICA & THE CARIBBEAN: CURRENT CONCEPTS AND CHALLENGES Convenors: Eleonora Esposito, José Manuel Ferreiro Gómez and Carolina Pérez Discussant: Luisa Martín Rojo	19



CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSES OF THE UK GENERAL ELECTION OF 2015 Convenor: Simon Goodman Discussant: Adrian Coyle	21
MIGRATION DISCOURSES ACROSS LANGUAGES, SOCIETIES AND DISCOURSE COMMUNITIES Convenors: Charlotte Taylor and Melani Schröter	23
CRITICAL APPROACHES TO SUSTAINABILITY Convenor: <i>Douglas Ponton</i>	25
DISCOURSES OF EDUCATIONAL [DYS][U]TOPIAS: INTERCULTURALITY AND IDEOLOGY Convenors: Fred Dervin and Ashley Simpson	27
COMMUNICATING THE 'CULTURAL POLITICS' OF THE EXTREME RIGHT Convenors: Bernhard Forchtner and Christoffer Kølvraa Discussant: Michał Krzyżanowski	28
LEGAL TEXTS, LEGAL CULTURES AND PROCEDURES: THEORETICAL AND METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES	30
Convenors: Deborah De Felice, Giuseppe Giura and Carlo Pennisi Discussants: David Nelken and Marina Kurkchiyan	
SOCIAL MEDIA DISCOURSES: MULTIMODALITY, INTERDICIPLINARITY AND CRITIQUE Convenors: <i>Majid KhosraviNik and Darren Kelsey</i>	32
Multi(Inter)cultural School in Inclusive Societies? Critical Discourses and Interdisciplinary Approach Convenors: Liana M. Daher, Augusto Gamuzza and Anna Maria Leonora	33
CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS	
SHOPPING AS 'BEST PRACTICE' – ANALYZING WALMART'S SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES Lucia Abbamonte and Flavia Cavaliere	37
OFFICE ARCHITECTURE AND THE SPATIAL IDEOLOGY OF POST-FORDISM David Adler	38
GUILT TRIP: EMOTION, IDENTITY, AND POWER IN MIGRANT DISCOURSE Alwin C. Aguirre	38
COERCIVE AND CONDUCIVE QUESTIONS AND THEIR LEGAL-PRAGMATIC FUNCTIONS IN MALAYSIAN CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS: A CORPUS-BASED FORENSIC DISCOURSE ANALYSIS Nurshafawati Ahmad Sani	39
"Put on Record (POR)" questions: A prosecutor's tool in Egyptian Interrogations Neveen Al Saeed	40



STRATEGIES OF LEGITIMIZATION: THE CASE OF WOMEN DRIVING IN SAUDI ARABIA Hani Alamri	41
MANAGERIAL DISCOURSE IN KUWAITI FINANCIAL ORGANIZATIONS: A CASE STUDY Fatma AlHaidari	42
SYNERGIZING THE ODD: INTEGRATING CORPUS LINGUISTICS AND DISCOURSE ANALYSIS Sadiq Altamimi Almaged	43
THE ROLE OF LANGUAGE IN THE CONSTRUCTION OF MUSLIM IDENTITY IN FAMILY INTERACTION IN SAUDI ARABIA: A STUDY OF INTERTEXTUALITY AND POWER Iman Almulla	44
"ISLAMIC" FEMININITIES: A CLOSE LOOK AT THE FEMALE PROTAGONISTS REPRESENTED IN THE QURAN'S NARRATIVES <i>Taira Amin</i>	45
COMBINING CORPUS AND QUALITATIVE DATA TO STUDY ANTHROPOMORPHISM IN DISCOURSE ABOUT ANIMALS <i>Clyde Ancarno</i>	45
"To pose as a chef" – Visual and textual representations of masculinity in cookbooks Helen Andersson and Göran Eriksson	46
NUMEROCRACY. HIGHER EDUCATION IN THE NEOLIBERAL GOVERNMENTALITY Johannes Angermuller	47
DOING GOOD BY LOOKING GOOD: DISCOURSES OF SUSTAINABLE FASHION AND FASHIONABLE SUSTAINABILITY IN THE SWEDISH PRESS Johanna Arnesson	48
EFL TEXTBOOKS AND IDENTITY CONSTRUCTION AMONG ARABIC/HEBREW SPEAKERS Muzna Awayed-Bishara	49
"ANGELA'S FACEBOOK PARTY": MEDIA DISCOURSE ON THE REFUGEE CRISIS AND COMMENTATORS COUNTER NARRATIVES Fabienne Baider, Sharon Millar and Monika Kopytowska	50
CONTESTATIONS AGAINST A NEW DOMINANT DISCOURSE IN POSTMODERNITY. THE CONTRIBUTION OF THE ANTI-GENDER MOVEMENT IN ITALY Daniela Bandelli	51
"MOTHERS TODAY HAVE DIFFICULT CHOICES TO MAKE": IDEOLOGIES OF MOTHERHOOD IN CONTEMPORARY ISRAELI TV COMMERCIALS Sigal Barak-Brandes	51



USING NON-STANDARD LANGUAGE TO REPRESENT DIVERSITY AND 'OTHERNESS' IN CONTEMPORARY US TELEVISION SERIES Monika Bednarek	52
FASHION ON WHEELS AS A SUBJECT OF DISABILITY AND FASHION DISCOURSES Natalia Berger	53
CONSTRUCTING CORPORATE SELF-IDENTITY AND RELATIONSHIPS WITH READERS: THE USE OF INTERPERSONAL RESOURCES IN THE CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) AND INTEGRATED ANNUAL (IA) REPORTS OF SIX SOUTH AFRICAN COMPANIES Taryn Bernard	54
STUDENTS' INTERCULTURAL COMPETENCES IN ITALY AND GREECE Rita Bertozzi and Eugenia Arvantis	55
THE GRAMMAR OF MONEY: A DISCURSIVE INSTITUTIONAL ANALYSIS OF MONEY IN LIGHT OF THE PRACTICE OF COMPLEMENTARY CURRENCIES Leander Bindewald and Jem Bendell	56
(CO-)CONSTRUCTING COMMUNITY-IDENTITY: PRO-INNOCENT VOICES IN THE MEREDITH KERCHER MURDER CASE Maria Bortoluzzi	57
THE DISCURSIVE RESURGENCE OF THE 'COMMUNIST ENEMY': THE USE OF GRAMSCIAN THOUGHT IN THE GREEK EXTREME RIGHT RHETORIC Salomi Boukala	58
PREACHING FROM A DISTANT PULPIT: THE EUROPEAN MIGRANT CRISIS SEEN THROUGH A New York Times editorial and reader comments Michael S. Boyd	59
TOWARDS A COMMON MODEL OF POLITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS Michael S. Boyd and Laura Filardo-Llamas	60
A GRAMMAR OF RESISTANCE: USING COGNITIVE GRAMMAR TO ACCOUNT FOR RESISTANT READING Sam Browse	61
How discourse analysis and conceptual metaphor analysis can aid the deconstruction of linguistic conflict discourses – The case of Valencia <i>Hanna Budig</i>	62
CASAPOUND ITALIA BETWEEN TRADITIONALISM AND VALUES-HYBRIDIZATION Giorgia Bulli	63
UNVEILING EUROPEAN ATTITUDES IN THE CATALAN PRO-INDEPENDENCE PROCESS Gonzalo Calle Rosingana and Cristina Perales-García	63



TRACKING CATEGORIES AND CONCEPTS IN INTERNATIONAL MIGRATION AND DEVELOPMENT DISCOURSES Beatriz Campillo-Carrete	64
THE INTERPLAY OF NEWS DISCOURSE AND READERS' COMMENTS IN THE COMMUNICATIVE CONSTRUCTION OF CITIZENSHIP Anabela Carvalho and Zara Pinto-Coelho	65
PROXIMIZATION IN HEALTH DISCOURSE Piotr Cap	66
THE HOODED STUDENT AS A METAPHOR: MULTIMODAL RECONTEXTUALIZATIONS OF THE ACTIONS AND MOTIVES OF MEMBERS OF THE CHILEAN STUDENT MOVEMENT IN A BROADCAST NEWS REPORT <i>Camila Cárdenas and Carolina Pérez</i>	67
ARGUMENTATIVE PATTERNS ACROSS CONTEXTS: DEBATING THE ROMANIAN DIASPORA'S RIGHT TO VOTE ABROAD <i>Alexandru Cârlan</i>	68
"I DON'T THINK THERE IS ANY MORAL BASIS FOR TAKING MONEY AWAY FROM PEOPLE": AN EXPLORATION OF NEOLIBERAL POSITIONS ON TAXATION <i>Philippa Carr and Simon Goodman</i>	69
Law, Language and Institutional Analysis Francesca Anna Maria Caruso	69
A CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF YOUTUBE VIDEO COMMENTS ON OCCUPY CENTRAL BY MAINLAND AND HONG KONG CHINESE <i>Meilin Chen and John Flowerdew</i>	70
GENDERING 'TEXT' AND 'PLACE' IN FACEBOOK BRAND PAGE: A MIXED METHOD ANALYSIS Huey Fen Cheong	72
MULTIMODAL STORYTELLING IN THE MEDIA: THE VISUAL REPRESENTATION OF THE ROMA IN THE DAILY MAIL Jan Chovanec	73
WHY ROB A BANK IN THE COMMUNIST REGIME? MEMORY AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF PLAUSIBILITY ACROSS CINEMATIC GENRES <i>Mălina Ciocea and Alexandru Cârlan</i>	74
A CORPUS-BASED ANALYSIS OF TRANSITIVITY PATTERNS IN NEWSPAPER TEXTS ON BENEFIT CLAIMANTS	75

Ben Clarke



REFERRING TO THE CHILD IN THE "CONVENTION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD" IN JAPANESE. A LEXICAL AND DISCURSIVE APPROACH Chantal Claudel and Isabelle Konuma	76
AN ANALYSIS OF THE MASS MEDIA DYNAMICS ON THE WORLD OF LABOR: THE ITALIAN CASE <i>Vanesa Coscia</i>	77
"It's not all demons and devils, you know": Dilemmatic moments in Pentecostal and Evangelical Christian talk about (people with) mental health conditions <i>Adrian Coyle</i>	78
THE UNDERESTIMATED TREASURE: DIVERSITY AT SCHOOL THROUGH THE NEEDS OF TEACHERS. INSIGHTS FROM A FIELDWORK Liana M. Daher, Augusto Gamuzza and Anna Maria Leonora	79
LEGAL CULTURE AND LOCAL CONTEXT: SOME EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE Deborah De Felice and Giuseppe Giura	80
DISCOURSING ABOUT EXCELLENT RESEARCH IN AUSTRALIA: IDEOLOGICAL FOUNDATIONS, INTERCULTURAL IMPLICATIONS AND DYSTOPIAN POSSIBILITIES Barbara de la Harpe and Patrick A. Danaher	80
FRAMING ARGUMENTATIVE MOVES IN FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSIONS: A CRITICAL-ANALYTICAL PERSPECTIVE Kamila Dębowska-Kozłowska	81
THE CONSTRUAL OF CONFLICT: LANGUAGE AND JUDGMENT Mikołaj Deckert	82
"WORSE THAN THE WEAPON INDUSTRY"? NARRATIVES OF VICARIOUS EXPERIENCE IN A EUROPEAN PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANY Jana Declercq and Geert Jacobs	83
NATIONALISM AND DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS OF BORDERS IN THE 2016 UNITED STATES PRESIDENTIAL CAMPAIGN Massimiliano Demata	84
"IT IS LIKE READING AN EXTENDED STUDENT ESSAY": REACTIONS TO CRITIQUES ABOUT THE MIRACLE' AND 'UNORTHODOXY' OF FINNISH EDUCATION <i>Fred Dervin and Ashley Simpson</i>	85
METAPHOR AND MYTH: CONSTRUCTING AN IDEOLOGICAL FRAMEWORK FOR THE PLACE AND ROLE OF THE US IN THE WORLD <i>Frederick J. DiCamilla</i>	85
At the borders of gender: Feminisms and governing of migration in contemporary Italy <i>Stefania Donzelli</i>	86



NARRATIVES OF SUSTAINABLE BUSINESSES AND CONSUMERS: A CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF ARTICLES IN "THE GROCER" Ulrike Ehgartner	87
SUBVERTING STEREOTYPES ON MENTAL ILLNESS: THE DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTION OF BIPOLAR ON YOUTUBE Shaimaa El Naggar	88
LEGITIMATING ACTION THROUGH STRATEGIC MANEUVERING: A FRAMEWORK FOR INTEGRATING THE DISCOURSE-HISTORICAL APPROACH (DHA) AND PRAGMA-DIALECTICS Rania Elnakkouzi	89
PAYING THE BLACK DEBT: THE CARICOM DISCOURSE ON SLAVERY, REMEMBRANCE AND REPARATIONS <i>Eleonora Esposito</i>	90
ENGAGING ELEMENTARY SCHOOL STUDENTS IN UNCOVERING STEREOTYPES IN CHILDREN'S BOOKS WHILE LEARNING A SECOND LANGUAGE Johanna Esquivel	91
DISCOURSE STRATEGIES IN GOVERNANCE GENRES: HOW CORPORATIONS MANAGE ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL CRISIS Gaetano Falco	92
WHAT CONSTITUTES CONSTITUTIONS: ON THE SOCIO-LEGAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN CONSTITUTIONS AND LEGAL PLURALISM <i>Alberto Febbrajo</i>	93
APPROACHING THE SPECIFICITY OF POLITICAL DISCOURSE IN THE ADVANCED READING CLASSROOM: A CRITICAL ANALYSIS OF TWO U.S. PRESIDENTIAL SPEECHES ON THE ISSUE OF MARRIAGE EQUALITY Rodolfo Fenoglio and Laura Bottiglieri	93
STRATEGIC LITIGATIONS IN IMMIGRATION MATTER: HAPPY ISLANDS OR VEHICLES FOR SYSTEMIC CHANGE? Valeria Ferraris	94
THE DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTION OF A LATIN AMERICAN IDENTITY IN THE UN MISSION IN HAITI (2004–2015) José Manuel Ferreiro	95
TAKE ME TO CHURCH OR TO OTHER SPACES. AN ANALYSIS OF RE-CONTEXTUALIZED MEANINGS IN POP SONGS. A CASE STUDY Laura Filardo-Llamas and Laura Hidalgo-Downing	96
IDENTITY, POSITIONING AND POLITICAL MARKETING IN TELEVISED LEADERS' DEBATES Anthony Fisher	97



UNDERSTANDING HONG KONG OCCUPY: A DISCOURSE APPROACH John Flowerdew	98
UNPACKING FAR-RIGHT DISCOURSES ABOUT CLIMATE CHANGE: SCEPTICISM AND DENIAL BY ANTI-IMMIGRATION AND NATIONAL SOCIALIST ACTORS IN GERMANY Bernhard Forchtner	99
RADICAL IMAGINARIES: MULTIMODAL REPRESENTATIONS OF 'HISTORY' AND 'NATURE' ON GERMAN EXTREME RIGHT FACEBOOK PAGES Bernhard Forchtner and Christoffer Kølvraa	100
PREPARING HIGHER EDUCATION STUDENTS FOR THE 'WORLD OF WORK'. CAREERS ADVISERS' EXPERT ROLES IN UK UNIVERSITIES: A CRITICAL CORPUS-BASED DISCOURSE ANALYSIS Maria Fotiadou	100
THE NORMALIZATION AND ESTRANGEMENT OF OCCUPATION: THE ISRAELI WEST BANK POLITICAL DISCOURSE Elie Friedman and Dalia Gavriely Nuri	101
OTHERING TV FICTIONAL CHARACTERS: A CORPUS STYLISTIC APPROACH TO IDENTITY RE- PRESENTATION OF ORGANISED CRIME CHARACTERS IN <i>GOMORRAH – THE SERIES</i> <i>Antonio Fruttaldo</i>	102
USING EXPERIMENTAL METHODS TO ASSESS THE PERSUASIVENESS OF CORPORATIONS' TRUST-REPAIR DISCOURSE STRATEGIES <i>Matteo Fuoli</i>	103
INMATES OR PATIENTS. NURSING RECORDS OF PSYCHATRIC DETENTION Dariusz Galasinski	104
Evo Morales' Discursive Re-Foundation of an Intercultural Abya Yala Katharina Friederike Gallant	105
BETWEEN SELECTION AND CLASSIFICATION: THE ITALIAN MODEL OF CIVIC INTEGRATION WITHIN GOVERNMENTAL PLANNING DOCUMENTS Enrico Gargiulo	106
INTRA-PROFESSIONAL INTERACTION AND THE INSTITUTIONAL IDENTITY OF THE JOURNALIST: THE CASE OF TELEVISION NEWS <i>Lena Gialabouki</i>	107
EMPOWERING EUROPEAN IDENTITY. THE ROLE OF TEACHER AND SOCIO-PEDAGOGICAL DIMENSIONS Adam J. Gogacz, Giorgia Mavica and Elisa Casciaro	108
How POLITICAL PARTIES IN THE UK ORIENT THEMSELVES AROUND BUSINESS Simon Goodman and Philippa Carr	109



CORPUS-DRIVEN ANALYSIS OF THE ZAPATISTA DISCOURSE Isabelle Gribomont	109
Stand for legislative elections. The gender representations in the statements of principles under the French Fifth Republic (1958 – 2007) Magali Guaresi	110
CHANGING NARRATIVES OF CLASS IN PRINT MEDIA DISCOURSES IN THE UNITED KINGDOM, 2007–2013: LANGUAGE OF SOCIAL CLASS, ASPIRATION AND (IN)EQUALITY IN OPINION DISCOURSE OF THE BRITISH QUALITY PRESS Ján Haláček	111
DEFENSIVE SEMIOTIC STRATEGIES IN GOVERNMENT COMMUNICATION: A MULTIMODAL STUDY OF BLAME AVOIDANCE <i>Sten Hansson</i>	112
EXPLORING PRE-SERVICE TEACHERS' CONCEPTUALISATIONS OF ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATION FOR SUSTAINABILITY THROUGH APPRAISAL ANALYSIS: A CASE STUDY IN AN AUSTRALIAN REGIONAL UNIVERSITY Joy Hardy and Nadine McCrea	113
SPACE AND EVALUATION IN DISCOURSE ON POLITICAL PROTESTS: AN EXPERIMENTAL CASE STUDY IN CDA Christopher Hart	114
BETWEEN HATRED AND SOLIDARITY: HOW CO-OCCURRING NOUNS HELP US TO DESCRIBE IDEOLOGICALLY CHARGED CONCEPTS Valerie Hekkel	114
WHO, WHAT AND WHERE IS THE CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYST? Juliet Henderson	115
IDEOLOGICAL CONTENTS AND CONCEPTUAL STRUCTURES OF THE WEATHERMAN MANIFESTO: TOWARD A FRAME SPACE MODEL Jeremy Holland	116
TALKING ABOUT THE JOB: THE INFLUENCE OF MANAGEMENT ON LEADERSHIP DISCOURSES Lise-Lotte Holmgreen and Jeanne Strunck	117
It is completely ok to not be in the fighting spirit mood all the time – Metaphors and normality in Swedish cancer talk <i>Charlotte Hommerberg and Anna W. Gustafsson</i>	118
'IT HAS MADE ME REFLECT ON' STUDENTS' REFLECTIVE WRITING: THE RECONTEXTUALISATION OF POLICY PERFORMED Sarah Horrod	119
GREEN CONFLICTS AS DISCURSIVE STRUGGLES OVER THE COMMON GOOD Anders Horsbøl	120



AN (UN)NECESSARY CRISIS: IAEA'S RESOLUTION ON IRAN'S PMD CASE IN SELECTED IRANIAN NEWSPAPERS Zahra Hosseini Khoo and Helmut Gruber	121
A BLENDING THEORY APPROACH TO POLITICAL CARTOONS IN POST-REVOLUTION EGYPT Wesam M A Ibrahim	122
BREAKING THE SILENCE: COMPARING DISCOURSES OF POSTNATAL DEPRESSION IN THE BRITISH PRESS AND ONLINE SUPPORT GROUPS Sylvia Jaworska and Karen Kinloch	123
FROM SERIOUS CRIME TO MOCKING ENTERTAINMENT: THE SONNET-LIKE VOLTA AND 'VOICING CONTRAST' OF THE CROSS-EXAMINATION TURN IN 19TH CENTURY OLD BAILEY TRIALS <i>Alison Johnson</i>	124
WRESTLING WITH THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN 'I DON'T KNOW' AND 'I DON'T UNDERSTAND' IN DISCOURSES CONCERNING PEOPLE'S DECISIONS NOT TO VOTE IN THE 2015 UK GENERAL ELECTION Susan Jones and Laura Robinson	125
EVERYONE'S A CYNIC: A DISCURSIVE EXAMINATION OF POLITICAL CYNICISM IN MEDIA POLITICAL DEBATE Adam Jowett	125
WORLDVIEWS IN SPACE AND TIME: DIVERSITY IN EVALUATIVE REASONING AND INTENTIONS FOR ACTION Bertie Kaal	126
ALL THE BEST! PERFORMING SOLIDARITY IN POLITICAL DISCOURSE Zohar Kampf	127
POLITICAL CONDEMNATIONS: PUBLIC SPEECH ACTS AND THE MORALIZATION OF DISCOURSE Zohar Kampf and Tamar Katriel	128
FROM MORAL MONOLINGUALISM TO MARKETPLACE MULTILINGUALISM: CONTRASTING POLICY DISCOURSES IN CALIFORNIA'S 1998 BILINGUAL EDUCATION BAN AND THE COMING 2016 REPEAL VOTE Noah Katznelson and Katie A. Bernstein	129
IDEOLOGY, MULTIMODALITY AND THE VISUAL GRAMMAR OF ISIS/DAESH'S NEW MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS Surinderpal Kaur, Su'ad Awab, Majid KhosraviNik and Fauziah Taib	130
"EVERYTHING ELSE IS SOMETHING DIFFERENT": ONLINE CONSTRUCTION OF MARRIAGE IN THE INITIATIVE "IN THE NAME OF THE FAMILY"	131

Ana Kedveš



DISCOURSE, AFFECT AND SURVEILLANCE: GENDER CONFLICT IN THE OMNIOPTICON Darren Kelsey	132
BELONGING, RURAL IDENTITY, 'RED BRICK' ARCHITECTURE AND PREJUDICE: EXAMINING THE WAY RESIDENTS TALK ABOUT THE RURAL NATURE OF THEIR AREA TO THE EXCLUSION OF POLISH MIGRANTS Nathan Kerrigan	132
ATTITUDES OF UKIP VOTERS TOWARDS IMMIGRATION, BEFORE AND AFTER THE 2015 GENERAL ELECTION Nathan Kerrigan and Gavin Sullivan	133
SOCIAL MEDIA CRITICAL DISCOURSE STUDIES (SM-CDS): TOWARDS A CDA APPROACH TO DISCOURSE ANALYSIS ON PARTICIPATORY WEB <i>Majid KhosraviNik</i>	134
HOODLUMS, UPSTARTS AND BOURGEOIS IN RUSSIAN TV SERIES Katharina Klingseis	135
IDEOLOGICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS AND NONSTANDARD ORTHOGRAPHIES Liis Kollamagi	135
GENDERED SEMIOTICS IN THE DISCOURSE OF FEMALE CANCER CHARITIES Veronika Koller	136
"[I]T LOOKS LIKE A COUNTRY, SMELLS LIKE A COUNTRY, TASTES LIKE A COUNTRY": THE EU ON WIKIPEDIA Susanne Kopf	137
COVERING GLOBAL TERRORISM: FROM SPACE TO AXIOLOGY ACROSS NEWS GENRES Monika Kopytowska	138
ABLEISM AT WORK: RECONSTRUCTING BLIND AND PARTIALLY SIGHTED PEOPLE'S PROFESSIONAL IDENTITIES <i>Gerrit Kotzur</i>	138
DISCOURSE OF MIGRATION IN CONTEMPORARY RUSSIAN MASS MEDIA FROM A MULTIMODAL LINGUISTICS PERSPECTIVE Michał Kozdra	139
POLITICISATION, MEDIATISATION AND SOCIAL/ONLINE MEDIA: DISCURSIVE SHIFTS AND THE REFUGEE CRISIS Michał Krzyżanowski	140
THEORIES OF CRISIS AND THE DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF CRISIS CONSTRUCTION <i>Amelie Kutter</i>	141
THE JANUS-FACED HERO: SELF-LEGITIMATION AND IDENTITY CONSTRUCTION IN ROMANIAN POLITICIANS' FACEBOOK POSTS Raluca Levonian	142



COGNITIVE-PRAGMATIC APPROACH TO THE COMMODIFICATION OF SOCIAL MEDIA: CONTEXT MANIPULATION AS A VEHICLE FOR IDEOLOGY <i>Ella Lillqvist and Anu A. Harju</i>	143
"NO SERIOUS ACCIDENT HAPPENED THIS YEAR": VOLUNTARY DISCLOSURES BY CHINESE STATE-OWNED ENTERPRISES INVOLVED IN FATAL WORK ACCIDENTS Yuting Lin	144
TEXTUAL CONSTRUCTIONS OF DESIRE: THE BODY IN ONLINE EROTICA Alon Lischinsky	145
PRODUCING SOLDIER BOY: SPERM DONOR DISCOURSE AND MILITARISM IN ISRAEL Oren Livio	146
THE DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTION OF A POST-9/11 FIELD OF US (IN)SECURITY Malcolm N. MacDonald and Duncan Hunter	147
#ICANTBREATHE. IDEOLOGY AND CONSENSUS: TWITTER VS. THE MEDIA Stefania Maci	148
NATIONALISM IN ITALIAN POLITICAL COMMUNICATION ON TWITTER Eleonora Mamusa	149
AN EXPLORATION OF PROFESSIONAL BORDERS BETWEEN PEER SPECIALISTS AND SOCIAL WORKERS IN COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH SETTINGS <i>Michael A. Mancini</i>	150
SARAH AND TAMMY: BUTCH AND FEMME IN <i>TRANSPARENT</i> Fabiola Marassà and Valeria Monello	151
IMMUNIZATION CRITICS OR ANTI-VAXXERS? A CRITICAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISCOURSE OF THE ANTI-VACCINE MOVEMENT <i>Georg Marko</i>	152
RHETORIC AND DECISION-MAKING IN MEDIA CALLS FOR ACTION: A DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF ADVOCACY CAMPAIGNS Irina Diana Mădroane	153
INDIVIDUAL POSITIONING WORK AND THE MOBILIZATION OF RESPONSIBILITY IN ORGANIZATIONAL DISCUSSIONS ON SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY Elizabeth R. Miller	154
FIGURATIVE LANGUAGE IN THE RIGHT-WING POLISH DISCOURSE ON IMMIGRATION: BETWEEN INNOVATION AND TRADITION Kamila Miłkowska-Samul	155
REPRESENTING 'WHO WE ARE' AND 'WHAT WE DO': A CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF MEDICAL TOURISM WEBSITES IN MALAYSIA Zuraidah Mohd Don and Wang Nan	155



MAY THE FAN BE with You! Languaging Authoriality and Representation between 'Pan-fanaticism' and 'Aug-melted' Reality <i>Ilaria Moschini</i>	156
ANECDOTAL NEWS REPORTING: RECOUNTING ELECTIONEERING EVENTS IN RUNYANKORE- RUKIGA Levis Mugumya	157
'NUDGE' TACTICS IN PREEMPTIVE HEALTH POLICY: MULTIMODAL STRATEGIES OF PERSUASION AND LEGITIMATION IN THE UK 'CHANGE4LIFE' ANTI-OBESITY CAMPAIGN Jane Mulderrig	158
CHANGE MANAGEMENT: THE GRAMMAR IS THE MESSAGE Anne Murphy and Veronika Koller	159
THE POLITICAL CREATION OF UNAUSTRALIANNESS: A CRITICAL STUDY OF IN-GROUP CONSTRUCTION AND SUBVERSION Jill C. Murray	160
IMAGE REPAIR OR SELF-DESTRUCTION? A CORPUS-ASSISTED DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF RESTAURANTS' RESPONSES TO ONLINE REVIEWS Antonella Napolitano and Maria Cristina Aiezza	161
"WOMEN AND WORK": A CROSS-LINGUISTIC CORPUS-ASSISTED DISCOURSE STUDY IN GERMAN AND IN ITALIAN <i>Chiara Nardone</i>	162
SKILLING THE NATION, EMPOWERING THE CITIZEN: NEOLIBERAL LOGIC IN SINGAPORE'S SKILLSFUTURE INITIATIVE Carl Jon Way Ng	163
INVESTIGATING LGBTI ASYLUM CLAIMS IN THE UK: AN ANALYSIS OF THE JUDICIAL REVIEWS Maria Cristina Nisco	164
IDENTITY PRODUCTION IN FAMILY VIDEOCONFERENCES: A MULTIMODAL ANALYSIS Sigrid Norris	165
A CRITICAL EXAMINATION OF HOW <i>THE GUARDIAN</i> CONSTRUED YANIS VAROUFAKIS <i>Gerard O'Grady</i>	167
RESEMIOTISATION ACROSS DIFFERENT MEDIA: FROM BOOK TO STAGE TO SCREEN Kay O'Halloran	167
A POSTHUMAN CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS: EVALUATING PUBLIC SPHERE ARGUMENTS WITH DATA-DRIVEN ETHICAL SUBJECTIVITIES <i>Kieran O'Halloran</i>	168
DISCOURSES OF EXTREMISM IN AN AGE OF TERROR John O'Regan and Anne Betzel	169



JOURNALISTIC DISCOURSE ABOUT GYPSIES IN SPAIN: ANALYZING SHIFTING REPRESENTATIONS FROM THE DEMOCRATIC TRANSITION TO THE PRESENT Joan M. Oleaque Moreno	169
SAPS (SOUTH AFRICAN POLICE SERVICE)-SPEAK. TRANSFORMATION, CONFUSION AND REPRESENTATION OF VOICES IN THE INTERNAL DOCUMENTS OF THE POST-APARTHEID POLICE <i>Claudia Ortu</i>	170
<i>"Le Peril Noir":</i> Sub-Saharan Immigrants in Moroccan Newspapers Mohammed Ouhemmou	172
FROM THEATRE TO DIGITAL PERFORMANCE: RESTAGING, REMEDIATING AND RESEMIOTISING VIA SOCIAL MEDIA Sandra Petroni	173
A NEW POLITICS OF 'FEAR' OR FEAR OF NEW POLITICS? THE CONSTRUCTION OF ANTI-EUISM IN UKIP'S DISCOURSE PRACTICES <i>Giusy Piatto</i>	174
HOW SUSTAINABLE IS THE CONCEPT OF 'SUSTAINABILITY' IN THE TOURISM MARKET? Douglas Mark Ponton and Vincenzo Asero	175
"DISARM THE PATIENTS": ANALYSING AGENCY IN VIOLENCE METAPHORS IN THE ONLINE DISCOURSE OF END-OF-LIFE CARE PROFESSIONALS <i>Amanda Potts</i>	176
THE FORMATION OF ADVOCACY COALITIONS IN THE GERMAN BIOFUEL POLICY: A MEDIA DISCOURSE ANALYSIS Judith Puttkammer and Harald Grethe	177
CRITICAL LANGUAGE ANALYSIS OF PALESTINIAN AND ISRAELI ONLINE JOURNALISM IN THE 2014 GAZA WAR <i>Rami Qawariq</i>	177
HUMAN RIGHTS CULTURE AND CONTENT ANALYSIS Marco A. Quiroz Vitale and Enrico Damiani di Vergada Franzetti	178
THE CONSTRUCTION OF STANCE IN PRE-QUOTATION CLAUSES: REPORTING 'SIGNALS' IN NEWS COVERAGE OF A PUBLIC SECTOR WORKERS' STRIKE IN TWO BOTSWANA NEWSPAPERS <i>Boitshwarelo Rantsudu</i>	179
MAPPING THE DISCOURSE OF PROFESSIONAL IDENTITY AND VALUES OF JOURNALISM STUDENTS, PRACTICING JOURNALISTS AND INDUSTRY <i>Sally Reardon</i>	180
AFFINITY SPACES VS. COMMUNITIES OF PRACTICE IN LANGUAGE DEBATES ON THE INTERNET: THE LINGUISTIC CONSTRUCTION OF A VIRTUAL COMMUNITY Antonio Reyes	181



MAKING 'MEMORY MAKERS': INTERPOLATION, NORM CIRCLES AND THE HOLOCAUST MEMORIAL DAY TRUST John E. Richardson	182
WHAT DOES APPROACHING BRITISH FASCISM AS CULTURE OFFER TO CRITICAL DISCOURSE STUDIES? John E. Richardson	183
USING CDA TO PROVOKE AND STUDY RACIAL LITERACY Rebecca Rogers	184
FROM OPERA TO FILM OPERA: A CASE OF MULTI-LAYERED RESEMIOTISATIONS Fabio Rossi and Maria Grazia Sindoni	185
THE INFLUENCE OF VALUE PRIORITIES ON SELF-CONCEPTS FOR ADAPTATION TO EDUCATIONAL CONTEXT: A STUDY WITH IMMIGRANT ADOLESCENTS Elisabetta Sagone, Maria Elvira De Caroli, Orazio Licciardello and Daniela Damigella	186
HERMENEUTICS OF THE SUBJECT AS MULTIMODAL GLOBALIZED DISCOURSE: GAY COMMEMORATION OF PIERRE SEEL IN THE RECEPTION OF <i>IL ROSA NUDO / THE NAKED ROSE</i> IN ITALY <i>Paul Sambre</i>	187
STUDENT BIOGRAPHIES. UNEXPECTED PATHWAYS OF YOUNG IMMIGRANTS Mariagrazia Santagati	188
A NEW KIND OF PROBATION IN ITALY: EXPERIENCES AND PRACTICES IN THE SOCIO-LEGAL FIELD	188
Chiara Scivoletto WHO IS IN CONTROL OF YOUR SEXUAL HEALTH? A DISCURSIVE EXAMINATION OF SELF- SURVEILLANCE IN HIV AND AIDS PREVENTION CAMPAIGNS Irene Segopolo	189
FRAMING THE PRESIDENT AS AN EFFECTIVE CRISIS MANAGER: A CORPUS-BASED ANALYSIS OF CRISIS RHETORIC IN AMERICAN FOREIGN POLICY DISCOURSE <i>Christine S. Sing</i>	190
HOW SUSTAINABLE EUROPEAN ENERGY COMPANIES ARE: CORPUS-BASED INSIGHTS FROM CORPORATE PRESS RELEASES BY COUNTRY <i>Hanna Skorczynska</i>	191
A "GUTENBERG MOMENT" OR ANOTHER EXAMPLE OF NEW ZEALAND'S DISABILITY DIGITAL DIVIDE? Philippa Smith	192
EXPLORING FRANCOPHONE BELGIANS' LANGUAGE ATTITUDES: A DISCURSIVE ANALYSIS Bénédicte Snyers	193



UTOPIA OF GLOBAL TERTIARY EDUCATION: THE DISCOURSE OF 'CRITICAL THINKING' Xianlin Song and Greg McCarthy	194
TRANSLATING NEWS DISCOURSE ON THE CRIMEAN CONFLICT: WHERE CDA AND TRANSLATION STUDIES MEET Anneleen Spiessens and Piet Van Poucke	195
IF THEY SPEAK IN DIALECT, KNIFE THEM: NORMALIZED AGGRESSION AND (EXTRA)LINGUISTIC CONFLICT IN PROMOTING STANDARD CROATIAN ON NATIONAL TELEVISION Anđel Starčević	196
The construction of roles and responsibility in "Europe's" migrant crisis – A study on news agency reports <i>Maija Stenvall</i>	197
THE DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTION OF LEADERSHIP IN CORRUPT TIMES: REINVENTING THE LEADER <i>Arran Stibbe</i>	198
Power, discourse and 'the international': A Foucauldian discourse analysis of Higher Education strategy at two Scottish universities Dalene Swanson and Emma Guion Akdag	199
MICRO–MESO–MACRO MOVEMENTS: ANALYZING THE VALUE OF TRUTH IN NEO-LIBERAL POLICY TEXTS THROUGH METAPHORS Nadira Talib and Richard Fitzgerald	200
GLOCALIZING SINGAPORE: A CRITICAL ANALYSIS OF SINGAPORE'S NATIONAL DAY RALLY SPEECH Peter Teo	200
STREAM OF CONSEQUENCE: A CRITICAL METAPHOR ANALYSIS OF PARLIAMENTARY DEBATES ABOUT RESTRICTIVE POLITICS TOWARDS BOSNIAN AND SYRIAN ASYLUM-SEEKERS IN NORWAY Jovana Todorovic	201
GENDERED DISCOURSES IN A 'POLICY PACKAGE FOR CREATING A SOCIETY IN WHICH ALL WOMEN SHINE' <i>Ayako Tominari</i>	202
"I SAID WE SHOULD JUST BE FRIENDS": NON-CONFORMING FEMALE DISCOURSE IN MASTERS OF SEX Laura Tommaso	203
THE DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTION OF FEAR BY THE VICTIMS OF THE CHILEAN MILITARY REGIME	203

Elizabeth Torrico-Ávila



Late modern (non) identities. Operationalizing a pragmatic framework in a CDA of online self-representation <i>Eva Triebl</i>	205
CONSTRUCTING HISPANIC MASCULINITY: A CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF NEWS REPORTING IN TWO AMERICAN NEWSPAPERS Tommaso Trillò	206
A DIACHRONIC DISCOURSE ANALYSIS OF WOMEN'S ROLES IN PARTNER RELATIONSHIPS IN FLEMISH WOMEN'S MAGAZINES Maaike Van de Voorde and Martina Temmerman	207
WORLD WAR I IN FRENCH AND GERMAN HISTORY TEXTBOOKS. A WAR WITHOUT BELLIGERENTS? Patricia von Münchow	208
EVALUATION OF 'COMMUNITIES' IN MIGRATION DISCOURSE Marie Veniard, Charlotte Taylor, Melani Schröter and Andreas Blätte	209
THE POLITICS OF ACADEMIC KNOWLEDGE PRODUCTION: MOVEMENTS ACROSS CENTRES AND PERIPHERIES Dimitra Vladimirou and Maria Daskalaki	210
THE CONSTRUCTION OF HIERARCHY IN SECONDARY SCHOOL GROUP ACTIVITIES IN JAPAN: A CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYTIC PERSPECTIVE Zi Wang	211
FROM PROTEST TO MUSIC VIDEO TO ON-LINE VIEWER COMMENTS: SHIFTING POLITICAL DISCOURSE IN SOCIAL PROTEST Lyndon CS Way	211
"A NEW LEVEL": A CORPUS-BASED METHOD FOR THE CRITICAL ANALYSIS OF GENDER- VARIANT IDENTITY REPRESENTATIONS VIA TWITTER <i>Lexi Webster</i>	212
FROM PHONOGRAPH RECORDS TO MOVIES: THE RECONTEXTUALIZATION OF PRE-EXISTING MUSIC INTO FILM SOUNDTRACKS Johnny Wingstedt	213
EVALUATION OF RESEARCH IMPACT AND THE DISCURSIVE CONSTRUCTION OF ACADEMIC ETHOS Marta Natalia Wróblewska	214
COMBINING ARGUMENT RECONSTRUCTION-BASED CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS, COMPUTER-ASSISTED DATA ANALYSIS (NVIVO) & CORPUS ANALYSIS: A NEW APPROACH TO STUDYING LARGE BODIES OF POLITICAL TEXTS Rachel Wyman	215



CREATING THE UTOPIA OF AN 'ASIAN EDUCATION' IN THE FRENCH MEDIA: A JOURNEY INTO NOSTALGIA <i>E-Lynn Yeow and Regis Machart</i>	216
DIALOGIC ANALYSIS OF DISCOURSES OF FAMILIAL LOVE IN RUSSIAN CULTURE Olga Zaytseva	216
TRANSGENDER IN THE SPOTLIGHT. THE OTHER-REPRESENTATION OF TRANS PEOPLE IN THE BRITISH PRESS: A CORPUS-BASED DISCOURSE ANALYSIS Angela Zottola	217



Plenaries





Is a her-story of Science possible? The double bind effect in the pretended gender neutrality of science discourse

Maria Carmela Agodi Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II mariacarmela.agodi@unina.it

The presentation addresses the contribution of discourse analysis to science studies and to 'women-in-science' as a research topic.

The first one results in revealing the multi-layered and complex nature of scientific discourse, contrasting the dominant view presenting it as a consistently evolving account about nature from which experiments eliminate inconsistencies and paradoxes.

The second one points to the embeddedness of gender issues in the structural and organizational relationships shaping scientific and academic environments, notwithstanding dominant accounts relegating them to the private sphere while concealing the gendered character of the social organization of techno-science. General support given to the still prevailing view of the scientific endeavour as a gender-neutral one makes it difficult the overcoming of the private/public dichotomy for a positive confrontation with the relevance of the gender dimension in scientific practice.

The relevance of the private-public dichotomy to the definition of science as public knowledge, together with the ambivalence surrounding the shifting borders between its implied demarcations, when confronted with the changing gender order, generate communication entanglements and control mechanisms which can be understood through the concept of "double bind". The concept, first used by the anthropologist Gregory Bateson in discussing the complexity of social communication and its relatedness to the non-organic causes of schizophrenia, is well known in psychology but also relevant in communication studies. It denotes a distressful dilemma in communication, stemming from two contextual messages, the one negating the other, received within an asymmetrical power relationship. People subject to it, can neither be positively responsive nor opt out of the confusing situation, being caught in a paradoxical and confusing situation

Discourse analysis shows to be an analytical perspective well suited to reveal a her-story of silenced scientific knowledge implied and concealed within the history of science and within scientific discourse, since its beginning. Key male scientists as Kepler and Boyle appear as part of the non-linear path through which science emerged as a gendered enterprise, while at the same time being presented as a universal endeavour.

Contemporary women scientists' accounts of their biographical trajectories – at the micro level – and official documents about the gender gap in science – at the macro level – when analysed through discourse analysis, both reveal this double bind effect.

Do feminist science studies offer adequate ways to overcome this double bind effect? Is it possible to make explicit the implicit her-story of science? Some suggestions toward a possible answer are looked for while applying discourse analysis to some of the most cited texts dealing with women in science as a scientific topic.



Staging the exemplary speaker: Language-ideological discourses in a mediatized age

Jannis Androutsopoulos Universität Hamburg jannis.androutsopoulos@uni-hamburg.de

Discourses about language in society are a point of convergence between language ideology research and critical discourse analysis, two paradigms that evolved independently of one another but share a number of interests around the nexus of language, power and representation (Blommaert 1999, Blackledge 2005, Milani and Jonson 2008). These two paradigms differ in their orientation to media discourse data. Much CDA work is concerned with newspaper data, leaving the role of multimodality in metalinguistic discourses largely unexplored. Language-ideologies research examines semiotic principles of ideology formation that operate across modalities of language (Irvine and Gal 2000) and the role of audiovisual representations in the discursive construction of exemplary speakers, which in turn are central to enregisterment (Agha 2003, 2007, Androutsopoulos 2014). Navigating between these two paradigms, my aim in this talk is to emphasise the importance of multimodal resources and multimedia representations in language-ideological discourses. Drawing on the representation of regional dialects and multi-ethnic registers of German (Androutsopoulos 2010, 2011, 2013), I focus on three claims:

- In mediatized societies, language-ideological discourses evolve in a reciprocal indexical tie between mediated representations and metalinguistic discourses on the ground, each becoming meaningful by indexing the other.
- Mediated representations of linguistic differentiation draw on multimodal staging techniques, such as language/image compositions, montage, overlay, and subtitling, which are relevant in how performed registers of speech and their exemplary speakers are labelled, contrasted, and evaluated.
- Social media offer new opportunities of active participation in language-ideological discourses, thereby fragmenting the traditional monopoly of mass-media organisations in producing metalinguistic representations and shaping language ideologies.

References

Agha, Asif (2003) The social life of cultural value. Language and Communication 23: 231-73.

Agha, Asif (2007) Language and social relations. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Androutsopoulos, Jannis (2010) Ideologizing ethnolectal German. In: Sally Johnson and Tommaso M. Milani (eds) *Language ideologies and media discourse*, 182–202. London: Continuum.
- Androutsopoulos, Jannis (2011) Die Erfindung, des' Ethnolekts. Zeitschrift für Literaturwissenschaft und Linguistik 164, 93–120.
- Androutsopoulos, Jannis (2013) Participatory culture and metalinguistic discourse: Performing and negotiating German dialects on YouTube. In: Deborah Tannen and Anna Marie Trester (eds) *Discourse 2.0. Language and new media*, 47–71. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press.
- Androutsopoulos, Jannis (ed. 2014) Mediatization and sociolinguistic change. Berlin/Boston: de Gruyter.
- Blackledge, Adrian (2005) Discourse and power in a multilingual world. Amsterdam/ Philadelphia: Benjamins.
- Blommaert, Jan (1999) The debate is open. In: Jan Blommaert (ed.) *Language ideological debates*, 1–38. Berlin/New York: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Irvine, Judith T. and Susan Gal (2000) Language ideology and linguistic differentiation. In: Paul V. Kroskrity (ed.) *Regimes of language: Ideologies, polities, and identities*, 35–84. Santa Fe: School of American Research Press.



Milani, Tommaso M. / Sally Johnson (2008) CDA and language ideology – towards a reflexive approach to discourse data. In: Warnke, Ingo H. and Jürgen Spitzmüller (eds), *Methoden der Diskurslinguistik*, 361–384. Berlin/New York: de Gruyter.



Climate change, energy policy, and the 'argumentative turn' in critical discourse analysis of policymaking.

Analysing the debate over fracking for shale gas in the UK

Isabela Fairclough University of Central Lancashire ifairclough@uclan.ac.uk Norman Fairclough Lancaster University n.fairclough@lancaster.ac.uk

We apply the 'argumentative' version of CDA of Fairclough & Fairclough (2012) in critical analysis of the making and implementation of policies for climate change and energy security in the UK, with particular reference to 'fracking' for shale gas. We claim that practical argumentation in deliberative activity types is an inherent part of policies and policy making, and also a necessary focus in analysis of policy and of the public debate over policy, rather than just a useful option in analysis.

The UK is widely perceived as having a problem of 'energy security', given anticipated future needs for gas, declining indigenous supply and unreliable foreign sources. The government has declared its support for shale gas exploitation, representing it as 'bridge' to a low-carbon future. While the government issues licences for shale gas exploration, planning permission for exploratory drilling and commercial fracking rests with local authorities. This has led to long-drawn-out struggles over whether permission should be given for particular sites, culminating in the decision taken by Lancashire County Council (LCC) in June 2015 to refuse two applications by Cuadrilla for exploratory drilling in the Fylde area.

We look at the LCC's decision to reject these applications, focusing on the way in which institutional constraints (in the form of which reasons may or may not count, or who has the right to decide) have shaped the decision-making process. We show how expert risk-management discourse was used to neutralize most of the strongest public objections against fracking, leaving councillors only a small range of (noise, visual and traffic) 'impacts' as non-overridable grounds for rejection. Together with the fact that a wide range of other anti-fracking arguments could not be taken into account, being beyond the remit of the LCC planning committee, this resulted in an impoverished decision-making process and an easily contestable final decision. In analyzing deliberation and decision-making in institutional contexts, we draw upon Searle's (2010) theory of the creation of social reality by speech acts of declaration, which includes a definition of political power in terms of the role that deontic reasons for action play in enabling and constraining practical reasoning and agency.

We then turn to the debate over UK policy on fracking, and develop our earlier account of practical argumentation in CDA to show what this approach can add to critical policy studies, and to the debate within it over the status of argumentation (Fairclough 2013). We show that the approach can elucidate major aspects of policy making and policy analysis, including: problem definition; the relation between problem and solution; variation, selection and retention of policy goals and of strategies for achieving them; explanation and explanatory critique; and relations between facts and values. We argue for a dialectical account of relations between discursive and 'non-discursive' facets of policy making which is consistent with dialectical critical realism (Bhaskar 1993). Practical argumentation conceived in such terms is an inherent part of policy making and a necessary focus in policy analysis. Moreover, critical policy analysis, critical social analysis more generally, and CDA in particular are themselves forms of practical argumentation that relations between discursive' elements of social life are most crucially at issue, in the linking of analysis and normative critique of existing states of affairs; explanation and explanatory critique of existing states of affairs; and action to change them.



Rough crossings and safe havens: On the challenges of interdisciplinary discourse studies

Gerlinde Mautner Wienna University of Economics and Business gerlinde.mautner@wu.ac.at

It is generally taken as read that Critical Discourse Studies is a cross-disciplinary undertaking. Or ought to be, in the best of all possible worlds. Yet when it comes to drawing up actual research designs, collecting data and liaising with colleagues from other fields, a number of theoretical, methodological and practical obstacles tend to crop up. As a result, interdisciplinary collaboration is not as widespread and intensive as we may wish; indeed, researchers interested in discourse can appear to be operating almost in parallel worlds, non-communicating, disconnected and apparently self-sufficient. 'Mixed methods' may be all the rage, but in practice not many are willing to venture outside their methodological comfort zone (or can afford to, given the constraints of ever more rigorous and short-termist Research Assessment regimes). In the study of organizational discourse, for example, there continues to be a macro-micro divide which few researchers even attempt to cross, and even fewer cross successfully. What is more, as linguists, we need to face up to the fact that those we want to work with often do not even have linguistics on their radar, let alone have a clear idea of what it may be able to contribute. Academic tribalism is rife and has created precisely the type of ingroup/outgroup divides that we are quick to spot and criticize in other social domains. The talk will discuss these issues, as well as mapping out key challenges that await CDS in future, both within and across disciplines.



Queering critique – Discourse, body, affect

Tommaso Milani University of Witwatersrand Tommaso.Milani@wits.ac.za

"Queering critique" is an ambiguous title. Analogous to similar constructions in English, e. g. "opening doors" or "threatening homosexuals" where the –ing form can either be a transitive verb followed by a direct object or a qualifier of the following noun, the ambiguity of the title lies in whether the reader interprets critique as the agent or the patient of the action of queering. Where critique is the agent, we are dealing with a specific type critique, one that engenders some kind of queer characteristic or performance. Instead, where critique is the object of queering, it refers to a broader academic enterprise of bringing under a queer epistemological spotlight all forms of critical inquiry (see also Elisabeth Grosz (1995: 249) who points out that it is not only the objects of sexual and gender inquiry but also the knowledge produced about them that can be queer). It is this ambivalence that lies at the heart of this presentation. On the one hand, I will propose to add a queer critical layer to one of the strands of socially engaged research with which I identify most, namely critical discourse studies. On the other hand, I will employ that very queer lens to critique and partly destabilize the critical punch of queer theory itself. This two-fold project will be realised through a re-reading of performativity theory with the help of data on gender and sexual discourses across a variety of contexts.

Most commonly associated with the work of the American philosopher Judith Butler on gender, sexuality and the sexed body (1990, 1993, 2004, 2011), performativity theory's focus on the body brings with it the promise of broadening the remit of inquiry beyond a narrow focus on language so as to encompass "aspects of experience and reality that do no present themselves in propositional or even in verbal form" (Sedgwick 2003: 6), such as affect and materiality (see also Bucholtz and Hall, in press, Peck and Stroud 2015). Against this backdrop, I will argue that it is in the mapping of the social life of "affect" (Ahmed 2004), and how it manifests semiotically, that there is the promise of understanding – and maybe changing – social structures and practices. Such a move, in turn, has important implications for a discipline like critical discourse studies that is largely underpinned by a Habermasian idea of a rational subject/speaker (see Habermas 1984).

A re-reading of performativity will also allow me to perform an act of critique against queer theory's normative anti-normativity. Whilst promiscuous sexual liaisons are considered by queer scholars antinormative and queer acts of resistance, all weddings – both hetero and homo – are seen as the pinnacle of normative normality. Using examples from current debates on same-sex unions, I will argue that to discard a priori the performativity of same-sex wedding as an 'unqueer' gesture is to pay selective attention to the nuances of iterable performances, which, as Butler reminds us, if they "are not immediately or obviously subversive, it may be that it is rather in the reformulation of kinship [...] that the appropriation and redeployment of the categories of dominant culture enable the formation of kinship relations that function quite supportively as oppositional discourse" (Butler 1993: 24–241). I'm not saying that we should all work for the marriage factory, but I will end the talk by cautioning against some hegemonic tendencies in queer readings of performativity theory, which reveal an underlying anti-normative mantra of queer studies.



Corpus-Assisted Discourse Studies (CADS)

Alan Partington Università di Bologna alanscott.partington@unibo.it

In common with other types of discourse analysis, the general aim of CADS is '[...] to acquaint ourselves as much as possible with the discourse type(s) in hand' (Partington, Duguid & Taylor 2013: 12), to discourse by inference how discourse participants typically behave, how they typically interact and what their typical discourse aims are. But it is also interested in particular events which may stand out from this backdrop of typicality and to understand why they occurred. But what can corpus assistance achieve that other approaches to discourse studies struggle to? After all, they are also in the business of uncovering 'non-obvious' meaning.

By means of various case studies, I want to illustrate the added values of CADS to discourse study. It can supply an overview of large numbers of texts, and by shunting between statistical analyses, close reading and analysis types half-way between the two, CADS is able to look at language at different levels of abstraction. After all, 'you cannot understand the world just by looking at it' (Stubbs 1996: 92), and abstract representations of it need to be built and then tested. Indeed, far from being unable to take context into account (the most common accusation levelled at Corpus Linguistics), CADS contextualises, decontextualises and recontextualises language performance in a variety of ways according to research aims. It also highlights how statistical information, sometimes dismissed as 'merely' quantitative, is actually inherently also qualitative in nature. Corpus techniques greatly facilitate comparison among datasets and therefore among discourse types. They can, moreover, ensure analytical transparency and replicability (and para-replicability). And because parts of the analysis are conducted by the machine, they enable the human analyst to step outside the hermeneutic circle, to place some distance between the interpreter and the interpretation. Finally, they enable the researcher to test the validity of their observations, for instance, by searching for counterexamples ('positive cherry-picking').

Having said all this, the discourse analytical process is always guided by the analyst, and there are many parts of the process which a machine simply cannot tackle. This is why we prefer the term corpus-assisted to alternatives such as corpus-driven or corpus-based.

The jury is still out on the degree to which CADS and CDA are compatible. Much CADS work is purely linguistic and even when doing political linguistics, the emphasis is on linguistic analysis and not on doing politics. Linguistic research is a noble enough project in itself without necessarily being a tool for political change. Its methodological approach is inductive, bottom-up and observation-driven. Whilst it would be naïve to believe it possible to do political linguistics without some model of social interaction (I prefer this to the grander wording 'social theory'), modern societies are constantly in flux and only by testing the way models operate can you achieve an accurate description of their behaviour and follow how they evolve. And should the inductively-derived observations clash with the model, it is the latter which has to adjust. This, of course, is exactly how scientific knowledge advances; inductive data-gathering and/or hypothesis testing leads to refinements of the model. The optimists on the jury believe that CDA is capable of such flexibility in its social modelling. The pessimists note that some CDA has been more concerned about confirming rather than testing favoured models (see Breeze's 2011 summary of critiques of CDA), and that corpora can easily be misused for such nefarious ends.

References

Breeze, R. 2011. Critical discourse analysis and its critics. *Pragmatics* 21:4.493–525. Partington, A., A. Duguid and C. Taylor. 2013. *Patterns and Meanings in Discourse: Theory and Practice in*

Corpus-assisted Discourse Studies. Amsterdam & Philadelphia: John Benjamins.

Stubbs, M. 1996. Text and Corpus Analysis: Computer-assisted Studies of Language and Culture. Oxford: Blackwell.









Multimodal resemiotisations across media: Unpacking meanings and unveiling ideologies

Convenors

Maria Grazia Sindoni Università di Messina mgsindoni@unime.it Sandra Petroni Università di Roma 2 Tor Vergata sandra.petroni@uniroma2.it

Discussant

Kay L. O'Halloran Curtin University kay.ohalloran@curtin.edu.au

List of contributors

- Johnny Wingstedt, Dalarna University, jwi@du.se, From phonograph records to movies: the recontextualization of pre-existing music into film soundtracks
- Fabio Rossi, Università di Messina, frossi@unime.it and Maria Grazia Sindoni, Università di Messina, mgsindoni@unime.it, From opera to film opera: A case of multi-layered resemiotisations
- Kay L. O'Halloran, Curtin University, kay.ohalloran@curtin.edu.au, Resemiotisation across different media: From book to stage to screen
- Sandra Petroni, Università di Roma 2 Tor Vergata, sandra.petroni@uniroma2.it, From theatre to digital performance: Restaging, remediating and resemiotising via social media

This panel brings together several field of studies by adopting multimodal critical discourse analysis approaches and methods with the aim of exploring resemiotisations across different media and genres, including theatre, cinema, comic, opera, and music recording. Intersemiotic translations, as defined by Jakobson (2004 [1968]), present interesting cases for analysis, such as transitions from stage to screen (e.g. the adaptation from play to film, or opera to film opera), from screen to interactive media (e.g. comics into film or play into digital theatre), cross-modal media (phonograph records to films), multiple media (books to stage to screen). Multimodal critical discourse analysis frameworks of analysis will help unearth interdiscursive practices of communities in externally visible semiotic actions (for example in processes of production and reception of media artifacts), taking into account the theoretical notion of "transmodal moment" (Newfield, 2014), which deals with semiotic transformations – in materiality, genre, meaning, subjectivity – as well as showing its semiotic situatedness.

The processes of resemiotisation have been investigated from different theoretical standpoints (Iedema 2001; Lemke 2009; O'Halloran *et al.* 2016; Scollon 2008; Prior and Hengst 2010) but the lack of a comprehensive approach is striking, also considering the multiple socio-cultural implications that underlie any resemotisation across media and modes, in particular with regard to:

1. *Medium-constrained affordances*: e.g. what are the gains and losses in the adaptations from theatre to cinema considering the material differences between media? Examples can be found in the differences between live performances and recorded performances analysable along a *continuum* from the more to the less improvised, or from the more to the less reproducible.



- 2. *Mode-constrained affordances:* e.g. how are resources and modes resemiotised across different media and how do they cooperate in the meaning-making process, for example from static-visual comics to dynamic-audiovisual films?
- 3. *Socio-culturally-constrained affordances*: e.g. how all these changes affect the audience/s, in terms of reception, taste, preferences?
- 4. Broader *socio-economically constrained affordances:* involving social actors and agencies within and beyond each medium, related to industry, production processes, censorship, marketization of visual and performative art.

This panel will thus provide a range of micro-level analyses, presenting different examples of transductions and adaptations across media with related case studies, ultimately hinting at how micro and macro-circulations of power (Foucault 1980) are instantiated in the loci of different media. It will furthermore configure social relationships that are brought to the fore in the interplay between creative production (writers, designers, playwrights, directors, etc.), material production (technicians, distributors, marketers), and reception (audience, readership, etc.).

By adopting a multimodal critical discourse analysis approach, the papers in this panel will shed light on how different multimodal resemiotisations across media produce meaning-making events that can be unpacked and indexed for a broader understanding of socio-cultural ideologies across different ages.

References

Foucault, M. 1980. Power/Knowledge. Brighton: Harvester.

Iedema, R. 2001. Resemiotization. Semiotica 37 (1/4): 23-40.

- Jakobson, R. 2004 [1968]. On Linguistic Aspects of Translation. In L. Venuti (ed.) *The Translation Studies Reader*. London: Routledge, 113–118.
- Lemke, J. L. 2009. Multimodal Genres and Transmedia Traversals: Social Semiotics and the Political Economy of the Sign. *Semiotica*, 177 (1–4): 1–27.
- Newfield, D. 2014. Transduction, Transformation and the Transmodal Moment. In C. Jewitt (ed.) *The Routledge Handbook of Multimodal Analysis*. London and New York: Routledge, 100–114.
- O'Halloran, K. L., Wignell, P., and Tan, S. 2015. Multimodal Social Semiotic Approaches to Analyzing and Designing Brand Communications. In G. Rossolatos (ed.) *Handbook of Brand Semiotics*. Kassel: Kassel University Press, 280–328.
- Prior, P. and Hengst, J. (eds) 2010. *Exploring Semiotic Remediation as Discourse Practice*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Scollon, R. 2008. Discourse Itineraries: Nine Processes of Resemiotization. In V.K. Bhatia, J. Flowerdew and R.H. Jones (eds) *Advances in Discourse Studies*. London and New York: Routledge, 233–244.



Languaging the Other in TV series

Convenors

Mariavita Cambria Università di Messina mcambria@unime.it Marco Venuti Università di Catania mvenuti@unict.it

Discussant

Stefania Rimini Università di Catania srimini@unict.it

List of contributors

- Monika Bednarek, University of Sydney, Monika.Bednarek@sydney.edu.au, Using non-standard language to represent diversity and 'otherness' in contemporary US television series
- Antonio Fruttaldo, Università di Napoli Federico II, a.fruttaldo@hotmail.it, Othering TV fictional characters: A corpus stylistic approach to identity re-presentation of organised crime characters in Gomorrah The Series
- Fabiola Marassà, Università di Catania, fmarassa@unict.it, and Valeria Monello, Università di Catania, vmonello@unict.it, Sarah and Tammy: Butch and Femme in Transparent
- Ilaria Moschini, Università di Firenze, ilaria.moschini@unifi.it, May the Fan Be with You! Languaging Authoriality between Affirmational Practices and 'Pan-fanaticism'
- Laura Tommaso, Università degli Studi del Molise, laura.tommaso@unimol.it, "I said we should just be friends": Non-conforming Female Discourse in Masters of Sex

In recent years, the media entertainment industry has witnessed major developments. Evolving network structures, media convergence, a transition to digital format, and a greater competition for (new) content have led to a growing audience fragmentation and differentiation of available broadcasting products. Audience fragmentation and increased accessibility have also brought an empowerment in terms of wider consumption choices and audience interaction via, for instance, practices of social media.

Within this context, TV series have witnessed an unprecedented increase in distribution and visibility, resulting in the representation of a wide range of topics, e.g. representation of diversity, that had been neglected and/or relegated to a niche audience.

Within this framework, the panel aims at analysing TV series as sites where discourse practices are represented in terms of "languaging" the other in their semantic and semiotic realization. Furthermore, TV series constitute an intersection "between real life and fictional discourse in which the latter is to be interpreted as an example of a re-presentation" (Piazza R., Bednarek M. and Rossi F. 2011, 9). TV series can be thus approached as re-production of the social space and time in which they are situated, of the social network of interpreted by characters, and the social roles that character representation index in relation to existing norms, values and beliefs. "Intertextuality in all the forms defined by Fairclough (manifest, constitutive or vertical) plays a major role in this context.

Drawing from different methodological backgrounds and analytical approaches, the panel aims at investigating 'otherness' in different telecinematic texts, with the common goal of unveiling "the social



mechanisms through which particular ideas or beliefs about linguistic practices are produced, circulated and/or challenged through meaning-making activities under particular conditions" (Johnson and Milani 2010, 4).

References

- Androutsopoulos, J. 2012. Introduction: Language and Society in cinematic Discourse. *Multilingua* 31: 139–154.
- Johnson, S. and Milani T. 2010. Critical intersections: Language ideologies and media discourse. In S. Johnson and T. Milani (eds), *Language Ideologies and Media Discourse: Texts, Practices, Politics.* London: Continuum, 3–14.
- Piazza R., Bednarek M. and Rossi F. 2011. Introduction: Analysing telecinematic discourse. In R. Piazza, M. Bednarek and F. Rossi (eds), *Telecinematic discourse: Approaches to the language of films and television series*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company, 1–20.



Discourse Space and Evaluation across Disciplines and Domains

Convenors

Bertie Kaal VU Amsterdam a.r.kaal@vu.nl Laura Filardo-Llamas Universidad de Valladolid filardo@fyl.uva.es

List of contributors

- Laura Filardo-Llamas, Universidad de Valladolid, filardo@fyl.uva.es, and Laura Hidalgo-Downing, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, laura.hidalgo@uam.es, *Take me to Church or Other Places: An* analysis of recontextualised meanings in pop songs
- Christopher Hart, Lancaster University, c.hart@lancaster.ac.uk, Space and Evaluation in Discourse on Political Protests: A Case Study in Experimental CDA
- Jeremy Holland, Lancaster University, j.holland5@lancaster.ac.uk, Ideological Contents and Conceptual Structures of the Weatherman Manifesto: Toward a frame-space model
- **Bertie Kaal**, VU Amsterdam, a.r.kaal@vu.nl, Worldviews in space and time: Diversity in evaluative reasoning and intentions for action
- Monika Kopytowska, University of Łódź, monika.kopytowska@gmail.com, Covering global terrorism: From space to axiology across news genres

The presenters build on recent developments in cognitive discourse studies and Discourse Space Theory (DST) for the study of evaluative discourse (e.g. Chilton 2014; Filardo-Llamas *et al.* 2015). The aim of this panel is to critically explore ways of understanding the relationship between spatial cognition, evaluation, discourse, subjectivity, intentionality and social action and how these relationships are constructed and communicated. Its focus is on discussing new theoretical and methodological issues that may enrich the study of discourse and society.

We start out from the notion of frames of reference and perspectivisation (cf. Hart 2014) and apply it to the study of fundamentally spatial semiotic modes. From there, we develop models to identify ideological constructions across genres and modalities used in a varied array of discourse domains (media, songs, film, literature or political discourse types). This implies considering the affordances of textual constructions which may seem to be *a priori* neutral. In a similar eclectic way, DST can be applied in discourse analysis by relying on notions from a variety of theoretical/methodological approaches, such as cognitive linguistics, philosophy of language, narrative, argumentation, social psychology and the cognitive and social sciences. Such transdisciplinary efforts need an equally unorthodox approach to research design that accommodates collaboration and innovative practices. Papers rely on different spatial-cognitive approaches to discourse analysis, such as coordinate systems, frames of reference, deixis, *Zeigfelder*, vectors, and the geometric mind, and discuss how these can be integrated or layered.

Examples of some of the approaches taken include cognitive aspects of the discursive construction of worldview, identity and ideology, the study of the construction of attitude and its relation to intentionality, epistemic and deontic aspects of community building, legitimation strategies, the geometric mind and the relationship between discourse and social worlds, experimental approaches in cognitive discourse studies, or DST across modalities and domains.

All the papers share one objective: the further development of theory, methods and applications for Discourse Space Analysis – and/or related cognitive approaches – to explore how evaluative meaning is



communicated in diverse discourse domains.



Discourses from Latin America & the Caribbean: Current Concepts and Challenges

Convenors

Eleonora Esposito Sultan Qaboos University eleonora.esposito84@gmail.com José Manuel Ferreiro Gómez Lancaster University j.ferreirogomez@lancaster.ac.uk

Carolina Pérez Lancaster University

c.perez@lancaster.ac.uk

Discussant

Luisa Martín Rojo Universidad Autónoma de Madrid

luisa.rojo@uam.es

List of contributors

- Camila Cárdenas, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, camila.cardenas.neira@gmail.com, and Carolina Pérez, Lancaster University, c.perez@lancaster.ac.uk, The hooded student as a metaphor: Multimodal recontextualizations of the actions and motives of members of the Chilean student movement in a broadcast news report
- Eleonora Esposito, Sultan Qaboos University, eleonora.esposito84@gmail.com, Paying the Black Debt: The CARICOM Discourse on Slavery, Remembrance and Reparations
- José Manuel Ferreiro, Lancaster University, j.ferreirogomez@lancaster.ac.uk, The Discursive Construction of a Latin American Identity in the UN Mission in Haiti (2004–2015)
- Katharina Friederike Gallant, Center for Development Research (ZEFb) Bonn, kgallant@uni-bonn.de, Evo Morales' Discursive Re-Foundation of an Intercultural Abya Yala
- **Isabelle Gribomont**, University of St Andrews, ig25@st-andrews.ac.uk, *Corpus-Driven Analysis of the Zapatista Discourse*
- Elizabeth Torrico-Avila, University of Southampton, eta2gl1@soton.ac.uk, *The discursive construction* of fear by the victims of the Chilean Military Regime

The Latin American and the Caribbean regions have traditionally been the focus of a wide variety of research due to their unique and rich particularities, able to challenge conventional dogmas and methods across the Social Sciences. Being culturally, linguistically and racially diverse, these regions are often regarded as a complex human mixture and framed using various metaphors of plurality, hybridity, fragmentation, and conflict.

In light of the above, the proposed panel aims to investigate the pervasive relationship between language, discourse and society in Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico, Haiti and the whole CARICOM area. We selected papers dealing with contemporary social, political, economic and cultural aspects typical of the area from a discourse-analytical perspective.

The cultural memory of colonialism, slavery and dictatorships, as well as the more contemporary

(re)constructions of national and ethnic-cultural identities, come to the fore as key concepts that are negotiated and contested throughout the region. These issues are explored by by Esposito in the claims of slavery reparation of the CARICOM countries; by Ferreiro in the discursive construction of a Latin American identity in the UN mission in Haiti; by Gallant in the political re-foundation of Evo Morales in Bolivia; and by Torrico-Avila in the historical memory of the victims of dictatorship in Chile.

The relationship between the realisation of hegemonic discourses and their counter-discourses resisting them at various levels represents another core issue transversally characterizing the region. In particular, these manifestations are explored by Cárdenas and Pérez in the criminalization of protesters in the Chilean media discourse; by Gribomont in the analysis of the Zapatista resistant discourse.

The panel aims at stimulating international debate and enriching the academic research and methodological agenda of Discourse Studies in the Latin American and Caribbean regions, where more than anywhere else in the world DS can represent a fruitful lens to contextualize discursive phenomena and explain how these affect social macro-processes.



Critical discourse analyses of the UK general election of 2015

Convenor

Simon Goodman Coventry University, UK s.goodman@coventry.ac.uk

Discussant

Adrian Coyle Kingston University, UK A.Coyle@kingston.ac.uk

List of contributors

- Philippa Carr, Coventry University, carrp5@uni.coventry.ac.uk, and Simon Goodman, Coventry University, s.goodman@coventry.ac.uk, *How political parties in the UK orient themselves around business*
- Adam Jowett, Coventry University, adam.jowett@coventry.ac.uk, Everyone's a cynic: A discursive examination of political cynicism in media political debate
- Susan Jones, Coventry University, Susan.Jones@coventry.ac.uk, and Laura Robinson, Coventry University, Wrestling with the difference between 'I don't know' and 'I don't understand' in discourses concerning people's decisions not to vote in the 2015 UK General election
- Nathan Kerrigan, Coventry University, Nathan.Kerrigan@coventry.ac.uk, and Gavin Sullivan, Coventry University, gavin.sullivan@coventry.ac.uk, Attitudes of UKIP voters towards immigration, before and after the 2015 General Election

The UK general election campaign of 2015 was a particularly interesting one for a number of reasons including the unpredictability of the outcome, the salience of the austerity policies that have become common throughout Europe and the increase in anti-immigration sentiment which led to the prominence of a new anti-EU party called the United Kingdom Independence Party (UKIP) which challenged the incumbent centre-right Conservative party and opposition centre-left Labour party. Yet despite this, voter disengagement and the electoral system were issues of concern. The aim of this panel is therefore to provide in-depth analyses of the UK election campaign from a range of different discourse analytic perspectives. Data for the papers are drawn from a range of different sources including high profile televised discussions during the election campaign and interviews with UKIP voters and people who intended not to vote. The first paper addresses the ways in which representatives of political parties talk about their relationship with business, showing that all parties attempt to present themselves as supportive of businesses, which are presented as wealth creators, but that a specific type of immoral business is also criticised. The second paper shows how issues of trust and cynicism are debated so that both members of the public and politicians can be seen challenging other politicians for being cynical with an analysis of what this talk about cynicism achieves. The third paper addresses people's decisions not to vote and looks at the important distinction between people claiming to not know about and not *understand* politics and how this suggests that what is presented as voter apathy may actually be a form of protest. The fourth paper looks at UKIP voters, where a UKIP vote was often presented as a protest vote. It shows how UKIP voters framed their opposition to immigration as based on non-racial factors. The final paper



demonstrates how the political system was discussed in the campaign, showing how coalitions were presented as a threat and how the electoral system itself was challenged. Together these papers provide a discussion of a wide range of issues pertinent for understanding current politics.



Migration Discourses across Languages, Societies and Discourse Communities

Convenors

Charlotte Taylor University of Sussex charlotte.taylor@sussex.ac.uk Melani Schröter University of Reading m.schroeter@reading.ac.uk

List of contributors

- Fabienne Baider, University of Cyprus, helenafab@yahoo.fr, Sharon Millar, University of Southern Denmark, smillar@sdu.dk, and Monika Kopytowska, University of Łódź, monika.kopytowska@gmail.com, "Angela's Facebook Party": Media Discourse on the Refugee Crisis and Commentators Counter Narratives
- Marie Veniard, Paris Descartes University, marie.veniard@parisdescartes.fr, Charlotte Taylor, University of Sussex, Charlotte.Taylor@sussex.ac.uk, Melani Schröter, University of Reading, m.schroeter@reading.ac.uk, and Andreas Blatte, University of Duisburg-Essen, andreas.blaette@uni-due.de, Evaluation of 'communities' in migration discourse
- Jovana Todorovic, University of Oslo, jovana.todorovic@stv.uio.no, Stream of consequence: A critical metaphor analysis of parliamentary debates about restrictive politics towards Bosnian and Syrian asylum-seekers in Norway
- Mohammed Ouhemmou, Hassan II University, ouhemou@gmail.com, "Le Péril Noir": Sub-Saharan Immigrants in Moroccan Newspapers

While in the last two decades public and political discourses about migration have been studied within a range of countries and languages, only a small amount of research has been concerned with comparing and contrasting migration discourses across languages, societies and discourse communities.

The panel includes such comparative and contrastive approaches to migration discourses with the aim of carving out their potential to reveal threads of migration discourses that are related to constellations of power and ideology that cross over languages and speech communities, as well as those that are determined by specific historical, political and social contexts. The contrastive study of discourse could inform an understanding of how patterns of linguistic representation can be on the one hand intertextually and interdiscursively linked across and on the other hand be specific to languages and discourse communities.

The panel includes comparative studies of migration discourses based on a range of text types, languages and discourse communities. The panel covers a variety of relevant genres, domains under different comparative angles:

- Newspaper discourse; including comparative views on newspapers of different political orientations as well as online newspaper articles and the related comment sections (Abstracts 1 and 3)
- Political discourse across parties, languages or discourse communities, including comparison between national and supranational level (EU) discourses (Abstract 2)
- Comparative analysis of how different groups of immigrants are portrayed (Abstract 4)
- Comparison of analysis of western racist discourse with a non-western context with a view on the applicability of CDA to both (Abstract 5).

The above listed variety of genres/domains and comparative angles cut across a number of languages and countries: Norway/Norwegian, Morocco/French/Arabic, United Kingdom/English, Eastern European Countries, Italy/Italian, France/French, Germany/German, Denmark/Danish and Greece/Greek. In terms of

conceptual and methodological approaches, the papers mainly work on the basis of Corpus Assisted Discourse Studies, cognitive approaches to CDA and argumentation analysis.

With the variety of discourse communities covered, we may be able to see the similarities and shared frames of migration discourses across languages, but also the differences that might emerge due to varying contexts, immigration politics and histories across the above named countries.



Critical approaches to sustainability

Convenor

Douglas Ponton Università di Catania dmponton@hotmail.co.uk

List of contributors

- Hanna Skorczynska, Universidad Politécnica de Valencia, hskorczy@idm.upv.es, How sustainable European energy companies are: Corpus-based insights from corporate press releases by country
- Elizabeth R. Miller, University of North Carolina at Charlotte USA, ermiller@uncc.edu, Individual Positioning Work and the Mobilization of Responsibility in Organizational Discussions on Social Sustainability
- **Douglas Mark Ponton**, Università di Catania, dmponton@hotmail.co.uk, and Vincenzo Asero, Università di Catania, *How sustainable is the concept of 'sustainability' in the tourism market?*
- Lucia Abbamonte, Seconda Università di Napoli, lucia.abbamonte@unina2.it, and Flavia Cavaliere, Università di Napoli Federico II, fcavalie@unina.it, Shopping as 'best practice' – analyzing Walmart's sustainability policies

'Sustainability' is a buzz word in current corporate parlance, also found in the languages of government departments and advertising agencies, serving a variety of functions across a wide variety of media sources. When used in its environmental sense, the term refers to an important aspect of 'clean' energies; to the fact that these energy sources, over the long term, represent real opportunities for humankind to meet its energy requirements without compromising the future of the planet, as may be the case with either fossil fuels or nuclear power.

In conjunction with an increased interest in ecological sustainability, public discourses of 'social sustainability' have also emerged which have raised important questions about the need to make our societies more equitable. Amid this scenario, we have seen that terms from the discourse of ecology, such as 'carbon footprint', 'eco-friendly', 'renewable', etc. and from the discourses of 'social sustainability' (such as 'responsible production/consumption') have been recontextualised in the discursive practice of 'greenwashing', performed by companies and governments that wish to portray their activities in an environmentally friendly light (Zappettini and Unerman, 2015). Thus, the term 'sustainable development' risks becoming a glittering generality, one that can be used to evoke a positive response in material not necessarily related to the environmental context. In the business world especially, it can be a synonym of 'long-term', referring to decisions that, for example, plough profits back into the firm in the form of investment.

Critical attention to eco/linguistic issues has steadily grown since the 1990s. In a study that was to be important in the expanding field of ecolinguistics, M.A.K. Halliday (2001) argued for critical engagement of linguists with the environmental problems of the world: global warming, climate change, population growth, and so on. The intention of this panel is to rise to Halliday's challenge by putting the word 'sustainability', as he termed it 'in the dock' (2001: 197).

We invite papers from a broad range of academic disciplines to reflect critically on the notion of sustainability, across an equally broad spectrum of social contexts, whether from the fields of business, politics or human culture in its most general sense, as long as papers make a contribution to the field of Critical Discourse Studies.



Prospective contributors should send an abstract of up to 350 words excluding references as MS Word attachment to: dmponton@hotmail.co.uk with object: sustainability-panel-cadaad-2016 before 30 November 2015. Further information on the panel can be requested at the same email address.

References

- Halliday M.A.K. 2001. New ways of meaning: The challenge to applied linguistics. In A. Fill and P. Muhlhausler (eds), *The Ecolinguistics Reader: Language, Ecology and Environment*. London and New York: Continuum, 191–193
- Zappettini F. and Unerman J. 2015. 'Mixing' and 'Bending': The Recontextualisation of Discourses of Sustainability in Integrated Reporting. *Paper presented at the 26th CSEAR UK Conference, August 25–27, 2015.* Royal Holloway, University of London.



Discourses of Educational [dys][u]topias: Interculturality and ideology

Convenors

Fred Dervin University of Helsinki fred.dervin@helsinki.fi Ashley Simpson University of Helsinki Ashley.Simpson@helsinki.fi

List of contributors

- E-Lynn Yeow, Universiti Putra Malaysia, and Regis Machart, Universiti Putra Malaysia, rmachart@hotmail.com, Creating the Utopia of an 'Asian Education' in the French Media: A Journey into Nostalgia
- Johannes Angermuller, University of Warwick, J.Angermuller@warwick.ac.uk, Numerocracy. Higher education in the neoliberal governmentality
- Xianlin Song, University of Western Australia, xianlin.song.xs@gmail.com, and Greg McCarthy, University of Western Australia, Greg McCarthy, greg.mccarthy@uwa.edu.au, Utopia of Global Tertiary Education: The Discourse of 'Critical Thinking'
- Barbara de la Harpe, University of Southern Queensland and CQ University, Barbara.delaHarpe@usq.edu.au, and Patrick A. Danaher, University of Southern Queensland and CQ University, Patrick.Danaher@usq.edu.au, Discoursing about Excellent Research in Australia: Ideological Foundations, Intercultural Implications and Dystopian Possibilities
- **Fred Dervin**, University of Helsinki, fred.dervin@helsinki.fi, and Ashley Simpson, University of Helsinki, Ashley.Simpson@helsinki.fi, "It is like reading an extended student essay": Reactions to critiques about the 'miracle' and 'unorthodoxy' of Finnish education

The last decades have witnessed an increase in the construction of educational utopias and dystopias in our accelerating global era. This is of course not a new phenomenon as, in the past, people would travel to other countries to learn from and copy other countries to improve their own system of education. Yet institutions producing international league tables of school performance like the OECD – responsible for PISA studies – or the WTO constitute what Spring (2015: 1) calls a 'global education superstructure' that "directly and indirectly influence national school systems along with multinational education corporations and schools." These institutions serve as diagnosticians, judges, policy advisors and catalysts for making education a saleable good. The current influence of e.g. PISA studies on global discourses about 'good' and 'bad' systems of education is overwhelming. In this panel the participants examine the case of different educational [dys][u]topias by delving discursively into intercultural and ideological aspects.



Communicating the 'cultural politics' of the extreme right

Convenors

Bernhard Forchtner University of Leicester bernhard.forchtner@gmail.com **Christoffer Kølvraa** Aarhus University eurock@cas.au.dk

Discussant

Michał Krzyżanowski Örebro University michal.krzyzanowski@oru.se

List of contributors

- Salomi Boukala, Hellenic Foundation for European & Foreign Policy, bsalomi@gmail.com, The discursive resurgence of the 'communist enemy': The use of Gramscian thought in the Greek extreme right rhetoric
- Giorgia Bulli, University of Florence, giorgia.bulli@unifi.it, CasaPound Italia between traditionalism and values-hybridization
- Bernhard Forchtner, University of Leicester, bernhard.forchtner@gmail.com, and Kølvraa, Christoffer, Aarhus University, eurock@cas.au.dk, Radical imaginaries: multimodal representations of 'History' and 'Nature' on German extreme right Facebook pages
- John E. Richardson, Loughborough University, J.E.Richardson@lboro.ac.uk, What does approaching British fascism as culture offer to Critical Discourse Studies?

This panel discusses recent developments in what we call the 'cultural politics' of the extreme right. Here, *extreme right* signifies actors to the right of increasingly mainstream populist radical right parties (PRRP). In focusing on the 'cultural politics' of the extreme right, we will shed light on their semiotic valorising and aestheticization of images, narratives and practices integral to the ideal 'extreme right subject' – instead of focussing on their more or less concrete policies and positions to do with, e.g., immigration (e.g. Wodak, 2015; Reisigl and Wodak, 2001).

Indeed, while PRRP (Mudde, 2007) across Europe have 'modernised' their communication by moderating both their rhetoric and programme, comparatively less attention has been paid to how movements, proto-parties and 'groupuscules' on the extreme right have undergone significant change in their communicative forms and styles (Fairclough 2010). However, their 'modernization' does not involve moderation of political claims, e.g. by shifting from biologically founded racism to what Balibar (1991) calls 'cultural' or 'neo-racism'. Rather, it attains primarily to their 'cultural politics' (often communicated through social-media), involving the appropriation of semiotic codes, media types and lifeworld practices in tune with a post- or late-modern context in which humour, pop-cultural references, clothing styles and consumption choices are integrated in a cultural 'bricolage' (e.g. Copsey and Richardson, 2015; Forchtner and Kølvraa, 2015). For example, these actors often adopt far-left clothing styles (instead of the skinhead attire of earlier days); allow for new gender roles and masculinity, use fascist and National Socialist iconography while re-contextualising and re-shaping their ideological heritage; and adopt a novel aesthetics of the nation, the ideal body and its (violent) use, including the attempt to attain biological, economic and spiritual 'purity' (Douglas, 1966) through, e.g., a straight edge lifestyle.



In focussing on these and other 'cultural' aspects of the extreme right, this panel seeks to comprehend the extreme right through its manifold 'cultural' practices rather than solely through its political discourses on 'culture'. It thus calls attention to novel ways in which this 'modernised' extreme right performs and mediates its agenda, and thereby is able to engage with mainstream youth-culture and a wider public.

References

- Balibar, E. 1991. Is there a 'neo-racism'?. In E. Balibar and I. Wallerstein (eds), *Race, Nation, Class. Ambiguous Identities*. London and New York: Verso, 17–28.
- Copsey, N. and Richardson, J.E. (eds) 2015. *Cultures of Post-War British Fascism*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Douglas, M. 1966. *Purity and danger. An Analysis of Concepts of Pollution and Taboo*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Fairclough, N. 2010. *Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Forchtner, B. and Kølvraa, C. 2015. The nature of nationalism: Populist radical right parties on countryside and climate. *Nature & Culture* 10 (2): 199–224.
- Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2001. *Discourse and Discrimination. Rhetorics of racism and antisemitism*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Wodak, R. 2015. *The Politics of Fear: What Right-Wing Populist Discourses Mean*. Los Angeles, London, New Delhi, Singapore and Washington DC: Sage Publications.



Legal texts, legal cultures and procedures: Theoretical and methodological issues

Convenors

Deborah De Felice Università di Catania defelice@unict.it

Giuseppe Giura Università di Catania giuseppe.giura@alice.it

Carlo Pennisi Università di Catania cpennisi@unict.it

Discussants

David Nelken King's College London david.nelken@kcl.ac.uk Marina Kurkchiyan University of Oxford

marina.kurkchiyan@csls.ox.ac.uk

List of contributors

- Chiara Scivoletto, Università di Parma, chiara.scivoletto@unipr.it, A new kind of Probation in Italy. Experiences and practices in the socio-legal field
- Alberto Febbrajo, Università di Macerata, alberto.febbrajo@unimc.it, What Constitutes Constitutions. On the socio-legal relationships between constitutions and legal pluralism
- Valeria Ferraris, Università di Torino, valeria.ferraris@unito.it, Strategic litigations in immigration matter: Happy islands or vehicles for systemic change?
- Marco A. Quiroz Vitale, Università di Milano, marco.quiroz@unimi.it, and Enrico Damiani di Vergada Franzetti, Università di Milano, Human Rights Culture and Content Analysis

Deborah De Felice, Università di Catania, defelice@unict.it, and **Giuseppe Giura**, Università di Catania, giuseppe.giura@alice.it, *Legal culture and local context: Some empirical evidence*

The concept of legal culture lies at the crossroads when comparing the theoretical and methodological approaches for studying the social dimension of law. In the legal field, the image of law, as a system of rules and regulations with its own specific language, pervades the speeches of lawyers and constitutes the "cornerstone" of legal education. On one hand, this image reflects the method through which the legal events have been distinguished from illegal ones, on the other hand it refers to a conceptualization of legislation as a mechanical method of decision-making.

From a sociological point of view, the institutionalization of legal culture can be considered the result of an historical process that has generated a monopoly in determining what must be considered as "the law", regarding a defined course of action, and with what consequences. From this perspective, the legal-normative approach reflects an attempt by the law to connect complex social processes to legal rules and principles. The linguistic dependence of the law should be considered primarily as a cultural and historical fact, and not only or mainly as a logical one. The procedural dimension, in our cultural contexts, is rooted in the linguistic dependence of juridical phenomena, while the legal decision-making processes, of which the law consists, are characterized as communicative processes, reflecting an open and reflexive nature: sociologically, they



represent the focus of the analysis.

The Panel *Legal texts, legal cultures and procedures: theoretical and methodological issues* suggests a comparison between studies in the international field that have looked at "legal speech" in general, its tradition in socio-legal studies, and the developments foreshadowed by current research studies (e.g. jurisprudence as an autonomous item of investigation and knowledge source at a different level of legal experience).

The aim is to obtain a picture of current analytical approaches to the judicial system through reference to the procedural dimension, highlighting the sociology of law specificically when compared to similar disciplines, and the capability for dialogue with these.

References

Banakar, R. 2009. Law through sociology's looking glass: Conflict and competition in sociological studies of law. In A. Denis and D. Kalekin-Fishman (eds), *The ISA handbook in contemporary sociology: Conflict, competition, cooperation.* London: Sage Publications, 58–74.

Cotterrell, R. 2006. *Law, Culture and Society. Legal ideas in the mirror of social theory.* Aldershot: Ashgate. Luhmann, N. 1995 [1975]. *Procedimenti giuridici e legittimazione sociale.* Milano: Giuffrè.

Nelken, D. (ed.) 2012. Using legal culture. London: Wildy, Simmonds & Hill Publishing.

Pennisi, C. 1998. Istituzioni e cultura giuridica. I procedimenti come strutture di comunicazione. Torino: Giappichelli.



Social Media Discourses: Multimodality, Interdiciplinarity and Critique

Convenors

Majid KhosraviNik Newcastle University Majid.khosravinik@newcastle.ac.uk Darren Kelsey Newcastle University Darren.kelsey@newcastle.ac.uk

List of contributors

- Majid KhosraviNik, Newcastle University, Majid.khosravinik@newcastle.ac.uk, Social Media Critical Discourse Studies (SM-CDS): Towards a CDA approach to discourse analysis in participatory web
- **Darren Kelsey**, Newcastle University, Darren.kelsey@newcastle.ac.uk, Discourse, Affect and Surveillance: Gender Conflict In The Omniopticon
- Michał Krzyżanowski, Örebro University, michal.krzyzanowski@oru.se, Politicisation, Mediatisation and Social/Online Media: Discursive Shifts and the Refugee Crisis
- Surinderpal Kaur, University of Malaya, surinder@um.edu.my, Su'ad Awab, University of Malaya, Majid KhosraviNik, suad@um.edu.my, University of Newcastle, Fauziah Taib. University Malaya, majid.khosravinik@newcastle.ac.uk, and of fauziaht@um.edu.my, Ideology, Multimodality and the Visual Grammar of ISIS/DAESH's New Media Communications
- Lyndon CS Way, Izmir University, lyndoncsway@hotmail.com, From protest to music video to on-line viewer comments: Shifting political discourse in social protest

With the advent and popularity of Social Media communication and the challenges that the new communicative conventions poses for 'traditional' research in CDA, it is high time that these, sometimes major, challenges to CDA are acknowledged and dealt with theoretically, methodologically and via case based studies. The proposed panel brings together a range of research carried out on various aspects and platforms of social media and highlights the impacts of these technologies on the dynamic of society and society. The panel includes a. papers on theoretical, methodological and applicational issues of the emerging CDA approach towards social media discourses, b. case based studies on a variety of discourses and topics and c. studies which highlight the necessity of working towards a more integrative approach to CDA by foregrounding interdiciplinarity and multimodality. The panel prides on bringing together a breadth of research focuses on a truly international level e.g. studies on Middle Eastern, British, Canadian, Spanish, and Brazilian contexts while making interdisciplinary connection with politics, media studies, linguistic and music studies.



Multi(Inter)cultural School in Inclusive Societies? Critical Discourses and Interdisciplinary Approach

Convenors

Liana M. Daher Università di Catania daher@unict.it Augusto Gamuzza Università di Catania a.gamuzza@unict.it

Anna Maria Leonora Università di Catania leonora@unict.it

List of contributors

- Liana M. Daher, Università di Catania, daher@unict.it, Augusto Gamuzza, Università di Catania, a.gamuzza@unict.it, and Anna Maria Leonora, Università di Catania, leonora@unict.it, The underestimated treasure: Diversity at school through the needs of teachers. Insights from a fieldwork
- Adam J. Gogacz, Spoleczna Akademia Nauk, Giorgia Mavica, Università di Catania, gimavica80@gmail.com, and Elisa Casciaro, Università di Catania, Empowering European Identity. The role of teacher and socio-pedagogical dimensions
- Mariagrazia Santagati, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, mariagrazia.santagati@unicatt.it, Student Biographies. Unexpected Pathways of Young Immigrants
- Rita Bertozzi, Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia, rita.bertozzi@unimore.it, and Eugenia Arvantis, University of Patras, *Students' intercultural competences in Italy and Greece*
- Elisabetta Sagone, Università di Catania, esagone@unict.it, Maria Elvira De Caroli, Università di Università Catania. m.decaroli@unict.it. Orazio Licciardello. di Catania. Università o.licciardello@unict.it, Daniela Damigella, di Catania, and danieladamig@libero.it, The influence of value priorities on self-concepts for adaptation to educational context: A study with immigrant adolescents

The growing dimension of the human sciences literature dedicated to the analysis of the multicultural societies underlines that this expression/concept has polysemous nature both into scientific, social and political debate.

EU schools embrace more and more pupils with different cultural or ethnic background, becoming increasingly culturally composite. Language troubles, cultural misunderstandings, etc. come out of diversity, and of different cultural and origin affiliation. Some problematic areas have emerged with the integration of children at school, concerning both language and educational aspects. Diversity can be played at two different levels of relationships: with teachers and peers. How to teach children the competence of living and collaborating together? How to empower teachers with operative tools and practices to work with children from different cultural and linguistic environments? These are only two of the numerous questions about multicultural schools in contemporary societies.

The social dimension of multicultural approach implies the recognition of diversity values and the intention to achieve social inclusion goals. This stresses the need of implementing multicultural attitudes in socialization process.

From a sociological point of view, the institutional and theoretical dimension of education seems to be not properly ready to internalise multicultural approach in teaching dynamics. From this perspective, empirical

CADDAAD Char gewonder Unagere Antres Across Disciples

CADAAD 2016

research provides two lines of criticalities about the rise of multicultural societies as bottom-up social change: a) the procedural dimension (praxis and actors involved) and, b) the relational dimension: working effectively with culturally different students promoting a specific communicative process revealing abilities of inclusion of the cultural diversities.

This represent the focus of the proposal that will be analysed through interdisciplinary approaches. We welcome papers addressing the following main issues:

- 1. conceptual and theoretical thinking showing questions and critical issues in multicultural schools;
- 2. reflections on methods and challenges in research multicultural environments;
- 3. empirical analysis in different settings, and comparative investigations in Western and non-Western contexts.



Conference Abstracts



Shopping as 'best practice' – Analyzing Walmart's sustainability policies

Lucia Abbamonte Seconda Università di Napoli lucia.abbamonte@unina2.it Flavia Cavaliere Università di Napoli Federico II fcavalie@unina.it

Nowadays, companies who want to engage environment-friendly consumers increasingly rely on greeneconomy oriented campaigns. Such categories of consumers are numerically increasing, and expressions evoking environmental friendliness are becoming particularly trendy. In this vein, words such as 'sustainability' have been variously recontextualized and have become an 'ought to' for media-savvy companies 'with a vision' – Walmart, the American multinational retail corporation, being a relevant case in point. From a family-owned local business, Walmart has expanded into the world's largest corporation and biggest private employer to date, with 2.2 million employees.

It is no accident that, on the first Google page for 'sustainability', 'Walmart' proudly surfaces¹. 'Global responsibility' is another 'politically-correct' expression. Walmart have made an explicit commitment not just to expand the business but also to improve communities and enhance the sustainability of the products they sell, by encouraging more responsible production practices, while at the same time making product choices more affordable for customers, as reported on its website.

Against this background, our study aims to examine, from a broadly Multimodal Critical Discourse Analysis (MCDA) perspective, the Walmart website 'sustainability' videos with their variety of communicative strategies, advertising 'responsible' Walmart positive attitudes to fundamental issues like Energy, Waste, Products and Responsible Sourcing. A major emphasis is placed on social and safety issues as well, especially where free labour, working hours, child labour laws, and health standards are concerned.

Our analysis needed to consider the complex issues of the dialectical relationship between semiosis and other elements of social practices (as in multimodal/hybrid texts) and highlight the pragmatic uses of languages (Han *et al.* 2007, van Leeuwen 2008, 2013; Kress and van Leeuwen 1990, 2001, 2006) displayed in Walmart's videos in communicating their policies and standards. The modes of colour, vectors, light, and tracing, with their different metrics (Kress 2003, 2010; Bateman 2014), were taken into account, since through their synergy the metaphoric language of purposeful communication /advertising (Dyer 1988) is shaped and enhanced. The results from our MCDA qualitative investigation will be commented on in our presentation.

References

- Bateman, John. 2014. *Text and Image: A Critical Introduction to the Visual/Verbal Divide*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Dyer, Gillian. 1988. Advertising as Communication. London and New York: Routledge.
- Han, Seunghee, Jennifer Lerner, and Dacher Keltner. 2007. 'Feelings and Consumer Decision Making: The Appraisal-Tendency Framework'. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 17 (3): 158–168
- Kress, Gunther. 2003. Literacy in the New Media Age. London: Routledge.
- Kress, Gunther. 2010. Multimodality. London and New York: Routledge.
- Kress, Gunther, and Theo van Leeuwen. 1990. Reading Images. Geelong: Deakin University Press.
- Kress, Gunther, and Theo van Leeuwen. 2001. *Multimodal Discourse: The Modes and Media of Contemporary Communication*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Kress, Gunther, and Theo van Leeuwen. (1996) 2006. *Reading images: The grammar of visual design*. London: Routledge.

¹http://corporate.walmart.com/global-responsibility/sustainability/



Lagerwerf, Luuk, Charlotte M.J. van Hooijdonk, and Ayalies Korenberg. 2012. 'Processing visual rhetoric in advertisements: Interpretations determined by verbal anchoring and visual structure'. *Journal of Pragmatics* 10/2012; 44 (13): 1836–1852.

van Leeuwen, Theo. 2008. Introducing Social Semiotics. London and New York: Routledge.

van Leeuwen, Theo. 2013. 'Colour Schemes', in *Multimodality and Social Semiosis: Communication, Meaning-Making, and Learning in the Work of Gunther Kress*, edited by Margit Boeck, and Norbert Pachler, 62–71. London: Routledge.

Office Architecture and the Spatial Ideology of Post-Fordism

David Adler University of Oldenburg david.adler@uni-oldenburg.de

To some degree, any given capitalist formation has to produce a deep-rooted belief in its own future-ability, i. e., its capacity to transform human activity into rising productivity and profit margins. I argue that this belief is strongly linked to the collective conception and perception of space and the build environment. Ideology can take the form of architecture, which Bourdieu describes as the most subtle form of symbolic power.

Authors such as Henri Lefebvre have shown how Fordist capitalism "produces" an abstract space, which can be conceived of as the space of rationalized production as opposed to the qualitative or lived space. In Fordist terms, space is a cost unit that has to be minimized. However, moving over to post-Fordism, this spatial ideology changes. With the rise of the services sector, productivity becomes coupled to communication. And, since the turn of the century, office work is increasingly understood in terms of creativity rather than efficiency. In this context, office architecture can be understood as an essential element of post-Fordist ideology insofar as it materializes, stages, and induces the belief in a potentially unlimited growth of productivity within the capitalist relations of production. Space is perceived as being qualitative and stimulating, which is capable of systematically generating communication and creativity, thereby ensuring the ongoing growth of capital and commodities. In my contribution I wish to show how office architecture is constructed as a spatial ideology in the discourses and practices that revolve around the office building as a material form.

Guilt trip: Emotion, identity, and power in migrant discourse

Alwin C. Aguirre University of the Philippines, Diliman acaguirre@up.edu.ph

Although it may appear quite obvious the natural link between migration and emotions, it has been largely ignored in migration analyses that tend to focus on the neo-liberalist projects that restructure sites of production and consumption (Brooks and Simpson, 2013). There can be no overemphasizing the necessity of bringing into the center stage the role of emotions in migrant life. At the most basic level, notions and actual lived experiences of being uprooted, a loss of belonging, abandoning and renewing attachments, debilitating episodes of oppression, racism, and marginalization as well as rekindled hopes of new beginnings, potential for new opportunities, and an alternative path to fulfilling life's goals – familiar and prevalent components of the migration situation – are all "potent sources of emotions" and have strong "emotional connotations"



(Skrbiš, 2008: 236). As for the question of identity construction and understanding unique to the migration experience, I adopt the basic thesis that Parkinson (1995) advances: getting emotional is a way to claim a particular identity.

Citing Burkitt, Wetherell (2012) advances the idea that feelings are actually *completed*, and not only expressed, in discourse. This paper heeds the latter's call for an *affective-discursive* turn by finding ways that will make grasping emotions in discourse a viable and potent research agenda through the adoption of the notion of practice – the patterning of human activity where emotions and affect are motif (Wetherell 2012). Guided by the discourse analytic frameworks of Van Leeuwen (2008) and Laclau and Mouffe (1985) along with the concept of *emotional habitus* by Burkitt (1997), I analyze official or state-produced documents for Filipino migrants, multimodal corporate texts that capitalize on the Filipino diaspora as a market for products and services, and particular cases of individually produced social media texts of Filipino migrants in New Zealand to demonstrate how *guilt* as an "emotional experience is inextricably bound up with relationships" and "always, to some extent, power relations" (Burkitt, 1997: 49) in constructing the ideal Filipino migrant

References

Brooks, A. and Simpson, R. (2013). *Emotions in Transmigration: Transformation, Movement and Identity*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.

Burkitt, I. (1997). Social relationships and emotions. *Sociology*, 31(1), 37–55, Available from: http://soc.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0038038597031001004 (accessed 26 August 2013).

Laclau, E. and Mouffe, C. (1985) *Hegemony and Socialist Strategy: Towards a Radical Democratic Politics*. London: Verso.

Parkinson, B. (1995). Ideas and Realities of Emotion. London: Routledge.

Skrbiš, Z. (2008). Transnational families: Theorising migration, emotions and belonging. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 29(3), 231–246, Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07256860802169188 (accessed 25 August 2013).

Van Leeuwen, T. (2008). Discourse and Practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Wetherell, M. (2012). Affect and Emotion: A New Social Science Understanding. London, Sage.

Coercive and conducive questions and their legal-pragmatic functions in Malaysian criminal proceedings: A corpus-based forensic discourse analysis

Nurshafawati Ahmad Sani University of Leeds ennas@leeds.ac.uk

Question-design differs according to the specific goals, activities and usually an asymmetrical power relationship between the questioner and the answerer. In a courtroom interrogation, questions play a central role because they are not only used by lawyers to elicit and confirm information from witnesses, but also to allow witnesses to offer their own narrative and retell events. The aim of this paper is to highlight the research on the culture of courtroom examination in Malaysian criminal proceedings that thus far is still underresearched. This paper that examines the use of questions by lawyers in Malaysian criminal proceedings utilises a corpus-based forensic discourse analysis approach. In recent years, there has been an increasing interest to use a corpus-based method (Archer 2005, 2006; Cotterill 2003; Heffer 2005) for the macro and



micro analysis of courtroom interaction. Despite this encouraging phenomenon, there has been very little quantitative approach conducted on questions in courtroom interaction, due to methodological challenges such as inaccessibility of data (e.g. courtroom interaction) and technology (e.g. computer software) for analysis (Cotterill 2010). Therefore, this investigation is conducted to contribute to increasing knowledge in corpus-based forensic methods, using a corpus of 16 Malaysian criminal trials.

The search for a statistical frequency of questions types is not an end in itself; it needs interpretation through a discussion of the legal-pragmatic functions. What is not clear is the extent to which questions are treated by lawyers as a strategy to seek "information and confirmation" (Gibbons 2003: 95) because these questions might be designed strategically not only to seek information or obtain confirmation but to play other legal-pragmatic functions as well. Therefore, with quantitative data to hand, it will be helpful to explain and justify the extent to which questions are strategically designed by lawyers in courtroom interaction. The quantitative analysis reveals unique patterns of different types of questions used by lawyers from which then a discussion of their legal-pragmatic values and lawyers' individual linguistic styles is developed. The unique patterns revealed from quantitative corpus analysis indicate a need to understand the various legal-pragmatic functions of questions that exist in "legal-lay discourse" (Heffer 2005: 10).

References

- Archer, D. 2005. *Questions and answers in the English Courtroom (1640–1760): A sociopragmatic analysis.* Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Archer, D. 2006. (Re)initiating strategies: Judges and defendants in Early Modern English courtrooms. *Journal* of Historical Pragmatics. 7(2): 181–211.
- Cotterill, J. 2003. *Language and Power in Court. A Linguistic Analysis of the O.J. Simpson Trial*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cotterill, J. 2010. How to use corpus linguistics in forensic linguistics. In: O'Keeffe, A. & McCarthy, M. (Eds), *The Routledge Handbook of Corpus Linguistics*. Abingdon: Routledge, 578–590.

Gibbons, J. 2003. Forensic linguistics: An introduction to language in the justice system. Oxford: Blackwell.

Heffer, C. 2005. *The language of jury trial: A corpus-aided analysis of legal-lay discourse*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

"Put on Record (POR)" questions: A prosecutor's tool in Egyptian interrogations

Neveen Al Saeed

University of Leeds

ennsaa@leeds.ac.uk

Narratives and narrative structures are part of our daily lives and linguistic encounters in a range of settings. Interrogations are one of these settings where narratives play an important role. In interrogations, both suspects and witnesses to crimes are invited to answer their interviewers' questions by providing narratives of their own version of events. Previous studies have investigated how witnesses and suspects expand their answers to change the version of the narrative that police or lawyers suggest in their questions (Galatolo and Drew, 2006) and how interviewers evaluate these responses (Johnson, 2008). However, in this paper, the focus is not only on suspects' long narratives to confirm or reject prosecutors' challenging questions and evaluations. The present research investigates Put on Record (*POR*) questions and their discursive roles. Interrogations, as a form of institutional discourse, are governed by interactional rules with goals that prosecutors try to fulfil using their questions. This presentation is an exploration of how prosecutors use *POR* questions and how different suspects respond to them.



To do this, 18 Egyptian interrogations are analysed using a discourse-pragmatic method, focusing on the *POR* questions posed by prosecutors and responses. The data, originally in Arabic, but glossed in idiomatic English, using the Leipzig glossing method, are selected from a larger collection of Egyptian prosecution interrogations. Data include interrogations with ex-president Hosni Mubarak and his two sons, Gamal, and Alaa, which took place in 2011 post the 25th January revolution as well as ordinary workers, traders and company managers.

Preliminary results reveal that prosecutors, by asking *POR* questions, do not expect suspects to give a narrative with specific answers. On the contrary, by including these long questions which ask about incriminating details or face a suspect with witnesses' statements that contradict or support the suspect's responses, prosecutors aimed at recording their own version of events on the interrogation record to be read by 'overhearing audiences' (Drew, 1992) such as judges and lawyers. Suspects were found to resist challenging *POR* questions by using '*I do not know*' or '*This did not happen*' responses.

References

- Drew, P. 1992. Contested evidence in courtroom cross-examination: the case of a trial for rape. In Drew, P. and Heritage, J. (eds), *Talk at work: Interaction in institutional Settings*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 470–520.
- Galatolo, R. and Drew, P. 2006. Narrative expansions as defensive practices in courtroom testimony. *Text & Talk*, 26 (6): 661–698.
- Johnson, A. J. 2008. Changing stories: achieving a change of state in suspect and witness knowledge through evaluation in political interviews with suspects and witnesses. *Functions of language*, 15 (1): 84–114.

Strategies of Legitimization: The Case of Women Driving in Saudi Arabia

Hani Alamri Newcastle University h.alamri@ncl.ac.uk

Since women are not allowed to drive in Saudi Arabia, two campaigns were launched in June 2011 and October 2013 calling to lift the ban. Both proponents and opponents of women driving have their own reasons to legitimize or de-legitimize women driving. This study is mainly concerned about the use of language as a legitimization tool in society. It seeks to reveal the strategies used by both proponents and opponents on mass media to legitimize their attitudes and to find out how do public react and reflect on this discourse through the little available space of YouTube comments.

The data are in two types and they are all gathered from YouTube; first, videos of TV shows that are uploaded on YouTube representing the mass media content. Second, the public comments and reflections posted on these videos as the User-Generated Content (UGC). An interdisciplinary framework based on Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) theory, the researcher adopts a Discourse-Historical approach (DHA) for the analysis of strategies of positive self-presentation and negative other-presentation (Wodak, 2001). Moreover, employing analytical tools from Systemic Functional Linguistics (SFL) when needed to gain a deep understanding of the manipulation of linguistic elements to attain legitimization by both parties on mass media (Halliday 1985). Comments posted with regard to lifting the ban on women driving were coded into three responses (*opposing, support or neutral*). Comments under each response were monitored and analysed and showed the formation of various discursive themes (e.g. racist, evaluative, supportive, feminist grievance).



However, the study originality stems from the fact that it develops and proposes some key strategies of legitimization by applying them in a different social context (Van Leeuwen 1996, 2007; Van Leeuwen & Wodak 1999; Reyes, 2011). It also considers the analysis of two different types of data, compares and contrasts the legitimation strategies with their similar argumentation schemes (e.g. *Argument from consequence, analogy, expert opinion*, etc.) proposed by Douglas Walton (1995). Through comments analysis, the circulation and recurrence of many stereotypical statements, used to demonstrate the legitimacy or illegitimacy of the status quo, was noted.

References

Halliday, M. A. K. (1985). An Introduction to Functional Grammar. London: Arnold.

Reyes, A. (2011). 'Strategies of legitimization in political discourse: From words to actions'. *Discourse and Society* 22 (6): 781–807.

Van Leeuwen, T. (1996). The Grammar of Legitimation. London: School of Media/London School of Printing.

Van Leeuwen, T. (2007). Legitimation in discourse and communication. *Discourse & Communication* 1 (1): 91–112.

Van Leeuwen, T. & Wodak, R. (1999) Legitimizing immigration control: A discourse-historical analysis. *Discourse Studies* 1 (1): 83–118.

Walton, D. N. (1995). Argumentation schemes for presumptive reasoning. United States: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Wodak, R. (2001). 'The Discourse Historical Approach', in R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds). *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: SAGE, 63–94.

Managerial Discourse in Kuwaiti Financial Organizations: A Case Study

Fatma AlHaidari

Public Authority for Applied Education & Training haidari.fatma@gmail.com

This paper explores and develops an understanding of the importance of meaning construction and personal business experiences in managerial financial discourse. It reports on five sociolinguistic interviews of six Kuwaiti senior managers, three males and three females. In particular, the researcher analyzes two major questions: 1) How senior managers construct social meanings in their corporate culture and 2) How senior managers perform their managerial experiences. Following the work of Fauconnier (1985, 2002), Halliday (1978), Van Dijk (1997, 2001, 2003), Wodak (2001, 2009, 2013, 2014) and Eckert (2003, 2005, 2006), the researcher examines interviews using a discourse analysis perspective. The personal reflections of senior managers show that both males and females construct conventional business experiences and practices in relation to management and authority. In talking about social meanings, male and female managers emphasize the role of in-group and out-group colleagues at work. To most Kuwaitis, building a social network at work is valuable and important to doing different business tasks. Female managers claim that networks at work maintain relationships between colleagues and improve business experiences. Males also reflect on laugher, which is one conversational strategy for constructing social meanings. The contribution of the present paper will add to the limited financial discourse literature conducted in the Middle East region. Most importantly, the study will help senior managers to understand their own corporate culture and meaning construction in financial discourses in addition to exploring gender differences in managerial discourse.



References

Van Dijk, T. (ed.) 1997. Discourse as Structure and Process. Discourse Studies: A Multidisciplinary Introduction (Vol. 1). London: Sage Publications.

Van Dijk, T. 2008. Discourse and Power. Basingstoke: Palgrave.

Wodak, R. and Meyer, M. 2001. Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis. London: Sage Publications.

Synergizing the Odd: Integrating Corpus Linguistics and Discourse Analysis

Sadiq Altamimi Almaged Department of English, Swansea University, UK 800668@swansea.ac.uk

Politics can alter states by shifting the political balance in favor of political actors and institutions. This shift occurs in part by issuing policies that discriminate against some social classes, such as the poor. This article reports part of my work on the discourse representation of Poverty and Social Exclusion (PSE) in British political speeches. It focuses on its empirical design, specifically on the steps needed to select a relevant and manageable set of linguistic terms, from a large corpus, for analysis of PSE. Drawing on Corpus Linguistic tools (Anthony 2014; Baker *et al.* 2013; Baker *et al.* 2008; Kilgarriff 2004; Baker 2004), I devised a five-stage methodology to select representative data from the corpus. The study then illustrates the value of applying a Corpus-Assisted Discourse Study by reporting key results of the analysis.

The results revealed that the application of this methodology led to extract terms that refer to PSE in context. It also helps downsize the corpus to workable patterns of analysis. This is thought to be not only relevant and comprehensive but methodologically manageable in the disciplines of discourse analysis and corpus linguistics. An additional value of this piece of work is that the five-stage methodology can be applied to different subjects and corpora.

References

- Anthony, L. 2014. AntConc (Version 3.4.1) [Computer Software]. Tokyo, Japan: Waseda University. Available from http://www.antlab.sci.waseda.ac.jp/
- Baker, P. 2004. Querying keywords : questions of difference, frequency and sense in keywords analysis. *Journal of English Linguistics* 32(4): 346–359.
- Baker, P. Gabrielatos, C., KhosraviNik, M., Krzyzanowski, M., McEnery, T., and Wodak, R. 2008. A useful methodological synergy? Combining critical discourse analysis and corpus linguistics to examine discourses of refugees and asylum seekers in the UK press. *Discourse Society* 19: 273–306.
- Baker, P., Gabrielatos, C., and McEnery, T. 2013. *Discourse Analysis and Media Attitudes: The Representation of Islam in the British Press*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kilgarriff, A., Baisa, V., Bušta, J., Jakubícek, M., Kovár, V., Michelfeit, J., Rychlý, P. and Suchomel, V. 2014. The Sketch Engine: ten years on. *Lexicography* 1 (1): 7–36.



The Role of Language in the Construction of Muslim Identity in Family Interaction in Saudi Arabia: A Study of Intertextuality and Power

Iman Almulla Lancaster University i.al-mulla@lancaster.ac.uk

The role that language plays in the construction of identity has received a lot of academic attention in the past few years. A wide variety of research on language and identity has focused on aspects like ethnicity, nationalism and most importantly gender (Labov, 1970; Lakoff, 1975; Tannen, 1989, 1990, 1994, De Fina, A. Schiffrin, D and M. Bamberg, 2006). However, work on the construction of religious identity and Muslim identity in particular is still limited. Thus, the objective of this research is to shed light on aspects of the study of language and identity, that is, the construction of Muslim identity in family interaction in Saudi Arabia.

The elements around which this paper will be built are intertextuality and power. Howe these two elements relate is found in the work of Fairclough (1992). The main research questions will be as follows:

- 1. What types of religious formulaic expressions do participants use to signal their Muslim identity?
- 2. Does participants' speech exhibit intertextuality by incorporating synchronic repetition (i.e. self-repetition and repetition of the talk of others) and diachronic repetition (i.e. words repeated from discourse distant in time) to express Muslim identity?

3. How does the use of intertextuality relate to the concept of power in constructing Muslim identity? The data of the paper will consist of recordings of family conversations in Saudi Arabia. The methodology that is used for data collection in this research is participant-observation, which is a common qualitative method that is rooted in ethnographic research. Critical discourse analysis will be used to analyze how intertextuality and power come into play in the construction of Muslim identity. Some examples of how these two interact will be provided and discussed in detail.

References

De Fina, A., D. Schiffrin and M. Bamberg (2006). *Discourse and Identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Fairclough, N. (1992). Intertextuality in critical discourse analysis. *Linguistics and Education* 4 (3): 269–293. DOI:10.1016/0898-5898(92)90004-G

Labov, W. (1972). Sociolinguistic patterns. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Lakoff, R. (1975). Language and women's place. New York: Harper and Row.

Tannen, D. (1989). *Talking Voices: Repetition, Dialogue, and Imagery in Conversational Discourse* (2nd ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Tannen, D. (1990). You just don't understand: Women and men in conversation. New York: Morrow.

Tannen, D. (1994). Gender and discourse. Oxford: Oxford University Press.



"Islamic" femininities: A close look at the female protagonists represented in the Quran's narratives

Taira Amin

Lancaster University t.amin@lancaster.ac.uk

With a fifth of the world's population looking to the Quran for guidance, there is a pressing need to examine its narratives in terms of their influence in shaping ideas, roles and practices about women and their identities in the Muslim consciousness not least because they encourage ethical development via 'lessons of admonition and exhortation' (Abu-Zayd, 2003:14).

The social constructionist conceptualisation of identity in which it is viewed as situationally motivated and achieved (Bauman 2000:01) is becoming increasingly accepted. According to Mishler (2006:42) 'each of our partial selves is a character in a different story'. These several plots pose their own difficulties and challenges and may at times intersect and conflict with other plots, 'creating tensions at various points in our lives' (Mishler, 2006:42).

In this paper, the research questions that I answer are as follows: firstly, what types of female Muslim identities are fore-grounded in the Quran through the representation of the Quran's female characters? What type(s) of femininities are they represented as carrying out? What types of social gender roles are they depicted as carrying out? What implications do these have for contemporary Muslim women in terms of what female identities they are encouraged to emulate in their own lives? I explore three Quranic narratives using key concepts from Feminist Critical Discourse Analysis and Van Leeuwens' Social Actor Approach.

The main thrust of this paper is to problematise the reductionist notion of "the one" Muslim female identity and femininity type, by showing that the Quran comprises a wide range of female identities; each projecting a different way of being a woman. Also that FCDA, together with SAA can provide illuminating insights in to the discursive representations of female actors featuring in the Quran's narratives, particularly in relation to understanding the kind of female identities and roles believing Muslim women are encouraged to emulate in their own lives as a result of the examples conveyed by these Quranic female archetypes.

Combining corpus and qualitative data to study anthropomorphism in discourse about animals

Clyde Ancarno King's College London clyde.ancarno@kcl.ac.uk

Many industrialised countries live in an area of 'post-domesticity' where people are often physically and psychologically separated from the animals from which they derive food and clothing, while maintaining a close emotional connection with companion animals (Bulliet 2005). However, the complexity of the ways in which we engage with animals has survived this much debated disassociation.

I posit that this complexity permeates 'animal discourse' (i.e. discourses in which animals are the focus, such as wildlife documentaries, animal rights campaigning literature, meat products labels) and propose to explore it by focussing on how anthropomorphism – an often mentioned concept in the field of human-animal



studies and more generally in discussions on animals – is understood and represented in a large-scale corpus of animal discourse. This corpus data was collected as part of the linguistics project 'People', 'Products', 'Pests' and 'Pets': the discursive representation of animals, carried out at King's College London and Lancaster University, funded by the Leverhulme Trust (rpg2013 063). Its primary aim was precisely to canvass a variety of discourses about animals, including transcripts of interviews and focus groups held for the purpose of this project. The data analysis consists of corpus-based findings as well as qualitative analyses of specific texts or excerpts from texts in the corpus.

This corpus-assisted discourse analytic investigation into anthropomorphism reveals a variegated picture of anthropomorphism in contemporary discourses about animals. This includes clear patterns in the positive and negative evaluations of anthropomorphic representations of animals. With their positive appraisal of anthropomorphism in wildlife documentaries, the focus group participants, for example, offer an interesting counter discourse to generally held negative views on anthropomorphism (also evidenced in the focus group and interview data).

References

Bulliet, R.W., 2005. *Hunters, herders, and hamburgers: The past and future of human-animal relationships.* New York: Columbia University Press.

"To pose as a chef" – Visual and textual representations of masculinity in cookbooks

Helen Andersson Örebro University helen.andersson@oru.se **Göran Eriksson** Örebro University goran.eriksson@oru.se

In this paper we discuss the construction of masculinity and male domesticity in cook books written for men. By treating different types of masculinity as discourse (Gill, 2003), we are interested in understanding how cooking as social practice is recontextualized as gendered discourse. Cooking literature, cooking instructions and cook books can be regarded as coded instructions on how to preform gender identity trough cooking practices (Brownlie and Hewer, 2007). Research has shown that cooking in home kitchens has become masculinized. When adapting to their new domestic duties, men have entered the kitchens as chefs, athletes, entertainers and scientists (Swenson, 2009; Kelly, 2015). Still, men's activities in the kitchen are limited, carefully chosen and bounded to certain activity types, and they have less responsibility for regular daily cooking than women (Inness, 2001).

This study focuses three cook books published in Sweden in 1975, 1992 and 2010. It draws on the principles of Multimodal Critical Discourse Analysis (MCDA) (Machin and Mayr, 2012; Halliday and Matthiessen, 2014) and van Leeuwen's (2008) notion of the recontextualization of social practice. More particularly we explore how masculinity and the practice of cooking in a domestic context is realized in design, texts and images in these cook books. The analysis shows that a personal voice and tone is realized through particular lexical, grammatical and visual features in the books. These features change over time and thus reflect different styles of being male; we see different forms of masculinity in relation to food, cooking and the domestic sphere progressing over the years.

References

Brownlie, D. & Hewer, P.A. (2007), Prime beef cuts: culinary images for thinking 'men'. Consumption



Markets and Culture 10 (3): 229–250.

- Gill, R. (2003), Power and the production of subjects: a genealogy of the New Man and the New Lad. *The Sociological Review* 51: 34–56.
- Halliday, M.A.K., revised by Matthiessen, C.M.I.M. (2014), *Halliday's introduction to functional grammar*. Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Inness, S. A. (2001), *Dinner Roles: American Women and Culinary Culture*. Iowa City, IA, USA: University of Iowa Press, ProQuest ebrary. Web. 15 January 2016.
- Kelly, C. R. (2015), Cooking Without Women: The Rhetoric of the New Culinary Male. *Communication and Critical/Cultural Studies* 12 (2): 200–204.
- Machin, D. & Mayr, A. (2012), *How to do critical discourse analysis: a multimodal introduction*. London: Sage.
- Swenson, R. (2009), Domestic Divo? Televised Treatments of Masculinity, Femininity and Food. *Critical Studies in Media Communication* 26 (1): 36–53.
- Van Leeuwen, T. (2008), *Discourse and Practice. New tools for critical discourse analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Numerocracy. Higher education in the neoliberal governmentality

Johannes Angermuller

University of Warwick

j.angermuller@warwick.ac.uk

In the neoliberal knowledge-based economy, education and higher education are often presented as the solution to the social and political challenges of our time (unprecedented social inequality, decreasing rates of economic growth, lack of innovation etc.). While the sociology of education has produced overwhelming evidence that universalising education may have reduced rather than accelerated social mobility (Bourdieu 1996), real existing (higher) education continues to promise a route to economic growth, social wellbeing and crosscultural understanding. In my paper, I will articulate a critical perspective on the role of (higher) education in contemporary society. In this paper, I will be interested in the social inequalities which are produced and reproduced by researchers in the world of research. Against this background, I will argue against the thesis that (higher) education has been colonised by the capitalist economy. Rather, I will delineate the regime of neoliberal governmentality (Foucault 2007) which has been crucially informed by the inequality-producing and – legitimising practices in (higher) education such as grading as measuring effort and talent, governing by numbers, rankings and performance indicators – a regime I call numerocracy.

References

Bourdieu, P. 1996. *The State Nobility. Elite Schools in the Field of Power*. Cambridge: Polity Press.Foucault, M. 2007. *Security, Territory, Population. Lectures at the College de France*. Basingstoke: Palgrave, Macmillan.



Doing Good by Looking Good: Discourses of Sustainable Fashion and Fashionable Sustainability in the Swedish press

Johanna Arnesson University of Gothenburg johanna.arnesson@jmg.gu.se

The paper is situated in the field of media discourse studies, aiming to "[...] highlight the linguistic and discoursal nature of media power" (Fairclough 1995). Drawing on the discourse-historical approach within CDA (Reisigl and Wodak 2009), I analyse the discursive construction of 'sustainable fashion' in Swedish newspapers. Recent decades have seen an upsurge in different ways of 'making change' through consumption choices, a personalisation of politics where causes such as environmental protection and human rights are mobilized around lifestyle values (Bennett 2012). The notion of *ethical consumerism* is expressed in practices which turn the act of shopping into a political statement, a form of 'commodity activism' created by the fetishisation of social action as a marketised commodity (Banet-Weiser and Mukherjee 2012). Using the term 'ethical' instead of 'political' to describe these practices is, as Lewis and Potter (2011) suggests, a way of highlighting a shift in the nature and state of contemporary consumer politics. My starting point is that popularisation of ethical consumption is linked to a specific time and context. The 'ethical turn' within late capitalism is "[...] particularly oriented to the contemporary moment and its problematisation of living" (Lewis and Potter 2011) and more a result of changes brought on by other forces, than a driving force of change in itself (Hanlon 2009).

The study seeks to explore discursive strategies used by social actors within the 'sustainable fashion' discourse, since ethical consumption "[...] depends on the activities of political claims makers who load consumption with political content" (Balsiger 2010). The analysis shows how this example of ethical consumption discourse converges with individualism in neoliberal societies, promoting the middle class 'ethical fashionista' – a free-spirited and multifaceted personality who makes well-informed choices – in contrast to the irresponsible 'careless consumer' of the working class, and the alleged grey conformity of mass society. The analysis also focuses on the construction of an ethical identity as a value for the brands, designers, and corporate representatives who are represented both as 'greedy capitalists' and 'benevolent do-gooders'.

References

- Balsiger, P. 2010. Making Political Consumers: The Tactical Action Repertoire of a Campaign for Clean Clothes. *Social Movement Studies* 9 (3): 311–329. DOI:10.1080/14742837.2010.493672
- Banet-Weiser, S. and Mukherjee, R. 2012. Introduction: Commodity Activism in Neoliberal Times. In R. Mukherjee and S. Banet-Weiser (eds) *Commodity Activism: Cultural Resistance in Neoliberal Times*. New York: New York University Press, 1–7.
- Bennett, W. L. 2012. The Personalization of Politics: Political Identity, Social Media, and Changing Patterns of Participation. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 644 (1): 20–39. DOI:10.1177/0002716212451428

Fairclough, N. 1995. Media discourse. London: Edward Arnold.

- Hanlon, G. 2009. Rethinking Corporate Social Responsibility and the Role of the Firm On the Denial of Politics. In A. Crane (ed.) *The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility. Oxford Handbooks Online*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lewis, T. and Potter, E. 2011. Introducing ethical consumption. In T. Lewis & E. Potter (eds) Ethical



consumption: a critical introduction. London: Routledge, 3–23.

Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2009. The discourse-historical approach (DHA). In M. Meyer & R. Wodak (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis* (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: SAGE, 87–121.

EFL Textbooks and Identity Construction among Arabic/Hebrew Speakers

Muzna Awayed-Bishara Haifa University & Academic Arab College for Education muznabishara@gmail

This article deals with how the texts included in English textbooks shape and construct the English learner's national identity, attitudes towards the Other, and ideological stands regarding the Israel-Palestine conflict. This topic is particularly significant in Israel, as the English curriculum is uniform for all populations, including Palestinian Arabs.

Discourse analysis of English textbooks in Israel has shown how through the recurrence of Western – and specifically American and Jewish – culturally-based issues, the textbooks interpellate English learners as Western-oriented Jewish Zionist subjects, thus contributing to the reproduction and perpetuation of Western and Jewish hegemony (Awayed-Bishara 2015). Concomitantly, these English schoolbooks disregard the identity of the Palestinian Arab minority, its culture and communal traditions.

The present study presents a discourse analysis of interviews with 30 high school students (mainly secular Jews and Christian/Muslim Arabs). Analysis indicates that learners recurrently use re-contextualization, indexical pronouns, and positive-self or negative-other narratives to associate/disassociate themselves from the texts and narratives included in English textbooks. Interviewees' responses also indicate how discourse may contribute to the construction of a hybrid identity (Bhabha 1994). Analysis of responses to an article on a black teenage dropout, for example, reveals a constant shift in the self through differentiating a "positive self" from a "negative other" or going against and hence doubting "negative" representations coming from the text. Most of the Hebrew speakers' responses generally demonstrate how superior they feel towards the Other, how ignorant they are about who the other is, and how fully they accept the legitimacy of the Jewish-Zionist values promoted in the texts. Conversely, most Arabic speakers demonstrated an understanding of how marginalized they are in the Israeli educational system and other spheres, how cultural and religious narratives may be contradicting national narratives within their Palestinian Arab community, and how they seem to accept their role as victims of discrimination.

To conclude, identity seems to be constructed dialogically and in reference to the Other (Blommaert 2005; Wodak *et al.* 2009). This work examines the general assumption that EFL discourse in Israel has a constructive role in shaping people's ideologies, attitudes, and identities.

References

Awayed-Bishara, M. 2015. Analyzing the cultural content of materials used for the teaching of English to high school speakers of Arabic in Israel. *Discourse & Society*. May (2015), 1–26.

Bhabha, H.K. 1994. The Location of Culture. New York: Routledge,

Blommaert, J. 2005. Discourse. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hall, S. 2000. "Who needs identity?" In P. Du Gay, P.J. Evans and P. Redman (eds) *Identity: A Reader*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 15–30.

Wodak, R., R. De Cilia, M. Reisigl and K. Liebhart 2009 [1999]. *The discourse construction of national identity*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.



"Angela's Facebook Party": Media Discourse on the Refugee Crisis and Commentators Counter Narratives

Fabienne Baider University of Cyprus helenafab@yahoo.fr Sharon Millar University of Southern Denmark smillar@sdu.dk

Monika Kopytowska University of Łódź monika.kopytowska@gmail.com

Our proposal presents the first results of the European project C.O.N.T.A.C.T. which focuses on hate speech/ hate crime within 10 countries in Europe. For this talk, we will focus on discourses pertaining to three countries (Denmark, France, Greece). Our data consist in press articles and comments (related to the articles), both bodies of data being analysed separately. The data were collected during six months in 2015.

Firstly we discuss the difficulties of building comparable data within different media structures as well as within different social and cultural spaces (Denmark vs Cyprus for instance). This discussion will allow us to explain the strategy which enabled us to find automatically examples of hate speech / hate crime in the press. Our second part focuses on the lexical field of 'migrant' (comprising the words asylum seekers, refugees, migrants, displaced person, undocumented individual) and on our quantitative results for the chosen keywords, using concordances as well as collocations in order to define the semantic and prosody preference for the lexical paradigm examined (Bednarek 2008).

We observe an emergent common ground built transversally in our body of data, mainly through coconstructed salient lexical and conceptual units (Kecskes 2013), however this emergent common ground are opposite discourses between the main press articles and the comments posted about the article. Therefore in our last section, framed within the proximisation theory (Chilton 2005, Cap 2013), we focus on the qualitative analysis of the typical scenario found in all countries i.e. the rhetorical construction of empathy towards the migrants (mainly in the press article) and the counter discourse to the same article (mainly on part of the commentator's) deconstructing such empathic positioning. It has been argued that analyzing such salient lexical units and discourse allows insights in the structural and semantic level of cognitive salience (Giora 2003): therefore working on the linguistic salience may give us access to mental representation of migration among the public at large.

References

Bednarek M. 2008. Semantic preference and semantic prosody re-examined. *Corpus Linguistics and Linguistic Theory*, 4 (2): 119–39.

Cap, P. 2013. Proximization: The Pragmatics of Symbolic Distance Crossing. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Chilton, P. 2005. Discourse Space Theory: geometry, brain and shifting viewpoints. *Annual Review of Cognitive Linguistics* 3: 78–116.

Giora, R. 2003. *On Our Mind: Salience, Context and Figurative Language*. Oxford: Oxford University Press Kecskes, I. 2013. *Intercultural pragmatics*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.



Contestations against a new dominant discourse in postmodernity. The contribution of the anti-gender movement in Italy

Daniela Bandelli

University of Queensland daniela.bandelli@gmail.com

In 2015, children from ages 4-6 years old who were enrolled in 18 kindergartens in Trieste (Italy) were targeted by a new educational 'gender transformative' project called 'The Game of Respect' realized with public funds. The goal of the project was to prevent Violence against Women (VAW) through ludic activities aimed at deconstructing typification of male/female identity and exploring the sameness of bodies and emotions regardless gender. The initiative sparked protest from groups of local parents and family activists. Additionally, opinion makers, intellectuals and political representatives took a stance of either pro or against drawing attention of national and international media.

This incident represents a defining moment for the emergence of the so-called 'anti-gender movement' in Italy. In a nutshell, this movement contests the deployment in schools, institutions, media and cultural products of the false belief that human identity/relationships can be fully self-determined independently of biological sex. This paper sheds light on the core arguments of this emerging counter-movement, which I regard as a new important voice that contributes to the existing intellectual critique of gender paradigm and social constructivism.

My theoretical proposal is to look at 'gender' as an artificial conceptual category invented to analyse the cultural dimension of existence. With time this category has been popularized through an emancipatory discourse, it has colonized institutions and bureaucracies and trickled down into popular culture and becoming a device of biopolitics: an external force that redefines the way individuals perceive their nature of human beings and their identity in relation to the other sex.

The aim of Critical Discourse Studies (CDS) is to questioning hegemonic representations of reality through the lens of voices at the margins of public discourse. I suggest that anti-gender movement represents an interesting prism through which scholars in CDS can advance a timely critique of discourses revolved around the category of gender and that are becoming dominant in postmodernity.

"Mothers Today Have Difficult Choices to Make": Ideologies of Motherhood in Contemporary Israeli TV Commercials

Sigal Barak-Brandes Tel-Aviv University brandes1@zahav.net.il

While the literature deals extensively with the ideologies of motherhood (e.g., Badinter 1981; Hays 1996; Rich 1986) and numerous studies have investigated the representation of women in the media, including television commercials (e.g., Furnham and Twiggy 1999), much less attention has been paid to the role of the media in shaping the ideology of motherhood (Feasey 2012). The current study is the first to look at the representations of motherhood and mothering practices in contemporary Israeli TV commercials in an attempt to shed light on the ideological constructs they reflect and promote.



CADAAD 2016

The study employed critical discourse analysis (Fiske 1987 pp. 73–82) to examine 64 television commercials aired on commercial TV stations in Israel from 2000–2014. All of them represented mothers, thus reflecting sociocultural perceptions of the maternal role and its practices.

The findings indicate advertising's ability to mobilize the patriarchal ideology of motherhood while using different thematic motifs, which sometimes operate alone and sometimes together in the same commercial. The different motifs complete each other, while at the end perfectly enable advertising to use them at its marketing service.

For instance, many of the commercials convey messages of women's empowerment by stressing their choice, freedom, control, and power, thus using a "feminist marketing rhetoric" (Duffy 2010 p. 27). They therefore recruit feminist rhetoric while stripping it of its sociopolitical message (Gill 2007) to promote traditional maternal tasks.

Also, mothering, and the many problems, dilemmas, and difficulties it entails, are transposed in the commercials into consumption, which supposedly provides all the answers. In other words, there is an obvious commodification of motherhood in Israeli commercials, with good mothering seen to be dependent on spending money and purchasing more products. Furthermore, beyond injecting capitalist logic into mothering, the advertising messages naturalize the woman as solely responsible for managing situations which may distress or threaten her home and family, whether they relate to hygiene, nutrition, health, etc.

The lecture will discuss these ideological constructs in detail, and their significance in the Israeli context.

References

Badinter, E. 1981. Mother Love: Myth and Reality. Motherhood in Modern History. New York: Macmillan.

- Duffy, B. E. 2010. Empowerment through endorsement? Polysemic meaning in Dove's user-generated advertising. Communication, *Culture & Critique* 3 (1): 26–43.
- Feasey, R. 2012. From "Happy Homemaker" to "Desperate Housewives": Motherhood and Popular *Television*. London and New York: Anthem Press.

Fiske, J. 1987. *Television culture*. London and New York: Methuen.

Furnham, A., and Twiggy, M. 1999. Sex-role stereotyping in television commercials: A review and comparison of fourteen studies done on five continents over 25 years. *Sex Roles* 41(5/6): 413–437.

Gill, R. 2007. Gender and the Media. Cambridge, UK and Malden, MA.: Polity Press.

Hays, S. 1996. The Cultural Contradictions of Motherhood. New Haven, CT: Yale.

Rich, A. 1986. Of Woman Born. New York: W.W. Norton.

Using non-standard language to represent diversity and 'otherness' in contemporary US television series

Monika Bednarek The University of Sydney Monika.Bednarek@sydney.edu.au

In this presentation I make use of a new corpus of dialogue transcribed from over 60 contemporary US television series: The Sydney Television Corpus (SydTV). SydTV is a small, specialised corpus which has been designed to be representative of the language variety of contemporary US American TV dialogue. Contemporary is here defined as the year of first broadcast falling between 2000 and 2012. This specific time frame was adopted because the first decade of the 21st century was characterised by the global rise of American TV series, and the 'golden age of television' that characterises US TV series from this period is still on-going.



US American is defined as having the United States as country of origin. TV dialogue is defined as the actual dialogue uttered by actors on screen as they are performing characters in fictional TV series. TV dialogue hence does not cover screen directions, and may differ from the dialogue presented in official pre-production or shooting scripts. About half of the corpus comes from comedy genres and the other half from drama genres, since this is one of the major distinctions made in the TV industry. Based on the rise and importance of so-called 'quality' television, about half of the corpus comes from Emmy- or Golden Globe-winning or - nominated series, and the other half does not.

In line with the focus of this panel, my analysis of SydTV will focus on the linguistic representation of diversity and otherness, with a special focus on non-standard language. In particular, I will examine the frequency and distribution of the word form *ain't* and its use by different characters in SydTV. The analysis includes a comparison with other variants such as *gonna* and *gotta*, and analysis of its collocates as well as its potential association with social character categories such as ethnicity and class.

Fashion on wheels as a subject of disability and fashion discourses

Natalia Berger Inholland University of Applied Science natalia.berger@inholland.nl

The research project "Fashion on Wheels" is one of the three case studies that make up a larger study into media reflections of different public discussions around the social and ethical critical issues in the world of fashion and, broader, the textile industry.

The modern discourse of fashion spreads over the different parts of human life. Fashion is not just about an elegant, stylish or kinky "look" anymore. Fashion today is also bound up with ethical attachments such as sustainable materials and fair-trade production. Fashion stretches from 'haute couture' into the development of outfits for special groups of consumers (for example, customized items for military personnel, athletes, wheelchair users etc.)

According to Hirschman and Thompson (1997), "mass media vehicles sort reality into meaningful social categories that provide a frame of reference from which consumers interpret their daily lives" (44). As an important actor of social practises, media play a significant role in the forming of attitudes and decision-making processes of consumers.

The focus of this case study is the presentation of clothing for disabled people, specifically wheelchair users, in the Dutch printed mass media. The question of our research has arisen from non-profit organisations and small-business enterprises, that are engaged in the development and promotion of what they call *fashion on wheels*. They wanted to know whether this topic attracts any mass media attention; and if so, how the topic is presented in the local and national printed press in the Netherlands?

The queries on the subject, using a variety of combinations of key words, via the LexisNexis database resulted in 70 relevant articles published in Dutch newspapers between 2007 and 2015.

Two basic discourses (discourse according to Fairclough 2003) have formed the theoretical ground of the code system for the content analysis: the disability discourse (Garland-Thomson 2002) and the fashion discourse (Moeran 2013).

Conclusion: both discourses have been presented in the Dutch media equally. The average ratio of article content is: 51% disability aspects versus 49% fashion aspects. This representation may be undesirable for the producers and promoters of so-called *adjusted fashion* because the talk highlights the medical aspects of the subject as much as the aesthetical and fashionable details of the clothing.



References

Hirschman, E. C. and Thompson, C. J. 1997. Why Media Matter: Toward a Richer Understanding of Consumers' Relationships with Advertising and Mass Media. *Journal of Advertising* 26 (1): 44–59.

Fairclough, N. 2003. Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research. Routledge.

Garland-Thomson, R. 2002. Integrating Disability, Transforming Feminist Theory. *NWSA Journal* 14 (3): 1–32.

Moeran, B. 2013. Proposing Fashion: The Discourse of Glossy Magazines. *Comunicação e Sociedade* 24: 120–142.

Constructing corporate self-identity and relationships with readers: The use of interpersonal resources in the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and Integrated Annual (IA) reports of six South African companies

Taryn Bernard Stellenbosch University tbernard@sun.ac.za

Prior research has established that companies and corporations are frequently conceptualised as individual entities that not only have legal rights, but also personalities, dispositions, desires and social responsibilities (see Breeze 2012 and Fuoli 2012). Such a conceptualisation of corporate institutions is to a large extent created and disseminated by the companies themselves through advertising but also through reports such as Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) reports and Integrated Annual reports (IA). In fact, in much the same way as the language and linguistic behaviour of individuals makes manifest who they are (Wodak 2013), the language and linguistic behaviour of the companies in this study are viewed as making manifest the company's personality and perspective on the world. The aim of this paper is to investigate a number of the most pertinent linguistic devices used by six prominent South African companies to construct their identities and build a relationship with their intended readership. I draw on methods of corpus linguistics (SFL), to investigate these features of the text. The research reveals that all six companies use a limited set of linguistic devices to construct themselves as caring and confident. When correlated with Fuoli's (2012) findings regarded the interpersonal resources used by multinational corporations, the research contributes to an understanding of the legitimisation and justification strategies used by financially powerful institutions across the globe.

References

Breeze, R. 2012. Legitimation in corporate discourse: Oil corporations after Deepwater Horizon. *Discourse & Society* 23 (1): 3–18.

Fuoli, M. 2012. Assessing social responsibility: A quantitative analysis of Appraisal in BP's and IKEA's social reports. *Discourse & Communication* 6 (1): 55–81.

Martin, J.R. and P. White. 2005. The Language of Evaluation: Appraisal in English. Palgrave: Macmillan.

Wodak, R. 2013. Language, power and identity. In Wodak, R. (ed.) *Critical discourse analysis, Volume 1. Sage benchmarks in language and linguistics*. London: Sage, 393–413.



Students' intercultural competences in Italy and Greece

Rita Bertozzi Università di Modena e Reggio Emilia rita.bertozzi@unimore.it **Eugenia Arvantis** University of Patras

The international debate on the concept of intercultural competences is increasingly growing.

A myriad of terminology has been used in literature to define the concept, including global competence, global citizenship, cross-cultural competence, international competence, intercultural effectiveness, intercultural sensitivity.

Deardorff (2006) defines the intercultural competence as "the ability to develop targeted knowledge, skills and attitudes that lead to visible behavior and communication that are both effective and appropriate in intercultural interactions". As argued by various authors, intercultural competence must be intentionally addressed, because it is a lifelong process. This refers to the role of Reflexive pedagogy (Kalantzis & Cope, 2012). Then, critical reflection on intercultural competences becomes a powerful tool in the process of developing intercultural competence and it can help in the definition of new educational goals. The importance of intercultural competences for collaboration and dialogue in culturally diverse classrooms, both for teachers and students in contemporary societies, strengthens the attention on this topic. The analysis and the assessment of these competences could enable the schools to reflect on the generic value of diversity and to orient training towards the achievement of specific skills, attitudes and behaviors.

Taking the Chen and Starosta's model (2000) of intercultural communication competence as reference, we can identify three main dimensions: intercultural awarneness, intercultural sensitivity and intercultural adroitness, with a set of different components.

The paper presents the results of a research project, still in progress, that aims to investigate and compare the intercultural sensitivity of a group of students in Italy and Greece. Data will be collected on March and April 2016, through the administration of the 24-item intercultural sensitivity questionnaire developed by Chen and Starosta (2000). The sample for the study will be 300 first year university students (150 Italians and 150 Greeks). Often used to assess outcomes of internationalization, the tool can be useful also for the analysis of multi/intercultural schools in an inclusive society; it provides a more specific meaning of "intercultural competence", as well as some suggestions regarding the assessment of student's intercultural competences.

References

- Chen, G.M., & Starosta, W.J. 2000. The development and validation of the intercultural communication sensitivity scale. *Human Communication*, 3, 1–15.
- Colombo M, Santagati M 2014. Nelle scuole plurali. Misure di integrazione degli alunni stranieri. FrancoAngeli.
- Deardorff D.K. 2009. The Handbook of Intercultural Competence, London: SAGE.
- Deardorff, D.K. 2006. The identification and Assessment of Intercultural Competence as a Student Outcome of Internationalization at Institutions of Higher Education in the United States. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 10: 241–266.
- Fritz, W., Mollenberg, A. and Chen GM 2002. Measuring Intercultural Sensitivity in Different Cultural Contexts. *Intercultural Communication Studies* 11 (2): 165–176.
- Kalantzis, M. and Cope, B. 2012. *New Learning: Elements of a Science of Education*. New York: Cambridge University Press.



Portera A. 2013. Competenze interculturali. Teoria e pratica nei settori scolastico-educativo, giuridico, aziendale, sanitario e della mediazione culturale. Milano: FrancoAngeli.
Reggio P, Santerini M. 2014. Le competenze interculturali nel lavoro educativo. Roma: Carocci.

The Grammar of Money: A discursive institutional analysis of money in light of the practice of complementary currencies

Leander Bindewald University of Cumbria leander@criterical.net Jem Bendell University of Cumbria jem.bendell@cumbria.ac.uk

Adopting the notion of Norman Fairclough's progression from a negative critique of structures to a positive critique of change strategies (Fairclough 2010, p. 14), the analysis of our financial system and economies must not fail to recognise the novel approaches and prototyping practices of complementary currencies and monetary reform.

These novel and extremely diverse practices, ranging from political campaigns for full-reserve banking to local currencies, timebanks, business-barter systems and so called crypto-currencies, highlight a blatant conceptual under-determination of money in legal, regulatory and economist discourses (Costa & Gauvin McNeill 2015; Ingham 1996). While there are no coherent theoretic frameworks to understand all kinds of complementary currencies and "money as we know it" (Blanc 2011), the lack of a clear touchstone definition of conventional money impedes the recognition of new forms of monetary innovations and the developmental pathways for monetary reform (Bendell *et al.* 2015) and systemic financial sustainability (Lietaer *et al.* 2012).

This PhD research projects aims to pinpoint the conceptual discrepancies of monetary conceptualizations in the discourse of financial regulators and central banks when compared to that of complementary currency practices and thus elucidate policy options to improve the recognition and impact of community currencies and other monetary reform initiatives.

It aims to critically analysis money, including the practices of complementary currencies, as discoursive institutions (Schmidt 2010) according to their constituent rules, norms and customs in an application of the "grammar of institutions" proposed by Crawford and Ostrom (Crawford & Ostrom 1995).

References

- Bendell, J., Slater, M. & Ruddick, W. 2015. Re-imagining Money to Broaden the Future of Development Finance What Kenyan Community Currencies Reveal is Possible for Financing Development, UNRISD Working Paper 2015-10.
- Blanc, J. 2011. Classifying "CCs": Community, complementary and local currencies' types and generations. *International Journal of Community Currency Research* 15: 4–10.
- Costa, J.M. & Gauvin McNeill, M. 2015. Brief Review of the History of Money's Definition. Proceedings of the *Monetary Research Center 1stAnnual Conference*. Sofia, Bulgaria.
- Crawford, S.E. & Ostrom, E. 1995. A Grammar of Institutions. *The American Political Science Review* 89: 582–600.
- Fairclough, N. 2010. *Critical Discourse Analysis: The critical study of language* (2nd edition). Harlow: Pearson.
- Ingham, G. 1996. Money is a Social Relation. Review of Social Economy 54 (4): 507-529.

Lietaer, B. et al. 2012. Money and Sustainability: The Missing Link. Triarchy Press.

Schmidt, V.A. 2010. Taking ideas and discourse seriously: explaining change through discursive



institutionalism as the fourth "new institutionalism." European Political Science Review 2 (1): 1-25.

(Co-)constructing community-identity: Pro-innocent voices in the Meredith Kercher murder case

Maria Bortoluzzi University of Udine - Italy maria.bortoluzzi@uniud.it

Within an international context of media and social media interaction, the murder of Meredith Kercher in 2007 and the controversial case that followed have sparked much debate online and offline. The case fostered unexpected alliances and fights among individuals and groups belonging to the pro-innocent and pro-guilt sides. The pro-innocent side was in favour of the acquittal of the defendants Amanda Knox and Raffaele Sollecito, believed innocent of the murder; the pro-guilt group was convinced that Knox and Sollecito perpetrated the crime. In the media and social-mediascapes, debates became exacerbated especially at critical moments such as before and after the trial verdicts were released. In March 2015 the Italian Court of Cassation exonerated the two defendants from the accusation of the murder.

The aim of this presentation is analysing practices and processes of self- and other- identification within the pro-innocent online community who tried to obtain full exoneration for Amanda Knox and Raffaele Sollecito from the charges of murdering Meredith Kercher. As part of a wider ethnographic study of social media interaction on the case (Gies and Bortoluzzi, 2014; Gies, 2016), nine members actively involved in the pro-innocent online community were interviewed: their insider voices offer insights into complex co-constructed identities in a transnational online community.

Within a framework of critical discourse (Caldas-Coulthard and Iedema, 2008; Blommaert, 2010) and social media studies (Androutsopoulos, 2008; Boyd, 2008; Leppanen *et al.*, 2014; Seargeant and Tagg, 2014), the main questions addressed are: what are the strategies used by the interviewees to project their identification or seeming distancing strategies in relation to the cause and the online pro-innocence collectivity? How do they construct the pro-guilt 'other' *vis-à-vis* their online media activities? How do they perceive and portray their diverse individual and collective contribution (online and offline) in relation to the social engagement they are all committed to? The nine in-depth interviews enabled us to recognise individual contributions and instantiations of engagement which tend to be backgrounded and even overlooked when studying an online community as a whole.

References

- Androutsopoulos, J. 2008 Potentials and Limitations of Discourse-Centred Ethnography. *Language@Internet*, 5, article 9. Retrieved August 31, 2015, from: www.languageatinternet.de
- Caldas-Coulthard C. and Iedema R. (eds) 2008. *Identity Trouble. Critical Discourse and Contested Identities*. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Blommaert, J. 2010. The Sociolinguistics of Globalization. Cambridge: C.U.P.
- Boyd, D. 2008. Taken Out of Context: American Teens Sociality in Networked Publics. Doctoral Thesis, University of California, Berkeley. Retrieved January 20, 2015: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1344756
- Gies, L. 2016. Miscarriage of justice in the age of social media: The Amanda Knox and Raffaele Sollecito innocence campaign. *The British Journal of Criminology*. Retrieved April 13, 2016, from: http://bjc.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2016/02/28/bjc.azw017.full.pdf+htm l



- Gies, L. and Bortoluzzi, M. 2014. Purity and contamination in online popular forensics: Amateur-expert readings of the Meredith Kercher murder case. *Continuum: Journal of Media & Cultural Studies* 28 (4): 532–544.
- Leppänen S. *et al.* 2014. Entextualization and resemiotization as resources for identification is social media. In Seargeant, P. and Tagg, C. (eds). *The Language of social media*. Basingstoke (UK): Palgrave Macmillan, 112–136.

Seargeant, P. and Tagg, C. (eds). 2014. The Language of social media. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

The discursive resurgence of the 'communist enemy': The use of Gramscian thought in the Greek extreme right rhetoric

Salomi Boukala

Hellenic Foundation for European & Foreign Policy (ELIAMEP) salomi.boukala@gmail.com

A few days before the national election in Greece (January 2015) the then Minister of health, Makis Voridis, the leader of the far right *Hellenic Front* party, who later joined the ultranationalist party *LAOS* and since 2012 is a member of the conservative *New Democracy* addressed to his supporters. Voridis, one of the most well known figures of the Greek extreme right, referred to Antonio Gramsci's work to explicate to his audience the danger of the 'communist threat'. As he mentioned: '*The use of ideological mechanisms made the Left popular...we live under the ideological dominance of the Left'*.

References to Gramscian key concepts were not limited to Voridis's election campaign; they have shaped the ideological bases of the Greek extreme right parties and have been widely discussed by far right 'intellectuals', such as Kostantinos Plevris, the founder of the ultrnationalist party 4th of August and Nikos Michaloliakos, the leader of the Neo-Nazi party *Golden Dawn*. Focussing on the ideological drafts and political statements of the three leading figures of the Greek far right (Voridis, Plevris, Michaloliakos), this presentation looks at the way the Gramscian thought underlines constructions of the Greek extreme right's ideology as well as the means by which the far right rhetoric on the 'communist enemy' is established. The presentation draws on the concept of 'historical bloc' and intends to show how cultural politics and 'hegemonic knowledge' regarding the political/historical 'Other' are formed by extreme right's discourses.

Paraphrasing Gramsci, I assume that historical bloc refers to an 'historical congruence between material forces, institutions and ideologies, politically organized around a set of hegemonic ideas that gave strategic direction and coherence to its constituent elements. Moreover, a new historical bloc needs persuasive ideas, arguments and initiatives that build on and develop its political networks' (Gramsci, 1971; Showstack-Sassoon, 1980). Using the Discourse Historical Approach of Critical Discourse Analysis, I seek to explore the discursive construction of the dichotomy between far right's anti-systemic, anti-hegemonic, patriotic bloc and the corrupted, parasitic left and how this distinction has been constituted through the prism of cultural politics and a new historical bloc.

References

Gramsci, A. 1971. *Selections from the Prison Notebooks*. London: Lawrence and Wishart. Showstack- Sassoon, A. 1980. *Gramsci's Politics*. London: Croom Helm.



Preaching from a distant pulpit: The European migrant crisis seen through a *New York Times* editorial and reader comments

Michael S. Boyd Roma Tre University michael.boyd@uniroma3.it

On 18 September 2015, in the midst of the greatest movement of refugees and migrants that Europe has seen since the Second World War, *The New York Times* published an editorial entitled "Europe should see refugees as a Boon, not as a Burden". It should come as no surprise that the article received well over 450 comments from readers reflecting the myriad of opinions about the complex issue of (European) migration and refugees. This paper is interested in the discourses about (European) migration that emerge from both the editorial and reader comments, an important interactive feature of today's online media ecology.

From a theoretical point of view the discussion is underpinned by two underlying notions: first, the news producers influence public discourse and "reinforce beliefs" among readers (Richardson, 2007, p. 13) and, second, news texts and the issues and discourses portrayed in them are received by the wider public "in ways which correspond to the concerns, priorities and goals of the current stage [of the news cycle]" (Fairclough, 1995, p. 48). The work is also partially inspired by Text World Theory and its claim that discourses result from "a deliberate and joint effort on the part of producer and receiver to build up a 'world' within which the propositions advanced are coherent" (Werth, 1995, p. 95). Such an approach can be useful in explaining the linguistic construction of multiple representations of society (Filardo-Llamas, 2014) emerging in text comment conversations.

By focusing on reader comments, the study attempts to determine readers' varying opinions about the issue and how this reflects and/or diverges from the view(s) presented by the editorial. Through comments users can react to or interact with an overt opinion genre, thereby providing insight into how discourses about migration are perceived and recontexualized by a wider readership. The quantitative and qualitative analysis of the two sets of empirical data (the editorial and reader comments) aim to demonstrate the various representations of society inherent in online newspaper discourse. In particular, the analysis focuses on the linguistic means adopted by text producers to align themselves with (proximization), or differentiate themselves from (distancing), different discourse/text worlds.

References

Fairclough, N. 1995. Media Discourse. London: Arnold.

- Filardo-Llamas, L. 2014. Between the Union and a united Ireland: Shifting positions in Northern Ireland's post-Agreement political discourse. In: B. Kaal, I. Maks & A. van Elfrinkhof (eds), *From Text to Political Positions: Text Analysis Across Disciplines*. Amsterdam: Benjamins, pp. 207–224.
- Richardson, J. E. 2007. Analysing newspapers: An approach from Critical Discourse Analysis. Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Werth, P. 1995. 'World enough, and time': Deictic space and the interpretation of prose. In: P. Verdonk & J. Weber (eds), *Twentieth Century Fiction: From Text to Context*. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, pp. 181–206.



Towards a common model of Political Discourse Analysis

Michael S. Boyd Roma Tre University michael.boyd@uniroma3.it Laura Filardo-Llamas Universidad de Valladolid lfilardo@fyl.uva.es

Recent years have seen an upsurge of different approaches to discourse analysis, which could be described as ranging from traditional discourse studies (mainly based on philosophical and sociological theories) to pure discourse analysis grounded in linguistic analysis. Although quite different at first sight, it can be argued that all these models share some common ground, which can be explained by establishing relations between the perspective of political discourse addressed in each model (Cf. Chilton & Schäffner 2002), the CDA stage that is most prominent (Cf. Fairclough 1989), and the communicative meta-function at the core of the analysis (Cf. Halliday & Matthiessen 2004).

After presenting an overview of some of the most common approaches to the study of political discourse (based on Boyd & Filardo, forthcoming), in this paper we present our own proposal for a comprehensive approach to Political Discourse Analysis (PDA). The model, already drafted in Boyd & Filardo (forthcoming), envisions a three-tiered approach to PDA which considers (1) text-related features; (2) representation and (3) interaction. We argue that such a model is better suited to today's highly wired new media ecology in which text receivers play an increasingly important role in the dissemination process of texts and genres. Through the use of online features users react to and interact with political texts and the various genres they becoming a powerful force in reshaping linguistic and social practice.

The proposal has a double objective: it aims both to make PDA as comprehensive as possible and to establish common ground with different CDA-inspired approaches to political discourse. To do so, two main organizational features have been considered: we follow the classical CDA three-stage approach (Fairclough 1989) while incorporating the three main perspectives posited by Chilton and Schäffner (2002: 25) to be used in PDA: textual features, interaction and representation. As will be demonstrated, by emphasizing the importance of these three perspectives the analyst can exploit the tools based on the most prominent approaches to CDA: Fairclough's interdiscursive and intertextual approach (Fairclough 1989), Wodak *et al.*'s Discourse Historical approach (Reisigl & Wodak 2009), and Hart's cognitive approach (Hart 2008).

References

- Boyd, M. & Filardo-Llamas, L. Forthcoming. CDA and Politics. In J. Flowerdew and J.E. Richardson (eds), *The Handbook of Critical Discourse Studies*. London: Routledge.
- Chilton, P. and Schäffner, C. 2002. Introduction: Themes and Principles in the Analysis of Political Discourse. In C. Chilton and C. Schäffner (eds) *Politics as Text and Talk: Analytic Approaches to Political Discourse*. Amsterdam: Benjamins, 1–41.

Fairclough, N. 1989. Language and Power. London: Longman.

- Halliday, M.A.K. & Matthiessen, C.M.I.M. 2004. An Introduction to Functional Grammar. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Education.
- Hart, C. 2008. Critical Discourse Analysis and Metaphor: Toward a Theoretical Framework. *Critical Discourse Studies* 5 (2): 91–106.
- Reisigl, M. & Wodak, R. 2009. The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: Sage, 87–121.



A grammar of resistance: Using Cognitive Grammar to account for resistant reading

Sam Browse Sheffield Hallam University s.browse@shu.ac.uk

In Critical Discourse Analysis, it has long been held that grammatical forms encode an ideological perspective. Use of the passive voice or nominalisation are ways of 'reducing' (Fairclough 1989: 103) the information available to the reader and thereby mystifying what might be important aspects of the situation or events being described (for example, compare the nominalisation, 'the bombings', to 'the Americans bombed Vietnam'). Whilst this approach has been very productively employed to examine how texts promote particular ideologies, it is also a fact that readers are capable of resisting the ideological interpretation of events proffered by the texts they read.

In this paper, I use Cognitive Grammar (CG, c.f. Langacker 1987, 1991, 2008) to address this issue of reader resistance. CG has increasingly been used in the analysis of literary discourse (for examples, Harrison forthcoming; Harrison *et al.* 2014; Nuttall 2015; Stockwell 2009), and has very productively been applied in CDA (Hart 2014, 2015). In CG, all grammatical forms 1) evoke conceptual content and 2) construe that content in some way. The conceptual content evoked depends upon the experiential knowledge possessed by the reader. In this model, resistant readings can be accounted for by a clash in the preferred construal of the reader versus the construal placed on the conceptual content by the writer.

I report on a small scale study involving three participants, all of whom were members of the British Labour Party. The participants were asked to listen to and discuss a speech by Theresa May, a prominent Conservative Party politician, delivered to the 2015 Conservative Party Conference. I use categories from CG to analyse the subsequent discussion and trace the resistant readings the participants created in response to the linguistic cues in the speech.

References

Fairclough, N. 1989. Language and Power. Harlow: Longman.

- Harrison, C. (forthcoming). Cognitive Discourse Grammar in Contemporary Fiction. New York: John Benjamins.
- Harrison, C., Nuttall, L., Stockwell, P., & Yuan, W. (eds) 2014. *Cognitive Grammar in Literature*. New York: John Benjamins.
- Hart, C. 2014. Discourse, Grammar and Ideology: Functional and Cognitive Perspectives. London: Bloomsbury.
- Hart, C. 2015. Viewpoint in linguistic discourse: Space and evaluation in news reports of political protests. *Critical Discourse Studies* 12 (3): 238–260.
- Langacker, R. 1987. Foundations of Cognitive Grammar, Volume I: Theoretical Prerequisites. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Langacker, R. 1991. Foundations of Cognitive Grammar, Volume II: Descriptive Application. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Nuttall, L. 2015. Attributing minds to vampires in Richard Matheson's *I am Legend*. *Language and Literature* 24 (1): 24–39.

Stockwell, P. 2009. Texture: A Cognitive Aesthetics of Reading. Edinburgh: EUP.



How discourse analysis and conceptual metaphor analysis can aid the deconstruction of linguistic conflict discourses – The case of Valencia

Hanna Budig University of Bamberg and University of Alicante hanna.budig@uni-bamberg.de

According to its statute of autonomy, the Spanish region of Valencia has two official languages: Valencian and Spanish. Linguistically and historically, Valencian can be considered a variety of Catalan, whose prevalence was brought about by the Aragonian crown and their campaign of conquest in the medieval Mediterranean. Does it hence all boil down to a question of naming? (Fuster 1962)

The political dialog about this topic that is carried on in Valencia demonstrates the lack of a consensus in the interpretation of the historical-linguistic basis. The question that deeply divides the Valencian society is whether Valencian can be attributed to Catalan or if it is a language on its own, and thus a means of expressing a distinct identity. Here, one can identify key political agents and ideologies that interpret the common language in their way (Mas 2012). In so doing, their public discourse becomes a struggle for the definitory power of the Valencian identity. Language is therefore not only used for communication but is one of the central objects and symbols of the discursive debate concerning the definition of the Valencian identity.

Following Lakoff and Johnson (1980) and Lakoff (1987), language is interpreted as a metaphor of the sociocultural divergence of Valencia, which includes – as an *idealized cognitive model* – the competing ideas that are represented in the public discourse. This contribution, poses the question of how the metaphor theory proposed by Lakoff and Johnson can be operationalized regarding the socially contradictory conceptualization. We discuss the limitations of the approach and point out how it can be extended in a corpus-based discourse-analytical fashion (Busse and Teubert 1994; Ziem 2014; L'Hôte 2014; Van Dijk 2002, 2008). Taking a cultural-scientific contingency perspective (Reckwitz 2004) as a basis for our proposal, we show how it can be rendered productive for the analysis of language-related conflict discourses.

References

- Busse, D. and Teubert, W. 1994. Ist Diskurs ein sprachwissenschaftliches Objekt? Zur Methodenfrage der historischen Semantik. In D. Busse/Teubert, W (eds) Begriffsgeschichte und Diskursgeschichte. Methodenfragen und Forschungsergebnisse der historischen Semantik. Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag, 10–28.
- Fuster, J. 1962. *Qüestió de noms*. Barcelona: Edicions d'aportació catalana.
- Lakoff, G. and Johnson, M. 1980. *Metaphors we live by*. Chicago: Univ. of Chicago Press.
- Lakoff, G. 1987. Women, fire, and dangerous things what categories reveal about the mind. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- L'Hôte, E. 2014. *Identity, Narrative and Metaphor: A Corpus-Based Cognitive Analysis of New Labour Discourse*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Mas, J.-A. 2012. Catalan as a pluricentric language: The Valencian case. In R. Muhr (ed) *Non-dominant Varieties of pluricentric Languages. In Memory of Michael Clyne*. Wien et. al.: Peter Lang, 283–300.
- Reckwitz, A. 2004. Die Kontingenzperspektive der "Kultur". Kulturbegriffe, Kulturtheorien und das kulturwissenschaftliche Forschungsprogramm. In F. Jaeger and J. Rüssen (eds) *Handbuch der Kulturwissenschaften. Band III: Themen und Tendenzen*. Weimar: Metzler, 1–20.

Van Dijk, T. 2008. Semántica del discurso e ideología. Discurso & Sociedad, 2 (1): 201-261.

Van Dijk, T. 2002. Political Discourse and Political Cognition. In P. Chilton and C. Schäffner (eds) *Politics as text and talk: analytic approaches to political discourse*. Amsterdam, Philadelphia: John Benjamins, 203–37.



Ziem, A. 2014. Frames of Understanding in Text and Discourse: Theoretical foundations and descriptive applications. Amsterdam, Philadelphia: John Benjamins.

CasaPound Italia between traditionalism and values-hybridization

Giorgia Bulli University of Florence giorgia.bulli@unifi.it

CasaPound Italia is an Italian Extreme right movement. Members of CPI define themselves as "Fascists of the Third Millennium". They call for the adaptation of the principles of the social tradition of the Fascist movement in Italy to contemporary times. At the same time, they use social practices that are typical of the radical Left movements tradition: house squatting, concerts organizations, solidarity actions in the grassroots organization. The communication adopted by CPI and offered to their public – mainly constituted by young males – shows a strategical hybridization of communication, action and identity symbols. The semiotic paradigm of CPI represents a mixture of traditional references to the classic symbolism of fascism (in terms of recurring topoi, values, identification codes) and strategic marketing. This is evident in the language adopted, in the means of communication – and the use of the Internet and social media to the broader public.

In terms of style of action, CasaPound offers a hybridized value-based model which mixes up the semiotics of the extreme right and the antagonistic left. The symbols adopted by the party encompass evoking figures such as Che Guevara, offered to the public attention as a sort of overcoming of the traditional "right-left" continuum. At the same time, key words such as "nation", identity" "sovereignty" and "violence" are interpreted according to a new traditionalism. As a result, the image of the movement is attractive for young generations, which constitute the higher potential in terms of mobilization and grassroots activism of the movement.

This paper will address these aspects by presenting the results of an ethnographic observation of CPI combined with the analysis of the political culture of CPI with classic political theory categories. This observation emphasizes the adaptation of a classic extreme right movement to a fast changing environment where language, communication and conduct codes play a role comparable to values and ideology.

Unveiling European attitudes in the Catalan pro-independence process

Gonzalo Calle Rosingana Universitat de Vic - UCC gonzalo.calle@uvic.cat **Cristina Perales-García** Universitat de Vic - UCC cristina.perales@uvic.cat

In 2012, Catalonia initiated a political process in search of recognition of its sovereign identity. This happened as a result of the unsuccessful negotiations the Catalan Parliament had had for years with the Spanish government in order to achieve a greater degree of autonomy and a more beneficial tax system for Catalonia. The Catalan have always considered Europe an idealized model to follow and the concept "Europe" has become a key element in the minds of those advocating for Catalan independence.

The objective of this paper is to determine how pro-European ideological attitudes (Graber 1981) have been presented to the Catalan electorates and the international community, and the role of the concept "Europe" throughout the Catalan independence process.



CADAAD 2016

This qualitative study focuses on a number of selected articles published by the Catalan News Agency (CNA) in 2015 that cover news related to the Catalan independence project. In these articles, the concept "Europe" is used to convey the hope of being internationally supported. This corpus will provide sufficient evidence to analyse the rationale behind the pro-European advocacy in the Catalan independence discourse.

The methodological framework used in this study is mainly based on the Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA) of Critical Discourse Analysis (Wodak and Meyer 2006) but also combines with other theoretical approaches of Discourse Analysis (Richardson 2007), Cognitive Linguistics (Fauconnier 1994; Langacker 2008; Chilton 2015) to develop issues of hegemony, legitimacy and mediation linked to aspects of the mediatization of the conflict (Castelló 2012, Hjarvard 2008, Hepp 2009).

References

- Castelló, E. (ed.) 2012. La mediatización del conflicto. Discursos y narrativas en el contexto español. Barcelona: Laertes.
- Chilton, P.A. 2014. *Language, Space and Mind: The Conceptual Geometry of Linguistic Meaning*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fauconnier, G. 1994. *Mental spaces: aspects of meaning construction in natural language*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Graber, D. A. 1981. "Political Languages" in Nimno, Dan D. & Sanders, Keith (Ed.) *Handbook of political communication*. London: Sage, 195–223.
- Hepp, A. 2009. "Differentiation: Mediatization and cultural change" in Lundby, K. (ed.) *Mediatization: concept, changes, consequences*. New York: Peter Lang, 139–158.
- Hjarvard, S. 2008. "The mediatization of society. A theory of the media as agents of social and cultural change" in *Nordicom Review* 29 (2): 105–134.
- Langacker, R.W. 2008. Cognitive Grammar: A Basic Introduction. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Richardson, J.E. 2007. Analysing Newspapers: An Approach from Critical Discourse Analysis. Basingtoke: Palgrave.
- Wodak, R. and Meyer, M. (eds). 2006. Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis. London: Sage.

Tracking Categories and Concepts in International Migration and Development Discourses

Beatriz Campillo-Carrete International Institute of Social Studies-EUR campillocarrete2@iss.nl

In this paper I analyse early academic discourses on international migration, in order to trace founding and long lasting categories and concepts that are still currently active in official discourses of international migration and development. Historically, academic collaboration was significant for the consolidation of powerful nation-states and related economic aims (see Morgan 2001) and for the crafting of international institutions (Weiss and Thakur 2010). While current discourses co-produced by international agencies and intergovernmental dialogues rely on academic research as a source of ideas, no textual analysis has been done on the discursive role of scholarship in the generation of representations of migration agents and related images.

Close text analysis of a few influential academic works of the 1950s to the 1990s period – representative of specific theoretical approaches – selectively, focusing on the representations of agencies involved in the description of the migration phenomena. In particular, the weight and forms attributed to individual-migrants



agency and to nation-states is contrasted, along with the explanations attributed (or not) to structural forces. Thus, the functions of the core concepts used in economic vs political categories of migration are tracked. The analysis shows that rearticulations or recontextualizations of a few founding notions have occurred in tandem with changing and opposed theories of migration. I argue that official discourses continue to rely in a few core notions which acquired influence as part of the mid XX century internationalism and developmentalism.

This paper is part of a bigger research project where contributions of academic research are studied as macrostructural constraints on contemporary official international migration discourses. It has further relevance to assess the recurrent silences of international migration discourses and their state and market centred stances. Official discourses of international migration and development have been criticized for contributing to the depolitization of migration (Pécoud, 2015) and to re-enacting a developmental narrative at the global level (Raghuram, 2009). In the current period of globalization, the centrality of Westphalian conceptions of the nation-state demands long term discursive approaches that help to better examine rather than discard ongoing realities of migration.

References

Morgan, M. S. (2001). 'Making Measuring Instruments.' History of Political Economy 33 (5): 235-251.

- Pécoud, A. (2015). *Depoliticising Migration: Global Governance and International Migration Narratives*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Raghuram, P. (2009). Which Migration, What Development? Unsettling the Edifice of Migration and Development. *Population, Space and Place* 15 (2): 103–117.
- Weiss, T. G., & Thakur, R. (2010). *Global Governance and the UN: An Unfinished Journey*. Bloomington and Indianapolis: Indiana University Press.

The interplay of news discourse and readers' comments in the communicative construction of citizenship

Anabela Carvalho	Zara Pinto-Coelho
University of Minho	University of Minho
carvalho@ics.uminho.pt	zara@ics.uminho.pt

There is a lack of studies combining an interest on the influence of journalistic discourse on readers' comments with analysis of readers' comments discourse, and looking at their interplay in the communicative construction of citizenship (Hausendorf and Bora, 2010). Focusing on press coverage of an energy policy issue undergoing public consultation in Portugal, we examine the possibility of readers' comments functioning as a parallel space for debate and 'virtual' deliberation as well for negotiation of meanings and identities associated with citizenship (what being a citizen in current democracies means in terms of contributing to political decision-making, who takes up that position and how, what is the scope of expected influence).

We look at relevant online news texts and readers' comments to examine press representations of the National Programme for Dams of High Hydroelectric Potential and relations between positions assigned to citizens in news and positionings readers constructed for themselves as citizens. To what extent did readers, when commenting news pieces, act within the terms circumscribed by newspapers? Did this interaction enlarge the scope of citizenship communicated in the public space? What were the implications of both discourses for perceived possibilities of participation in the public consultation? We claim that critical discourse analysis (Fairclough, 1995, 2010; Wodak, 2011; Van Dijk, 1988) together with other strands of discourse analysis (DuBois, 2007; Hausendorf and Bora, 2010; Myers, 2010) with a focus on the semantic (e.g. topics) and

interactional levels of discourse (e.g. personal pronouns, affective, epistemic and deontic verbs, rhetorical questions, impersonal constructions, conversational particles, irony) make crucial contributions to understanding these questions.

Our analysis shows a marked absence of the public as a legitimated news source and that news texts instructed readers to be citizen-subjects: citizens who acquiesce to power, who are its victims and whose only right is to feel angry. Readers seemed to be entrapped by the same rhetoric. Still, the interplay between news and readers' discourses contributed to re-politicize the policy programme, which newspapers handled newspapers as if a matter of fact. Within that politicized communicative environment, readers had the opportunity to renegotiate the position newspapers attributed to them.

Proximization in Health Discourse

Piotr Cap University of Łódź strus_pl@yahoo.com

Proximization is a concept that marks the discursive strategy of presenting physically and temporally distant events and/or states of affairs as increasingly and negatively consequential to the speaker and her addressee (Chilton 2004; Cap 2008, 2010, 2013; Filardo Llamas, Hart and Kaal (eds) 2015). By projecting the remote entities as gradually encroaching upon the speaker-addressee territory, the speaker seeks legitimization of actions and policies proposed to neutralize the growing impact of the negative, "alien", "antagonistic", entities. There are three strategies of proximization, which include the construal of spatial impact (spatial proximization), ideological impact (axiological proximization), as well as imminence of the impact sanctioning prompt response from the "self" parties (temporal proximization).

The explanatory power of proximization and Proximization Theory (Cap 2013) has been thoroughly explored within the territory of state political discourse, especially the discourse of the war-on-terror (Cap 2013, 2015). The present paper postulates extending the application of the proximization model to account for other domains of public communication involving, similar to the cradle domain, dichotomous representations of the home "self" and the remote "other". The empirical aim of the paper is to demonstrate that fear-inducing proximization strategies are present in health discourse (Sontag 1978; Van Rijn-van Tongeren 1997; Semino 2008; Koteyko and Nerlich 2007; Koteyko 2014) and particularly in the discourse of disease prevention and health promotion. Construing disease as an "aggressive enemy" which "invades" the "self" entity (the body of the patient), the speaker (a medical practitioner, a healthcare institution, for instance) generates a strong fear appeal which helps legitimization of a preferred course of treatment. It is shown that threat construction in health discourse relies mostly on spatial and temporal proximization, which depict the threat as apparently remote yet quite concrete and tangible and, above all, rapidly developing to eventually deliver a "strike". The discussion is illustrated with data from cancer prevention campaigns (led by the British Association of Cancer Research), detailing specific lexico-grammatical constructs (deictic markers of momentousness, imminence, impact speed) responsible for the spatio-temporal construals.



The hooded student as a metaphor: Multimodal recontextualizations of the actions and motives of members of the Chilean student movement in a broadcast news report

Camila Cárdenas Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Spain camila.cardenas.neira@gmail.com Carolina Pérez Lancaster University, UK cperez.arredondo@gmail.com

In September 2014, the placement of a bomb in an underground station in Santiago (Chile) resulted in an extensive media coverage, in which the figure of the student became a possible suspect. One of these news reports made a journalistic investigation into the Chilean student movement and the anarchist groups emerging from it, outraging the student collective as well as the people interviewed who claimed they were fooled into participating in it (Fernández 2014). This study sets to analyse the multimodal representation of the narratives associated with the student as an inherently violent social actor in the media, as an actor who is systematically excluded from the public sphere (Cárdenas 2012). In particular, we explore the recontextualization of the students' political actions and motivations through the identification of metaphors and their function in the overall legitimation of their representation.

We analyse the eleven-minute news report called "X-ray of the [Chilean] student movement" (Canal 13 2014) and the analysis combines, adapts, and develops two main methodologies. On the one hand, we use the concepts of multimodal metaphors (Feng and O'Halloran 2013a; Feng and Espindola 2013) and emotional prosody (Feng and O'Halloran 2013b; Feng and Qi 2014) to identify how the students' political actions are materialized and naturalized systematically within narrative structure provided by the news report. On the other, we adapt van Leeuwen's approach to motive and legitimation of social actors/actions (2000; 2007; 2008) to describe how these multimodal constructions enhance the crime narrative associated to the student movement in hegemonic discourses such as the media (Pérez *in press*).

Preliminary results suggest that the hooded students, along with their disruptive and violent characteristics, are used metonymically to represent the student movement as a whole, thus negatively recontextualizing and criminalizing their actions and motives through a multimodal narrative in which subversion and civil disorder are neutralized.

References

- Canal 13. 2014, September 08. Radiografía a los colectivos estudiantiles [Video file]. Retrieved from http://www.t13.cl/videos/reporteros/radiografia-a-los-colectivos-estudiantiles
- Cárdenas, C. 2012. ¿Dónde debe emplazar su ojo la historia? (In)visibilización de las y los jóvenes en discursos disciplinares que recuperan el pasado reciente chileno (1970–1990). *Discurso y Sociedad* 6 (2): 283–313.
- Feng, D. and Espindola, E. 2013. Integrating systemic functional and cognitive approaches to multimodal discourse analysis. *Ilha do Desterro* 64: 85–110.
- Feng, D. and Qui, Y. 2014. Emotion prosody and viewer engagement in film narrative: A Social Semiotic Approach. *Narrative Inquiry* 24 (2): 347–367.
- Feng, D. and O'Halloran, K. L. 2013a. The visual representation of metaphor. *Review of Cognitive Linguistics* 11 (2): 320–335.
- Feng, D. and O'Halloran, K. L. 2013b. The multimodal representation of emotion in film: Integrating cognitive and semiotic approaches. *Semiotica* 197: 79–100.
- Fernández, B. 2014, September 10. C13 suma dieciocho denuncias por reportaje que vincula bombazo al movimiento estudiantil. El Mostrador. Retrieved from



http://www.elmostrador.cl/noticias/pais/2014/09/10/c13-suma-dieciochodenuncias-por-reportaje-que-vincula-bombazo-al-movimiento-estudiantil/

- Pérez, C. *in press*. La representación visual del movimiento estudiantil chileno en la prensa establecida y alternativa nacional: Un análisis multimodal. *Revista Austral de Ciencias Sociales*, vol.30 (1).
- Van Leeuwen, T. 2000. The construction of purpose in discourse. In S. Sarangi & M. Coulthard (eds). *Discourse and Social Life*. London/New York: Routledge, 66–81.
- Van Leeuwen, T. 2007. Legitimation in discourse and communication. *Discourse & Communication* 1 (1): 91–112.
- Van Leeuwen, T. 2008. *Discourse and practice: New tools for critical discourse analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Argumentative patterns across contexts: Debating the Romanian diaspora's right to vote abroad

Alexandru Cârlan National University of Political Studies and Public Administration

In a recent development within the pragma-dialectical approach to argumentation, argumentative patterns are analyzed as particular constellations of argumentative moves in which, in order to deal with a specific kind of difference of opinion, in defense of a specific type of standpoint, a particular argument scheme or combination of argument schemes is used in a particular kind of argumentation structure. In this approach, in order to account for their effectiveness, such patterns are analyzed within a particular communicative activity type or a cluster of communicative activity types. This paper attempts a further step, investigating the occurrence of an argumentative pattern across contexts and activity types. Occurrences of a prototypical argument for restricting the right to vote of Romanian citizens in diaspora in presidential and parliamentary elections, and critical reactions to it, are analyzed in various contexts: Facebook conversations, media discourses, but also as elicited reaction in focus-groups. In its crudest form, the argument claims that Romanian diaspora shouldn't vote in presidential and parliamentary elections because it is not them who bear the consequences of their vote, but those who remain in the country. The argument and the critical reactions to it are evaluated not only normatively (in relation to critical questions corresponding to the argumentation scheme employed), but also strategically, emphasizing how the adaptation to (imagined) audience demands reinforces or challenges a symbolic separation between "us" and "them", between Romanians living in Romania and Romanians living abroad. Since this diaspora consists, mostly, in temporary or permanent migrants within the European Union, and since their vote had a significant impact on the outcome of presidential elections in Romania, these arguments become part of a broader debate assigning (or contesting) an emancipatory role of diaspora for Romania.



"I don't think there is any moral basis for taking money away from people": An exploration of neoliberal positions on taxation

Philippa Carr Coventry University ac1976@coventry.ac.uk Simon Goodman Coventry University aa4592@coventry.ac.uk

Income inequality in the UK has risen since the adoption of neoliberal approaches to public policy. Increasing recognition of the negative impact of income inequality has highlighted the importance of taxation as a redistributive mechanism. Whilst economic psychologists have focused on tax compliance, a discursive approach has demonstrated how tax discourse is utilised by marginalised groups to construct a positive identity. A UK BBC radio discussion, 'Moral Maze: The moral purpose of tax' that involved public figures was analysed utilising critical Discursive Psychology informed Discourse Analysis. This research explores neoliberal positions on taxation and how individuals manage their accountability for these positions in their talk. It was found that neoliberal positions on taxation construct tax as being used coercively to change individual behaviour, having a negative impact on individual rights and presenting the state as ineffective. In particular, taxation is presented as a form of state sanctioned theft to form a presentation of taxation that has a negative impact on individuals. Speakers present high tax rates as immoral due to their demotivating effect on individual economic activity to manage their accountability. Neoliberal positions on taxation involve constructing wealth creation as a moral activity that is adversely affected by higher tax rates. This negates the need to be held to account in relation to the role of tax as a redistributive mechanism in society. Meritocratic ideology is utilised by individuals to present the need for limited state provision and to challenge social justice discourse which constructs tax as redistributive by being a vehicle for delivering public services and a means of investment in future generations. Neoliberal taxation discourse requires individuals to manage their moral identity by constructing the generation of wealth as moral and through emphasising the importance of individual rights.

Law, Language and Institutional Analysis

Francesca Anna Maria Caruso University of Catania francecar@inwind.it

1 Law and language: An analytical approach

The study of rights and law through language is typical of legal philosophy. This perspective affords the possibility of studying the universe of juridical language from a scientific (descriptive/explanation) point of view. It typically uses, in constructing its theories, prepositions of didactic and frequently evaluative nature, dealing with linguistic discourses that resolve themselves into "deontic predicates" of various kinds (Hare, 1952), (Sbisà, 1978).



2 Non-cognitive ethics and law

It is therefore also possible to analyze an apparently evaluative/prescriptive phenomenon from a descriptive/explanatory perspective. There is, therefore, no objection to the study of law from an analytical and non-evaluative, non-cognitive point of view. In other words, from one that does not claim to know what is "good" and what is "right" from their opposites, following the ethical principles of non-truth, of that which abstains from making value judgments. In this way, ideological traps can be avoided, which are hidden in the practice of designing apparently fundamental discourses about descriptive propositions that in reality represent specific value judgments (Searle 1969).

3 Analytical Theory and analysis of deviance

For the analysis of deviant behavior too, and for the mechanisms of social control (amongst others, the law), the analytical tool of language appears to represent a useful means by which various phenomena can be explained (Austin, 1962). If the deviant behavior in question concerns social action that does not respect the normative requirements of the social pact, we find language that is principally "prescriptive". Thus, certain findings of the linguistic analysis of the language of the law can assist social theory in the comprehension of phenomena of deviant behavior.

4 Philosophy of language and institutional analysis

The play of utterances, of "promises", represents new analytical modalities for exploring, through the use of the tools of the philosophy of language (particularly didactic language), particular moments in which the law deals with deviant and criminal behavior by means of threats and punishments. These represent, therefore, new and useful methodologies for an analytical approach to institutional problems, that may be able to illuminate shadowy areas of institutional communication, which often seem to characterize the specific areas in which authoritarian legal decisions are reached (Selznick, 1969). This new approach is an attempt to provide the alternative of linguistic analysis to the traditional pathways followed by North-American functionalism.

References

Austin, J.L. 1962. *How to do Thing with Words*. London: Oxford University Press.
Searle, J.R. 1969. *Speech Acts. An Essay in the Philosophy of Language*. Cambridge: University Press.
Hare, R.M. 1952. *The Language of Morals*. London: Oxford University Press.
Sbisà, M. 1978 (ed.). *Gli atti linguistici. Aspetti e problemi di filosofia del linguaggio*. Milano: Feltrinelli.
Selznick, P. 1969. *Law, Society and industrial Justice*. New York: Russel Sage Foundation.

A critical discourse analysis of YouTube video comments on Occupy Central by mainland and Hong Kong Chinese

Meilin Chen City University of Hong Kong meilinchen8388@gmail.com John Flowerdew City University of Hong Kong johnflowerdew888@gmail.com

The Occupy Central campaign in Hong Kong remained a headline news story the world over for several months in 2014. This social movement has also drawn immediate scholarly attention, especially in media (e.g. Chan 2015; Sparks 2015; Lee and Ting 2015), social (e.g. Erni 2015; Ortman 2015), and critical discourse studies (Flowerdew, forthcoming). However, these studies mainly focused on data collected within Hong Kong,



without extending the context to China, the country that reclaimed sovereignty over Hong Kong in 1997 but has very different political and judicial systems from the latter.

This study explores how people from the Mainland China and Hong Kong perceive the Occupy event respectively by examining comments they made on two Occupy videos clips on YouTube. The corpus of YouTube comments consists of 4,329 comments (405,348 Chinese characters) made by 2,157 users from the mainland and Hong Kong. From the perspective of critical discourse analysis, we examined how the discriminatory discourse strategies identified in previous studies (e.g. Bar-Tal 1989; Flowerdew *et al.* 2002; Gruber 1997; Van Dijk 1993a, 1993b; Wodak 1997) were used by both groups under the context of the Occupy campaign.

The results show that, first, the Occupy videos tend to trigger confrontations between mainlanders and Hong Kong people. Discriminatory remarks were found in the majority of the comments. Second, all of the discursive strategies identified in previous studies have been used by both groups, including negative other presentation (e.g. labelling and stereotyping, negative attributions, dehumanisation), scare tactics (e.g. threat to the interests of the in-group, threats to public order), blaming the victim (e.g. self-justification or positive discrimination), and delegitimization (e.g. pointing to the illegitimate status or activities related to the out-group, magnifying voices against the out-group), showing the robustness of previous taxonomies in identifying discriminatory strategies across contexts. Third, although we have not identified any new discriminatory strategies in our data, the linguistic manifestation of certain strategies in this study differs from that in previous studies. For instance, sarcasm, instead of direct descriptions, is frequently used by both groups when pointing to the negative attributions of the other group.

References

- Bar-Tal, D. 1989. Delegitimation: The Extreme Case of Stereotyping and Prejudice. In D. Bar-Tal, C.F. Graumann, A.W. Kruglanski and W. Stroebe (eds) *Stereotyping and Prejudice: Changing Conceptions*. New York: Springer, 169–182.
- Chan, C. K. 2015. Contested news values and media performance during the Umbrella Movement. *Chinese Journal of Communication* 8 (4): 420–428.
- Erni, J. N. 2015. A legal realist view on citizen actions in Hong Kong's umbrella movement. *Chinese Journal* of Communication 8 (4): 412–419.
- Flowerdew, J., Li, D.C.S. and Tran, S. 2002. Discriminatory news discourse: Some Hong Kong data. *Discourse & Society* 13: 319–345.
- Flowerdew, J. 2004. Identity politics and Hong Kong's return to Chinese sovereignty: Analysing the discourse of Hong Kong's first chief executive. *Journal of Pragmatics* 36: 1551–1578.
- Flowerdew, J. (forthcoming). Understanding Hong Kong Occupy: A critical historiographical approach.
- Gruber, H. 1997. The Rhetoric of Trivialization: the Coverage of Right Wing Extremism and Neonazism in Austria's Most Read Tabloid. In J. Blommaert and C. Bulcaen (eds) *Political Linguistics: Special edition of Belgian Journal of Linguistics* 11: 139–56.
- Lee, A.Y.L. and Ting, K.W. 2015. Media and information praxis of young activists in the Umbrella Movement. *Chinese Journal of Communication* 8 (4): 376–392.
- Ortmann, S. 2015. The umbrella movement and Hong Kong's protracted democratization process. *Asian Affairs* 46 (1): 32–50.
- Sparks, D. 2015. Business as usual: the UK national daily press and the Occupy Central movement. *Chinese Journal of Communication* 8 (4): 429–446.
- Van Dijk, T.A. 1993a. Principles of Critical Discourse Analysis. Discourse & Society 4 (2): 249-83.
- Van Dijk, T.A. 1993b. Elite Discourse and Racism. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Wodak, R. 1997. The discursive construction of the other. In S. H. Riggins (ed) *The Language and Politics of Exclusion*. London: Sage, 65–87.



Gendering 'Text' and 'Place' in Facebook Brand Page: A Mixed Method Analysis

Huey Fen Cheong

Lancaster University h.cheong@lancaster.ac.uk

The richness of human experiences within computer-mediated discourse (CMD) has attracted a wide range of theoretical and methodological approaches within discourse analysis (Herring and Androutsopoulos 2015). However, the contrast between discourses in new and traditional media evokes tensions within those approaches. This paper aims to bridge one of the tensions, i.e. framing techno-social environment as affording 'text' (which can be analysed linguistically) and 'place' (where human interaction can be analysed) (Milner 2011). This will be done through an action-oriented approach using Scollon's (2001) framework of mediated discourse analysis, by first looking at the online data as a 'place' for human interactions, followed by linguistic text analysis.

Considering the formal and functional differences between marketing and non-commercial social media sites, the classification of actions is adapted from Kietzmann *et al.*'s (2011) 'functional blocks' of social media marketing. This adaptation resulted in categorising social actions in social media marketing 'places', i.e. facebook brand pages of female beauty and male grooming products. Subsequently, the linguistic analysis of 'text' within each action is to find out how marketers seek to persuade male and female consumers, especially with regard to 'gender-challenging' phenomenon of metrosexuality (male grooming).

The analysis is based on a mixed method framework that: 1) defines online space as both 'place' and 'text'; 2) merges content and discourse analysis; as well as 3) combines quantitative and qualitative data and methods. In the content analysis, the quantified actions reveal difference in their distribution on facebook brand pages for consumers of different sexes. The qualitative multimodal discourse analysis, on the other hand, shows how actions can be gendered by language, as well as language gendered by actions. Such interconnection between language ('text') and action ('place') does not only bridge a gap in computer mediated discourse, but also rethinks the dialectical relationship between text and context, from language and social context (in this case, gender) to language and context of human interactions ('actions').

References

- Androutsopoulos, Jannis. 2014. "5 Computer-mediated Communication and Linguistic Landscapes." In *Research Methods in Sociolinguistics: A Practical Guide*, edited by Janet Holmes and Kirk Hazen, 75–90. Oxford: John Wiley & Sons.
- Gee, James Paul, and Michael Handford. 2012. "Introduction." In *The Routledge Handbook of Discourse Analysis*, 1–6. NY: Routledge.
- Herring, Susan C, and Jannis Androutsopoulos. 2015. "6 Computer-Mediated Discourse 2.0." *The Handbook of Discourse Analysis*:127.
- Kietzmann, Jan H, Kristopher Hermkens, Ian P McCarthy, and Bruno S Silvestre. 2011. "Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media." *Business horizons* 54 (3): 241–251.
- Milner, Ryan M. 2011. "The study of cultures online. Some methodological and ethical tensions." *Graduate Journal of Social Science* 8 (3): 14–35.
- Norris, Sigrid, and Rodney Jones. 2005. *Discourse in Action: Introducing Mediated Discourse Analysis*. NY: Taylor & Francis Inc.
- Scollon, Ron. 2001. Mediated Discourse: The nexus of practice. NY: Routledge.



Multimodal storytelling in the media: The visual representation of the Roma in the *Daily Mail*

Jan Chovanec Masaryk University chovanec@phil.muni.cz

The paper examines the process of visual othering in documentary photographs in print news stories, adopting the perspective of multimodal critical discourse analysis. It shows how a series of images can construct, in combination with the textual component in image captions, a coherent and self-contained narrative reflecting a shared social stereotype about a minority immigrant group in the UK.

The paper elaborates on the manipulative potential of images, which has been subject to extensive analysis in CDA (Kress and van Leeuwen 2006, Wodak and Forchtner 2014) as well as in journalism studies (cf. Taylor 2005). The need for a systematic multimodal approach to the analysis of media data has been stressed not only by media discourse analysts (Bednarek and Caple 2012), but also by scholars with a more explicit multimodal critical perspective (cf. Machin and Mayr 2012; Machin 2013; Djonov and Zhao 2014). However, while previous research has often concentrated on the analysis of single images in relation to the news text (cf. Martínez Lirola 2014), typically using the social semiotic framework provided by visual semiotics (e.g. Kress and van Leeuwen 2006) or related analytical frameworks enabling a systematic analysis of visual data (Caple 2013), this paper turns attention to the issue of a serialized presentation of images in print news.

Based on a series of documentary photographs accompanying news stories about the recent Roma immigration to the UK in the Daily Mail, this paper argues that while the individual images can be described in social semiotic terms as representing specific participants, processes and circumstances, the analysis should not stop there, or with the relationship between the visual and the verbal components of news texts (image captions). Sequenced documentary images can operate on a higher level, implicitly producing an independent sequenced narrative. In case of the Daily Mail data, the emerging narrative is one that articulates the negative stereotype of immigration as a threat through negative other-presentation of the out-group. Thus, the study of the serialization of static images can reveal subtle patterns of multimodal manipulation in the print media.

References

Bednarek, Monika and Helen Caple (2012) News Discourse. London and New York: Continuum.

Caple, Helen (2013) Photojournalism: A Social Semiotic Approach. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Djonov, Emilia and Sumin Zhao, eds. (2014) Critical Multimodal Studies of Popular Discourse. New York: Routledge
- Kress, Gunther and Theo Van Leeuwen (2006) Reading Images. London: Routledge.
- Machin, David and Andrea Mayr (2012) *How to Do Critical Discourse Analysis: A Multimodal Introduction*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Machin, David (2013) "What is multimodal critical discourse studies?". Critical Discourse Studies 10 (4), 347–355.
- Martínez Lirola, María (2014) "Legitimating the Return of Immigrants in Spanish Media Discourse". *Brno Studies in English* 40 (1), 129–147.
- Taylor, John (2005) "Iraqi torture photographs and documentary realism in the press". *Journalism Studies* 6 (1), 39–49.
- Wodak, Ruth and Bernhard Forchtner (2014) "Embattled Vienna 1683/2010: right-wing populism, collective memory and the fictionalisation of politics." *Visual Communication* 13: 231–255.



Why rob a bank in the Communist regime? Memory and the construction of plausibility across cinematic genres

Mălina Ciocea National University of Political Studies and Public Administration, Bucharest malina.ciocea@comunicare.ro

Alexandru Cârlan National University of Political Studies and Public Administration, Bucharest alex.carlan@comunicare.ro

In relation to memory, cinema is not a mere depository of contemporary memory, a potentially accessible archive, but the narrative means of building a type of engagement with the past, by negotiating distance towards an otherness from this past. We are interested in investigating processes of memory mediation through cinematic practices, in order to understand how these mediation dispositifs work. The empirical area of our investigation is cinematic productions that thematize the historical period of Communism in Romania, strategically negotiating versions and meanings of the Communist experience. We will analyse three productions treating the same historical event (a hold up allegedly organized by six former members of the nomenklatura in 1959): a "documentary" movie, contemporary with the events, casting the perpetrators as actors (*The Reconstruction*), a recent documentary refuting the reconstruction proposed by the initial movie and elaborating on the context of the earlier production (*The Great Communist Bank Robbery*), and a recent Hollywood-like feature film which proposes an alternative, fictional account of the events (*Closer to the Moon*). All these productions are stirred by an attempt to render plausible the motivations of gang members, framing this plausibility in the rhetorical exigencies of the present.

Methodologically, we will develop a framework for analysis drawing on: *multimodality* to highlight the way meaning about the past is produced through mobilization of various resources of cinema as a medium; *critical discourse analysis*, to highlight how the movie produces and reproduces social relations with an alterity from the past, and *genre analysis*, to highlight how the genre conventions work as specific mediation dispositifs. Through this analysis we emphasize how the production of a plausible account of the events simultaneously builds various types of engagement with the past, thus providing methodological insights for memory studies starting from the analysis of cinematic discourses.

References

Calotescu, V. (director) 1960. *Reconstituirea [The Reconstruction]*. Sahia Studios. Caranfil, N. (director) 2014. *Closer to the Moon*. Mandragora Movies. Solomon, A. (director) 2004. *Marele jaf communist [The Great Communist Bank Robbery]*. Libra Film



A corpus-based analysis of transitivity patterns in newspaper texts on benefit claimants

Ben Clarke

University of Portsmouth ben.clarke@port.ac.uk

Among others, van Dijk (1993) remarks that critical discourse analysis should take special interest in discursively achieved representations of those afforded limited power in the social hierarchy of a community. During times of economic downturn such as those since the 2008 global banking crash, it would appear valuable to ask if – and, if so, how – discourse is used to maintain and reinforce the status quo. The data for the present empirical project are all articles published in mainstream British national newspapers during the Conservative-Liberal Democrat coalition UK government of 2010–2015 which contain the expression 'benefit(s) claimant(s)'. This is a dataset of some four thousand articles, totalling approximately 3 million words. Conducted in the corpus-based critical discourse analysis tradition (e.g. Baker and McEnery 2005), the wider project identifies linguistic features which are used in the construction of benefit(s) claimants in ideologically loaded ways.

In the present paper, the ideological construction at work is explored in terms of the kinds of actions and roles with which social actors who are prominent in the dataset are typically associated. A Hallidayan (Halliday 1994) transitivity approach to the analysis is adopted. As will be reported, among other patterns, benefit(s) claimants tend to serve in participant roles which undergo a variety of actions initiated by government and government-related referents (e.g. "Labour-run Newham council was planning to move housing benefit claimants to Stoke-on-Trent"). When initiating action, however, benefit(s) claimants are typically cast as dependent Sensors of cognitive activity (e.g. "The claimants want the judges to grant them income support of GBP 65.45 a week..."). In respect of verbal activity, voices typically represented are those of governmental officials and spokespersons (e.g. "Tory minister tells benefit claimants to move around the country to find work"); the voices of benefit claimants' voices are rarely represented. The stance here taken is that identifying such linguistic strategies which significantly contribute in the creation of prevalent ideological discourses is a first step in re-addressing the balance and providing space for alternative and counter discourses.

References

Baker, P. and McEnery, T. 2005. A corpus-based approach to discourses of refugees and asylum seekers in UN and newspaper texts. *Journal of Language and Politics* 4 (2): 197–226.

Halliday, M.A.K. 1994. *An Introduction to Functional Grammar*. 2nd edition. London: Edward Arnold. van Dijk, T.A. 1993. Principles of critical discourse analysis. *Discourse and Society* 4: 249–283.



Referring to the child in the "Convention on the Rights of the Child" in Japanese. A lexical and discursive approach

Chantal Claudel Université Paris 8 – CLESTHIA (Université Paris 3) chantal.claudel@univ-paris8.fr

Isabelle Konuma INALCO – CEJ-EESJC (*Centre d'études Japonaises*) isabelle.konuma@inalco.fr

This presentation will examine how children are referred to in the "Convention on the Rights of the Child" in Japanese from both a linguistic and a legal point of view. Drawing on this interdisciplinary approach, we will show how a discursive analysis of different labels referring to children reveal different representations of children as "subject of rights" but also as "object of rights".

The Japanese language provides a set of terms to refer to children: *kodomo*, *jidô*, *warabe*, *shônen*, *ko*. While the words *kodomo* (子供) or *warabe* (童) have a Japanese origin (*yamato kotoba*), *jidô* (児童) or *shônen* (少年) are Sino-Japanese words (*kango*). The *Convention on the Rights of the Child* favours the word *jidô*. What is guiding this choice?

To answer this question, we will observe the way Japanese words used to name a child are defined in the dictionaries at a paradigmatic level and how they appear in all kinds of settings. To identify the value of these Japanese words, the impact of context on the linguistic choice and the reasons (if any) for the preference of one word in a particular context, for word distribution, we will use the "Balanced Corpus of Contemporary Written Japanese" (*Ninjal*). At the same time, legal dimension will be taken into account. We will observe that *jidô* and *kodomo* – the most frequent terms – have their own historical construction and a different political and legal framework.

In the second part of the presentation, we will focus on discursive strategies. At this syntagmatic level we will analyse colligations, that is "the co-occurrence of grammatical phenomena" (Sinclair 2004: 143), and the meaning this choice carry out. A special focus will be given to the verbs linked to the word *jidô* and used at the passive form.

This approach will lead us to highlight the various characteristics attributed to children and should shed light on the Japanese community.

References

- Galan, C. 2011. La question des droits de l'enfant au Japon: regards croisés. *The child in Japan: a definition at the crossroads of political, legal and social concerns*, 4th Congress of the Asia & Pacific Network, Paris, 14–16 septembre 2011. http://docplayer.fr/9144313-Http-www-reseau-asie-com-enseignants-chercheurs-experts-sur-l-asie-et-le-pacifique-scholars-professors-and-experts-on-asia-and-the-pacific.html
- Konuma, I. 2011b. L'enfant au Japon: une définition à la croisée des préoccupations politiques, juridiques et sociales, The child in Japan: a definition at the crossroads of political, legal and social concerns, 4th Congress of the Asia & Pacific Network, Paris, 14–16 septembre 2011. http://docplayer.fr/8054029-Http-www-reseau-asie-com-enseignants-chercheursexperts-sur-l-asie-et-le-pacifique-scholars-professors-and-experts-on-asiaand-the-pacific.html

Raymond, G. 2006. Droit de l'enfance et de l'adolescence. Paris: Litec.

Sinclair, J. (Edited with Carter, R.). 2004. *Trust the Text, Language, corpus and discourse*. Londres & New York: Routledge.



Veniard, M. 2013. La nomination des événements dans la presse. Essai de sémantique discursive. Besançon: Presses universitaires de Franche-Comté.

An analysis of the mass media dynamics on the world of labor: The Italian case

Vanesa Coscia Instituto de Investigaciones Gino Germani-CONICET (Argentina) vanesa.coscia@gmail.com

At present, the mass media are one of the most important spaces in which the (re) configuration of social imaginaries and subjectivities take place. It is for this reason that the analysis of mass media's representations on the world of labor invites us to reflect on the place publicly assigned to labour issues in *mediated societies* (Verón, 1987). In that sense, we considered the mass media a privileged space of production and reproduction of the hegemonic common sense (Gramsci, 1974, 2000).

The question that guided the research is: what are the discursive mechanisms through which the mass media, specifically, the Italians leader newspapers (*Il Corriere della Sera* and *Repubblica*) assign certain values and attributes to the labour world in a crisis context?

The methodological approach to the media representations developed in this study used a combination of socio-semiotic tools that allowed us to account for the inter-discursive and socio-communication elements in the media surface. To this end, we took into account the conceptual frameworks proposed by Verón (1987) and Martín Barbero (1989) as well as the empirical contributions on the importance of discursive modes, casuistry, sources and criteria for newsworthiness made by Martini (2000), Lucchesi and Rodriguez (2007), Gomis (1991) and Ford (1994). For news discourse analysis, we applied an array of media analysis that contains three dimensions: *formal* (sections, rings of degree, gender and photos), *content* (criteria of newsworthiness, prioritization, intensity and attributes assigned to the topic) and *actors* (protagonists of the story, sources).

The general hypothesis that guides this research is that the representation constructed by the mass media of labour world is permeable to the political, social and economic contexts and, particularly, to the labor market situation. But this representation is also based on its own economic and political interests in the matter. To analyze the mechanisms by which the media registrations are articulated in complex ways with the context in which they are embedded, taking into account the conditions of production of these discourses, constructed and conveyed by media companies, helps to understand critically the role of the media in the circulation of social representations.

References

Ford, A. 1994. Navegaciones. Comunicación, cultura y crisis. Buenos Aires: Amorrortu.

Gomis, L. 1991. Teoría del periodismo. Cómo se forma el presente. Barcelona: Paidós Ibérica.

Gramsci, A. 1974. *Literatura y Cultura Popular*. Vol. I, Buenos Aires: Cuadernos de Cultura Revolucionaria. Gramsci, A. 2000 [1959] *Los intelectuales y la organización de la cultura*. Buenos Aires: Nueva Visión.

Luchessi, L. and Rodríguez, M.G. 2007. Espacio y representaciones en la cultura, la política y los medios. In Luchessi, L. and Rodríguez, M.G. (eds) *Fronteras Globales. Cultura, política y medios de comunicación*. Buenos Aires: La Crujía, 9–25.

Martín Barbero, J. 1989. De cómo el acontecimiento se convierte en narración leyenda. In *Procesos de comunicación y matrices de cultura. Itinerario para salir de la razón dualista.* Mexico DF: Gustavo Gilli.



1–6. Martini, S. 2000. *Periodismo, noticia y noticiabilidad*. Buenos Aires: Norma. Verón, E. 1987. *La semiosis social*. Buenos Aires: Gedisa.

"It's not all demons and devils, you know": Dilemmatic moments in Pentecostal and Evangelical Christian talk about (people with) mental health conditions

Adrian Coyle Kingston University London, UK a.coyle@kingston.ac.uk

Being actively involved in a religious community can act as a buffer against mental distress, largely through social support. Yet people with mental health conditions can experience stigmatization within religious communities as understandings, values and imperatives informed by theology and by cultural fears coincide or clash. This merits close consideration, given the increasing involvement of non-governmental and nonprofit organizations in providing welfare and support services in various European countries, including to people with mental health needs. As part of a broader study of how religious communities understand and respond to people with mental health conditions, three focus group interviews were conducted in south east England with Evangelical Christians (n=13) and three with Pentecostal Christians (n=19). These groups are of interest because a belief in the healing power of the Holy Spirit is a defining characteristic of Pentecostalism and can also feature in Evangelical congregations' espoused beliefs. The salience of discursive resources about agentic spirits raises the possibility of people with mental health conditions being positioned in problematic ways. Data were subjected to critical discursive psychology which yielded three themes. The first involved formulations of acceptance of people with mental health problems early in group discussions. 'Core features' of Pentecostal and Evangelical categories were invoked to justify responses of acceptance. The second theme concerned dilemmatic moments that surfaced in the discussions when understandings and responses that used characteristic Pentecostal and Evangelical discursive resources were juxtaposed with secular sense-making resources concerning the role of biochemical and psychological factors in mental health problems. Participants worked to manage interactional dilemmas that raised questions about speakers' priorities and identities. These management responses constituted the third theme and involved the adoption of positions of limited expertise, the separation of the individual and their mental health condition, and an appeal to the emergence of a new synthetic tradition of understanding. Through these negotiations, initial formulations of acceptance became qualified and conditional. This paper will focus on the second and third themes. These will be discussed in terms of concepts from social psychology and political theology and in terms of implications for the uptake of mental health services.



The underestimated treasure: Diversity at school through the needs of teachers. Insights from a fieldwork

Liana M. Daher Università di Catania daher@unict.it Augusto Gamuzza Università di Catania a.gamuzza@unict.it

Anna Maria Leonora Università di Catania leonora@unict.it

Despite many alarming clues, the most urgent need for the European society is mixing diversity and different cultures into a renewed idea of "host" society: a system of resources for individuals, groups, Institutions. The variety of cultures and languages in Europe is often underestimated, stressing the threats linked to the daily life coexistence of many cultures, and not pointing out the potential of such diversity. Solid quantitative evidences supported the above considerations. Eurostat (2015) reports the presence of 33.5 million people born outside of the EU-28 living in a EU-28 Member State on 1 January 2014, while there were 17.9 million persons who had been born in a different EU-28 Member State from their country of residence.

As a result, EU is increasingly becoming a stable multicultural society, importing challenges in how socializing institutions cope with diversity. In addition to this EU schools embrace more and more pupils with different cultural or ethnic backgrounds, becoming increasingly culturally composite. Language troubles, cultural misunderstandings, etc. come out of diversity, and of different cultural and origin affiliation (i.e. family membership). Some problematic areas have emerged with the integration of children at school, concerning both language and educational aspects. Moreover, it is important to deal with teachers; they are the strategic actors in the educational institution, bringing into the process of socialization their ideas about education, society and the future for the new generations. They are actors (and directors) of daily-life realization of integration of foreign students. In particular, in educational environments with high multiculturalism, teachers play an important role in opposition (and spreading) to prejudices, stereotypes, racist discourse between students, families, civil society.

The paper presents the results of the first phase of the Erasmus+ Project concerning the analysis of the teacher needs in multicultural classes. Using mixed methods the action-research aim at examine in depth challenges and problems with cultural integration of foreign origin children. Results will be shown in comparison with the European partners (Italy, Poland, Belgium, Greece, and Spain), focusing on similarities and differences of educational systems as well as strategies and methods for teaching/learning in multiethnic and multilingual settings. Some key examples of best practices will be also analysed.



Legal culture and local context: Some empirical evidence

Deborah De Felice University of Catania defelice@unict.it Giuseppe Giura Independent researcher giuseppe.giura@alice.it

The Italian Criminal Cassazione Court (hereafter Superior Court) issues almost 48,000 judgments each year. This huge number of orders allows a strong discretion by the lower courts of first instance and appellate courts in the selection of these type of adjudications considered useful for justifying their decisions.

This paper attempts an empirical description of the modalities in which the lower courts overcome the problems related to the overproduction of case law, which is tied to a more limited "local justice" that has passed the Supreme Court's scrutiny. We analysed the content of 728 criminal sentences issued by lower-courts in the four Sicilian Districts of the Court of Appeal.

The analysis concerned the quotations of judgments by the Supreme Court into their texts. Once identified, the Superior Court orders: were extracted from the database of the same Superior Court; used to determine which lower court issued their own judgments quoting those orders as a corroboration of legitimacy; comparing the judgment on the merits of the population examined components.

An algorithm we created, takes computer-stored plaintext representations of court sentences as input and automatically extracts all legal quotations from a corpus of sentences. This makes it possible analysing the aggregate citation patterns of particular districts and make a comparative study between them. We have observed that the different legal districts were characterised by a difference in quotation patterns. This difference consists in citing Superior Court orders with different origins.

Because of the different degrees of correspondence between the compared judgments we classified as a close correspondence when they were rooted in the same District Court of Appeal; as a strong correspondence when they referred to contiguous districts; as a weak correspondence if they arose to one of the four Sicilian districts; as a lack of correspondence if they were issued out of the four districts.

Discoursing about Excellent Research in Australia: Ideological Foundations, Intercultural Implications and Dystopian Possibilities

Barbara de la Harpe University of Southern Queensland and CQUniversity, Australia Barbara.delaHarpe@usq.edu.au Patrick A. Danaher University of Southern Queensland and CQUniversity, Australia Patrick.Danaher@usq.edu.au

The third iteration of Excellence in Research in Australia (ERA) was completed in 2015, following similar audits of Australian research clustered around identified disciplines in 2010 and 2012. As it evolves, ERA has displayed both similarities to and differences from other national reporting exercises, including the Research Excellence Framework (REF) in the United Kingdom and the Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF) in New Zealand. While each of these schemes exhibits some respective specificities, in concert they constitute powerful drivers of particular discourses about research excellence, impact, leadership and quality. They also frame institutional and individual behaviours related to 'what counts' as appropriate topics for and methods of

conducting, publishing and evaluating research.

This paper explores some of the issues attendant on discoursing about excellent research in Australia by analysing the author's experiences as a research leader at an Australian regional university as constituting a microcosm of broader clashes and tensions among competing understandings and valuing of contemporary research. This analysis is organised in terms of ERA's ideological foundations, its intercultural implications and its dystopian possibilities. The analysis is underpinned conceptually by current critiques of "the global testing culture" and its underlying cultural assumptions (Smith, 2016). The paper represents a single-site case study drawing on critically engaged self-study for its qualitative methodology.

More specifically, the analysis presented here posits the ideological struggle between diversity and homogenisation as the central mechanism for discoursing about research excellence in Australia in ways that generate dystopian possibilities, particularly the progressive narrowing of valued forms and outcomes of research. This narrowing signals significant risks for interculturality, by privileging certain kinds of cultural experiences as worthy of being researched and by highlighting assumed attributes of some research cultures rather than others. From this perspective, Excellence in Research in Australia emerges as emitting resonances with other systems for measuring, comparing and controlling global education and as limiting the potential options open to global educators, researchers and research leaders.

Reference

Smith, W. C. (Ed.) (2016). *The global testing culture: Shaping education policy, perceptions, and practice* (Oxford studies in comparative education). Didcot, UK: Symposium Books.

Framing argumentative moves in focus group discussions: A critical-analytical perspective

Kamila Dębowska-Kozłowska Adam Mickiewicz University kamila@wa.amu.edu.pl

A qualitative tool of focus groups was used to see how students from Adam Mickiewicz University conceptualise their roles and places within the European society. The focal stimulus (i.e. attitude object) was the students' life in Poznan. The paper draws on the critical approach to students' argumentative messages focusing on their subjective perception of the academic and cultural life at the university and outside it. The exploratory aim of the study was to see in what way the primary and secondary topics frame the argumentative moves of the participants of the focus group discussions (cf. Krzyżanowski 2008). The pragma-dialectical framework was chosen to trace the argumentative moves of the students which were later on analysed through the prism of the socio-economic situation in Poland and Europe. The paper presents the study of three focus groups audio-recorded by the use of the Audacity software. The participants were native speakers of Polish who were highly proficient in English. They were 3BA, 1MA and 2MA students at the Faculty of English at Adam Mickiewicz University.

A social constructionist approach was adopted since it treats a focus group as a tool for studying how individuals perceive and realise their views through social interaction. Two direct attitude measurement techniques, i.e. the SDES and single-item attitude questions, were applied as pretests to test participants attitudes to the attitude object before they engaged in the social interaction. The results of the tests were treated as the anchors for the analysis which helped to see how students' perception of their mental states (i.e. beliefs, desires, needs, values) is reflected in the process of communication with others. Two types of meanings were



CADAAD 2016

studied through the argumentative moves, i.e. individual and collective meanings. Individual meaning is defined here as individual's perception of his or her mental states. Collective meaning is defined here as any common meaning communicated by the participants of a focus group. The study showed that the emergence of collective meanings was motivated by developing secondary topics by participants themselves. The interconnections between secondary and primary discourse topics in the focus groups were realized through the use of coordinative, subordinative and multiple argumentative structures and analogy, symptomatic and casual argumentation schemes (cf. van Eemeren *et al.* 2007).

References

Eemeren van, F. H., Houtlosser, P., Snoeck Henkemans, A.F. 2007. Argumentative Indicators in Discourse: A Pragma-Dialectical Study. Amsterdam: Springer.

Krzyżanowski M. 2008. Analysing Focus-Group Discussions. In: Wodak, R.; Krzyżanowski, M. (eds) *Qualitative Discourse Analysis in the Social Sciences*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 162–181.

The construal of conflict: Language and judgment

Mikołaj Deckert

University of Łódź

mikolaj.deckert@gmail.com

The paper reports a series of studies designed to examine the role of linguistically coded construal (Langacker 2008) in structuring individuals' judgment across conflict scenarios. Subjects were assigned to two conditions and presented with linguistic stimuli such as the trolley dilemma below (Foot 1967). Stimuli were manipulated between conditions to alternately construe and linguistically represent problems, for instance by framing events as positive or negative (cf. Tversky and Kahneman 1981). Subjects gave their estimations of parameters such as moral acceptability of actions on a 1–7 Likert scale.

A runaway trolley is heading down the tracks toward five railway workmen, who will be killed if the trolley keeps on going. Jane is on a bridge over the tracks, between the approaching trolley and the five workmen. Next to her on this bridge is a man, who happens to be wearing a large, heavy backpack. The only way to save the lives of the five workmen is for Jane to cause the man to drop onto the tracks below, where he and his large backpack will stop the trolley. To what extent is it morally acceptable?

The findings generally indicate that language has the power to influence our reasoning about conflict-based problems. However, a number of variables that condition the effect have to be considered – such as problem type and subjects' prior experience (or lack thereof) with analogous conflict scenarios. We find, for instance, that reasoning about "high-conflict" (Koenigs *et al.* 2007) matters might be relatively resistant to construal-induced malleability. The paper will address the implications of these mechanisms and examine some explanatory variables behind language's gradable potential to shape judgment.

References

Foot, P. 1967. The problem of abortion and the doctrine of double effect. Oxford Review 5: 5–15.

Koenigs, M., Young, L., Adolphs, R., Tranel, D., Cushman, F., Hauser, M., & Damasio, A. 2007. Damage to the prefrontal cortex increases utilitarian moral judgements. *Nature* 446 (7138): 908–911.

Langacker, R. W. 2008. *Cognitive Grammar: A Basic Introduction*. New York: Oxford University Press. Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. 1981. The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. *Science* 211



(4481): 453–458.

"Worse than the weapon industry"? Narratives of vicarious experience in a European pharmaceutical company

Jana Declercq Ghent University Jana.Declercq@ugent.be Geert Jacobs Ghent University Geert.Jacobs@ugent.be

Stories are important for organisations; they enable members of the organization to motivate, legitimize and support internal decision making, and to represent themselves towards new employees, clients and citizens, as well as internally (Linde 2001). In other words, they create or contribute to agency, identity and reputation. This paper analyses how different narratives of vicarious experience contribute to the negotiation of multiple complex and sometimes conflicting corporate identities in a European pharmaceutical company. Narratives of vicarious experience are "stories about other people engaged in actions that the tellers did not witness" (Norrick 2013: 385). In (big) companies, the majority of the stories that are relevant for a company's identity construction are inevitably stories of vicarious experience; the collective nature of corporate identity construction makes it impossible to rely exclusively on narratives of personal experience.

Drawing on a linguistic ethnographic approach including semi-structured interviewing and participant observation in and around the company's PR department, we demonstrate how the founder's narrative on the one hand, and the so-called Bad Pharma discourse on the other, serve as intertexts that are strategically mobilized by different tellers in relation to different interactional situations (Angermüller 2012: 118). We examine how tellers position themselves while retelling these sometimes contradictory narratives, how they establish epistemic authority, and we analyse the relation between personal and collective identities in these corporate contexts. In doing so, we learn more about how these stories can exist as part of the same identity discourse, how the notion of narrative of vicarious experience can be useful to make sense of this, and how the concept can be innovated. In focusing on this specific talk at work (from the editing of a press release on an award-winning drug to crisis management efforts in the wake of a large-scale recall action), we hope to contribute to the study of how narratives contribute to identity construction in institutional contexts.

References

Angermüller, Johannes. 2012. Fixing Meaning: The many voices of the post-liberal hegemony in Russia. *Journal of Language & Politics* 11 (1): 115–134.

Linde, Charlotte, 2001. Narrative in Institutions. In: *The Handbook of Discourse Analysis*, Deborah Schiffrin, Deborah Tannen & Heidi E. Hamilton (eds), 518–535. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.

Norrick, Neal R. 2013. Narratives of vicarious experience in conversation. Language in Society 42: 385-406.



Nationalism and discursive constructions of borders in the 2016 United States presidential campaign

Massimiliano Demata University of Bari massimiliano.demata@uniba.it

In the context of the narratives of inclusion and exclusion on which the discourse of nationalism is based, borders are institutional as well as, to paraphrase Anderson, imagined barriers between nations and the "others": they are "both structures and symbols of a state's security and sovereignty" (Donnan and Hastings, 1999). Borders demarcate the official limits of a nation, but are also posited, in the context of a nationalist and populist discursive construction of immigration powered by media and politics, as a physical as well as cultural protection from immigrants, seen as a dangerous non-white, non-Christian, and non-Western "other" who allegedly threatens "our" society and values by crossing "our" borders.

This paper analyses borders as key elements of the discourse on immigration proposed by the Democratic and Republican candidates during the 2016 Presidential campaign in the United States. Borders have often been discussed by American politicians in the context of the supposed dangers of immigration from Mexico and, more recently, the threat of terrorism. Following Critical Discourse Studies, which are "interested in analysing hidden, opaque and visible structures of dominance, discrimination, power and control as manifested in language" (Wodak 2015b), public speeches and statements by presidential nominees will be investigated to uncover the ideology inscribed in the rhetorical strategies used in their depiction of borders, often described through metaphors. In accordance with Wodak's "Discourse-historical approach" (Wodak 2015a, 2015c), I will address the key language strategies used by candidates in their discussions about border control, in order to see how certain hegemonic attitudes towards immigrants are asserted in the eyes of the American electorate. This is often an ethno-nationalist form of populism (Wodak 2015a), as in the case of Republican primary candidate Donald Trump, who has famously proposed the idea of building "a great and beautiful wall" between the USA and Mexico to prevent illegal immigration. Other candidates have discussed the need to deal with the issue of immigration in less drastic terms, but their apparent objectivity and common sense language are still part of a hegemonic narrative of nationalism.

References

Anderson, B. 1983. Imagined Communities, London: Verso.

Donnan, H. & Wilson, T. M. 1999. Borders. Frontiers of Identity, Nation and State, Oxford: Berg.

Wodak, R. 2015a. The Politics of Fear, London: Sage, 2015.

Wodak, R. 2015b. Critical discourse studies: history, agenda, theory and methodology. In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Studies*, 3rd edition, London: Sage, 1–22.

Wodak, R. 2015c. The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds), *Methods of Critical Discourse Studies* (3rd edition). London: Sage, 23–61.



"It is like reading an extended student essay": Reactions to critiques about the 'miracle' and 'unorthodoxy' of Finnish education

Fred Dervin University of Helsinki fred.dervin@helsinki.fi Ashley Simpson University of Helsinki ashley_simpson@hotmail.co.uk

From the 1990s until 2014 Finland was perched at the top of the OECD's PISA studies. Labelled as a miraculous and unorthodox education system Finnish education has attracted attention worldwide and become a site for pedagogical 'tourism' and 'trekking', with practitioners, researchers and decision-makers from around the world venturing into the country to 'witness' the miracle. This has led to Finland embarking on a desperate attempt to sell her education around the world. Very few critical voices have been heard about the myths, white lies and propaganda that this has triggered, from Finland or outside the Nordic country. A few globally known Finnish researchers and educators still continue to promote the country's education even if she has already been relegated to a 'second-class' position in international league tables for education. In this paper, relying on an enunciative, dialogical and intercultural perspective we are interested in the reactions to a book published in 2015 by G. Heller Sahlgren, which proposes to reveal 'Real Finnish Lessons'. We concentrate especially on responses published by Finnish researchers and practitioners in English and Swedish in the media and social media. How do they respond to Heller Sahlgren's harsh criticisms about Finnish education? What disruptive voices about the 'miracle' contained in Heller Sahlgren's book do they counterattack and how? And finally, bearing in mind that Finnish education has become a product that benefits both practitioners and researchers, how do they try to discredit the Swedish researcher and make sure that the utopia remains one?

References

Heller Sahlgren, G. 2015. *Real Finnish Lessons – The true story of an education superpower*. London, UK: Centre for Policy Studies.

Metaphor and Myth: Constructing an Ideological Framework for the Place and Role of the US in the World

Frederick J. DiCamilla Indiana University–Purdue University Indianapolis fdicamil@iupui.edu

This presentation reports on a study of the US Senate Foreign Relations Hearings to consider the nominations of Warren Christopher, Colin Powell, and John Kerry for the position of United States Secretary of State. The study focuses on the use of metaphor and myth by these prominent political figures to construct a shared, predominant ideological framework for the role of the US in the world. The presentation consists of two major components. The first is the delineation of a theoretical foundation and methodological approach that draws



CADAAD 2016

on two complementary approaches to the study of language, mind, and culture. One is based on the work of Lev Vygotsky and the theory of mind, language, and culture based on his research, commonly known as Sociocultural Theory (SCT). A primary claim of this theory is that human activity, including crucially our mental activity, is mediated by cultural factors that amplify our biologically endowed mental and physical capacities. Among these cultural artifacts are symbolic tools, conceptual metaphors, and concepts in general, including myths. The other approach to the study of language, mind, and culture is a cognitive linguistic approach to the study of metaphor. This approach to conceptual metaphor fits well with a sociocultural approach in two important respects: 1) many cognitive linguists are expanding their study of the cognitive and/or conceptual nature of metaphor to include the examination of cultural experience; and 2) semantics plays a key role in cognitive linguistics, as it does in SCT research.

The second component of the presentation is an analysis of the discourse that comprises the three respective Senate hearings. Using the analytical tools of cognitive linguistics and SCT, I examine the discourse for myths and for semantic concepts (e.g. ANIMACY, CAUSE and AGENCY) that entail, and thus provide evidence of, conceptual metaphors for the US that form an ideological framework for its place and role in the world.

At the borders of gender: Feminisms and governing of migration in contemporary Italy

Stefania Donzelli International Institute of Social Studies Erasmus University Rotterdam donzelli@iss.nl

This paper reflects on gender as a feminist political category employed to engage the phenomenon of immigration and its governing. To this end, it scrutinises feminist narratives produced on and from lived experiences of political struggles contesting and contrasting the current governmental rationalities regulating human mobility in Italy. Specifically, the essay focuses on feminist conceptualizations of gender, deconstructing the cognitive boundaries of this category of political practice as they inform the ways in which border regimes are experienced, known and acted upon. Indeed, this paper intends to illuminate the multidimensionality of the meaning of gender in its current feminist usages. On the one side, it scrutinises gender in terms of its articulation and mutual constitution with social relations of race, which are particularly significant in a context permeated by colonial amnesia, denial of white supremacy, and activation of latent racism as response to contemporary migratory movements. On the other side, it examines gender in terms of its composition and transformation in respect to transnational dynamics - such as intensification of crossborder movements of people and their government. Hence, the paper points out limits and potentialities underlying these conceptualisations of gender. Theoretically, it seeks to contribute to scholarship on Intersectionality, exploring the travelling and reception of this analytic in the Italian context within the discursive field that addresses the governing of migration. To this purpose, the paper discursively analyses the following data: primary sources such as first-hand accounts resulting from in-depth interviews, and focus groups discussions; secondary sources covering feminist communication statements, flayers, zines. This material was collected during one year of fieldwork and it covers experiences of feminist organizing on the regulation of human mobility in Italy from 2007 to 2013. In particular, these data are examined combining specific tools of Critical Discourse Analysis, such as analysis of the Representation of Social Actors (Reisigl and Wodak, 2001; Van Leeuwen, 2007), and Membership Categorization Analysis (Leudar, Marsland, and Nekvapul, 2004). Finally, the essay concludes reflecting on the methodological choices applied and their



validity for intersectional research.

References

Leudar, I, Marsland, V. and Nekvapil, J. 2004. On Membership categorization: 'Us', 'them' and 'doing violence' in political discourse. *Discourse and Society* 15 (2–3): 243–266.

Reisigl, M. and Wodak R. 2001. Discourse and Discrimination. London: Routledge.

van Leeuven, T. 2007. The Representation of Social Actors. In T.A. van Dijk (ed.), *Discourse Studies. Vol. 5*. London: Sage, 268–303.

Narratives of sustainable businesses and consumers: A critical discourse analysis of articles in "The Grocer"

Ulrike Ehgartner University of Manchester ulrike.ehgartner@postgrad.manchester.ac.uk

Dominant perspectives on the 'sustainable consumer' assume that consumers are socially conscious and rational individuals who express their values through consumer choice in the marketplace (for example, by boycotting or buycotting). Accordingly, a lot of research focuses on consumer motivations to consume 'sustainably' or 'ethically' (see e.g. Sassatelli 2007, Slater 1997, Stolle and Micheletti 2013). Contemporary sociological perspectives on consumption contest this narrative and break with these narrow methodological individualist approaches and utilitarian conceptualizations of people's ethical decision making. In this view, consumption is understood as only one moment in the networks of production, distribution and marketing of items and services. Consequently, there is an urge to shift the attention away from consumer behavior, towards the wider organization of infrastructures from a provisioning perspective (see Warde 2005, Shove 2003, Barnett et al. 2011, Reckwitz 2002, Heidbrink 2015). However, while these approaches primarily associate infrastructure with the provision of tangible facilities (such as agricultural land, transport systems, buildings, institutions), this paper indicates that there is another important part of the infrastructure that enables a sustainable development; namely the discursive framing that limits or liberates the rhetoric space to discuss societal issues such as "sustainability". Within this research, therefore, the given infrastructure is conceptualized as the discursive space of sustainable values and behavior. Thus, following a constructivist approach, this paper approaches sustainable food consumption as a complex set of socially constructed discourses which are fed by various agents such as ethical trading organizations, businesses, lobby groups, cultural institutions, NGOs, government-related bodies as well as academics. Drawing on a critical discourse analysis (see e.g. Fairclough 1995, Fairclough 1992, Wodak 2009) of journalistic material on grocery sales, I explore the roles ascribed to businesses as well as consumers when sustainable food provision and consumption is contested. Particular attention is paid to dynamics of the discursive framings of "sustainable agents" and their interrelation to changing societal conditions over time. To conclude, rather than presupposing morally concerned consumers as pre-existing categories, this paper suggests that the "sustainable consumer" is a "rhetorical figure" (see Barnett et al. 2011) which is effectively created and mobilized in current debates.



Subverting stereotypes on mental illness: The discursive construction of bipolar on YouTube

Shaimaa El Naggar

Lancaster University (UK) and Fayoum University (Egypt) s.elnaggar@lancaster.ac.uk; shaimma@hotmail.com

New media has been perceived as a platform for mobilization and the perpetuation of acts of resistance; for example, a bulk of research has focused on the active role that new media platforms have played in the emergence of uprisings and political movements (e.g. El Tantawy and Wiest 2011; Lotan *et al.* 2011). While a lot of attention has focused on the interplay between new media and politics, little academic research has explored the growing use of new media in medical communication. In the domain of mental illness, which is subject to stereotyping and negative associations, many individuals diagnosed with bipolar and schizophrenia use YouTube to narrate their experiences and raise awareness of mental illness/health.

The aim of this study is to turn attention to this YouTube phenomenon. The data represents a selected sample of YouTube videos that have high rates of views on YouTube, in which individuals narrate their experiences and struggles with bipolar. I analyse the discursive, rhetorical and multimodal strategies used by these videobloggers to represent bipolar and explore the communicative purposes they seek to fulfil.

Methodologically speaking, I adopt an innovative synergy of interactional linguistics (e.g. Goffman 1981; Gumperz 1982), the Discourse Historical Approach (e.g. Wodak and Meyer 2009) and the framework of Visual Grammar (e.g. Kress and van Leeuwen 1996), which will enable us to deconstruct this emerging genre of YouTube videos aimed at mental health awareness, while situating its discourse within its broader socio-cultural contexts.

Examples of the analytical categories I will focus upon are "frames" and "footing", "nomination" and "predication" strategies and "argumentation" strategies, which I found to be salient in terms of the representation of bipolar. I argue that while bipolar appears to be negatively represented in some of these videos (e.g. through the use of negative predication), there seems to be a serious attempt at subverting the stereotypes related to mental illness through a complex use of rhetorical, discursive and multimodal features. Besides the innovative use of multi-disciplinary approaches, this study contributes to the growing interest in computer-mediated health communication and cross-disciplinarity, broadly speaking.

References

El Tantawy, N. and Wiest, J. B. (2011). Social media in the Egyptian revolution: Reconsidering Resource Mobilization Theory. *International Journal of Communication* 5: 1207–1224.

Goffman, E. (1981). Forms of talk. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.

Gumperz, J. (1982). Language and social identity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kress, G. and van Leeuwen, T. (1996). Reading images: The grammar of visual design. London: Routledge.

Lotan, G., Graeff, E., Ananny, M., Gaffney, D., Pearce, L. and Boyd, D. (2011). The revolutions were tweeted: Information flows during the 2011 Tunisian and Egyptian revolutions. *International Journal of Communications* 5: 1375–1405.

Wodak, R. and Meyer, M. (2009). Critical Discourse Analysis: History, agenda, theory and methodology. In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds), *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis* (2nd edition), 1–33.



Legitimating Action through Strategic Maneuvering: A Framework for Integrating the Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA) and Pragma-dialectics

Rania Elnakkouzi

Lancaster University r.elnakkouzi@lancaster.ac.uk

During the past decade a forefront has been created for the integration of Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) and Argumentation Theories. The most recent of these proposals, Fairclough and Fairclough (2012), integrates practical arguments within Fairclough's dialectical approach to CDA. However, this research can be seen as a response to recent views calling for a more systematic integration of pragma-dialectics within DHA framework (Ihnen & Richardson 2011; Reisigl 2014). Starting from the view that an arguer's 'strategic maneuvering' is oriented towards achieving political goals (Ietcu 2006) where the most prominent of these is the legitimation of actions or policy proposals (Cap, 2008); this research proposes an analytical framework that systematically integrates DHA and pragma-dialectics. The research claims that the discursive strategies proposed by the DHA are necessary means through which 'strategic maneuvering' is achieved. More specifically, the three aspects of 'strategic maneuvering' (topical potential, adaptation to audience and presentational devices) are realized through DHA's discursive strategies. The proposed analytical framework is intended to be as an original contribution for integrating pragma-dialectics within CDA.

The proposed framework is applied to Hasan Nasrallah, a prominent Lebanese political figure, political speech delivered on the 7th of May 2009. The analysis shows Nasrallah's strategic use of retrospective arguments not only as means to justify and legitimize a past action, but also, as a defense mechanism to rebut opposition's counter-claim.

References

- Cap, P. (2008). Towards the proximization model of the analysis of legitimization in political discourse. *Journal of Pragmatics* 40: 17–41.
- Fairclough, I. & Fairclough, N. (2012). *Political discourse analysis: A method for advanced Students*. London: Routledge.
- Ietcu, I. (2006). Argumentation, dialogue and conflicting moral economies in post-1989 Romania: an argument against the trade union movement. *Discourse & Society* 17 (5): 627–650.
- Ihnen, C. & Richardson, E., J. (2011). On combining pragma-dialectics with critical discourse analysis. In E. T. Feteris, B. Garssaen & Snoeck Henkemans (Eds), *Keeping in Touch with Pragma-Dialectics: In honor* of Frans H. van Eemeren. Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 231–244.
- Reisigl, M. (2014). Argumentation analysis and the discourse-historical approach: A methodological framework. In C. Hart & P. Cap (eds), *Contemporary critical discourse studies*. London: Bloomsbury, 67–69.



Paying the Black Debt: The CARICOM Discourse on Slavery, Remembrance and Reparations

Eleonora Esposito

Sultan Qaboos University eleonora.esposito84@gmail.com

In July 2013, the Caribbean Heads of Government agreed to establish a CARICOM Reparations Commission (CRC) to push forward the cause of compensation for slavery from three European nations (U.K., France, the Netherlands). Chaired by the Barbadian Historian Sir Hilary Beckles, the CRC has outlined a Ten-Point Action Plan, calling for financial assistance with education and healthcare, technology transfer and debt cancellation, among other things.

This study aims at investigating the reparation discourse of Beckles and the CRC. More specifically, it aims at analysing how the mnemopolitical construction of the historical past of slavery serves the present reparation claims. The way CARICOM public figures address Caribbean history plays a crucial role in the complex discursive construction of an 'official' collective memory and a shared political Caribbean identity in the multi-ethnic, multi-cultural postcolonial Archipelago.

The data was retrieved in the 'Communication' section of the CARICOM official website and encompasses official statements and communiqués from CARICOM/CRC meetings, press releases and speeches in a timespan of two years (2013–2015). The analysis will offer a Discourse-Historical perspective (Reisigl and Wodak 2009) on the complexities, struggles and contradictions of the postcolonial Caribbean by integrating knowledge about historical sources and the socio-political environment within which discourse as social practice is embedded.

This work aims at representing a new transdisciplinary prospect in the fields of Critical Discourse Analysis, Memory Studies and Caribbean Studies. Moreover, it can represent a though-provoking counter-narrative for the mainstream historical reconstruction and commemoration of slavery in the European (and especially British) context, where the historical memory of slavery has been highlighting the moral triumph of abolition rather than the many centuries of slave trade, in a narrative of the past that seems to delete any trace of agency on the part of enslaved populations.

References

Reisigl, M. & Wodak, R. (2009). The Discourse-Historical Approach. In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds), *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis* (2nd Revised Edition). London: SAGE Publications, 87–121.



Engaging Elementary School Students in Uncovering Stereotypes in Children's Books while Learning a Second Language

Johanna Esquivel

New Mexico State University johann01@nmsu.edu

The purpose of this presentation is to linguistically and visually demonstrate the various manifestations of language and power in media discourses by utilizing critical discourse analysis as a tool to dismantle media misrepresentations of race, ethnicity, gender, class and language. This implied first, to engage Mexican third grade bilingual students in critical media literacy while learning their second language and developing their literacy skill in English and Spanish. Second, to critically read the text and to interpret the hidden messages and signs in pictures and texts that instigate the reproduction of racial, ethnic, and social stereotypes. Third, through critical discourse analysis and the examination of visual input, elementary students studied how the power of representation and social discourses are manifested in picture books.

The corpus of discourse analyzed for this presentation included *Walt Disney's Cinderella* (1998) by Disney, *Estrellita de Oro/Little Golden Star: A Cinderella Cuento* (2000) by Joe Hayes, and the discourse produced by third grade bilingual students in an elementary school in the Southwest of the United States. "Film, television, talk media, video games, newspapers...do not merely entertain us. They are also teaching machines that offer interpretations of the world and largely function to produce a public with limited political horizons" (Giroux, 2015). Children are influenced by capitalist practices specially when using profit-oriented, and non-critical picture books that have insidious forms of "visual representation" (Hall, 1997) processes. By analyzing language through "text, discourse practice and social practice" (Fairclough, 1992), we encountered that discourse is a social practice, "mode of action" (Fairclough, 1992) or "human activity inextricably related to the use of language" (Bakhtin, 1986) that helps us not only describe the world or identify stereotypes, but to reconstruct new identities.

Read-alouds, critical questions, group discussions, and charting stereotypes were well devised learning situations that helped bilingual children become aware and counteract against the mainstream discourses in picture books. By comparing two versions of the picture books, the students distinguished stereotypes and misrepresentations regarding cultural groups, race, gender, class, and power, while enhancing their second language through authentic language events. The analysis of their discourses showed awareness of stereotypes.

References

Bakhtin, M. (1986). The problem of speech genres (V. W. McGee, Trans.). In C. Emerson & M. Holquist (eds), *M. M. Bakhtin: Speech genres and other late essays*. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press, 60–102.
Disney, W. (1998). *Walt Disney's Cinderella*. New York, NY: A Golden Book.

Fairclough, N. (1992). Discourse and social change. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.

Giroux, Henry, A. (2015). *Education and the crisis of public values* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Peter Lang. Hayes, J. (2000). *Estrellita de Oro/Little Golden Star: A Cinderella Cuento*. El Paso, TX: Cinco Puntos.



Discourse Strategies in Governance Genres: How Corporations Manage Economic and Financial Crisis

Gaetano Falco Università degli Studi di Bari "A. Moro" gaetano.falco@uniba.it

Since the Great Depression of the 1920s, the global market has experienced important events of economic and financial turmoil. The impact of such dramatic facts as the subprime mortgage crisis in 2008, the BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico in 2010, and the Volkswagen emissions scandal in 2015, just to mention a few, has entailed not only political, social, economic and environmental interventions, but also changes in language and, to a larger extent, in discourse practices, which can help policy- and decision-makers manage risk and minimize losses. In this context, this paper aims to analyze the discourse of financial and economic crisis. Focusing on the latest scandals that have recently affected the automobile industry, the paper illustrates the results of a research that investigates the discourse strategies used by corporations to manage events of crisis and meltdown. In particular, it explores and compares discursive practices in management reports (e.g. CEO's and/or Chairman's Letters to the Shareholders, Sustainability Reports, Disclosures), which, to some extent, might be seen as representative of governance genres (Fairclough 2003; Zanola 2010), and financial statements (e.g. profit and loss account, balance sheet, cash flow statement, notes to the financial statements. The methodology adopted in the study is mainly based on the contributions of discourse analysis and pragmatics. As for discourse analysis, the research draws upon CDA-based studies carried out in the domain of economic policies (Bhana 2009; Howcroft 2012), paying particular attention to the literature concerned with interdiscursivity and the discourse of financial crisis (Portero Muñoz 2011). From a pragmatic perspective, we use Searle's notion of *direction of fit* between words and the world, i.e. the purpose of some illocutionary acts to get the words to match the world as opposed to the purpose of other illocutionary acts to get the world to match the words (Searle 1976: 2–3). The study shows that, in order to face crisis, corporate discourse varies in accordance with genre, often providing somehow conflicting representations of the same reality by adopting different communicative strategies.

References

Bhana, N. (2009). The chairman's statements and annual reports: Are they reporting the same company performance to investors?. *Investment Analysts Journal* 69: 32–46.

Fairclough, N. (2003). Analyzing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research. London: Routledge.

- Howcroft, S. (2012). The Discourse of the European Financial Crisis from Different Perspectives. *RUA-L. Revista da Universidade de Aveiro* 1 (2): 299–319.
- Portero Muñoz, C. (2011). Noun-Noun Euphemisms in the Language of the Global Financial Crisis. *ATLANTIS. Journal of the Spanish Association of Anglo-American Studies* 33: 137–157.
- Rutherford, B. A. (2005). Genre Analysis of Corporate Annual Report Narratives. A Corpus Linguistics-Based Approach. *Journal of Business Communication* 42 (4): 349–378.
- Searle, J. R., (1976). A Classification of Illocutionary Acts. Language in Society 5 (1): 1–23.
- Zanola, A. (2010). The Annual Report: An Interdisciplinary Approach to a 'Contaminated' New Genre. *Paper n. 109 del Dipartimento di Economia Aziendale, Università degli Studi di Brescia*: 1–22.



What Constitutes Constitutions. On the socio-legal relationships between constitutions and legal pluralism

Alberto Febbrajo

Università di Macerata alberto.febbrajo@unimc.it

If constitution is oriented towards the uniqueness of the legal order, whereas legal pluralism is oriented towards the many possible normative orders that co-exist in the same society, how can the two be combined? In other words, in which way can a hierarchically organised normative world be reconciled with the idea of a poliarchy of different sets of norms?

On the basis of the general formula one state, one constitution, state constitutions are regarded as the sole and indisputable mothers of the legal order. The image of constitution that derives from a socio-legal perspective could assume a profoundly different standpoint. The reassuring architecture of norms, characterised by hierarchical internal relations, is rejected in favour of a polycentric representation of the interactions between social and legal factors. The constitution shows its external roots and appears to be the outcome of a plurality of cultural elements.

We have also to distinguish between formal and material aspects of constitutions. This fundamental duality does not rule out the possibility of their mutual presuppositions, but implies it. To have a formal constitution without a material one is no more possible than to eliminate the last carriage from a train. Formal constitutions need the support of the socially-rooted norms that contribute to the development of material constitutions, while material constitutions need the support of the support of the support of the legally-rooted norms that contribute to interpreting formal constitutions. Social norms can be introduced into a formal constitution by open-minded judges or by innovative legislators; legal norms can be introduced into a material constitution by citizens or other political actors who participate in shaping a new communis opinion in relation to constitutionally-relevant issue.

Formal and material aspects of constitutions could be inserted both in a structural process of institutionalisation which, through a bottom-up orientation towards legal norms, shapes the gradual reception of social norms into legal orders, and in a functional process of mutual adaptation which, through a horizontal orientation towards other sectors of society, determines the production of effects external to the legal order.

Approaching the specificity of political discourse in the advanced reading classroom: A critical analysis of two U.S. presidential speeches on the issue of marriage equality

Rodolfo Fenoglio Universidad Nacional de Salta rofenoglio@gmail.com Laura Bottiglieri Universidad Nacional de Salta laurabottiglieri@yahoo.com

When introducing political discourse analysis in our advanced reading courses, two questions are in order: What is the specificity of political discourse? What are the most appropriate tools for analyzing it from a critical perspective?



CADAAD 2016

As early as 1987, the Argentine sociologist and semiotician Eliseo Verón proposed that what makes political discourse unique is its 'triple destination': politicians design their discourse as directed to a heterogeneous audience consisting of three different kinds of interlocutors that he named 'pro-addressee', 'para-addressee' and 'counter-addressee' (Verón 1987; Durán 2008). As another important component in his model of analysis, he elaborated the notion of four types of 'components' – descriptive, didactic, prescriptive, and programmatic – by means of which politicians modalize their messages.

On the other hand, Fairclough & Fairclough (2012, 2015) suggest that, since political discourse is mainly argumentative, its analysis should focus on practical argumentation or deliberation. They propose a framework of practical reasoning in which four kinds of premises – Goals, Circumstances, Values, and Means-Goal – lead to a conclusion or practical claim for decision-making and action.

In this paper we intend to integrate the two models mentioned above in the analysis of two US. presidential speeches on the issue of same-sex marriage. The first was delivered in February 2004 by G. W. Bush, in support of a federal Marriage Protection Amendment that would define marriage as between a man and a woman; the second was given by B. Obama in June 2015, expressing his satisfaction with the US Supreme Court Decision on Marriage Equality. Our analysis will also draw on the notion of 'ideological square' proposed by Van Dijk (1993, 2006) to show how politicians build a positive representation of their own group and a negative representation of the Others.

We expect the results of our study can offer our students a deeper insight into the controversy over marriage equality and gender issues in the US over the recent years and a better understanding of the role of the discourse of mainstream politicians in the maintenance or the overcoming of injustice and social inequality.

References

- Durán, J.M. 2008. The Analysis of Political Discourse Applied to Bush's and Kerry's Speeches. In Nina Nørgaard (ed.), *Systemic Functional Linguistics in Use. Odense Working Papers in Language and Communication* 29: 267–282.
- Fairclough, I. and Fairclough, N. 2012. Political Discourse Analysis: A Method for Advanced Students. London: Routledge.
- Fairclough, N. and Fairlough, I. 2015. Textual Analysis. In M. Bevir and R.A.W. Rhodes (eds), *The Routledge Handbook of Interpretative Political Science*. London: Routledge, 186–198.
- Van Dijk, T. 1993. Principles of critical discourse analysis. Discourse & Society 4 (2): 249-283.
- Van Dijk, T. 2005. Politics, ideology, and discourse. In R. Wodak (ed.) *Elsevier Encyclopedia of Language and Linguistics. Volume on Politics and Language*. New York: Elsevier, 728–740.
- Verón, E. 1987. La palabra adversativa. Observaciones sobre la enunciación política. In E. Verón *et al.* (eds), *El discurso político. Lenguaje y acontecimientos.* Buenos Aires: Hachette, 1–12.

Strategic litigations in immigration matter: Happy islands or vehicles for systemic change?

Valeria Ferraris Università di Torino valeria.ferraris@unito.it

Strategic litigation refers to litigation taken in front of a courtroom, which have impact far beyond the specific applicant of the case. The paradigmatic example of strategic litigation is the well-known 1954 judgement Brown vs. Board of education in US.



This paper reflects on the meaning and outcomes of strategic litigation in immigration matter. By analysing some judicial decisions of Italian Supreme Courts (e.g. Cass. SU, 26 febbraio – 17 giugno 2013, n. 15115; C. Stato sez. III, 13 settembre 2013, n. 4543), European Court of Human rights (e.g. Hirsi Jamaa e altri c. Italia, 3.2.2012; Khlaifia *et al.* C. Italia, 1 settembre 2015) and Court of Justice (El Dridi, 28 aprile 2011) and by interviewing the lawyers that filed those cases, the paper aims to understand the current state of strategic litigation in immigration in Italy, its features and effects.

In doing so, I will answer several questions.

First of all, who are the actors involved in strategic litigation in immigration? Is strategic litigation seen as a means to further human rights protection? Is it a part of a broader strategy in taking action for migrants rights? Does it bring social changes? If not, which are the factors that hamper reaching this result?

The Discursive Construction of a Latin American Identity in the UN Mission in Haiti (2004–2015)

José Manuel Ferreiro Lancaster University j.ferreirogomez@lancaster.ac.uk

On 30 April 2004 the UN Security Council adopted resolution 1542 which created the current United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) in the aftermath of the coup that ousted President Aristide. More than twelve years have passed and the mission has undergone several changes, fifteen new resolutions, and faced important challenges during this period (like the devastating earthquake of 2010, the following cholera outbreak and a sexual abuse scandal).

Additionally, this mission has been regarded as "led by, and almost entirely composed of, Latin American troops" (Ross, 2004, p. 1). This fact, rather unprecedented, has been considered an "asset" by some of the leaders of the mission (Ferreiro & Wodak, 2014). Taking into account that the decision-makers of the mission are the visible face and are those responsible for what the MINUSTAH does, to analyse their first-hand insight about what the mission is doing and why seems to be paramount.

This paper presents the results of some of the findings of a PhD research project and it will show how in the context of a UN peacekeeping mission, MINUSTAH leaders discursively construct a Latin American identity and how this process is intertwined with the discursive legitimation of the mission.

By adapting the Critical Discourse Analysis framework offered by Reisigl & Wodak (2001), this paper will present the results of analysing interviews with MINUSTAH's leaders conducted at various instances from 2004 to 2015, paying attention to those elements that remain constant and those that have changed. Strategies such as argumentation, nomination, predication and legitimation will have a special emphasis.

This paper will show that there is a complex discursive construction of a Latin American identity, even contradictory at some points, and subject to geopolitical interests. Moreover, the Latin American identity itself is being used as a legitimation device for MINUSTAH in Haiti.

References

Androutsopoulos, J. 2014. Moments of sharing: Entextualization and linguistic repertoires in social networking. *Journal of Pragmatics* 73: 4–18.

Ferreiro, J. M., & Wodak, R. 2014. Análisis Crítico de Discurso desde el Enfoque Histórico: La construcción de identidad(es) latinoamericana(s) en la misión de Naciones Unidas en Haití (2004–2005). In M. Canales (ed.), *Escucha de la escucha. Análisis e interpretación en la investigación cualitativa*. Santiago, Chile: LOM



Ediciones, 189–230.

- Reisigl, M., & Wodak, R. 2001. Discourse and discrimination: Rhetorics of racism and antisemitism. London and New York: Routledge.
- Ross, J. N. 2004. *The changing role of the military in Latin America*. Ottawa: FOCAL Canadian Foundation for the Americas.
- Wodak, R., & Weiss, G. 2004. Visions, ideologies and utopias in the discursive construction of European identities: Organising, representing and legitimising Europe. In M. Pütz, T.A. van Dijk and J.-A. Neff-van Aertselaer (eds), *Communicating ideologies: Language, discourse and social practice*. Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang, 225–252.

Take me to church or to other spaces. An analysis of re-contextualized meanings in pop songs. A case study

Laura Filardo-Llamas Universidad de Valladolid lfilardo@fyl.uva.es Laura Hidalgo-Downing Universidad Autónoma de Madrid laura.hidalgo@uam.es

Following recent trends in CDA studies, this paper focuses on songs as discourses through which social views can be spread (Van Leeuwen 2012; Filardo-Llamas 2015). Although the ideological effect of some songs could be arguable, it cannot be denied that besides being socio-cultural ludic artefacts, songs also perform a communicative and ideological function. This stems not only from its textual component, but also from its multimodal –musical and video – counterparts.

In this paper, we intend to analyse songs as viral phenomena through which socially-relevant messages can be spread. To do so, we will focus on Hozier's "Take me to church" (2013), a song which at times has been considered a worldwide anthem for the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender community. Following notions taken from Text-World Theory (TWT) (Werth 1999; Hidalgo Downing 2000; Gavins 2007) and Discourse Space Theory (DST) (Chilton 2004, 2005), it can be argued that songs are multimodal blended discourse worlds whose meaning results from a combination of text-worlds, musical worlds and visual worlds. Evaluation on this blended discourse world results thus from the location of the discursively-triggered mental representations on three axes: time, space and axiology (Chilton 2004; Cap 2010).

The paper will try to prove how TWT and DST can help in explaining the multiple re-contextualizations of this song from its original Ireland-located meaning to a wider global and spiritual meaning. To do this, the song will be analysed together with two viral videos: the one originally produced with the song, and another one in which Ukrainian dancer Sergei Polunin dances alone in an unknown place. The new meanings of the song stem from a combination of discourse strategies which rely on the multiple construals of different spatial frames of reference (Levinson 2003): Deictic vagueness together with a significant number of metaphorical conceptualizations which are mainly based on the idea of container, orientation and/or motion among other things (Lakoff & Johnson 1980). As we will prove in the paper, it is this deictic vagueness that allows us to construe three main types of spaces: geographical, visual and metaphorical. By relying on this multiple spatial construal, which in itself triggers multiple temporal and axiological evaluations, the song can be played and listened to in different contexts. It is this de-contextualized textual, visual and musical construction of the song that allows for its multiple re-contextualizations, hence helping it become a viral phenomenon.

References

Cap, P.2010. Proximizing Objects, Proximizing Values. Towards an Axiological Contribution to The Discourse of Legitimisation. In U. Okulska & P. Cap (eds) *Perspectives in Politics and Discourse*.



Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 119–142.

Chilton, P. 2004. Analysing Political Discourse. Theory and Practice. London: Routledge.

- Chilton, P. 2005. Vectors, Viewpoint and Viewpoint Shift. Toward a Discourse Space Theory. *Annual Review* of Cognitive Linguistics 3: 78–116.
- Filardo-Llamas, L., C. Hart, & B. Kaal. 2015. Introduction for the Special Issue on Space, Time and Evaluation in Ideological Discourse. *Critical Discourse Studies* 12 (3): 235–237.

Gavins, J. 2007. Text-world Theory. An Introduction. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Hidalgo-Downing, L. 2000. Negation, Text Worlds and Discourse: The Pragmatics of Fiction. Norwood: Ablex.

Lakoff, G. & Johnson, M. 1980. Metaphors we Live by. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Levinson, S.C. 2003. *Space in Language and Cognition: Explorations in Cognitive Diversity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Van Leeuwen, T. 2012. The Critical Analysis of Musical Discourse. *Critical Discourse Studies* 9 (4): 319–328.

Werth, P. 1999. Text Worlds. Representing Conceptual Space in Discourse. New York: Longman.

Identity, Positioning and Political Marketing in Televised Leaders' Debates

Anthony Fisher

Massey University

a.fisher@massey.ac.nz

Since their inception in the USA in 1960, televised political debates have become firmly established as a mainstay of democratic process in many nations. Despite this, relatively little research has been conducted that looks specifically at the language and discourse of such debates. Existing research has tended to focus on political debates as an arena for conflict and argument, and has therefore focused on issues of linguistic (im)politeness (Blas-Arroyo 2003; Garcia-Pastor 2006, 2008) and the sequential organisation of talk (Beck 1996; Bilmes 1992, 1999). In contrast, the research presented here views televised political debates primarily as a form of political marketing (De Landtsheer *et al.* 2008; Lees-Marshment 2004) and takes as its object of study the discursive construction of identities and political personae (Corner 2003). It asks how politicians are able to position themselves, their opponents and the television audience in relation to emergent identity categories and subject positions, and how such positioning functions strategically to further political and ideological goals.

The analysis presented here focuses on British televised leaders' debates from 2010 and 2015, the first two general elections to have featured televised debates in the UK. It examines the debates as an emergent genre in the UK context, considering changes in the format of the 2015 debates, and the impact of these changes on the debates as a site for identity work and political marketing. The study draws extensively on Membership Categorisation Analysis, considering its utility in the analysis of identity in mediated contexts. It considers also the theoretical challenges of analysing talk involving political actors, whose public personae are well known to media audiences, and the problems that arise when adopting a position of analytical naivety that cannot easily be assumed of the audiences for which mediated political discourse is produced.

References

Beck, C. S. (1996) 'I've Got Some Points I'd Like to Make Here': The Achievement of Social Face through Turn Management during the 1992 Vice Presidential Debate. *Political Communication* 13: 156–180.

Bilmes, J. (1992) Tactics and Styles in the 1992 Vice Presidential Debates: Question Placement. Research on



Language and Social Interaction 34 (2): 151–181.

- Bilmes, J. (1999) Questions, Answers, and the Organization of Talk in the 1992 Vice Presidential Debate: Fundamental Considerations. *Research on Language and Social Interaction* 32 (3): 213–242.
- Blas-Arroyo, J. (2003) `Perdóneme que se lo diga, pero vuelve usted a faltar a la verdad, señor González': Form and Function of Politic Verbal Behaviour in Face-to-Face Spanish Political Debates. *Discourse and Society* 14: 395–423.
- Corner, J. (2003) Mediated Persona and Political Culture. In Corner, J. & Pels, D. (eds) *Media and the Re*styling of Politics. London: Sage.
- De Landtsheer, C., De Vries, P. & Vertessen, D. (2008) Political Impression Management: How Metaphors, Sound Bites, Appearances, and Personality Traits Can Win Elections. *Journal of Political Marketing* 7 (3–4): 217–238.
- Garcia-Pastor, M. (2006) A Socio-Cognitive Approach to Political Interaction: An Analysis of Candidates' Discourses in U.S. Political Debates. PhD. Thesis: University of Valencia.
- Garcia-Pastor, M. (2008) Political campaigns as zero-sum games: impoliteness and power in candidates' exchanges. In: Bousfield, D., & Locher, M.A. (eds), *Impoliteness in Language: Studies on its Interplay with Power in Theory and Practice*. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter, 101–123.
- Lees-Marshment, J. (2004) *The Political Marketing Revolution: Transforming the Government of the UK*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Understanding Hong Kong Occupy: A discourse approach

John Flowerdew

City University of Hong Kong johnflowerdew888@gmail.com

This paper is conceptualised within the framework of a historiographical approach to critical discourse analysis (Flowerdew, 2013). It focusses on the Hong Kong "Occupy" movement in the context of Hong Kong's ongoing socio-political development, starting with Great Britain's seizure of Hong Kong as a colony in 1842, through the immediate period leading to the resumption of sovereignty over Hong Kong by China as a "Special Administrative Region" with a high degree of autonomy in 1997, and up to the present day and the recent events of "Occupy". The historiographical approach involves a diachronic analysis allowing for an understanding of what changes over time and what stays the same; an understanding of discourses of the more distant and of the more immediate past allows for a better understanding for discourse of the present. The historiographical approach uses case studies of language events considered as "critical moments" which are indicative of more broadly-based developments in discourse and society. In line with Fairclough's (1992, 2003) conception of the relation between discourse and social change, the approach recognises two interactive levels: a macro-level (the sociohistorical context as it relates to the text(s) under consideration) and a microlevel (the text(s) as they relate to the sociohistorical context). As already mentioned, the language event which is the focus of this particular paper is the Hong Kong "Occupy" movement of 2014, when hundreds of thousands of Hong Kong people took over control of the streets for a period of 79 days to fight for "true" universal suffrage. In this presentation, I will revisit the Occupy event from a critical discourse historiographical perspective and offer some possible interpretations. I will consider "Occupy" from the point of view of social movement theory (including theories of social space), identity theory, and (inter)textual theory, and I will conclude with a brief consideration of the legacy of Hong Kong Occupy.



References

Fairclough, N. 1992. Discourse and social change. London: Polity.

Fairclough, N. 2003. Analysing discourse: Textual analysis for social research. London: Routledge.

Flowerdew, J. 2013. Critical discourse analysis in historiography: the case of Hong Kong's evolving political identity. Basingstoke: Palgrave.

Unpacking far-right discourses about climate change: Scepticism and denial by anti-immigration and National Socialist actors in Germany

Bernhard Forchtner University of Leicester bf79@leicester.ac.uk

Research on the far-right has focussed on their opposition to cultural, ethnic and religious difference but has seldom investigated meanings conveyed in their discourses on contemporary, ecological crises. In cases of relevant research, the focus has largely been on the (destruction of the) countryside and the effect of overpopulation on the national space, issues which could be dealt within/ at the border of the nation. However, present-day, transnational, ecological crises pose much more severe ideological challenges to actors who view nations as both 'limited and sovereign' (Anderson).

Against this background, I ask: first, how do far-right actors position themselves vis-a-vis transnational, ecological crises – in particular the exemplary case of climate change (a case in which international regimes can be constructed as colliding with the ideal of national sovereignty)? Which meanings emerge in their contributions to the discourses on climate change and how do they relate to their core topics, for example nativist stances towards immigration and the rejection of the European Union? Second, I compare how radical right stances are conditioned by different degrees of ideological rigour (from 'populists' anti-immigration to neo-Nazis).

Analysing a range of publications by non-party actors, published between 2007 and 2013 in Germany, I argue that, although *substantial* differences exist between 'populist' and neo-Nazis, climate change is not only viewed largely sceptical (or even denied), but also for rather similar reasons. Furthermore, the observed scepticism/ denial is instrumental in (re)producing core, nationalist principles, ranging from juxtapositions of pure people versus corrupt elites to the identification of a 'Jewish conspiracy' behind carbon trading schemes. Data is analysed through a quantitative discourse-network analysis which reveals relations between main actors, concepts and events, and a qualitative analysis (the discourse-historical approach in critical discourse analysis) which analyses some of the most relevant of these relations.

The presentation thus offers an analysis of a rarely researched dimension of radical right meaning-making, illustrating anti-liberal-democratic and even racist implications of their responses to climate change.



Radical imaginaries: Multimodal representations of 'History' and 'Nature' on German extreme right Facebook pages

Bernhard Forchtner University of Leicester bf79@leicester.ac.uk Christoffer Kølvraa Aarhus University eurock@cas.au.dk

While the German extreme right has modernised itself rapidly over the past two decades, the advent of the new media has further accelerated these changes. This includes a new aesthetic 'playfulness' also in relation to visual and written communication of its own core beliefs, which nonetheless often remain admittedly National-Socialist. Thus, in tune with contemporary youth culture and the communicative doxa in much of the social media, the multimodal engagement with even their own ideological core tenants and historical legacy is increasingly constituted through irony and sarcasm, metaphor and intertextuality, as well as bricolage.

Against this background, we ask: how does this new aesthetics combine often playful ambivalence with claims for truth in relation to their representation of two major themes in their ideology, 'History' and 'Nature'. The ideological significance of 'Nature' lies in the fact that it enables these actors to articulate their views in relation to that which is seemingly stable and 'natural', while 'History' offers the opportunity to rehabilitate a heroic notion of masculinity and national pride. By analysing their multimodal, online discourse about these themes, we illustrate the self-representation of these actors as a radical avant-garde able to articulate their ideology in the language of contemporary youth.

By utilising van Leeuwen and Kress' multimodal approach, in particular their reasoning on relationships established through images, we analyse a cluster of extreme right Facebook pages. We structure the analysis along two lines: first, we are interested in explicit intertextual references to historical National Socialism through images of Nazi personalities which are often creatively modified by having captions or graphic elements inserted. Second, we are interested in how environmental concerns and, more generally, nature as that which is allegedly solid, is represented and able to carry extreme right messages.

In sum, the presentation will provide insights into counter-intuitive, often overlooked aspects of the workings of the contemporary extreme right in Germany which is increasingly influencing other central European countries.

Preparing Higher Education students for the 'world of work'. Careers advisers' expert roles in UK Universities: A critical corpus-based discourse analysis

Maria Fotiadou University of Sunderland maria.fotiadou@research.sunderland.ac.uk

This paper aims to examine the careers services' expert discourse practiced in UK universities taking into account the socio-political and economic background that has led to the rise of this 'expert' field in the first place. It contests the norms diffused from such practices and argues that careers services in UK universities



offer a pseudo-solution/pseudo-therapy to a problematic reality.

The concept of employability is an extension of the neoliberal 'values' introduced by UK governments. As a result of the marketization of HE (Fairclough 1993; Mautner 2005), universities have taken up the task of preparing students for the 'world of work'. Careers services are now considered a specialized branch inside the HE institutional system, claiming to offer help, support and guidance to students.

As any other service provided by institutions, it offers "socially legitimated expertise together with those persons authorized to implement it" (Agar 1985: 164). Careers experts are thus empowered "to intervene in ways that produce disciplined – and even self-disciplined" individuals, using their "legitimate competence" (Scott 2001: 92). Careers advisers' expert knowledge is presented as something that will benefit students. Becoming employable appears to be a common-sense value.

The corpus consists of approximately 2.6 million words deriving from 58 UK Universities' Careers and Employability webpages. The methodology used combines Critical Discourse Analysis and Corpus Linguistics methods. The analysis begins with the examination of the keyword 'careers' and its R1 collocates which are sorted into three categories in order to understand the nature of the careers services. The three categories that stand out are: (a) the careers services as a professional body, (b) the places/spaces in which they act, and (c) careers education. The next part explores personal and impersonal self-representation (van Leeuwen 2008; Mulderrig 2011). This sets the ground for a close examination of concordances with a particular focus on phraseological patterns where the service is the Actor. Emphasis is given to the processes used, utilizing Halliday's system of Transitivity (2004) and van Leeuwen's work on "managing action" (1999).

References

Agar, M. 1985. Institutional Discourse. Text & Talk 5 (3): 147-168.

- Fairclough, N. 1993. Critical Discourse Analysis and the Marketization of Public Discourse: The Universities. *Discourse & Society* 4 (2): 133–168.
- Halliday, M. A. K. and Matthiessen, C. 2004. An Introduction to Functional Grammar. 3rd edn. London: Hodder Arnold.
- Mautner, G. 2005. The Entrepreneurial University: A discursive profile of a Higher Education buzzword. *Critical Discourse Studies* 2 (2): 95–120.
- Mulderrig, J. 2011. Manufacturing Consent: A corpus-based critical discourse analysis of New Labour's educational governance. *Educational Philosophy and Theory* 43 (6): 562–578.

Scott, J. 2001. Power. Cambridge: Polity Press.

- van Leeuwen, T. 1999. Discourses of Unemployment in New Labour Britain. In R. Wodak and C. Ludwig (eds) *Challenges in a Changing World: Issues in Critical Discourse Analysis*. Wien: Passagen-Verlag, 87–100.
- van Leeuwen, T. 2008. *Discourse and Practice: New Tools for Critical Discourse Analysis*. New York: Oxford University Press.

The Normalization and Estrangement of Occupation: The Israeli West Bank Political Discourse

Elie Friedman Hebrew University of Jerusalem elie.friedman@mail.huji.ac.il Dalia Gavriely Nuri Hadassah Academic College gavriely1@gmail.com

This lecture offers a comprehensive analysis of the contemporary Israeli political discourse dealing with the West Bank, focusing on the election campaign of 2015 as a test case. Feige (2002) offers relevant discursive



CADAAD 2016

insights on competing approaches to the status of the occupied territories, arguing that "hawks" "appropriate" the territory, while the "doves" distance and "estrange" the same territories from the discourse. This study utilizes this approach to construct the following dichotomous terms of reference: occupation-normalizing discourse versus occupation-estrangement discourse. Within the context of this dichotomy, this lecture will attempt to map the "hawk" versus "dove" West Bank discourses over a set of discursive dichotomies, such as the concepts of *partnership* versus *unilateralism, absolutism* versus *instrumentalism, messianism* versus *secularism, historical processes* versus *current needs*, and *absolutism* versus *instrumentalism*. This study will examine the extent to which this set of discursive dichotomies reflects the traditional hawk-dove divide in Israel through the following research question: To what extent does each side of the political divide adopts a clear stance regarding the territories with respect to each of these dichotomies, or does each side attempt to blur discursive categories to advance its specific ideological and practical needs?

The study explores the Israeli political discourse about the West Bank in 2014-15, during the period of the general elections in Israel. As a central principle of CDA is the disclosure of hidden ideological aspects of language use in social contexts (Fairclough, 1989; Chilton and Shaffner, 1997; Van Dijk, 2001), we view the 2015 Israeli election, in which political leaders avoided taking a clear stand on this issue, as a suitable case study for uncovering hidden ideological determinants within various discursive avoidance strategies.

Using on-line search, based on keywords in Google NEWS from the day the elections were called until one week after the elections, the corpus of this study includes approximately 3,000 articles from a range of news sources. This main corpus will be complemented by speeches and Facebook posts delivered by leaders of political parties and citizen comments to news articles and to political leaders' Facebook posts, each of which provides direct access to political discourse, beyond the mediation of traditional media source.

References

Chilton, P. and Shaffner, C. (1997). Discourse and politics. In T. Van Dijk (ed.), *Discourse as Structure and Process* (Vol. 2). London: Sage Publications Ltd.

Fairclough, N. (1989). Language and Power. London: Longman Group UK Limited.

Feige, M. (2002). One Space, Two Places: Gush Emunim, Peace Now and the Construction of Israeli Space [Hebrew]. Jerysalem: Magnes.

Othering TV fictional characters: A corpus stylistic approach to identity re-presentation of organised crime characters in *Gomorrah – The Series*

Antonio Fruttaldo

University of Napoli Federico II antonio.fruttaldo@unina.it

As TV series are increasingly becoming a global phenomenon thanks to the development of communications systems and multi-platform instruments of marketisation, the analysis of how given identities are re-presented in other cultures can help us understand "TV writers' internalized beliefs which are transmitted through the created dialogue into a globalized community of TV viewers across the world" (Bednarek 2010: 63).

Thus, the following contribution focuses on identity characterisation in TV series using a corpus stylistic approach (Bednarek 2010, 2011) applied to the analysis of the characters of the Italian TV drama *Gomorrah*. If, as Kozloff (2000) argues, "dialogue lines are explicitly designed to reveal characters" (Kozloff 2000: 44), analysing how they are cross-culturally translated into another language and/or reshaped in new formats can

highlight given identity traits that producers want to underline about given characters. In the specific case of *Gomorrah*, this is particularly interesting since the identities created for the TV series are intrinsically imbued with the local setting of the TV series. And the process of bringing the series across its local borders can reshape the way characters are presented in a new setting.

As Page remarks (in Kozloff 2000: 43), "[i]t is probably no exaggeration to say that the speech of any individual is as unique [...] as his fingerprints". In the same way, TV series characters portray themselves in certain ways through their dialogues, giving voice to specific preoccupations, feelings, concerns, interests, and so on. Thus, after using the Manhattan Distance (Baker 2014) in order to statistically measure the lexicogrammatical status of each character and revealing which of the many voices in the TV series were the most peculiar, by using a keyword analysis, we underlined in the Italian and English original subtitles of the TV series the linguistic profile of these dominant personas. This procedure unveiled some peculiar characteristics of the characters presented in the TV series, enhancing some of their concerns or personality traits, or reshaping their entire identity.

Additionally, since TV series increasingly use social media platforms to encourage audience interaction and, at the same time, audience promotion of the media product, this contribution also focuses on the social media representation of *Gomorrah* by analysing a corpus of tweets focusing on the series. This has allowed us to see if the character identity construction in a social network environment was in line with the "linguistic thumbprint" (Culpeper 2001: 166) left behind by their dialogues and, more importantly, to see how the TV series was perceived by its audience.

References

Baker, P. 2014. Using corpora to analyze gender. London & New York: Bloomsbury.

- Bednarek, M. 2010. *The Language of Fictional Television. Drama and Identity.* London & New York: Continuum.
- Bednarek, M. 2011. The stability of the televisual character: A corpus stylistic case study. In R. Piazza, M. Bednarek and F. Rossi (eds), *Telecinematic Discourse: Approaches to the Language of Films and Television Series*. Amsterdam & Philadelphia: John Benjamins, 185–204.

Culpeper, J. 2001. Language and Characterisation: People in Plays and Other Texts. London: Longman.

Kozloff, S. 2000. *Overhearing Film Dialogue*. Berkeley, Los Angeles & London: University of California Press.

Using experimental methods to assess the persuasiveness of corporations' trust-repair discourse strategies

Matteo Fuoli Lund University matteo.fuoli@englund.lu.se

Persuasion and manipulation have been central concerns of Critical Discourse Analysis since its beginnings (e.g. Hart 2014; Van Dijk 1996). Traditionally, the persuasive and manipulative potential of texts has been explored by means of interpretive analysis. However, the actual perlocutionary effects of the strategies identified through this process are rarely (if ever) evaluated empirically. This paper aims to show that experimental techniques can usefully complement traditional discourse analysis methods by allowing researchers to test hypotheses about the persuasiveness of discursive strategies, and thus gain new and empirically-grounded insights into the dynamics of social influence, power, and ideology.



CADAAD 2016

The results of two experiments are presented. Using Fuoli and Paradis' (2014) model of trust-repair discourse as a point of departure, the studies aim to assess the persuasiveness of different trust-repair strategies deployed by corporations after being publicly accused of incompetence or wrongdoing. In experiment 1, apology and denial strategies are compared by means of a scenario-based questionnaire. 448 subjects took part in the experiment. Linear regression analyses reveal that denial is more effective than apology in repairing trust after integrity-based violations, i.e. when a company is accused of having intentionally deceived the public, and that individual assumptions about corporations in general significantly affect context-specific assessments.

Experiment 2 uses a forced-choice, within-subjects design to investigate whether simple declarative assertions (e.g. 'this will not happen again') are perceived as more credible than epistemically modalized statements (e.g. 'we believe that this will not happen again'), and in what circumstances. 29 participants took part in the experiment. The results, which were analyzed using mixed-effects logistic regression analysis, indicate that the type of trust violation as well as the content of the statement significantly affect participants' choices. Unmodalized statements are preferred when the company's ability is questioned and the statement is about the future (cf. example above). Conversely, when the company's integrity is at stake, assertive statements are preferred when the statement concerns the company's past behavior (e.g. 'we have always been honest to our customers'). The results of these experiments shed new light on the discursive dynamics of trust and demonstrate the usefulness of experimental techniques to CDA.

References

Fuoli, M. & Paradis, C. 2014. A model of trust-repair discourse. Journal of Pragmatics 74: 52-69.

Hart, C. 2014. *Discourse, grammar and ideology: Functional and cognitive perspectives*. Bloomsbury Publishing.

Van Dijk, T.A. 2006. Discourse and manipulation. Discourse & Society 17 (3): 359–383.

Inmates or patients. Nursing records of psychatric detention

Dariusz Galasinski University of Wolverhampton, UK d.galasinski@wlv.ac.uk

In this paper I am interested in daily nursing notes recording their observations of patients in psychiatric detention. I focus in particular on discursive constructions of the patient and their relationship with the nursing staff. The data come from a corpus of medical records made in two mid-security psychiatric units in two Polish hospitals.

Assuming a critical discourse perspective, I make two arguments in the paper. First, the notes construct the patient in terms of fixed characteristics and generic actions and behaviours, outside any social context. Second, the nursing notes construct the patients predominantly in terms of compliance, hygiene, and whether the patients became a nuisance.

In the conclusions I raise possibilities of discourse analytic contribution to mental healthcare.



Evo Morales' Discursive Re-Foundation of an Intercultural Abya Yala

Katharina Friederike Gallant

Center for Development Research (ZEF), Bonn

kgallant@uni-bonn.de

Currently, an ethnic-cultural change can be observed at the top level of power in Bolivia: In January 2006, Evo Morales took over the affairs of state as the first indigenous president. There is something extraordinary about Morales: Physiognomically as well as due to his ethnic-cultural background, he does not meet the traditional norm of Bolivian presidents. At the same time, his position enables him to define this norm anew and thus question not only the existent set of rules of discourse but also the traditional structure of society (Canessa 2012). Based on these observations and following Foucault's (1973; 2007) discourse analysis, this contribution looks at how Morales' ethnic-cultural background is expressed in his discourse (i.e., his speeches and manifestations thereof in core legal documents) and what effect this has on the discursive construction of intercultural togetherness. More specifically, the discursive construction of the national and various ethniccultural identities as well as the re-construction of cultural memory (Assmann 1999; Moscovici 2001) are at stake as President Morales makes an effort to re-found his country as the Plurinational State of Bolivia. Based on this analysis and paying tribute to the fact that other countries such as Ecuador under President Correa or the US under Obama are also being challenged to tackle questions of national identity and cultural understanding, this contribution sets out to identify first indications of a more encompassing set of rules of ethnic-cultural change, as well as their relation to the philosophical concept of interculturality (Estermann 2010; Fornet-Betancourt 2003).

Whereas Morales is featured in many publications due to his position of power, there is a lack of contributions which combine questions of ethnic and race relations, such as the philosophical concept of interculturality, with issues of power and identity as raised by Foucault and Bourdieu, and which further relate to current sociocultural and political developments (cf. Gallant 2014). Moreover, Morales' attempt to have a referendum agree to two subsequent reelections of a president – which implies his ability to be elected for a fourth time in a row in 2019 – underlines the necessity to further analyze this exceptional president.

References

- Assmann, J. 1999. Das kulturelle Gedächtnis: Schrift, Erinnerung und politische Identität in frühen Hochkulturen. Munich: Beck.
- Canessa, A. 2012. Conflict, Claim and Contradiction in the New Indigenous State of Bolivia. *desiguALdades.net Working Paper Series* 22: 5–40.

Estermann, J. 2010. Interculturalidad: Vivir la diversidad. La Paz: ISEAT.

- Fornet-Betancourt, R. 2003. *Interculturalidad y filosofía en América Latina* (Vol. 36, Reihe Concordia Monographien). Aachen: Wissenschaftsverlag Mainz.
- Foucault, M. 1973. *Wahnsinn und Gesellschaft: Eine Geschichte des Wahns im Zeitalter der Vernunft.* (U. Köppen, trans.) Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Foucault, M. 2007. *Die Ordnung des Diskurses: Inauguralvorlesung am Collège de France, 2. Dezember 1970* (10th extended edition with an essay by Ralf Konersmann). Frankfurt am Main: Fischer Taschenbuch.
- Gallant, K. 2014. Evo Morales und Barack Obama zwischen Kulturdialog und Kulturkonflikt: Brücken der Interkulturalität in Abya Yala und America (Vol. 34, Berliner Beiträge zur Ethnologie; dissertation). Berlin: Weißensee Verlag.
- Moscovici, S. 2001. The Phenomenon of Social Representations. In S. Moscovici (ed) Social Representations:



Explorations in Social Psychology (S. Rabinovitch, trans). New York, NY: New York UP, 18–77.

Between selection and classification: The Italian model of civic integration within governmental planning documents

Enrico Gargiulo Università del Piemonte Orientale enrico.gargiulo@uniupo.it

Starting since 2012, as a consequence of the effective date of the Integration Agreement the Italian migratory policies have officially adopted the perspective of civic integration. From then on, the legal presence of migrants within the territory of the state has been conditioned to the fulfilment of some requirements. But a gradual shift toward this perspective had already started before the introduction of the Agreement, more specifically in 2007, with the proposal of a *Charter of Values of Citizenship and Integration*.

The debate that surrounded the writing of the Charter and, later, the political and legal procedure that led to the approval of the Agreement represent a relevant change within the Italian migratory policies: integration is no longer a right but it becomes a duty for all the non-citizens who want to legally reside within the territory of the Italian state. More in detail, the renewal of permit to stay is conditioned to the meeting of specific requirements, such as a certain degree of knowledge of Italian language, Italian institutions and civic culture. The permanence within the territory of the state, therefore, is allowed to non-citizens only if they are able to demonstrate their adhesion to a model of *civic-being*.

The model of civic-being that characterizes the Italian way to civic integration is well stated within the *Integration Plan: Security, Identity and Engagement* (2010). The Plan, which is a sort of planning document and expresses the strategy pursued by the Italian government in the field of immigration, in contrast to statistical evidences depicts the flows of people to Italy as temporary and not as structural. At the same time, it shows a *differentialist* and *culturalist* approach to migrant's integration. More specifically, non-citizens are depicted as people who are "ontologically" different from Italians and who are expected to accept Italian rules and values if they want to be allowed to legally reside in Italy. Moreover, the Plan frames migrations in terms of security.

Given this premise, the paper, from a *critical discourse analysis* and *sociological* perspective, aims at showing the contents of the Italian model of civic integration. To this end, it will focus on the representations of immigrants within the Plan and other governmental documents, stressing in particular the processes of categorisation and polarisation contained within these texts.



Intra-professional interaction and the institutional identity of the journalist: The case of television news

Lena Gialabouki Institute of Modern Greek Studies, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki egialab@auth.gr

Research into the institutional practices of journalism usually involves the investigation of the strategies journalists employ in their interaction with other professionals, most often politicians and experts in various fields. With only a few notable exceptions (e.g., Kroon Lundell 2010, Montgomery 2007), how journalists interact with other members of their own profession has received little attention in the literature. Focusing on television news, the present paper seeks to investigate one such type of intra-professional interaction: live studio 'discussions' of the news of the day between station presenters and journalists.

Drawing upon critical discourse analysis (Fairclough 1995), Bucholtz and Hall's (2005) discursive approach to identity construction, Ochs' (1992, 1993) notion of indexicality, and conversation analysis (Heritage & Raymond 2005, Schegloff 2007), my presentation seeks to investigate the interactional organization of the initial stage of such 'discussions', and to critically examine its implications for the institutional role of journalists. To this end, data from the main news bulletins of two Greek television stations (MEGA and SKAI), broadcast between 2011 and 2013, have been transcribed and analyzed.

The analysis yields interesting findings regarding the interactional features of such discussions. One such feature involves the use of assessment sequences initiated by presenters (prompting extensive responsive assessments by their interlocutors). Another pertains to the participants' management of their epistemic rights to evaluate the events talked about, with presenters systematically downgrading their assessments and journalists upgrading theirs. What these findings suggest is that presenter-journalist 'discussions' are organized and managed in ways quite distinct (regarding both form and content) from the authoritative, impersonal, factual mode of presentation traditionally associated with news reporting, and point to a redefinition of the institutional role of the journalist not only as a neutral disseminator of information regarding the sayings and doings of public figures, but also as its evaluator. This, in turn, poses the question of the institutional power of journalism not only to define the agenda of what is newsworthy, but also to set the terms in which it is to be evaluated.

References

Bucholtz, M. and Hall, K. 2005. Identity and interaction: a sociocultural linguistic approach. *Discourse Studies* 7 (4–5): 585–614.

Fairclough, N. 1995. Media Discourse. London: Edward Arnold.

- Heritage, J. and Raymond, G. 2005. The terms of agreement: Indexing epistemic authority and subordination in talk-in-interaction. *Social Psychology Quarterly* 68 (1): 15–38.
- Kroon Lundell, A. 2010. Dialogues between journalists on the news: the intra-professional 'interview' as a communicative genre. *Media, Culture & Society* 32 (3): 429–450.

Montgomery, M. 2007. Broadcast News: A Linguistic Approach. London: Routledge.

Ochs, E. 1992. Indexing gender. In A. Duranti and C. Goodwin (eds) *Rethinking Context: Language as an Interactive Phenomenon*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 335–358.

Ochs, E. 1993. Constructing social identity: A language socialization perspective. Research on Language and



Social Interaction 26 (3): 287–306.

Schegloff, E. 2007. Sequence Organization in Interaction: A Primer in Conversation Analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Empowering European Identity. The role of teacher and socio-pedagogical dimensions

Adam J. Gogacz Społeczna Akademia Nauk Giorgia Mavica Università di Catania gimavica80@gmail.com

Elisa Casciaro Università di Catania

In the last decades, a considerable amount of literature underlined the growing challenges facing education and training system. Particularly the public sector of school system is the one who have to answer the emergency priorities to ensure knowledge, skills and competences needed in post-modern daily life (Eurostat, 2012; World Year Book of Education, 2015).

Despite of education and training are considered as strategic element to achieve a smart, sustainable and inclusive growth in 'Europe 2020', EU schools faces, more and more, a multicultural situation that prompts to take shape how combine the recognition of diversity and the social integration needs (Harmes *et al.*, 2015).

This basic considerations find its essence in the effort to include foreign origin children in school training that foster a social identity incorporating both European values and rules within their cultural /ethnic background (Henson, 2009).

The paper proposes an exploratory reading of European school reality towards differences and critical issues. The data aim to be a valuable input in the field of education strategy, suggesting the review of educational methods and contents to ensure high quality education and training for all children. This process should be oriented in strengthening long-term socio-economic growth and stability.

The socio-pedagogical dimension of multicultural thinking stresses the need of defining the multicultural critical debate in a conceptual proposal of Multicultural Training Route for teachers, underlining the possibility to share an effective strategy in future educational challenges (M. J. Gannon, Pillai, 2012).

References

- Eurostat 2012. Eurydice, Key Data on Education in Europe. Available online at http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice
- Ferfolja, T., Jones-Díaz, C. et al. 2015. Understanding Sociological Theory for Educational Practices. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gannon, M. J. and Pillai, R. 2012. Understanding Global Cultures. Metaphorical Journeys Through 34 Nations, Clusters of Nations, Continents, and Diversity: London: SAGE Publications.
- Harmes, M., Huijser, H., Danaher, P., Haq, M.U. (eds) 2015. *Myths in Education, Learning and Teaching. Policies, Practices and Principles.* London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Henson, K. T. 2009. Curriculum planning. Integrating Multiculturalism, Constructivism and Education Reform, Waveland Press.
- van Zanten, A., Ball, S. J. and Darchy-Koechlin, B. (eds) 2015. World Year Book of Education 2015. Elites, Privilege and Excellence: The National and Global Redefinition of Educational Advantage, London: Routledge.



How political parties in the UK orient themselves around business

Simon Goodman Coventry University simon.goodman@coventry.ac.uk Philippa Carr Coventry University ac1976@coventry.ac.uk

The UK general election campaign of 2015 included heated debates about how political parties should, and do, relate to business interests. Research has shown that although references to 'business' increase around election campaigns, the term is vague enough to have multiple meanings and uses. A discursive psychological approach allows for an understanding of how the concept of business is used by representatives of political parties and what actions such talk accomplishes. The research question is therefore 'how do political parties construct business and their relationship with business and to what ends? Data was drawn from a wider corpus of data gathered from the BBC television's Question Time, which is a weekly political discussion in which representatives of political parties and one non-politician debate topical issues. Each edition of this programme was recorded from the beginning of 2015 up to the election in May 2015. Data in this analysis consists of sequences of the programmes that focus on business. Discourse analysis of the data demonstrated that business is overwhelmingly presented as a good thing, so that accusations of being anti-business work to criticise opponents. Business is generally presented as positive because it is deemed to act in the national interest by employing people and by generating wealth. However, two different types of business are distinguished: good, wealth generating and bad, tax avoiding and exploitative types. This means that criticism can be directed towards bad business rather than business in general. This strategy appears to be because of a norm against opposing business which is in place for mainstream political parties due to the supposed virtues of wealth creating businesses which leads to each major political party claiming to be the most pro-business. The implications of this analysis are large because it demonstrates how mainstream political parties are unable or unprepared to challenge business interests in all but the most of extreme cases, to the detriment of the working people that businesses can take advantage of and that political parties claim to represent.

Corpus-Driven Analysis of the Zapatista Discourse

Isabelle Gribomont University of St Andrews ig25@st-andrews.ac.uk

The EZLN (Ejército Zapatista de Liberación Nacional) is one of the most innovative revolutionary movements of contemporary Latin America. After the short armed uprising which marked the outbreak of the movement in 1994, the EZLN switched revolutionary devices from weapons to words. The writings of the EZLN and more particularly of its spokesperson, the Subcomandante Marcos, range from essays to short stories, and are as many clues to the political and social project of the EZLN.

In this paper, I plan to demonstrate how a corpus-driven analysis of Marcos' political communiqués can bring a better understanding of his originality as a writer and as a politician. More specifically, in the wake of decolonial thinking and subaltern studies, I will investigate how issues of democracy and identity, notably the boundary between self and others, East and West, dominant and subaltern, are disrupted in Marcos' discourse.

I will use Python and three main analytic techniques: keywords analysis, phraseological research and



CADAAD 2016

distribution analysis of keywords. For example, the distribution of keywords allows to see points in the corpus where new lexis – and therefore – new topics – are introduced. This would be useful to study the evolution of Marcos' discourse and see when exactly some ideological and topical shifts happened. Similarly, the prosodies of words related to national identities, indigenism, or democracy could reveal more systematically the connotations associated with those concepts. As explained by Karen Korning Zethsen, keywords within political discourse are surrounded with a semantic universe and "it is not that the core meaning of these words is changed, but it is rather a case of the words taking on new context-dependent connotations defined by their typical collocations in certain kinds of discourse" (2006).

Considering the extent of the corpus (thousands of communiqués), and the political biases often associated with Zapatista studies, a corpus linguistics approach with a systematic analysis of lexical patterns will bring to light nuances to the study of the Zapatista discourse as well as insight on how political meaning is encoded in language.

References

Korning Zethsen, K. 2006. Semantic Prosody: Creating Awareness about a Versatile Tool *Tidsskrift for* Sprogforsknin 4 (1–2): 275–294. Journal of Pragmatics 73: 4–18.

Stand for legislative elections. The gender representations in the statements of principles under the French Fifth Republic (1958–2007)

Magali Guaresi University of Nice Sophia Antipolis magali.guaresi@gmail.com

At the crossroads of political history, gender studies and discourses analysis, the paper aims to give a detailed study of the statements of principles of MP women candidates under the French Fifth Republic (1958–2007). The corpus is designed according to a set of gender hypothesis in political context. It gathers almost all the declarations of women candidate under the Fifth Republic, together with a reference corpus sampling a representative set of men declarations, made under similar political conditions (700 texts).

Statements of principles are social practice (Wodak and Fairclough 1997) and performative acts setting speakers as political figures (Austin 1970, Butler 1999, Talbot 2010). Does gender impact political speeches and how? Did gender representations significantly evolve within the twelve legislatives periods of the Fifth Republic?

To answer these questions, we resorted to a set of text statistics methods (Mayaffre and Poudat 2013) in the framework of digital humanities. The paper provides a comprehensive and critical description of the development of women *ethos* (Amossy 2010) within fifty years, bringing to light the gradual emergence of original theme and subjects. It also reveals the dissimilar resources and constraints of political language in legitimate identities construction when the speakers are women or men.

References

Amossy R., 2010. La présentation de soi. Ethos et identité verbale. Paris: Puf.
Austin J., 1970 (trad.). Quand dire c'est faire. Paris: Le Seuil.
Butler J., 1999. Gender trouble. Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. London/New-York: Routledge
Mayaffre D. and Poudat C. 2013. Quantitative approaches to political discourse: Corpus linguistics and text statistics. In Flottum K. In Speaking of Europe. Approaches to complexity in European political discourses.



Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins, 65 – 83.

Talbot M. 2010. Language and Gender. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Wodak R. and Fairclough N. 1997. Critical Discourse analysis. In Van Dik T.A., *Discourse as Social Interaction*. London: Sage, 258 – 284.

Changing Narratives of Class in Print Media Discourses in the United Kingdom, 2007–2013: Language of Social Class, Aspiration and (In)Equality in Opinion Discourse of the British Quality Press

Ján Haláček Pavol Jozef Šafárik University halacek@yahoo.com

This paper is based on the analysis of a 534,893-word corpus of British opinion discourse about social class, aspiration, mobility, privilege and (in)equality (collectively referred to by the acronym SCAMPIE). It discusses how collocation and concordance analyses can be used to identify common categories of discursive representation of SCAMPIE, as well as to point to representative parts of texts in order to perform qualitative analysis. This study makes use of a combination of methodologies normally used by corpus linguistics, cognitive linguistics and critical discourse analysis. My analysis of 564 opinion discourse articles published between 2007 and 2013 in four British quality papers (CGO corpus: The Guardian/The Observer and CST corpus: The Times/The Sunday Times) shows that, among the papers I studied, no single voice on social class dominates. Serving as a basis for future research, my analysis reveals that SCAMPIE frames varied over the last decade and identifies devices newspapers adopt to frame social class issues in critical, supportive, mixed, or neutral terms. I have found that, overall, coverage is diverse and represents multiple perspectives. In the semantic nexus, both CGO and CST share many central concepts: concerns about educational policies occupy central location of the opinion discourse frame, along with the themes related to the issues of poverty, employment, government policies and the notion of 'whitness'. On the one hand, CGO markedly higlights vagueness of the term 'middle-class' and the racialised tropes used to frame 'working class', eliciting dire images with terms like 'chavs', 'pikies', 'yobs' and 'miscreants'. On the other hand, CST emphasises diverse properties of the actors, that is, 'parent(s)' and 'child(ren)', that also conjure up cautionary images with terms like 'sharp-elbowed', 'panic', 'obsession', 'excluded', 'marginalized' and 'sacrifice(s)'. This paper demonstrates how each newspaper has formed a common frame by selectively linking concepts in similar ways. Although political identity of media works as an important origin of framing, both The Guardian/The Observer and The Times/The Sunday Times rationalise social stratification issues by conceptually distancing themselves from any meta-narratives concerning social class, instead focusing on social stratification issues as an ongoing object of political and cultural struggle.



Defensive semiotic strategies in government communication: A multimodal study of blame avoidance

Sten Hansson

University of Tartu sten.hansson@ut.ee

Executive governments are frequently blamed by journalists, opposition politicians, and other critics for engaging in excessive positive self-presentation and misusing public resources, such as state budget and the labour of civil servants, for party-political image-making. Many commentators have a generally suspicious attitude towards government's behaviour, stereotypically charging officeholders as guilty of hiding important information from the public and using malicious propaganda techniques to influence public opinion and enforce compliance. Therefore, communication professionals employed by the government (e.g., press officers, departmental spokespersons, and campaign managers) find themselves in a position where they routinely need to negotiate various strands of public critique, and behave in such ways that help to avoid blame and defend their social status.

In my talk, I argue that when officeholders try to avoid blame, they often engage in multimodal performances which can be analysed in terms of how they exploit various semiotic resources to ward off criticism: the setting, appearance, and manner chosen for a particular interaction with an audience; and both verbal and non-verbal ways of arguing, legitimising, framing, and representing social actors and actions. I apply these analytic categories to interpret the data I gathered during an ethnographic study of the Public Sector Communications Academy – a major training event of British government communicators held in Manchester in June 2014.

By combining insights from multimodal discourse analysis (van Leeuwen 2014), discourse-historical studies of organisational behaviour (Wodak 2011), and recent research into blame avoidance in public administration (Hood 2011; Hansson 2015, in press), I demonstrate how certain semiotic strategies used by officeholders have an effect of backgrounding the ideas about any possible norm violations that government communicators may have been associated with in the eyes of critical audiences, such as lying, spin doctoring, and using tax money for propaganda campaigns that may not actually serve the interests of the public. I suggest that critical analysts of government communication need to pay more attention to the defensive practices of government insiders, and study in great detail how these practices are incorporated into everyday behaviour through professional training.

References

- Hansson, S. 2015. Discursive strategies of blame avoidance in government: A framework for analysis. *Discourse & Society* 26 (3): 297–322.
- Hansson, S. In press. Anticipative strategies of blame avoidance in government: The case of communication guidelines. *Journal of Language and Politics*.
- Hood, C. 2011. *The blame game: Spin, bureaucracy and self-preservation in government*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- van Leeuwen, T. 2014. Critical discourse analysis and multimodality. In C. Hart and P. Cap (eds) *Contemporary Critical Discourse Studies*. London: Bloomsbury.
- Wodak, R. 2011. The discourse of politics in action: Politics as usual (2nd ed.). Basingstoke: Palgrave.



Exploring pre-service teachers' conceptualisations of Environmental Education for Sustainability through Appraisal analysis: A case study in an Australian regional university

Joy Hardy University of New England joy.hardy@une.edu.au Nadine McCrea University of New England nmccrea@une.edu.au

Education for Sustainability has been incorporated into the Australian Curriculum (ACARA 2012) through the introduction of 'Sustainability' as a cross-curriculum priority. Consequently, all pre-service teachers in Australia need to acquire knowledge of and develop skills in Education for Sustainability in order to incorporate the 'Sustainability' cross-curriculum priority into their teaching. This paper outlines and presents the findings of a case study in an Australian regional university that explored pre-service teachers' initial conceptualisations of Environmental Education for Sustainability (EEfS) as they began an elective unit (subject) on Education for Sustainability. Before any engagement with unit materials, the pre-service teachers wrote brief statements outlining their beliefs about EEfS. The statements collectively constituted a small corpus that was analysed using discourse analytic approaches.

This paper reports on the pre-service teachers' deployment of evaluative language when articulating their initial conceptualisations of EEfS. This aspect of the case study utilised the Appraisal framework (Martin and White 2007) as the analytical and explanatory model and the UAM Corpus Tool (O'Donnell 2012) as the computerised data management and annotation tool. The analysis demonstrated differential deployment of Appraisal resources by the pre-service teachers to attitudinally represent EEfS and to position social actors as attitudinally aligned communities (Martin 2004) within membership categories (Schegloff 2007), such as people, self, students/children and teachers. The analysis identified diverse evaluative representations of attitudinally aligned communities within and between membership categories, e.g., empowered and disempowered, active and passive, agentic and docile, passionate and dispassionate, environmentally responsible and exploitative. Overall, the findings indicated that the pre-service teachers' initial conceptualisations of EEfS positioned teachers and students as having the desire and capacity to actively pursue a more sustainable future and presented EEfS as having potential to effect positive change, despite the purportedly exploitative and unsustainable beliefs and actions of other groups.

References

ACARA. 2012. *The shape of the Australian curriculum*. Sydney: Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority.

Martin, J.R. 2004. Mourning: How we get aligned. Discourse and Society 15 (2-3): 321-344.

Martin, J.R. and White, P.R.R. 2007. *The language of evaluation: Appraisal in English*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

O'Donnell, M. 2012. Appraisal analysis and the computer. *Revista Canarias de Estudios Ingleses* 65: 115–130.

Schegloff, E.A. 2007. A tutorial on membership categorization. Journal of Pragmatics 39 (3): 462–482.



Space and evaluation in discourse on political protests: An experimental case study in CDA

Christopher Hart

Lancaster University c.hart@lancaster.ac.uk

Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) is an inherently interdisciplinary approach to discourse analysis which is concerned primarily with the socio-semiotic functions performed by structures of text and talk. While CDA is largely an interpretative exercise, it places an emphasis on 'triangulation' as a guiding methodological principle intended to help ground analyses and guard against purely subjective readings of texts. In maintaining a commitment to triangulation, CDA has developed a number of multi-methodological approaches combining close text analysis with insights from, inter alia, history, philosophy, political theory, sociology, corpus linguistics and cognitive science. Missing from CDA, however, is triangulation incorporating experimental methodologies.

In this paper, I argue that CDA in general can benefit from an experimental dimension and that Cognitive Linguistic approaches in particular lend themselves to extension into experimentalism. Indeed, experimentation may be seen as the logical 'next step' for cognitive approaches to CDA. Starting from observed differences in the way newspapers of different political orientation report on political protests, I demonstrate this by presenting the results of a recent experiment, carried out from within a Cognitive Linguistic approach to CDA, on the effects of regular transactive versus reciprocal verbs in the context of news reports of political protests. These alternate grammatical constructions are analysed as instantiating different multimodal conceptualisations which, by virtue of the particular visuo-spatial properties they encode, confer upon the actors and actions involved in the event different evaluations. Results of the experiment show, for example, that the presentation of reciprocal versus regular transactive verbs in the context of media discourse on political protests affects how people apportion blame and the level of aggression they perceive in social actors. The experiment thus not only provides evidence of the effects of these particular linguistic differences but more generally goes some way to justifying CDA's focus on minor lexico-grammatical distinctions.

Between hatred and solidarity: How co-occurring nouns help us to describe ideologically charged concepts

Valerie Hekkel FU Berlin valerie.hekkel@fu-berlin.de

Irrespective of the etymology and the resulting intensional differences of the semantically related German expressions *Asylanten*, *Flüchtlinge* and *Geflüchtete*, these linguistic signs very often share the same extensional meaning. Nonetheless, their degree of interchangeability is rather restricted, which is due to the different connotations that the mentioned expressions incorporate (e.g. Hoffmann 1996: 14ff.; Schnörch 2014).

Starting from this intensional divergence, the present contribution aims at approaching the ongoing refugee debate by combining critical discourse analysis with lexical semantics.

It is argued that the involved connotations entail ideas and ideologies (Van Dijk 1995a; 1995b), which can



become visible in the linguistic context of the expressions in question. Within the limits of this contribution, this assumption is tested with respect to co-occurring human nouns. Moreover, a comparative methodology is applied in order to contrast the German *Asylanten*, *Flüchtlinge* and *Geflüchtete* to the Italian expressions *rifugiati*, *profughi*, *clandestini*, *extracomunitari* and thereby to provide an insight into language-dependent conceptual differences in the refugee domain, which can be assumed because of Germany's central role in the current debate and the resulting ambivalent public opinion.

For this purpose, data samples have been collected via the Twitter API. These samples have been restricted to tweets that contain at least one of the expressions as a hashtag and were posted in periods of time characterized by certain tendencies, dominant mainstream opinions or meaningful events (rising awareness, the wave of solidarity, the terrorist attacks in Paris). The tweets have been POS-tagged and analyzed with regard to the frequency distributions of the co-occurring human nouns.

The results show that the Italian *rifugiati*, *profughi* and *clandestini/extracomunitari* appear indeed in other lexical contexts than the German *Geflüchtete*, *Flüchtlinge* and *Asylanten*. These divergences concern not only emotionally and ideologically loaded co-occurring nouns but also two seemingly neutral lexemes, *Mensch* and *Person* (see Mihatsch and Schnedecker (2015) for semantic differences between selected human nouns). The findings raise the question of whether the differences are really attributable to divergent underlying ideologies or whether they are rather just the result of intra-linguistic characteristics.

References

- Hoffmann, A. 1996. Political Correctness. Zwischen Sprachzensur und Minderheitenschutz. Marburg: Tectum.
- Mihatsch, Wiltrud & Schnedecker, Catherine (eds) 2015. Les noms d'humains: Une catégorie à part?. Stuttgart: Franz Steiner.

Schnörch, Ulrich. 2014. Überlegungen zur (adäquaten) lexikografischen Beschreibung des (,politisch korrekten') Gebrauchs von Wörtern wie *Ausländer, Migrant, Flüchtling, Asylbewerber*. DS 42(4): 347–361.

Van Dijk, Teun A. 1995a. Discourse analysis as ideology analysis. Language and peace 10: 47–142.

Van Dijk, Teun A. 1995b. Ideological discourse analysis. New Courant 4(1): 135-161.

Who, what and where is the critical discourse analyst?

Juliet Henderson

Oxford Brookes University

jhenderson@brookes.ac.uk

As we all now know, it is the complex configurations of power/ knowledge that produce critical discourse analysis and its subjects. Subjects constituted by the constantly shifting, fragmented, multiple dynamics internal to the regimes of governmentality in which they are located, and to which there is no outside (Foucault 2008). Foucault's notion of the self collapses dualistic understandings of an objective subject exterior to cognitive, interior processes of reasoning which can be transferred into the neutral medium of reasoned argument into ever productive techniques of power. Rather, there is no subject or individual "ontologically prior to power" (Ball & Olmedo 2012:87) since we are all caught up in contingencies of the shifting, fragmented historical present in which we are both "a constant *beginning* and … a constant *end*" (Ball & Olmedo 2012:87). As such never-completely achieved subjects, we write, and reinvent the disciplines and institutions that precede us, and without whose power relations there would be no subjects to glimpse in their fleeting moments of knowing in the historical present. Yet, despite this knowledge of our nature as subjects of



CADAAD 2016

discourse, CDA approaches to textual analysis broadly assume the givenness of the discourses and ideologies expressed in language and map it on to a real world 'out there' (St Pierre 2013:651) whose workings as normalising regimes of truth it presupposes can be brought to light through empirical analysis. Such an ontology which "maintains a representational logic" (St Pierre 2013:651) tends by default to insert the centred humanist subject in the position of 'researcher', and at 'a "panoptic remove from their [object] of criticism" (Radhakrishnan 1996:33), thus leaving the work of critical interrogation of representation incomplete. In this paper, I refer to Foucault and other 'posts' to locate the critical discourse analyst in his/her/their place in the "immanence of doing" (Lather 2013:635).

References

Ball, S and Olmedo, A. 2012. Care of the self, resistance and subjectivity under neoliberal governmentalities. *Critical Studies in Education* 54 (1): 85–96.

Foucault, M. 2008. *The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the Collège de France, 1978–79*, translated from French by Graham Burchell. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Lather, P. 2013. Methodology-21: what do we do in the afterward? *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education* 26 (6): 634–645.

Radhakrishnan, R. 1996. *Diasporic Meditations*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

Ideological contents and conceptual structures of the Weatherman manifesto: Toward a frame space model

Jeremy Holland

Lancaster University j.holland5@lancaster.ac.uk

The Foundational Text Model (FTM), as an ideological content discourse analysis, has been employed in the deconstruction of both social movement (Holland 2014) and corporate manifestos (Holland and Nichola 2015). Foundational texts act as the primary documents contributing to the ideological content of collective action frames, which set up ideational perimeters for the individuals involved in social movement organizations. After deconstruction of the foundational text via ideological content analysis, the results are reconstructed in an adapted version of Paul Chilton's (2010, 2014) deictic space model (DSM). While Chilton's deictic space theory has been concerned to evince the on-line process of construal operations in text and talk, I pick up the DSM with a view to spatially model off-line conceptual structures making up a social movement frame. With this cognitive semiotic approach, I intend to disclose both ideological contents and internal logical structures of the collective action frame, both of which are continuously appealed to in the act of mobilizing construal endeavours. The opening section of the Weatherman manifesto, first appearing in June of 1969, serves as our case study. Weatherman represents one of the most infamous domestic revolutionary groups in the United States, which went underground in order to inflict material damage on both governmental and corporate hubs of imperial oppression.



Talking about the job: The influence of management on leadership discourses

Lise-Lotte Holmgreen Aalborg University, Denmark holmgreen@cgs.aau.dk Jeanne Strunck Aalborg University, Denmark strunck@cgs.aau.dk

Over the past decades, much research has been carried out to detail and analyse the uneven distribution of men and women in management positions (Acker 1990; Billing and Alvesson 2000; Österlind and Haake 2010). In Denmark, this has been visible in banks and building societies where men would occupy the vast majority of senior positions, and women would be predominant in lower-ranking jobs, making it extremely difficult to climb the career ladder (Ellehave and Søndergaard 2006; Holmgreen 2009; Strunck 2013). One of the reasons for this is that gender inequalities continue to exist because they are deeply embedded in social structures and organisational processes, and not least upheld by the male managers whose positions are challenged by women's entry into management (Schein 2007). In studies, this is referred to as a gender subtext (Benschop and Dooreward 1998).

The question asked in this paper is whether it is possible to influence this situation with the implementation of management principles that encourage the development of an organisational culture in which management and leadership are constructed in ways that open up to equal access to managerial positions. Previous studies suggest that this may, in fact, be possible (e.g. Storvik 2012).

Taking its cue from these studies, the paper analyses qualitative interviews in the case study of a large Danish building society and bank which is one of the frontrunners in the Danish financial sector in creating equal opportunities in management. The analysis is carried out using Discursive Psychology, which focuses on actors' rhetorical organisation of text and talk to construct solid and stable versions of reality (Potter and Wetherell 1987; Wetherell and Potter 1988, 1992). The analysis points towards organisational structures and career paths being barriers to equal access to management positions despite the predominant discourse at all management levels being one of equality. This emphasises that despite the dedication to discursively promote equality in all parts of the organisation, embedded social structures of inequality may pose a significant threat to the realisation of this goal.

References

- Acker, J. 1990. Hierarchies, jobs, bodies: A theory of gendered organizations. *Gender and Society* 4 (2): 139–58.
- Benschop, Y. and Dooreward, H. 1998. Covered by equality: The gender subtext of organizations. *Organization Studies* 19 (5): 787–805.
- Billing, Y. and Alvesson, M. 2000. Questioning the notion of feminine leadership: A critical perspective on the gender labelling of leadership. *Gender, Work and Organization* 7 (3): 735–44.
- Ellehave, C.F. and Søndergaard, D.M. 2006. Køn i den finansielle sektor: Forestillinger, fikseringer og forandringer. Danmarks Pædagogiske Universitet
- Holmgreen, L. 2009. Metaphorically speaking: Constructions of gender and career in the Danish financial sector. *Gender and Language* 3 (1): 1–32.
- Potter, J. and Wetherell, M. 1987. *Discourse and Social Psychology: Beyond Attitudes and Behaviour*. London/Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Schein, V.E. 2007. Women in management: Reflections and projections. *Women in Management Review* 22 (1): 6–18.



Storvik, E.A. 2012. Introducing the feminist management discourse in organizations. *Review of European Studies* 4 (1): 155–66.

Strunck, J. 2013. Som leder skal man komme og styre butikken. Akademisk Kvarter 6: 55-67.

- Wetherell, M. and Potter, J. 1988. Discourse analysis and the identification of interpretative repertoires. In C. Antaki (ed.) *Analysing Everyday Explanation. A Casebook of Method.* London: Sage, 168–83.
- Wetherell, M. and Potter, J. 1992. *Mapping the Language of Racism. Discourse and the Legitimation of Exploitation*. NY/London: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Österlind, M. and Haake, U. 2010. The leadership discourse amongst female police leaders in Sweden. *Advancing Women in Leadership Journal* 30 (16): 1–24.

It is completely ok to not be in the fighting spirit mood all the time – Metaphors and normality in Swedish cancer talk

Charlotte Hommerberg Linnaeus University, Sweden charlotte.hommerberg@lnu.se Anna W. Gustafsson Lund University, Sweden anna_w.gustafsson@nordlund.lu.se

Communication in palliative cancer care contexts involving health care professionals, patients and relatives takes place in an arena that merges medical expertise, lay understanding, 'helpers' and 'sufferers'. Professional and private discourses co-exist in conversations about medical as well as existential matters. Such communication often draws on metaphors – conscious metaphors aiming to render the ungraspable graspable and unconscious metaphors which are so conventionalized that they are no longer perceived as metaphors.

But incurable cancer diagnoses often entail emotional hypersensitivity and therefore unpredictable responses to language use (Sandgren *et al.* 2010). While metaphors have the potential to be empowering, they can also give rise to feelings like fear, helplessness and guilt, which is why particular attention has been devoted to the use of violence and battle metaphors in cancer talk (Semino *et al.* 2015; Hawkins 1999).

The overarching goal of our study Metaphors in palliative cancer care (MEPAC), a Sweden-based threeyear interdisciplinary research project involving linguists and health care researchers, is to strengthen the scientific foundation for health care professionals' understanding and use of metaphors in Swedish palliative cancer care. We investigate the use of metaphors in personal blogs written by patients as well as relatives and in interviews with patients, relatives and health care professionals, carried out within the frames of the Centre for Collaborative Palliative Care, Linnaeus University, Sweden. The project is inspired by the UK-based study Metaphor in end-of-life care (MELC) and combines qualitative metaphor analysis with quantitative analysis using corpus tools adapted for Swedish.

Our presentation highlights the blog data. We focus on how the use of metaphors sheds light on what is perceived as normal when living with incurable cancer and discuss whether the use of metaphorical expressions can be related to the degree of normality that is attributed to the described phenomenon. We also offer examples from our material of possible negotiation of or resistance to such normality.

The project is funded by The Kamprad Family Foundation.

References

Hawkins, Hawkins, A.H. (1999). *Reconstructing illness: studies in pathography*. 2. ed. West Lafayette, Ind.: Purdue University Press

Sandgren, A., Thulesius, H., Petersson, K. & Fridlund, B. (2010) Living on hold in palliative cancer care. *The Grounded Theory Review* 9 (1): 79–100.

Semino, E., Demjén, Z., Demmen, J., Koller, V., Payne, S., Hardie, A. & Rayson, P. (2015) The online use of



Violence and Journey metaphors by patients with cancer, as compared with health professionals: a mixed methods study. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care*. DOI:10.1136/bmjspcare-2014-000785

'It has made me reflect on...' Students' reflective writing: The recontextualisation of policy performed

Sarah Horrod

Lancaster University s.horrod@lancaster.ac.uk

The higher education sector in the UK is characterised as increasingly market-oriented as a result of rising student numbers, lower government funding, higher fees and the perceived need to treat students as customers. Fairclough (1993) and many authors since (e.g. Teo 2007; Zhang and O'Halloran 2013) have examined marketisation discourses as evident in a variety of university documents and websites. Moreover, Wodak and Fairclough (2010) have traced the recontextualisation of European policy in national higher education policy and the extent of its implementation in particular institutions. There has, perhaps, been less focus on pedagogy and what students and lecturers are actually doing. With an orientation to the market, a focus on future careers and *employability skills* are increasingly foregrounded in universities and assessments involving reflecting on work-oriented tasks are common practice.

Using Bernstein's (1990) notion of recontextualisation from the sociology of education in order to explore the influences on pedagogic practice, I examine the relationship between policy discourses and university assessment; specifically, reflective writing. Grounded in SFL register analysis (Halliday and Matthiessen 2014) of student texts, and using analytical tools from the Discourse Historical Approach (DHA) (Reisigl and Wodak 2015), I investigate intertextuality and interdiscursivity between those texts and key policy documents. In order to further explore practices and identities, I use text-mediated interviews with students and staff thereby seeking a complementary approach to analysis of documents to investigate participant perspectives and the multi-layered context (Krzyżanowski 2011). The data analysis suggests that *articulation* of learning is a priority, raising questions about what constitutes knowledge, what constitutes learning, what is valued in higher education and why. Participants' varying responses to these discourses and practices are also discussed.

References

- Bernstein, B. 1990. Class codes and control, Volume IV: The structuring of pedagogic discourse, Oxon: Routledge.
- Fairclough, N. 1993. Critical discourse analysis and the marketization of public discourse: The universities. *Discourse & Society* 4 (2): 133–168.
- Halliday, M. A. K. Revised by Christian M.I.M. Matthiessen. 2014. *Halliday's introduction to functional Grammar*, Fourth Edition. London: Routledge.
- Krzyżanowski, M. 2011. Ethnography and critical discourse analysis: towards a problem-oriented research dialogue, *Critical Discourse Studies* 8 (4): 231–238.
- Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2015. The Discourse Historical Approach (DHA). In R. Wodak, & M. Meyer (eds), *Methods of critical discourse studies*, Third edition. London: Sage, 23–61.
- Teo, P. 2007. The Marketisation of Higher Education: A Comparative Case-Study of Two Universities in Singapore. *Critical Approaches to Discourse Analysis Across Disciplines* 1 (1): 95–111.
- Wodak, R., & Fairclough, N. 2010. Recontextualizing European higher education policies: The cases of Austria and Romania. *Critical Discourse Studies* 7 (1): 19–40.
- Zhang, Y., & O'Halloran, K. L. 2013. 'Toward a global knowledge enterprise': University websites as portals



to the ongoing marketization of higher education. Critical Discourse Studies 10 (4): 468–485.

Green conflicts as discursive struggles over the common good

Anders Horsbøl Aalborg University horsboel@hum.aau.dk

'Green' concerns about nature, the environment or the climate have traditionally been juxtaposed with concerns about economic growth or job creation, or efforts have been made to dissolve this opposition via conceptions like 'sustainable growth' or 'ecological modernization' (Hajer 1995). Recently, however, a new type of conflict has appeared, in which different green concerns collide. For instance, the construction of wind turbines, solar heating systems or biogas plants, established not at least to reduce carbon emission and mitigate climate change, has been opposed with reference to the protection of landscape values, nature and the quality of life for local residents. This has given rise to heated conflicts where local inhabitants, media and municipalities are central players with national authorities, NGO's and experts involved on both sides.

This paper will address the new green conflicts as discursive struggles over how to represent the common good when it comes to the environment, i.e. whether concerns about natural environments and landscapes are associated with common or just particular interests, and how these interests are articulated discursively. An important aspect is the scales of time and space (Lemke 2000, Chilton 2004) invoked in the debate. For instance, concerns about local environments may invoke the idea of a natural heritage which extends far back in time and calls for common responsibility many years ahead. Similarly, the range of interests can spatially be expanded to a matter of a wider community (ultimately to the whole world as in the case of UNESCO's World Heritage List) or narrowed down to the particular economic interests or personal taste of a few stakeholders (cf. the infamous Not In My Backyard attitude). The paper will analyze these scalations of time and space as well as the central topoi (Wodak *et al.* 2009, Wengeler 2013) employed to weigh the opposing concerns in the conflict.

Empirically, the paper will present a case study from a green conflict in Western Denmark. Texts from local media will form the empirical basis of the analysis, supplemented with material from social network sites, press releases and petitions.

References

Chilton, P. 2004. Analysing Political Discourse:. Theory and Practice. London: Routledge.

- Hajer, M. A. 1995. *The Politics of Environmental Discourse: Ecological Modernization and the Policy Process.* Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Lemke, J.L. 2000. Across the Scales of Time: Artifacts, Activities and Meanings in Ecosocial Systems. *Mind, Culture and Activity* 7 (4): 273–290.
- Wengeler, M. 2013. Historische Diskurssemantik als Analyse von Argumentationstopoi. In D. Busse and W. Teubert (eds), *Linguistische Diskursanalyse: Neue Perspektiven*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.
- Wodak, R. *et al.* 2009. *The Discursive Construction of National Identity* (2nd Edition). Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.



An (un)necessary crisis: IAEA's resolution on Iran's PMD case in selected Iranian newspapers

Zahra Hosseini Khoo University of Vienna z.hosseinikhoo@gmail.com

Helmut Gruber University of Vienna helmut.k.gruber@univie.ac.at

This study examines and compares the discursive representation of IAEA's resolution on Iran's PMD case, in three Iranian newspapers associated with reformists (Shargh), conservatives (Kayhan) and the government (Iran), in the period of 15–17 of December 2015.

In July 14 2015, the P5+1 and Iran has agreed on a Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) in Vienna, Austria; In December 15, 2015 International atomic energy agency (IAEA) passed a Resolution on Iran PMD Case (December15, 2015), which closed the case.

Drawing on theoretical insights from critical discourse analysis and specifically the discourse-historical approach, this study aims to investigate the argumentative aspects (e.g. types of arguments, argumentative topoi, etc.) of the newspapers covering the resolution and the way discursive strategies (e.g. predications, nomination, mitigation vs. boosting) have been applied in the newspapers' text in regards to their political orientations. The analysis – conducted on the three levels of content, discursive strategies and linguistic features – highlighted that the three newspapers draw upon several diverse discourses on the nuclear case and the resolution. This shows how ideological difference manifests themselves in the discourse of the newspapers. Kayhan's main argument is based on the presuppositions and predications of failure of the resolution. Shargh and Iran on the other hand present the resolution as a legitimate approval of Iran's rights and the sign of the international community' commitment to the JCPOA.

References

- Atai, M. R. and Rezaie Adriani, H. 2009. On the representation of Iran's post-resolution nuclear issues in American news editorials: A critical discourse analytic perspective. *Iranian EFL Journal* 5: 1–16.
- Baker, P., Gabrielatos, C. and McEnery, T. 2013. Sketching Muslims: a corpus driven analysis of representations around the word 'Muslim' in the British press 1998–2009. *Applied Linguistics* 34 (3): 255–278.
- KhosraviNik, M. 2015. *Discourse, Identity and Legitimacy: Self and Other in representations of Iran's nuclear programme*. Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. (eds) 2000. *The Semiotics of Racism. Approaches in Critical Discourse Analysis.* Wien: Passagen-Verlag.
- Reisigl, M. & Wodak, R. 2001. *Discourse and Discrimination Rhetorics of racism and antisemitism*. London: Routledge.



A Blending Theory Approach to Political Cartoons in Post-Revolution Egypt

Wesam M A Ibrahim

Tanta University wesam.ibrahim@edu.tanta.edu.eg

'It is in the condensation of a complex idea into one striking and memorable image that we find the appeal of [a] great cartoon'' (Gombrich, 1963, 130). This paper presents a Blending Theory (BT) analysis of a sample of the political cartoons posted on facebook about the Egyptian political and economic situation after the 2011 Revolution. Political cartoons tend to consist of illustrations which address a current political issue from a critical point of view and are accompanied by verbal elements which make a satirical, witty, or humorous point. However, facebook cartoonists have developed their cartoon style by introducing to the above combination pictures or extracts from films, TV series or advertisements.

The humour embedded in cartoons is defined as 'a hidden transcript that represents a critique of power spoken behind the back of the dominant' (Scott, 1990: xii). This definition, however, does not cover the situation in post-revolution Egypt. The emerging 'revolutionary character' (Boime 1992: 256), the widespread freedom of expression and the absence of censorship on facebook postings allowed the critique of power to surface and become more explicit. Additionally, the humour associated with the Egyptian cartoons can be described, using Hewitson's term (2012: 213), as 'black humour' or 'humour deriving from the contemplation of suffering or death' since the cartoons tackle social and economic crises.

This paper uses BT to illustrate how recipients of cartoons construct meanings as well as humour from these cartoons. Blending (Fauconnier and Turner, 2002), can be seen as a dynamic process that occurs at the moment of perception to create new meanings from existing ways of thinking. It is a common cognitive activity, closely related to analogy and metaphor (Fauconnier, 2001). Blending can occur in both verbal and visual domains, which makes it ideally suitable to account for the specific features exhibited by cartoons. This paper illustrates the potential contribution of BT to the analysis of political cartoons and shows its explanatory capacity to provide detailed descriptions of the reception process of these cartoons.

References

- Boime, A. 1992. The Sketch and Caricature as Metaphor for the French Revolution. Zeitschrift fur Kunstgeschichte 2: 256–67.
- Fauconnier, G. 2001. Conceptual blending and analogy. In D. Gentner, K. Holyoak and B. Kokinov (eds) *The analogical mind: perspectives from cognitive science*. Cambridge: MIT Press, 255–86.
- Fauconnier, G. and Turner, M. 2002. *The way we think: conceptual blending and the mind's hidden complexities*. New York: Basic Books.
- Gombrich, E. H. 1963. *Meditations on a Hobby Horse and other Essays on the Theory of Art*. Oxford: Phaidon Press.

Hewitson, M. 2012. Black Humour: Caricature in Wartime. Oxford German Studies 41 (2): 213-235.

Scott, J. 1990. Domination and the Arts of Resistance: Hidden Transcripts. New Haven: Yale University Press.



Breaking the silence: Comparing discourses of postnatal depression in the British press and online support groups

Sylvia Jaworska University of Reading s.jaworska@reading.ac.uk Karen Kinloch Lancaster University k.kinloch@lancs.ac.uk

Research into the representations of postnatal depression (PND) is timely. It is estimated that 3 in 10 new mothers experience the condition (NHS 2011), and suicide due to PND is now the leading cause of maternal death in the UK (Oates 2003). However, affected mothers rarely seek medical help and mostly suffer in silence. The social and media stigma surrounding PND is considered the major cause of this state of affairs (Hall 2006). While the stigma might deter women from seeking medical advice, the anonymity afforded by social media sites seems to encourage talk about PND, leading some to claim that social media might improve maternal wellbeing and possibly reduce the PND stigma (Brandon *et al.* 2011; Kantrowitz-Gordon 2013). The opportunity to verbalise the experience of mental health issues like PND is critical to the diagnosis and treatment, however, little is known about the ways in which PND is 'talked about' in both traditional and online media.

Our paper reports on results from a study which compares discursive constructions of PND in the British press and online support groups. Drawing on previous studies of health communication corpora (Atkins and Harvey 2009), it adopts a corpus-assisted discourse studies (CADS) approach (Partington *et al.* 2013) and is based on the analysis of two large, specialist corpora, one including articles on PND from the major British national newspapers (2000–2015) and one containing online PND discussions posted on Mumsnet. By studying collocations surrounding the terms denoting PND, our study seeks to identify the dominant media discourses around PND and the extent to which they reproduce the social stigma. Secondly, we compare the media representations with discourses identified in online posts to examine the extent to which personal accounts might reinforce or disrupt the dominant PND discourses. We are particularly interested in the ways in which mothers who experience PND frame the condition and how they position themselves vis-à-vis other mothers and the social stigma. Our study highlights the significance of discourse in understanding PND – a mental health issue yet unaccounted by linguists and offers some implications for better support mechanisms online and offline.

References

- Atkins, S and and Harvey, K., (2009). How to use corpus linguistics in the study of health communication. In: O'Keefe, A. and McCarthy, M. (eds), *The Routledge Handbook of Corpus Linguistics*. London and New York: Routledge, 605–619.
- Hall, P. (2006). Mothers' experiences of postnatal depression: an interpretative phenomenological analysis. In: *Community Practitioner* 79 (8): 256–60.
- Kantrowitz-Gordon, I. (2013). Internet Confessions of Postpartum Depression. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 34 (12): 874–882.
- McDaniel, B., Coyne, M. and Holmes, E. (2011). New mothers and media use: associations between blogging, social networking, and maternal well-being. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 16 (7): 1509–17.
- NHS (2011). Postnatal depression 'often unreported. Available online at http://www.nhs.uk/news/2011/10October/Pages/call-for-postnatal-depressionsupport.aspx



Oates, M. (2003). Suicide: the leading cause of maternal death. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 183 (4): 279–281.

Partington, A., Duguid, A. and Taylor, C. (2013). *Patterns and meanings in discourse. Theory and practice in corpus-assisted discourse studies (CADS)*. Amsterdam, Benjamins.

From serious crime to mocking entertainment: The sonnet-like *volta* and 'voicing contrast' of the cross-examination turn in 19th century Old Bailey trials

Alison Johnson University of Leeds a.j.johnson@leeds.ac.uk

Just like the sonnet's *volta*, or turn, which comes just over midway through, invoking a transformative moment, cross-examination in a trial is the second half of the activity in a witness appearance (examination-in-chief ^ cross-examination). Like the sonnet's dialectical form (octave-volta-sestet), which has the potential for "springing a naughty surprise" (Fussell 1979: 118), witness examination structure presents the cross-examining barrister with a context for irony and produces, for the audience, an inbuilt contradiction, as examination gives way to cross-examination. The argumentative turn involves the withdrawal of the prosecution voice in examination-in-chief and the entrance of the defence to cross-examine, though the witness, of course, remains the same. At this turning point the direction of the questioning radically shifts and the case is transformed from the prosecution's serious crime narrative to the defence's damage of that case through strategies which produce ironic and even mocking effects. The first questions put to witnesses in cross-examination can, therefore, be seen as pragmatically strategic, since they are the pivots on which the witness examination discourse and the narrative account turn.

This paper considers the first cross-examination questions of a single barrister, Mr Horry, in a corpus of the 1,007 trials in which he was involved in his 38-year career (1837–1875) at the Old Bailey courthouse. I examine the ways that Horry, as defence barrister, enters the witness appearances with an ironic voice, one that subverts the prosecution account and produces a "voicing contrast" (Agha 2005: 39). Cross-examination, like poetry, is seen to be concerned with the production effects of combining words to bring about heightened emotional affect and effect. The changing and suddenly ironic advocate voice not only alters the tone of the questioning, but also brings about a change in the witness voice, so that prosecution testimony, which invites commiseration and endorsement, is supplanted with testimony that is self-protective and invites disapproval. For the listening jury the witness story is reconfigured, as these questions launch the narrative into another direction, undoing the carefully painted prosecution picture, replacing it with a caricature of the witness's own making, and turning prosecution events from crime to entertainment.

References

Agha, A. 2005. Voice, footing, enregisterment. *Journal of Linguistic Anthropology* 15 (1): 38–59. Fussell, P. 1979. *Poetic Meter and Poetic Form*. New York: Random House.

Emsley, C., Hitchock, T., and Shoemaker, R. 2016. *The Old Bailey Proceedings Online, 1674–1913*. Available online at www.oldbaileyonline.org (version 7.0, June 2016).



Wrestling with the difference between 'I don't know' and 'I don't understand' in discourses concerning people's decisions not to vote in the 2015 UK General election

Susan Jones Coventry University Susan.Jones@coventry.ac.uk Laura Robinson Coventry University

Falling levels of political engagement and specifically voting in elections continues to create concern for Western governments. The UK Government's response has been Neo-liberal third way approach to increase civic engagement, 2002 saw the inclusion of citizenship education in English schools, the coalition government in 2010 was to promote civic engagement through 'Big Society'. It is envisioned that civic education and increased engagement with local government will create not only more involved citizens but more politically identified individuals who vote (Marsh et al. 2007, Wright et al. 2006, Mathers 2008, Dalton 2013). Yet voter turn-out for the 2015 election was 66% only a 1% increase on the 2010 General Election. Research was undertaken using an on-line questionnaire on voting intention just prior to the 2015 general election. From this 19 people were identified who though eligible to vote, did not intend to vote. Telephone interviews were conducted to ascertain reasons for non-voting along with people's thoughts about politics. Thematic analysis was used on transcribed interviews to achieve an understanding of people's perception of themselves as non/political identities and reasoning for non-participation in voting. The majority of the responses in answer to general discussion around politics and voting were 'I don't know' or 'I don't understand', initially these appear similar, but taking a dialogical approach 'I don't know' and 'I don't understand' have different relevance for the civically engaged individual. This research focuses on problems of constructing civically engaged individuals by considering the dialogical self. Comparing not understanding and not knowing through identifying novel self- understanding; 'I don't know anything about politics', and the envisioned self 'I don't understand politics', this research evidences perceptions of 'getting it right/wrong' that requires expert knowledge involving politics on the one hand, but also more informed and engaged citizens who choose not to vote as a form of protest.

Everyone's a cynic: A discursive examination of political cynicism in media political debate

Adam Jowett Coventry University adam.jowett@coventry.ac.uk

Political (dis)trust has long been treated as a problem worthy of investigation by social scientists. It has often been examined as a dependent variable predicted by the media's framing of politics as strategy. According to framing theory, media coverage of politics that focuses on political strategy rather than substantive issues leads the public to distrust politicians and may result in citizens becoming politically disengaged. However, another way to view widespread distrust of politicians is as cultural common sense arising from common knowledge



CADAAD 2016

of politicians' stake and interest in winning votes and gaining power. This common sense arguably both shapes and is reproduced in media coverage of politics that frames the words and actions of politicians as part of political strategies. It also offers a discursive resource that can be drawn upon within political debate to discount, discredit or cast doubt on political opponents. While the emphasis in the literature is on what the strategic frames routinely produced by journalists do to people and their trust in politicians, a discursive approach would ask what people are doing when they offer a strategic interpretation of a political policy. This paper examines excerpts from public debate leading up to the UK General Election in which political trust, cynicism and political strategy are made salient. Not only are strategic interpretations offered by political commentators but they are routinely used rhetorically in political debate by members of the public and by politicians themselves. Although the invocation of stake and interest has long been a concern for discourse analysts, framing approaches to political cynicism often fail to focus on the argumentative context of invoking political strategy and the rhetorical functions it serves.

Worldviews in space and time: Diversity in evaluative reasoning and intentions for action

Bertie Kaal

VU Amsterdam

a.r.kaal@vu.nl

Building on exploratory work on Discourse Space Theory (DST) in political discourse (Chilton 2004, Kaal 2012, 2015), I will discuss strategies for a discourse-analytic Space, Time and Attitude model for comparative political discourse analysis. Political discourse is particularly spatial, both in terms of real space (the nation) and abstract spaces (e.g., the economy) and has a persuasive intention. The method proposed in this paper should be applicable in other discourse domains as it addresses the ground rationale of worldview ontology and its discursive construction. Deliberations will be discussed as to how to extract temporal and spatial frames of reference and directions of fit from texts and other modalities of communication. Dutch manifesto analysis will serve as an example.

Based on the 'primacy of spatial cognition' (Levinson 2003), and the natural analogy between the physical world, the mental world and text- and discourse worlds, it will be argued that temporal and spatial framing gives an epistemic quality to evaluative reasoning and may explain how social facts can be experienced as real as brute facts. In this respect I will also address the asymmetrical relationship between Space, Time and Timespace and their complementary role in constructing evidentiality that may lead to intentions for action.

Theory of intentional discourse (Duranti 2015) addresses the relationship between thought patterns, language use, identity construction and collective intentions for action (Searle 2010). Anthropological linguistic theory is applied to find diversity in cohesion of discursive coordinate systems and their frames of reference. Directions of fit between point of view and objects of attention in frames of reference reflect patterns of reasoning. Relying on neurocognitive knowledge, spatial reasoning is considered a generic human capacity by way of which we can make sense of the world in a way that both unifies and divides communities on a ground framework from which beliefs, values, desires and intentions for action emerge logically.



All the Best! Performing solidarity in political discourse

Zohar Kampf The Hebrew University of Jerusalem zohar.kampf@mail.huji.ac.il

Maintaining, affirming, and re-establishing relationships with others in political discourse by communicating involvement and concern are important for securing cooperation and acquiring power (Chilton 1990; Young 2000). This paper identifies and analyzes a group of public speech acts (Kampf, 2013) that are utilized by political actors as solidarity-enhancing devices. On the basis of 605 utterances constructed around the Hebrew speech act verb Le-varech and its English equivalents (congratulate, welcome, praise, thank, greet, bless, and wish), I suggest an initial mapping of past, present-, and future actions of solidarity performed in national and international politics, point to their communicative and political functions, and delineate the political processes they construct.

The paper shows how solidarity-oriented acts are utilized as strategic means in a variety of political contexts: At the personal level, they allow a political actor to construct a consensual face (blessings), to manifest stances which correspond with her electorate's worldview (welcoming actions), and to project an image of a successful leader (congratulating achievements). In international politics, they are utilized to present an image of central actors and to create an appearance of thick relationships with other nations (seasonal and ceremonial greetings). At the interactional level, solidarity-oriented actions allow to maintain good relationships with political allies (congratulating them in a variety of occasions) and to (re-)establish relationships with political newcomers. At the communal level, they serve as the building blocks of political rituals of unity and trust. They are utilized as an important device in public diplomacy discourse and allow public actors to strengthen democracy, by expressing their acceptance of voters' verdicts, juridical resolutions, and political appointments.

In the conclusion I argue that the importance of solidarity-oriented actions stems not only from their utilization in the framework of 'politic behavior' (Watts 2003), but also in cases in which they are contested discursively by their recipients. Adhering or deviating from the normative scripts of solidarity signals a political actor's affiliation or disaffiliation with other actors, and thus can potentially redraw the boundaries of political alliances.

References

Chilton, Paul, 1990. Politeness, politics, and diplomacy. Discourse & Society 1 (2): 201–224.

Kampf, Z. (2013). Mediated performatives. In J. O. Östman & J. Verschueren (eds), *Handbook of Pragmatics*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 1–24.

Watts, J. Richard, 2003. Politeness. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Young, I. Marion, 2000. Inclusion and Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press.



Political Condemnations: Public Speech Acts and the Moralization of Discourse

Zohar Kampf The Hebrew University of Jerusalem zohar.kampf@mail.huji.ac.il Tamar Katriel University of Haifa tamark@edu.haifa.ac.il

The genre of epideictic rhetoric, the rhetoric of praise and blame, has long been identified as a cultural resource for the ceremonial articulation of communal values and the discursive production of communities. While the rhetoric of praise has drawn considerable research attention, the rhetoric of blame has been under-studied (Church 2010) despite its crucial role in human rights and related discourse. Combining rhetorical analysis and speech act theory, this paper analyzes the role of political condemnations, speech acts designed to "mobilize shame" (Keenan, 2004) by publicizing disapproval of an alleged transgression (Searle and Vanderveken, 1985), in both national and international arenas.

The interest in the study of condemnations stems from their relation to the moral dimensions of political discourse. Condemnations reveal political actors' particular perspectives on the unfairness of policies and actions, emphasize specific moral scripts, and prioritize them over all other alternatives (Chouliaraki, 2000). The performance of condemnations invokes fundamental cultural values and defines the moral relationships between the condemning agent and the subject of disapproval. As public speech acts (Kampf, 2013), they put pressure on condemned actors to justify their actions, and thus may instill norms of accountability, thwart future transgression, and contribute to the adoption of a specific moral script. Thus, studying condemnations allows us to understand what are regarded as morally acceptable actions in a specific time and place and to map moral affiliations in the national and international arenas.

Our analysis takes the example of condemnations concerning the maltreatment of Palestinians by the Israel as voiced by a variety of institutional actors who vary in the degree of their cultural-political proximity to the transgressor: B'Tselem, BDS, UN, and EU. Examining their discourses of condemnation, we ask: What are the discursive features that characterize political condemnations? How does the condemning party's relationship to the transgressing party affect their stylistic choices? And how are condemnations linked to universal and particular moral scripts, and institutional rhetoric? Our analysis traces stylistic and functional differences among the four organizations' epideictic of blame while confirming the centrality of condemnations as public speech acts.

References

- Chouliaraki, L. (2000). Political discourse in the news: Democratizing responsibility or aestheticizing politics? *Discourse & Society* 11: 293–314.
- Church, E. (2010). *Epideictic without the praise: A heuristic analysis for rhetoric of blame*. PhD Dissertation, Bowling Green University.
- Kampf, Z. (2013). Mediated performatives. In J.O. Östman & J. Verschueren (eds), *Handbook of pragmatics*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 1–24.
- Keenan, T. (2004). Mobilizing shame. *The South Atlantic Quarterly* 103 (2/3): 435–449.
- Searle, J. R., & Vanderveken, D. (1985). *Foundations of illocutionary logic*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press Archive.



From moral monolingualism to marketplace multilingualism: Contrasting policy discourses in California's 1998 bilingual education ban and the coming 2016 repeal vote

Noah Katznelson	Katie A. Bernstein
University of California at Berkeley,	Arizona State University,
Graduate School of Education	Mary Lou Fulton Teachers College
nkatznelson@berkeley.edu	kbernstein@asu.edu

This paper considers the way language is used to construct particular realities. Using the methods of critical discourse analysis (Fairclough 2003, 2001; Chouliaraki and Fairclough 1999; Blommaert 2005), we examine the California Education for a Global Economy Act, set to appear on the California state ballot in November 2016. Through an analysis of keywords within the texts (Holborow 2006), we contrast this act with the statute that it proposes to repeal, California Proposition 227, English Language in Public Schools (1998), which effectively dismantled bilingual education in California. We argue that, in the time between the writing of the two texts, discourses of globalization and neoliberalism (Fairclough 2006; Holborow 2015) have infiltrated the educational arena, and have served to reframe debates around language education. Linking the linguistic texts with the socio-political contexts from which they emerged, we illustrate how the language used within each of these legislative texts draws on and perpetuates discourses of different language orientations (Ruiz 1984)—multilingualism as problem (and English as solution) on one hand and multilingualism as resource for human capital development on the other. We show that the California Multilingual Education Act draws on these current neoliberal discourses to justify a revitalization of dual-language education in California, but how, at the same time, subtle linguistic shifts (such as the disappearance of the term "bilingual" and the appearance of the term "multilingual") mark changes in the goals of bilingual education itself-from equal educational opportunity to competition in the global marketplace. We use the case of California to raise questions about whether policies framed within one discursive regime (i.e. neoliberalism and global human capital) can eventually serve the aims of another (i.e. equity, plurality, social justice), or whether discourse is destiny in policy-making.

References

Blommaert, J. 2005. Discourse: A Critical Introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

California Proposition 227: English Language in Public Schools, Calif. Stat. §§ 8-1-3. 1998.

California Senate Bill 1174: California Multilingual Education Act. 2016. - Ballotpedia. (n.d.). Retrieved December 11, 2015, from

 $\texttt{https://ballotpedia.org/California_Multilingual_Education_Act\,(2016)$

- Chouliaraki, L., and Fairclough, N. 1999. *Discourse in Late Modernity: Rethinking Critical Discourse Analysis.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Fairclough, N. 2001. Language and Power (2nd edition). London: Longman.
- Fairclough, N. 2003. Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research. New York: Routledge.

Fairclough, N. 2006. Language and Globalization. New York: Routledge.

Holborow, M. 2006. Ideology and language: Interconnections between neo-liberalism and English. In Julian Edge (ed.), (*Re-)Locating TESOL in an Age of Empire*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 84–103.

Holborow, M. 2015. Language and Neoliberalism. New York: Routledge.

Ruíz, R. 1984. Orientations in language planning. NABE Journal 8 (2): 15-34.



DOI:10.1080/08855072.1984.10668464

Ideology, Multimodality and the Visual Grammar of ISIS/DAESH's New Media Communications

Surinderpal Kaur University of Malaya surinder@um.edu.my

Majid KhosraviNik University of Newcastle majid.khosravinik@newcastle.ac.uk Su'ad Awab University of Malaya suad@um.edu.my

Fauziah Taib University of Malaya fauziaht@um.edu.my

The Islamic State of Iraq and Al-Sham (ISIS, also known as DAESH, ISIL, Islamic State, among others) has a sophisticated and deft approach to the use of social media in order to disseminate its communications, to recruit new followers, to promote fundraising efforts as well as to legitimize its ideologies. Farwell (2014) argues that as a strategy of communication terrorism often leverages upon the distribution power of mass communication platforms, especially social media, in order to gain maximum publicity. While ISIS's use of new media, especially social media platforms, has been well documented, there have not been many attempts to examine or unpack the visual, auditory and multimodal grammar of their social media texts from a critical interdisciplinary perspective which blends discourse as well as mode and medium together. This is significant because studying the ways in which mode, medium, meaning and social media discourses intersect with radicalizing ideologies could uncover the strategies and practices that ISIS employs to establish legitimacy and to build credibility for itself, as well as to influence audiences. This paper is an interdisciplinary critical examination of the multimodal new media texts that are produced and disseminated by ISIS in their digital magazine Dabiq, their Twitter communications as well as several YouTube videos. The objective of the study is to examine these social media communications and messages for the discursive, visual and multimodal strategies that create the "pull' factors which seem to have been successful in spreading ISIS's agenda of radicalization. Employing a synergistic combination of conceptual and analytical frameworks from critical discourse analysis (Wodak 2011; KhosraviNik 2010), multimodal analysis (Metz 1974; Kress and Van Leeuwen 2004; van Leeuwen 2008), and terrorism studies (Farwell, 2014; Matusitz, 2014; Maggioni and Magri 2014; Sorenson 2014), this paper focuses on a critical investigation of the ways in which semiotic and multimodal resources are used alongside the affordances of social media technologies in an attempt to articulate and legitimize radicalizing ideologies across a variety of social media communications.

References

Farwell, J. 2014. The Media Strategy of ISIS. Survival: Global Politics and Strategy 56 (6): 49–55

KhosraviNik M. 2010. Actor descriptions, action attributions, and argumentation: towards a systematization of CDA analytical categories in the representation of social groups. *Critical Discourse Studies* 7 (1): 55–72.

Kress, G. and van Leeuwen, T. 2004. Reading Images: The Grammar of Visual Design. London: Routledge.

- Maggioni, M. and Magri, P. (eds). 2014. Twitter and Jihad: The Communication Strategy of ISIS. Milan: The Italian Institute for International Political Studies (ISPI).
- Matusitz, J. 2014. Symbolism in Terrorism: Motivation, Communication and Behaviour. Rowman & Littlefield: Maryland.

Metz, C. 1974. Language and Cinema, number 26 in Approaches to Semiotics, Mouton, The Hague. Translated



by Donna Jean Umiker-Sebeok.

Sorenson, D. 2014. Priming Strategic Communications: Countering the Appeal of ISIS. U.S. Army War College 44 (3): 25.

Wodak, R. 2011. *The Discourse of Politics in Action: Politics as Usual*. Palgrave Macmillan. Van Leeuwen, T. 2008. *Discourse and Practice*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

"Everything else is something different": Online construction of marriage in the initiative "In the Name of the Family"

Ana Kedveš

University of Warwick

a.kedves@warwick.ac.uk

On the 1st December 2013, the majority of Croatian citizens voting on the referendum supported the introduction of heteronormative definition of marriage in the Croatian Constitution. The months preceding the referendum have been seething with public debates and disputes, and, at times, even acts of vandalism and physical violence occurred. The initiative "In the name of the family" which petitioned for the referendum was formed in February 2013, with the aim of promoting the heterosexual marriage as the fundamental value of Croatian society and ensuring permanent legal protection of children, marriage and family. Their campaign, resulting in constitutional changes, illustrated how discourses represent, transform and legitimate social practises (Machin and Leeuwen 2007).

This study deals with the discursive construction of marriage, it critically approaches the discourse of the initiative "In the name of the family" and the reactions it invoked in Croatian electronic media, with special emphasis placed on the definition and linguistic representations the concept of marriage. Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA) (Wodak 2001) is combined with corpus linguistics approach (Hardt-Mautner 1995, Baker 2006) to reveal the discursive strategies employed by different social groups the construct the notion of marriage. The findings will shed light on the ways in which the goals of the "In the name of the family" campaign and their opposition were legitimised.

References

Baker, P. 2006. Using corpora in discourse analysis. London: Continuum.

- Hardt-Mautner, G. 1995. Only connect: Critical discourse analysis and corpus linguistics. UCREL Technical Paper 6. Lancaster: University of Lancaster.
- Machin, D. and Van Leeuwen, T. 2007. *Global media discourse: A critical introduction*. London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis.

Wodak, R. and Meyer, M. 2001 (eds). *Methods for critical discourse analysis*. London: Sage Publications.



Discourse, affect and surveillance: Gender conflict in the omniopticon

Darren Kelsey Newcastle University

darren.kelsey@ncl.ac.uk

This paper proposes an interdisciplinary (multimodal) framework designed to analyse discourse, affect and surveillance on social media. By revisiting the "omniopticon" (Kelsey and Bennett 2014) and proposing "civeillance" (Kelsey, 2015) as an affective dynamic of surveillance, it considers communicative mechanisms that reflect the interchangeable functions and normalisations of surveillance technologies in personal and public spaces. When 17-year-old Austin Haughwout was using his drone to film aerial shots of Hammonasset Beach in Connecticut, 23-year-old Andrea Mears accused him of photographing people on the beach. Mears physically attacked Haughwout, called the police and accused him of assault. During the attack Haughwout used his phone to record the incident without Mears knowing. The video was used by the police who arrested Mears for assault. It then featured in news stories online where Mears was subjected to sexist abuse. This analysis shows how affective practices (Wetherell, 2012) of embodied meaning making are personally, socially and technologically embedded within discursive processes of representation. Contrary to non-representational theories of affect, this framework sees affective-discursive practice as a multimodal complex of communicative components: dialogical mechanisms of discourse and contextual complexities function through physical practices and cultural conducts, which are ideologically influenced by the social relations and power structures that we are part of. Discourse both affects and is affected by our feelings, emotions, minds, ideologies and interactive experiences that we have in personal spaces and social contexts.

References

Kelsey, D. and Bennett, L. 2014. Discipline and resistance on social media: Discourse, power and context in the Paul Chambers 'Twitter Joke Trial'. *Discourse, Context and Media* 3: 37–45.

Kelsey, D. 2015. Discourse, affect and surveillance: gender conflict in the omniopticon. *Journalism and Discourse* Studies 2: 1-21. Available online at: http://www.jdsjournal.net/uploads/2/3/6/4/23642404/darrenkelsey-jdsjournalvoll-issue2.pdf

Wetherell, M. 2012. Affect and emotion: A new social science understanding. London: Sage.

Belonging, rural identity, 'red brick' architecture and prejudice: Examining the way residents talk about the rural nature of their area to the exclusion of Polish migrants

Nathan Kerrigan Coventry University ab6553@coventry.ac.uk

Popular constructions of rural England have perpetuated images of idyllic, problem-free environments that have largely masked the process of 'othering' that works to marginalize particular groups within rural society.



However, despite this an emerging body of research (e.g. Chakraborti and Garland 2004; Neal 2009; Plastow 2011) has begun to challenge 'problem-free' constructions of the countryside by illustrating the pervasiveness of racialised 'othering' in the British countryside. These studies have still nevertheless taken too narrow an approach – that of overt prejudice – expressed in terms of targeted hate and hostility towards minority ethnic groups for being 'different'. Drawing on findings collected within a small rural town in the south of England as part of a larger project and based on ethnography of communication, the aim of this paper is to explore the way residents talk about local English rural identity. The paper will discuss that local English rural identity is enacted through discursive consciousness – the ability of residents to talk onto the 'red brick' architecture of the area as a symbolic marker of identity in order to maintain the dominance of its largely white, middle class character to the exclusion of Eastern European identity. Through a theoretical lens of structuration the paper emphasises the significance of discourse in constructing a particular English rural identity contingent on prejudicial attitudes and beliefs that, rather than being expressed in overt, antagonistic and confrontational ways, are instead structurally ingrained in the discursive construction of rural life.

Attitudes of UKIP voters towards immigration, before and after the 2015 General Election

Nathan Kerrigan Coventry University Nathan.Kerrigan@coventry.ac.uk Gavin Sullivan Coventry University gavin.sullivan@coventry.ac.uk

In the 2015 United Kingdom general election, the United Kingdom Independence Party (UKIP) represented a new political force. Researchers such as Ashe (2015) who have focused on UKIP voting behaviours have tended to only focus on issues of race, expressed in terms of overt fear and hostility towards immigration into the UK. However, this paper demonstrates how non-racial explanations are provided as justifications for opposing rising levels of immigration. A discursive analysis was conducted on a corpus of semi-structured interviews with 20 UKIP voters before and after the 2015 UK General Election. Analysis demonstrated how participants positioned their anti-immigration rhetoric through a frame of 'abstract liberalism' (Bonilla-Silva 2013): that is, the use of ideas typically associated with liberalism, such as 'meritocracy' and 'individual effort', in an abstract and decontextualised way to account for wanting to protect national interests and maintain the dominance of 'traditional' British identity. The data indicated that UKIP voters construct a British identity that attempted to reinforce a concept of nationhood that, on the one hand excluded migrants who are viewed as not contributing British interests; whilst, on the other including those who do. This paper highlights the ways in which UK voters attempt to de-racialise UKIP policies, even though these are arguably contingent on prejudicial attitudes and beliefs.



Social Media Critical Discourse Studies (SM-CDS): Towards a CDA approach to discourse analysis on participatory web

Majid KhosraviNik Newcastle University majid.khosravinik@newcastle.ac.uk

Social Media communication is a paradigm shift in communicative practice at the cross between interpersonal and mass communication. Such a shift provides opportunities for CDA while challenging some of its core notions. Social Media Communication is viewed here as 'any electronically mediated communication across any electronic platforms, spaces, sites, and technologies in which users can: (a.) work together in producing and compiling content; (b.) perform interpersonal communication and mass communication simultaneously or separately and; (c.) have access to see and respond to institutional (e.g. newspaper articles) or user generated content/texts (KhosraviNik 2016 forthcoming).

To provide an all-encompassing definition, Critical Discourse Studies (CDS) is to be viewed as 'socially oriented', 'textually focused', 'problem oriented', 'critical analyses' of 'communication-in-use' of any kind in any media contexts (KhosraviNik 2016 forthcoming). Within the principled boundaries of above, the present paper engages with some of the main theoretical, methodological and applicational issues of envisaging a strictly CDS approach to Social Media Communication (SM-CDS). The paper examines the macro structural assumptions of CDA in the new context e.g. power in or behind discourse, democratisation claims of participatory web, and nonlinearity of web 2.0 communication. The main argument is that, despite being an unchartered territory for (mainstream) CDA, SM-CDS approach can be structured around the central guidelines along with re-examination of some key assumptions and methods in order to account for processes of production, distribution and consumption of texts in new media ecology (KhosraviNik and Unger 2016; Unger et.al. 2016 in press). The paper proposes a number of key adjustments and caveats in order to carve out a theoretically viable and analytically feasible SM-CDS. These include a further outreach to studies on Social Media from strictly media point of view, foregrounding multimodal analysis, and delineating the approach from dominant descriptive and/or media determinist approaches i.e. foregrounding a socially oriented approach to analysis of discourse on participatory web. It is argued that the qualities of civil society or lack thereof, and the socio-political contexts of the community of practice under investigation impacts on the adoption and adaptation of these new spaces of discursive power (e.g. KhosraviNik and Zia 2014).

References

- KhosraviNik M. 2016 forthcoming. Social Media Critical Discourse Studies (SM-CDS). In: John Flowerdew and John Richardson (eds), *Handbook of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: Routledge.
- KhosraviNik M, Unger J. 2015. Critical Discourse Studies and Social Media: power, resistance and critique in changing media ecologies. In: Ruth Wodak and Michael Meyer (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Studies* (3rd edition). London: SAGE Publications, 206–233.
- KhosraviNik M. 2014. Critical Discourse Analysis, Power, and New Media Discourse. In: M. Kopytowska and Y. Kalyango (eds), *Why Discourse Matters: Negotiating Identity in the Mediatized World*. New York: Peter Lang, 287–306.
- KhosraviNik, M. and Zia, M. 2014. Persian Nationalism, Identity and Anti-Arab Sentiments in Iranian Facebook Discourses: Critical Discourse Analysis and Social Media Communication. *Journal of Language and Politics* 13 (4): 755–780.
- Unger, J., Wodak, R. and KhosraviNik, M. 2016 (In Press). Critical Discourse Analysis and Social Media



Data. In: D. Silverman (ed.), *Qualitative Research* (4th edition). London: SAGE Publications.

Hoodlums, Upstarts and Bourgeois in Russian TV Series

Katharina Klingseis

WU Vienna University of Economics and Business katharina.klingseis@wu.ac.at

TV series constitute a narrative discursive space of a very special kind. This is due, for one thing, to the specifics of filmic narration (cf. to Monaco 2009), and for another, to the ubiquity of serials on TV and the web.

I will present the results of an analysis of two Russian TV series. My focus will be on how social classes are represented, how interaction across classes is depicted, what social groups are excluded from representation in the series, what places and kinds of action are accessible and to whom. "Chuzhoe gnezdo" (my transl. "The ill-gotten ancestral home") tells about the current lives and intertwined histories of two former 'noble' families. The series comprises to date 60 sequences and started in July 2015 on Rossiya 1. "Real'nye pacany" (my transl. "Genuine guys") is a comedy about the vicissitudes of fate of a group of working-class young men trying to get rich quickly. It started in 2010, season 4 having been broadcast on TNT in April-Mai 2015.

As to the methodology, there will be narrative analysis inspired by Fiske (2011), Igartua *et al.* (2012) and Khitrov (2015) complemented by analyses of the pertinent discussions of the audience on the web (http://bigcinema.tv and vkontakte), information on audience ratings and on the production and broadcasting contexts.

References

Fiske, J. 2011. *Television Culture* (8th ed.). London and New York: Routledge.

Igartua, J.-J., Barrios, I.M. and Ortega, F. 2012. Analysis of the Image of Immigration in Prime Time Television Fiction. *Comunicación y sociedad* 25 (2): 5–28.

Khitrov, A. 2015. Representations of the Police in Contemporary Russian Police TV Series: The Case of Glukhar'. *Journal of Communication Inquiry* 0 (0): 1–17. DOI:10.1177/01968599156094

Monaco, J. 2009. How to read a film. Movies, Media and Beyond (4th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ideological discourse analysis and nonstandard orthographies

Liis Kollamagi Università della Calabria liis.kollamagi@libero.it

Ideologies are generally shared foundational ideas and notions in a society and in the case of language ideologies they include all cultural conceptions of the nature, form and purpose of a language (Gal and Woolard 2001). One of these language ideological beliefs is the distinction between standard and nonstandard varieties, originated in colonial discourses, which established the superiority of the civilized and written English language in relation to more primitive and often oral varieties, such as Caribbean English-lexicon Creoles (Irvine and Gal 2000; Romaine 2005).

Without any standardized written form nor rules for orthography, these Creoles are nevertheless written on

CADAAD 2016

a daily basis, especially in computer communication as well as in literary texts. It is up to the single writer to decide on the spelling of the nonstandard varieties, for instance whether to follow an etymological or phonemic orthography. In this way orthography becomes a social practice and the author's orthographic and spelling choices from a set of alternatives are socially and ideologically meaningful (Sebba 2007).

The research will treat orthographic choices as types of discourse according to Critical Discourse Studies. For this purpose, I will draw on two definitions of discourse: firstly, discourse as all socially meaningful semiotic data and human activity (Blommaert 2005) and secondly, discourse as a process including text production and its interpretation (Fairclough 1989). In the second case the participants in the process of nonstandard orthography are the writer and the reader, and the spelling choices become cues of the mental representations of the author as well as hints for the interpretation by the reader (member resources according to Fairclough and mental models in Van Dijk 2006).

The examples of Creole respellings are drawn from British literary texts such as Andrea Levy's *Small Island* and Zadie Smith's *White Teeth*. The choice of literature is determined by the highly standardized nature of this institution, where nonstandard orthography contrasts clearly with the standard language. The aim of the research is to show how single graphemes such as <k> instead of <c> or <d> instead of the grapheme <th> may embody complex discourses and hidden ideologies, concurrently expressing identity and group membership.

References:

Blommaert, J. 2005. Discourse: A Critical Introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge UP.

- Fairclough, N. 1989. Language and Power. London: Longman.
- Gal, S. and Woolard, K. 2001. Constructing Languages and Publics: Authority and Representation. Reprinted in S. Gal, K. Woolard (eds). 2014. *Languages and Publics: The Making of Authority*. London: Routledge, 1–13.

Irvine, J. and Gal, S. 2000. Language Ideology and Linguistic Differentiation. In P. Kroskrity (ed.). *Regimes of Language: Ideologies, Polities, Identities.* Santa Fe: School of American Research Press, 35–83.

Levy, A. 2004. Small Island. London: Headline Review.

Romaine, S. 2005. Orthographic Practices in the Standardization of Pidgins and Creoles: Pidgin in Hawai'i as Anti– Language and Anti–Standard. *Journal of Pidgin and Creole Languages* 20 (1): 101–140.

Sebba, M. 2007. *Spelling and Society: The Culture and Politics of Orthography Around the World*. Cambridge: Cambridge UP.

Smith, Z. 2000. White Teeth. London: Hamish Hamilton.

Van Dijk, T. 2006. Ideology and Discourse Analysis. Journal of Political Ideologies 11 (2): 115–140.

Gendered semiotics in the discourse of female cancer charities

Veronika Koller

Lancaster University

v.koller@lancaster.ac.uk

In this presentation, I will talk about how charities dedicated to cancers that exclusively or predominantly affect women use gendered semiotics to communicate their corporate brand and garner support and engagement. Specifically, I ask how language and visual modes are integrated in the discourse of cancer charities and interrogate the functions of the charities' specific use of semiotic modes. More broadly, I am interested in how we can account for the use of such semiotics by cancer charities as a cultural phenomenon.

I will start by briefly outlining the size of the charity sector in the UK and then focus on charities addressing



exclusively or predominantly female cancers, showing how breast cancer charities are over-represented in the sector by a number of measures. To start to explain that dominance, I look at the discourse of breast cancer charities, analysing the use of colour, images and type fonts as well as metaphor on the websites and facebook pages of registered charities. Results show an apparent contradiction between images, type fonts and partly colour as creating associations of traditional femininity while other aspects of colour as well as the use of Violence metaphors evoke non-traditional femininities. These hybrid gendered semiotics of mainly breast cancer charities have been copied by other cancer and end-of-life care charities, most notably in Cancer Research UK's Race for Life campaign, of which I will present a case study.

I will conclude by discussing my preliminary findings as an example of Bakhtinian carnival as a sociocultural practice and finally indicate what further research needs to be done to corroborate this interpretation.

"[I]t looks like a country, smells like a country, tastes like a country...": The EU on Wikipedia

Susanne Kopf WU Vienna University of Economics and Business susanne.kopf@wu.ac.at

This paper deals with representation(s)/constructions(s) of the European Union (EU) negotiated among contributors to the English Wikipedia between year 2001 and 2015. The study focuses on the Talk Page (TP) that accompanies the Wikipedia article on the European Union. This TP provides a space for Wikipedia contributors to discuss controversial editing and/or content issues regarding the article.

The EU has received considerable attention in applied linguistics, e.g. questions regarding language policy and discourses surrounding topics relevant to the EU have been researched in-depth. However, private individuals' attempts to make sense of this *sui generis* when faced with the task of defining the EU have hardly been touched upon (Wikipedia 2015). Additionally, Wikipedia as a relatively new medium and a collaboratively-created online encyclopaedia has hitherto received comparatively little attention in applied linguistics.

Wikipedia allowed for the creation of an entry about the "EU" shortly after the inception of the website in 2001. From then on, contributors' have engaged in discussions on what to include and exclude in the article on the EU and for which reasons to do so. Thus, Wikipedia affords the unique opportunity of investigating how the Wikipedia community has debated and grappled with its understanding of the EU since 2001.

This study presents a corpus-assisted critical discourse analysis aiming to give a "rich and detailed perspective" on "delicate variations" in the data (McEnery and Wilson 2001) in order to arrive at conclusions with respect to the Wikipedia community's view(s) on the EU. The corpus consists of the 28 archives and the current TP accompanying the Wikipedia article on the EU (appr. 600 000 tokens).

One finding is that while various topics connected to the EU led to discussions on Wikipedia at some point since the article-creation in 2001, some issues have been subject to heated debate *throughout* the Talk Page discussion. Among these are the question of whether to define the institution as a country-like entity or as a different form of institution altogether.

References

Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia 2015. "European Union". Wikimedia Foundation Inc. Available at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Union

Tony McEnery, T. and Wilson, A. 2001. Corpus linguistics: An introduction (2nd ed.). Edinburgh: Edinburgh

University Press.



Covering global terrorism: From space to axiology across news genres

Monika Kopytowska University of Łódź monika.kopytowska@gmail.com

Differences in media-coverage of global terrorism (Nacos 2007; Freedman and Thussu 2012) will be discussed in the context of varying distance dynamics and journalistic strategies adopted to reduce temporal, spatial, epistemic, axiological and emotional distance between the event and news viewers/readers (for the model of media proximization see Kopytowska 2014, 2015a, b). It will be demonstrated that such strategies vary not only depending on cultural and physical distance between the events covered and the audience, but also depending on the semiotic properties of a given medium (e.g. newspapers vs. television news). Co-presence and immediacy (spatiotemporal proximization) will, for example, be more dominant and visible in TV news, even though eternal present is frequently constructed in newspaper headlines. In the case of distant events with no relevance to the target audience spatiotemporal proximization will be substantially complemented by axiological proximization. If there is no physical threat to the readers, terrorism-related violence will have to be presented as either a potential threat to Western values or a cultural or moral contrast which, due to its incompatibility with "our" values, constitutes axiological urgency, triggering at least an emotional response. This finding confirms Cap's (2013) claim about the role assumed by axiological proximization (and its primacy over the spatiotemporal one) when a physical threat cannot be used as legitimate argument in political discourse. It also seems to be compatible with Nossek and Berkowitz's (2006) findings in their study of terrorism that if terrorism is culturally remote, cultural narratives (hence the epistemic and axiological dimension in our model) must be relied on more heavily in journalists' sense-making process; as a result, news about distant events, as they claim, is more likely to be mythically-laden and tied to cultural (familiar) references. Finally, it will be demonstrated that proximization strategies seem to be genre-dependent. Hard news in the press tends to rely more on epistemic proximization than, for example, human-interest stories or television news. To illustrate these assumptions, the paper explores the coverage of the Garissa University College attack in April 2015 in Kenya and the Paris attacks in November 2015 in newspaper and TV news from American, European and Kenyan media.

Ableism at Work: Reconstructing Blind and Partially Sighted People's Professional Identities

Gerrit Kotzur Northumbria University Newcastle, UK gerrit.kotzur@northumbria.ac.uk

Up to 66 per cent of people with visual impairments (henceforth VI people) are not in paid employment. One explanation for this is the prevalence of stereotypes reflected in disablist attitudes: nine out of ten employers rated VI people as 'difficult' or 'impossible' to employ.

This ongoing doctoral study focuses on identity constructions of VI people in the context of employment.

Using a combined approach of biographical narrative analysis (e.g. Roberts 2002) and Critical Discourse Studies (CDS), especially in the fashion of Wodak's discourse-historical approach (e.g. Reisigl and Wodak 2016), this paper is concerned with a range of aspects: discourse topics, narrative ownership, agency and the use of passives – which can hint at the severity of a person's psychological trauma – evaluation and, finally, argumentative strategies, namely mitigation, externalization and victim-victimizer reversal or self-blame.

Preliminary results indicate that 'mainstream employers' are often seen as unable to provide a fully supportive work environment. Barriers and challenges often already arise during the application process, leading to bruising first experiences of VI people in the labor market. Managers and colleagues' negative attitudes range from open hostility to ignorance. This can lead to VI people feeling embarrassed and experiencing a "constant fear of vulnerability".

Importantly, rather than analyzing the language of powerful social actors, as often the case in CDS, this study is concerned with first-hand experience of the marginalized group itself. Even though we like to see narratives as a means of empowerment and 'finding one's voice', they can also reflect dominant conventions. Blame is projected on the Self or on external circumstances rather than the Other, which makes disablism a harmful yet latent ideology in the workplace. On a more positive note, this research can help us better understand how an individual's economic security can contribute to their personal wellbeing, something which has also been dealt with in affirmative model discourses of disability.

References

Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2016. The discourse-historical approach (DHA). In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Studies*. Los Angeles: Sage, 23–61.

Roberts, B. 2002. Biographical Research. Buckingham, Philadelphia: Open University Press.

Discourse of Migration in Contemporary Russian Mass Media from a Multimodal Linguistics Perspective

Michał Kozdra Institute of Russian Studies University of Warsaw m.kozdra@uw.edu.pl

The author of the paper analyses discourse of migration in contemporary Russian mass media from a multimodal linguistics perspective. This study aims at illuminating how participants of Russian public discourse, using different semiotic modes, conceptualise migration and migrants (especially from Central Asia and the Caucasus). Methodology of this paper is based on multimodal discourse analysis (Kress, van Leeuwen 2007, 2010; LeVine and Scollon 2004; Анисимова 2003), anthropological linguistics (Wierzbicka 1985; Bartmiński 2012) and critical discourse analysis (Fairclough 1999; Duszak, Fairclough 2008).

For the purpose of achieving the main goal, two types of empirical data were used: textual and visual material published in the Russian newspapers ("Аргументы и факты", "Российская газета", "Московский комсомолец" and "Известия") from 2005 until 2016. The material investigated allowed the socio-cognitive structure of migration and migrants to be reconstructed in this discourse. That structure consists of four elements: 1) generic terms which determine the processes of conceptualisation, 2) aspects, i.e. ways in which migration and migrants are viewed, 3) metaphrases (descriptors) understood as a word or group of words, which together describe the content of particular quotations, and 4) citation features which mean citations extracted from the analysed discourse. The superordinate categories generate a different categorisation of

CADAAD 2016



migrants from different points of view: 1) as alien in terms of ethnicity, 2) as alien in terms of culture, 3) as alien in terms of religion, 4) as inferior people, 5) as a threat to law and social order, and 6) as a threat to Russia's economic interests.

It is worth noting that the methodology applied in this study allowed multidimensional analysis of migration and migrants to be conducted, taking into consideration not only verbal components but also visual modes. Furthermore, it provides perspectives for studies of other discourses playing a crucial role in contemporary Russian society.

References

Bartmiński, J. 2012. Aspects of Cognitive Ethnolinguistics. London: Equinox Publishing.

- Duszak, A., Fairclough, N. (eds) 2008. Krytyczna analiza dyskursu: interdyscyplinarne podejście do komunikacji społecznej. Kraków: Universitas.
- Fairclough, N. 1999. Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language. London, New York: Longman.

Kress, G., van Leeuwen, Th. 2007. *Reading Images: The Grammar of Visual Design* (2nd ed. repr.). London, New York: Routledge.

- Kress, G., van Leeuwen, Th. 2010. *Multimodal Discourse: The Modes and Media of Contemporary Communications*. London: Hodder Education.
- LeVine, Ph. and Scollon, R. (eds) 2004. *Discourse and Technology: Multimodal Discourse Analysis*. Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press.

Wierzbicka, A. 1985. Lexicography and Conceptual Analysis. Ann Arbor: Karoma.

Анисимова, Е.Е. 2003. Лингвистика текста и межкультурная коммуникация (на материале креолизованных текстов). Москва: Academia.

Politicisation, Mediatisation and Social/Online Media: Discursive Shifts and the Refugee Crisis

Michał Krzyżanowski Örebro University, Sweden michal.krzyzanowski@oru.se

My presentation departs from the traditional 'bottom-up' approaches to social/online media and focuses on their use as key tools of top-down mediatised political communication. I look at how orchestrated social/online media discursive strategies are deployed by political groups in order to politicise various socially- and politically-resonant topics. As I show, the issue of migration remains among the topics that have been politicised extremely strongly in various contexts incl. on the back of social/online mediatisation of migration-related discourses of right-wing populist groups (Krzyżanowski 2012, 2013a) and often despite the traditional logic of public spheres, mainstream media and journalism (Krzyżanowski 2014). The process gave rise to immense spread of, e.g., very strong discriminatory and anti-immigration rhetoric that escalated across the political spectrum in many European countries (Krzyżanowski & Wodak 2009). In my analysis I hence show that, although traditionally approached as separate in discourse and communication research, mediatisation and politicisation become parallel processes in the political use of social/online media (Krzyżanowski 2017a, Krzyżanowski & Tucker 2017). I also argue that they become the key tools in creating alternative public spheres that help legitimise the discursive shifts as well as radicalisation of discourses on immigration and multiculturalism. Empirically, my paper focuses on social/online media discourses on the recent 2014–15 Refugee Crisis. In this context, I point to various forms of 'discursive shifts' (Krzyżanowski 2013b) and look



at the political use of social/online media (incl. Twitter, online video posts, party web profiles etc.) to legitimise various facets of discursive change in immigration rhetoric in such countries as, inter alia, Sweden or Poland (Krzyżanowski 2017b; Krzyżanowski, Ledin & Rydgren 2017).

References

- Krzyżanowski, M. 2012. Right-Wing Populism, Opportunism and Political Catholicism: On Recent Rhetorics and Political Communication of Polish PiS (Law and Justice) Party. In: A. Pelinka and B. Haller (eds), *Populismus: Herausforderung oder Gefahr für die Demokratie?* Vienna: New Academic Press, 111–126.
- Krzyżanowski, M. 2013a. From Anti-Immigration and Nationalist Revisionism to Islamophobia: Continuities and Shifts in Recent Discourses and Patterns of Political Communication of the Freedom Party of Austria (FPÖ). In: R. Wodak, B. Mral, M. KhosraviNik (eds), *Rightwing Populism in Europe: Politics and Discourse*. London: Bloomsbury Academic, 135–148.
- Krzyżanowski, M. 2013b. Policy, Policy Communication and Discursive Shifts: Analyzing EU Policy Discourses on Climate Change. In: P. Cap & U. Okulska (eds), *Analysing New Genres in Political Communication*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 101–135.
- Krzyżanowski, M. 2014. Values, Imaginaries and Templates of Journalistic Practice: A Critical Discourse Analysis. *Social Semiotics* 24 (3): 345–365.
- Krzyżanowski, M. 2017a. Language & Politics: Interdisciplinary Critical Discourse Analysis. New York: Routledge.
- Krzyżanowski, M. 2017b. Discursive Shifts in Ethno-Nationalist Politics: Politicisation and Mediatisation of the 'Refugee Crisis' in Poland. *Journal of Immigrant and Refugee Studies* 15 (4).
- Krzyżanowski, M. & R. Wodak. 2009. *The Politics of Exclusion: Debating Migration in Austria*. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- Krzyżanowski, M., P. Ledin & J. Rydgren. 2017. "We Are a Small Country that Has Done Enormously Lot": Swedish Socio-Cultural Politics, Discursive Shifts, and the Refugee Crisis. *Journal of Immigrant and Refugee Studies* 15(4).
- Krzyżanowski, M. & J.A. Tucker. 2017. *Re/Constructing Politics through Social & Online Media: New Patterns and Discourses of Mediatised Political Practice*. (Special Issue of *Journal of Language & Politics* 16:5). Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Theories of crisis and the discourse analysis of crisis construction

Amelie Kutter European University Viadrina kutter@europa-uni.de

Since the financial crisis emerged in 2007, many projects and publications have been launched that discourseanalyse representations of crisis and crisis management in communications by various groups and organisations. This research has generated insights in recurrent features of crisis discourse, such as blame games, claims for extraordinary authority, or trends of normalisation. Crisis itself, however, is usually taken for granted and rarely subjected to theoretical consideration. The present paper suggests that theories of crisis that borrow from Marxist thought help to gain an understanding of crisis as a catalyst of social change and to conceptually focus analyses of crisis and its discursive construction. The paper introduces concepts such as Gramsci's notion of 'organic crisis' and 'passive revolution' and Polanyi's theorem of the 'double movement'. They draw our attention to specific drivers of crisis and change in capitalist societies, such as the formation of new concepts and their co-optation by those in power or the mutual penetration of the market logic and the logic of social protection in political and business administration. Using examples from a study on



CADAAD 2016

communications by EU institutions and financial journalists, the paper shows how these crisis theories can guide textual analysis. A discourse-analytical strategy is suggested that conceptualises the research subject from the macro-theoretical view of crisis theories and brings middle range concepts from discursive political studies, including hegemonic articulation and governmentality, in dialogue with categories from critical discourse analysis.

The Janus-faced hero: Self-legitimation and identity construction in Romanian politicians' Facebook posts

Raluca Levonian University of Bucharest raluca.levonian@litere.unibuc.ro

Recent research on the use of the social networks emphasizes their role in interpersonal communication, through the establishment and maintenance of social bonds between the users (West and Trester 2013; Zappavigna 2012). A significant contemporary trend is represented by the tendency of institutional actors to create their own pages on the social web, in an attempt towards the "personalization" of the official discourse (Enli and Skogerbø 2013). The increased use of social networks messages in the political sphere indicates the emergence of a new genre of political communication, which has as a main goal the "formation of public attitudes, opinion and will", besides political advertising (Wodak 2009/ 2011; Reisigl and Wodak 2009). This paper explores how political messages posted on social networks can be used as a tool in the complex process of constructing the posters' identities as public and private persons at the same time.

The corpus is formed by a selection of the messages posted on their Facebook pages by the former and the current President of Romania during the last two years, totalizing approximately 22,000 words. The methodology applied draws on critical discourse analysis (CDA), especially on Van Leeuwen's (2008) approach regarding the legitimation of social actors and Fairclough's (1989) work on the discursive construction of power relations. Results show that the political leaders construct their identity in an integrative manner, enhancing their similarities to the citizens – readers and the traits which distinguish them from other politicians. The analysis of the messages reveals that the two politicians present themselves as figures of authority at various levels. The types of discursive authority identified in the politicians' Facebook posts range from personal to expert and to office authority.

References

- Enli, G.S. and Skogerbø, E. 2013. Personalized campaigns in party-centred politics. *Information, Communication & Society*, 16 (5): 757–774.
- Fairclough, N. 1989. Language and Power. London: Longman.
- Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2009. The discourse-historical approach. In R. Wodak, M. Meyer (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: Sage Publications.
- Van Leeuwen, T. 2008. *Discourse and Practice. New Tools for Critical Discourse Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- West L. and Trester A.M. 2013. Facework on Facebook. Conversations on Social Media. In D. Tannen, A. M. Trester (eds) *Discourse 2.0. Language and New Media*. Washington DC: Georgetown University Press, 133–154.

Wodak R. (2009/2011). *The Discourse of Politics in Action. Politics as Usual*. Basingstoke: Palgrave. Zappavigna M. 2012. *The discourse of Twitter and social media*. London: Continuum.



Cognitive-pragmatic approach to the commodification of social media: Context manipulation as a vehicle for ideology

Ella Lillqvist Aalto University, Helsinki, Finland ella.lillqvist@aalto.fi

Anu A. Harju Aalto University, Helsinki, Finland anu.harju@aalto.fi

The increasingly commercial nature of social media has been studied within critical media research often drawing on Marxist ideas (Fuchs 2009; 2010, 2014). This research stream claims that users of these media are commodified, as value is extracted from their data and attention (e.g. Kang and McAllister 2011; Fuchs 2012, 2014; see also Smythe 1977); in this sense, these services are not entirely free of charge. Although commodification is to a significant degree discursive (e.g. Fairclough 1994), there is still a relative lack of critical research on the commodification of social media that specifically focuses on the discursive processes enabling it (however, see e.g. Lillqvist *et al.* 2016; Thurlow 2013).

In this paper, we set out to explore the discursive, ideological mechanisms leading to the commodification and exploitation of users. As our empirical case, we analyse Facebook's "community standards" and the surrounding commentary using corpus analysis (e.g. Baker 2006). We take a cognitive-pragmatic perspective and draw from Relevance Theory (Sperber and Wilson 1995 [1986]) and develop the concept of *context manipulation* as an analytical tool to shed light on the ideological nature of persuasion and enticement of users. We argue that context manipulation can lead to "cognitive illusions" (e.g. Johnson-Laird and Savary 1999; Maillatt and Oswald 2009) which are logically valid inferences, yet inaccurate reflections of the "state of affairs in the world".

The paper contributes to an increased theoretical understanding of the commodification of online participation by showing empirically how it is achieved by discursive processes embedded in the wider neoliberalist ideology and socio-economic changes concerning communication (e.g. Androutsopoulos 2014). In Marxist terminology, commodity has both use value and exchange value: communication by Facebook mainly prioritises the *use value* of the platform, whereas its operational logic, based on the *exchange value* of user participation, is obscured. Taken the relevance-theoretic claim that the "universal cognitive tendency to maximise relevance makes it possible [...] to predict and manipulate the mental states of others" (Wilson and Sperber 2002: 254), we argue that Facebook's emphasis on an interpretive context favouring use value explains why users accept to participate even though they are exploited.

References

Androutsopoulos, J. (ed.) 2014. *Mediatization and sociolinguistic change*. Berlin: De Gruyter.

Baker, P. (2006). Using corpora in discourse analysis. London: Continuum.

- Fairclough, N. 1994. Conversationalization of public discourse and the authority of the consumer. In N. Abercrombie, R. Keat and N. Whiteley (eds), *The Authority of the Consumer*. London: Taylor & Francis, 235–249.
- Fuchs, C. 2009. Information and Communication Technologies and Society: A Contribution to the Critique of the Political Economy of the Internet. *European Journal of Communication* 24 (1): 69–87.
- Fuchs, C. 2010. Labor in Informational Capitalism and on the Internet. *The Information Society* 26 (3): 179–196.
- Fuchs, C. 2012. Dallas Smythe Today The Audience Commodity, the Digital Labour Debate, Marxist Political Economy and Critical Theory. Prolegomena to a Digital Labour Theory of Value. *tripleC* 10 (2): 692–740.



Fuchs, C. 2014. Digital Labor and Karl Marx. New York: Routledge.

- Johnson-Laird, P. N. and Savary, F. 1999. Illusory inferences: a novel class of erroneous deductions. *Cognition* 71: 191–229.
- Kang, H. and McAllister, M. P. 2011. Selling You and Your Clicks: Examining the Audience Commodification of Google. *tripleC* 9 (2): 141–153.
- Lillqvist, E., Louhiala-Salminen, L. and Kankaanranta, A. 2016. Power relations in social media discourse: Dialogization and monologization on corporate Facebook pages. *Discourse, Context & Media* 12: 68–76.
- Maillatt, D. and S. Oswald 2009. Defining Manipulative Discourse: The Pragmatics of Cognitive Illusions. *International Review of Pragmatics* 1: 348–370.
- Smythe, D. 1977. Communications: Blindspot of Western Marxism. *Canadian Journal of Political and Social Theory* 1 (3).
- Sperber, D. and Wilson, D. 1995 [1986]. Relevance: Communication and Cognition. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Thurlow, C. 2013. Fakebook: Synthetic media pseudo-sociality and the rhetorics of web 2.0. In D. Tannen and A. M. Trester (eds), *Discourse 2.0: Language and New Media*. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press, 225–249.
- Wilson, D. and Sperber, D. 2002. Relevance Theory. Working Papers in Linguistics. Available online at http://www.phon.ucl.ac.uk/publications/WPL/02papers/wilson_sperber.pdf

"No serious accident happened this year": Voluntary disclosures by Chinese state-owned enterprises involved in fatal work accidents

Yuting Lin

Department of English, City University of Hong Kong

linyutingtina@gmail.com

Business today is subjected to intense public scrutiny. Companies involved in fatal work accidents often need to carefully handle accident disclosures in order to minimize the impact of the bad news. This is especially true in China, where the rate of work-related fatalities is considerably higher than that in developed countries (CCIID 2014). Previous studies have suggested that negative events might not be reported accurately within voluntary disclosures (Deegan and Rankin 1996; Deegan *et al.* 2000). Moreover, recently the Chinese government has encouraged state-owned enterprises (SOEs) to include accident disclosures within their corporate social responsibility (CSR) annual report, a document the SOE issues voluntarily to the general public about its performance on social, economic, and environmental responsibilities (Wang 2011). This raises the question whether Chinese SOEs have reported workplace accidents objectively.

This study aims at analysing how work accidents are represented in the CSR report of a sample of 31 Chinese SOEs which had at least one fatal accident during the period 2005–2014. From a critical discourse perspective (Fairclough 2013) and guided by previous studies of legitimation in discourse and communication (Benoit 1997; Suchman 1995; van Leeuwen 2007), the study investigates 1) whether SOEs made any disclosures, and 2) discursive strategies used in the disclosures for self-legitimation. The study also examines the extent to which the disclosures reflect SOEs' actual safety performance, and the extent of their compliance with reporting standards.

The findings suggest that two companies stated that there had been no work accident, while six companies did not make any accident disclosure, despite the existence of reportable incidents. Further, companies that have made accidents disclosures (24 out of 31) tended to present information in a fairly positive light. This study elaborates on the discursive strategies employed by SOEs to legitimize the negative events and to construct a positive corporate image. It concludes by proposing suggestions for firms pursuing a true and fair



view in corporate disclosures and effective management of corporate legitimacy.

References

- Benoit, W. L. 1997. Image repair discourse and crisis communication. *Public Relations Review 23* (2): 177–186.
- China Center for Information Industry Development (CCIID). 2014. *The Blue Book on the Industrial Safety Production in China*. Beijing: People's Press.
- Deegan, C. and Rankin, M. 1996. Do Australian companies report environmental news objectively? An analysis of environmental disclosures by firms prosecuted successfully by the Environmental Protection Authority. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal* 9 (2): 50–67.
- Deegan, C., Rankin, M., and Voght, P. 2000. Firms' disclosure reactions to major social incidents: Australian evidence. *Accounting Forum* 24 (1): 101–130.
- Fairclough, N. 2013. *Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language*. Second Edition. London: Routledge.
- Suchman, M. C. 1995. Managing legitimacy: Strategic and institutional approaches. *The Academy of Management Review 20* (3): 571–610.
- van Leeuwen, T. 2007. Legitimation in discourse and communication. *Discourse & Communication* 1 (1): 91–112.
- Wang B. 2011. *Report on Industry Development of Central State-owned Enterprises 2011* (中央企业产业发展报告 2011). Beijing: China Economic Publishing House.

Textual constructions of desire: The body in online erotica

Alon Lischinsky Oxford Brookes University

alon@lischinsky.net

Pornography has become an increasingly visible part of cultural life over the past 50 years. Visual and written representations of sexual activity, formally banned as obscene, are now commonplace across a range of media, and this "pornification" has given rise to heated discussions about acceptable forms of sexual knowledge, sexual freedom and sexual representation (Atwood 2010). But while scholarly work on porn has led to increasing awareness of the diversity of its forms, it has largely remained focused on the visual genres of photography and film. Explorations of the *language* of contemporary porn are scarce and uneven (Wicke 1991:75; for rare exception, see Johnsdotter 2011; Marko 2008).

Such an omission is unfortunate because linguistic representations are uniquely useful as evidence for contentious issues, such as the mysogyny often attributed to pornographic representations. Porn has often been criticised for its male-centric perspective, in which females appear primarily as objects for male action (e.g., MacKinnon 1989; Jensen 2007), but it is difficult to devise principled tests for such objectification in visual materials (McKee 2005:280). Textual analysis, on the other hand, offers a range of analytic devices to explore how male and female bodies are labelled, described and evaluated, and strategies of this kind have profitably been used to explore the discursive construction of desirability in specific historical periods (Virdis 2015). Nevertheless, the assumption that contemporary "pornographic texts [continue] representational practices that demean women" (Jeffries 2007:16) has rarely been subject to detailed empirical examination.

In this paper, I extend this line of research through an examination of the referential and predication strategies used for the representation of body parts in a large corpus of online erotica. A sample of the 500 most-read stories (approximately 1.5 million words) was collected from Literotica.com, one of the oldest and

CADAAD 2016



largest erotic fiction repositories online. Using both standalone tools and the online Sketch Engine, a list of terms denoting both female and male body parts was collected, and their collocational and colligational preferences compared. Comparison of stories written by female and male authors was also conducted.

References

Attwood, F. 2010. Porn studies: from social problem to cultural practice. In F. Attwood (ed), *porn.com: Making sense of online pornography*. Oxford: Peter Lang, 1–13.

Jeffries, L. 2007. Textual construction of the female body. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Jensen, R. 2007. Getting off: Pornography and the end of masculinity. Cambridge, MA: South End.

Johnsdotter, S. 2011. "The flow of her cum": On a recent semantic shift in an erotic word. *Sexuality & Culture*, 15(2), 179–194.

MacKinnon, C. A. 1989. Toward a feminist theory of the state. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Marko, G. 2008. *Penetrating language*. A Critical Discourse Analysis of pornography. Tübingen: Gunter Narr Verlag.

Virdis, D. F. 2015. Eroticizing female and male bodies: a linguistic investigation of a pornographic novel from the Victorian magazine *The Pearl. Porn Studies*, 2(1), 19–34.

Producing Soldier Boy: Sperm Donor Discourse and Militarism in Israel

Oren Livio University of Haifa olivio@com.haifa.ac.il

Within Jewish-Israeli society, perceptions of the Jewish people as being under constant threat of annihilation and of Jewish citizens having fewer children than Palestinians have led to significant material and discursive resources being invested in encouraging high fertility rates (e.g., Sered, 2000). While children conceived "naturally" within heteronormative married couples still occupy the most culturally desirable position, a variety of sociocultural and medical developments have rendered other parenting forms and means of reproduction both more common and more socially acceptable. These changes have been accompanied by an increase in the number and public visibility of both public and private medical institutions for assisted conception and donor insemination, which employ complex discursive strategies to appeal to both potential sperm donors and potential sperm recipients.

In this paper I analyze the discourse surrounding this phenomenon in a variety of textual sources, including medical promotional material, media coverage, and the discourse of medical personnel. I focus specifically on the ways in which militaristic ideologies are deployed, recontextualized, and negotiated through the privileging of sperm produced by combat soldiers, who are characterized as representing desirable traits of physical masculinity, patriotism, courage, and psychological well-being – yet at the same time on the ways in which such notions of hegemonic masculinity as related to the military sphere are challenged and no longer taken for granted. Building on research examining the discursive means through which commercially sold semen is constructed as superior to "natural" semen (e.g., Schmidt & Moore, 1998), as well as the ways in which the logics of militarism and neoliberalism intersect, I explore the localized cultural contours of this discourse and the ways in which it combines technological, medical, and ideological narratives to construct fluid community borders and social hierarchies.



References

Sered, S. 2000. What Makes Women Sick? Maternity, Modesty, and Militarism in Israeli Society. Hanover: Brandeis University Press.

Schmidt, M. and Moore, L. J. 1998. Constructing a 'Good Vatch', Picking a Winner: The Development of Technosemen and the Deconstruction of the Monolithic Male. In R. Davis-Floyd and J. Dumit (eds) *Cyborg Babies: From Techno-Sex to Techno-Tots*. New York: Routledge, 21–39.

The discursive construction of a post-9/11 field of US (in)security

Malcolm N. MacDonald University of Warwick m.n.macdonald@warwick.ac.uk Duncan Hunter University of Hull d.hunter@hull.ac.uk

It is some time now since the 9/11 attacks on the World Trade Centre raised doubts about the effectiveness of the US services. Not least, the 9/11 Commission Report (2004) recommended the increased use of intelligence and its dispersal amongst allied entities. This paper explores with reference to the US, the proposal that since 9/11, agencies worldwide have become enmeshed in security as a shared activity so as to constitute a new 'field of (in)security' (Bigo 2008). For Bigo, this field is no longer located in mutually exclusive agencies such as the police. Rather, the field 'traverses' a plethora of different agencies combining, for example in Europe, private security firms and border control agencies. This paper analyses a corpus of public-facing texts generated by the reformed US security agencies in order to investigate the way in which the US security enterprise has been discursively (re)constituted as an emergent field in the wake of 9/11. We analyse a corpus of 175 webpages constructed by the newly reconstituted US security agencies for the purpose of publicly explaining their contemporary functions. Initially the texts were read extensively by eye, with attention also paid to the multi-modal features of their web-pages. A systematic Key Keywords procedure was then used to identify words found to be disproportionately frequent in the largest number of texts when compared to a reference corpus. This enabled a smaller number of core texts to be identified, which then formed the basis of intensive qualitative analysis. Four strategies observed in nuclear texts provide evidence for the discursive construction of a new zone of shared professional activity, and were later confirmed as corpus-wide phenomena: the large numbers of clauses in which actors in the security enterprise were linked as participants to the same processes so as to construct a sense of widely shared, collective enterprise; the selection of lexis that constructs an ethos of 'sharing'; the depiction of security as a collaborative process which traverses not only the boundaries between institutions, but also a variety of spatial, political and organisational boundaries; and the use of metaphors of architecture and building.

References

- Bigo, D. 2008. Globalised Insecurity: The Field and the Ban-opticon. In Didier Bigo and Anastassia Tsoukala (eds) *Terror, Insecurity and Liberty: Illiberal Practices of Liberal Regimes after 9/11.* Abingdon: Routledge, 10–49.
- Kean, T. H., and Hamilton, L. 2004. *The 9/11 Commission Report: Final Report of the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks upon the United States*. Washington: National Commission on Terrorist Attacks upon the United States.



#icantbreathe. Ideology and consensus: Twitter vs. the media

Stefania Maci University of Bergamo stefania.maci@unibg.it

The aim of this paper is to analyse the extent to which, if any, *Twitter* has a role in transmitting information and giving way to collaborative journalism – that form of journalism in which people actively take part in news construction – and in what way ideology and consensus are constructed.

The killing of two black people in 2015 by the police in Ferguson and Baltimore, US, resulted in the explosion of riots and social disorders in which the media showed a great interest, simultaneously mirrored in the social media. In particular, *Twitter* proved to be a successful resource for both popular collaborative journalism and collective social actions. Because of such novel role assigned to *Twitter*, attention has to be paid to the relationship existing between our society, its stereotypes and prejudices, and the social networks (Zappavigna 2012).

Starting from the linguistic analysis of the New York Times and Wall Street Journal editorials about

Trayvon Martin's and Eric Garner's death (with a contrastive investigation between the 'on the surface' and 'beneath the surface' discourse at a macro- and micro-levels; cf. Hall 1992: 291, and van Dijk 2000), I will move onto the analysis of the tweets related to those very same episodes linked to the #blacklivesmatter hashtag in Twitter in order to see how perception and opinion are constructed in texts where space is the constraint.

The Corpus Linguistics analysis, based on more than 2,000 tweets collected with Tweetarchivist (www.tweetarchivist.com), is grounded on CDA (Fairclough 1995; 2015; Wodak 1996; Wodak and Ludwig 1999). The results suggest that while in the newspapers the language used seems to reflect the corporate ideologies, the tweets mirror the stereotypes existing in the society which is responsible for building them.

References

Fairclough, N. 1995. Critical Discourse Analysis: The critical study of language. London; New York: Longman.

Fairclough, N. 2015 [1989]. Language and Power. London: Routledge.

Hall, S. 1992. The West and the Rest: Discourse and Power. In S. Hall and B. Giebsen (ed.) *Formations of Modernity*. Oxford: Polity Press in association with The Open University, 275–332.

van Dijk, T. A. 2000. On the Analysis of Parliamentary Debates about immigration. In M. Reisigl and R. Wodak (eds) *The semiotics of racism. Approaches to critical discourse analysis*. Vienna: Passagen Verlag, 85–103.

Wodak, R. 1996. Disorders of discourse. London; New York: Longman.

Wodak, R., Ludwing, C. 1999. Challenges in a Changing World. Vienna: Passagen Verlag.

Zappavigna, M. 2012. Discourse of Twitter and Social Media. London: Bloomsbury.



Nationalism in Italian political communication on Twitter

Eleonora Mamusa University of Cagliari eleonora.mamusa@gmail.com

Nations are one of the most well established constructions in our society, and they represent a very attractive benchmark for personal and social identification. Political speeches, as well as, for example, media discourse and popular culture, constantly reiterate the myth, culture and history of nations in order to reaffirm and preserve their positive image (Billig 1995), and this tendency doesn't seem to have weakened due to some contemporary events such as globalization and the reinforcement of transnational systems, as for example Smith (1995) confirms. Nationalism, in many of its forms, is in fact acquiring a renewed vigour due to the recent events that have involved the European territory, namely the immigration crisis and the emergency represented by terrorism.

The basis of politolinguistics (Reisigl 2008) will be applied on the posts published on Twitter by some of the most representative members of Italian political parties and movements, in order to see how they organize and present their discourse about these relevant themes; in particular, hashtags and their power to create affiliation will be considered as a starting point to understand how discourse is constructed, and how significant tropes such as metaphors and metonymies can be placed around them to project biased images and to pursue a specific nationalistic strategy. The analysis of the whole national political spectrum will allow to understand how populist and nationalist rhetoric is exploiting the political, social and economic crisis of the European Union and to highlight possible differences among the various discourse representations and constructions of the nation, exploring whether populism and nationalism are a prerogative of extremist groups or is somehow intrinsic to democracy (Canovan 1981).

Furthermore, it will be possible to observe how political discourse is responding to new media's traits and constraints, especially in the case of a microblogging website as Twitter is, where imposed brevity is one of the most influential features: the condensation of the message contributes to intensifying the pragmatic value of words, which are regaining centrality over images and other multimedia resources in political communication (Spina 2012).

References

Billig, M. 1995. Banal Nationalism. London: SAGE.

Canovan, M. 1981. Populism. London: Junction.

Reisigl, M. 2008. Analyzing political rhetoric. In R. Wodak and M Krzyzanowski (eds) *Qualitative discourse analysis in the social sciences*. Basingstoke-New York: MacMillan-Palgrave, 96–120.

Smith, A. 1995. Nations and Nationalism in a Global Era. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Spina, S. 2012. Openpolitica. Il discorso dei politici italiani nell'era di Twitter. Milano: FrancoAngeli.



An exploration of professional borders between peer specialists and social workers in community mental health settings

Michael A. Mancini Saint Louis University mancinim@slu.edu

Mental health peer specialists use their lived experiences of recovery from psychiatric disabilities to help other mental health service users in their own recoveries by providing support, advocacy, skill training and mentoring (Solomon 2004). While it has been shown that these peers help people with psychiatric disabilities in many domains, implementation of peer support services in traditional mental health settings dominated by professions such as social work, psychiatry, and nursing has proven a complex challenge (Cook *et al.* 2012; Davidson *et al.* 2006; Hamilton *et al.* 2015; Mancini and Lawson 2009; Moran *et al.* 2013). In these settings, peers can experience prejudice, alienation, role confusion, and exhaustion (Moran *et al.*, 2013; Mancini and Lawson 2009).

The concepts of "borders" and "borderlands" have been used in queer, feminist, and disability studies and can exist wherever two cultures, discourses, disciplines, or identities perceived as separate or contradictory merge or "edge" each other (Anzaldúa 1987). "Border-bodies" are persons that exist within borderlands or between two identities (Zita 1998; Kafai 2013). When borders are crossed by entities that are often considered deviant (e.g. mad, patient) into areas inhabited by privileged bodies (e.g. sane, professional), tensions can form (Price 2011).

In this paper, I draw on an interview study that analyzed the experiences of 23 peer specialists and 11 nonpeer mental health social workers as they struggled to implement peer services into traditional community mental health settings. I analyzed a subset of narratives using a CDA framework to explore how institutional discourses of medicine, psychiatry and social work can define and constrain how peers and social workers interact, represent and position each other in these settings (Chouliaraki and Fairclough 1999; Fairclough 1995; Fairclough 2003; Souto-Manning 2014). I show that peers and social workers struggle to navigate the shifting subjectivities they experience as they interact professionally in new and complex ways. I argue that peers working in traditional mental health settings represent a kind of border-body and that their presence creates a disruptive tension that contest institutional discourses of psychiatry and social work opening opportunities for both domination and transformation in mental health settings.

References

Anzaldúa, G. 1987. Borderlands/La Frontera: the New Mestiza. San Francisco: Aunt Lute Books.

- Chouliaraki, L. and Fairclough, N. 1999. *Discourse in Late Modernity: Rethinking Critical Discourse Analysis*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Cook, J., Copeland, M., Floyd, C., Jonikas, J., Hamilton, M., Razzano, L.Carter, T., Hudson, W., Grey, D., Boyd, S. 2012. A randomized controlled trial of effects of wellness recovery action planning on depression, anxiety, and recovery. *Psychiatric Services* 63(6): 541–547.

Davidson, L., Chinman, M., Sells, D., Rowe, M. 2006. Peer support among adults with serious mental illness: A report from the field. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 32(3): 443–450.

Fairclough, N. 1995. *Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language*. London: Addison Wesley Publishing Company.

Fairclough, N. 2003. Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research. London: Routledge.



- Hamilton, A., Chinman, M., Cohen, A., and Young, A. 2015. Implementation of consumer providers into mental health intensive case management teams. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services and Research* 42(1): 100–108.
- Kafai, S. 2013. The mad border body: A political in-betweeness. *Disability Studies Quarterly* 33(1): http://dsq-sds.org/article/view/3438/3199. Accessed 10 January 2016.
- Mancini, M. and Lawson, H. 2009. Facilitating positive emotional labor in peer-providers of mental health services. *Administration in Social Work* 33(1): 3–22.
- Moran, G., Russinova, Z., Gidugu, V., Gagne, C. 2013. Challenges experienced by paid peer providers in mental health recovery: A qualitative study. *Community Mental Health Journal* 49: 281–291.

Price, M. 2011. Mad at school. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

- Solomon, P. 2004. Peer support/peer provided services underlying processes, benefits, and critical ingredients. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 27(4): 392–401.
- Souto-Manning, M. 2014. Critical narrative analysis: The interplay of critical discourse and narrative analyses. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education* 27(2): 159–180.
- Zita, J. 1998. Body Talk. New York: Columbia University Press.

Sarah and Tammy: Butch and Femme in Transparent

Fabiola Marassà	
Università di Catania	
fmarassa@unict.it	

Valeria Monello Università di Catania vmonello@unict.it

This paper analyses the linguistic and cultural construction of Sarah and Tammy, two of the characters in Transparent, as a Butch and Femme couple.

Transparent is a widely acclaimed American television series created by Jill Soloway that premieredin 2014. The story revolves around the Pfefferman family and the discovery that their father Mort (Jeffrey Tambor) is transgender (wikipedia). The dynamics of this Los Angeles family and their lives provide insights for exploring gender representation issues and the possibility for destabilizing normative gender identities.

As Teresa De Lauretis argued in *Alice Doesn't: Feminism, Semiotics, Cinema* (1982), "cinema has been studied as an apparatus of representation, an image machine developed to construct images or visions of social reality and the spectators' place in it". Today, the high-quality writing and critical acclaim of contemporary TV series motivate a new focus on their impact as popular cultural products. As Allan Ball, the creator of *True Blood* and *Six Feet Under*, suggests "television right now is far more welcoming to interesting, complicated, nuanced storytelling for adults than movies are"¹. Consequently, millions of viewers worldwide are forming social and interpersonal connections with televisual characters such as identification and affinity/liking (Cohen 1999, Giles 2002) and are learning what is considered normal and desirable femininity or masculinity (Cameron 2006: 15).

Our approach draws on various perspectives in order to suggest in what ways and by what strategies *Butch* and *Femme* identities are performed, constructed, re-negotiated and trans-formed. It provides us with a more fluid, open conceptualization of identity, where they have the opportunity to explore their options. Sarah is associated with femininity in many different ways: she is represented as a mother-figure, a wife, a sister and she spends a great deal of her time coking, taking care of her children, all deliberately depicted as stereotypically "feminine" actions. It is only through her relation to Tammy, a Butch lesbian, that she realizes

¹ http://theconversation.com/five-reasons-we-should-listen-more-closely-to-tv-dialogue-25585 (19/12/15)



that she enters a genderd world reluctantly.

References

Bednarek, M. 2010. The Language of Fictional Television: Drama and Identity. London: Continuum.

Bednarek, M. 2011. Expressivity and televisual characterization. Language & Literature 20 (1): 1-19.

- Cameron, D. 2006. Theorising the female voice in public contexts. In J. Baxter (ed.) *Theorising the female voice in public contexts*. Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan, 3–20.
- Cohen, J. 1999. Favorite characters of teenage viewers of Israeli serials. *Journal of broadcasting & electronic media* 43 (3): 327–345.

De Lauretis, T. 1984. Alice Doesn't: Feminism, Semiotics, Cinema. Indiana University Press.

Giles, D. 2002. Parasocial interaction: A review of the literature and a model for future research. *Media Psychology* 4 (3): 279–304.

Milani, T. M. 2015. Language and Masculinities: Performances, Intersections, Dislocations. London: Routledge.

Immunization critics or anti-vaxxers? A critical analysis of the discourse of the anti-vaccine movement

Georg Marko

Karl-Franzens-University Graz

georg.marko@uni-graz.at

Ever since its invention, vaccination has met with resistance rooted in concerns about its medical efficacy, its side effects, and its moral implications. With the introduction of large-scale immunization programmes in the second half of the 20th century, individual resistance became a movement, manifesting itself in specific campaigns or even in the emergence of whole organizations such as the National Vaccine Information Center in the United States or Arnica in the UK.

Evaluating the anti-vaccine movement is difficult as it embodies heterogeneous perspectives on health, healthcare, and society. On the one hand, the movement is an emancipatory enterprise working against the medical-pharmaceutical establishment and its attempt to medicalize – i.e. interpret phenomena as medical problems open to medical intervention – and thereby commercialize – i.e. interpret medical intervention as a commercial service – more and more facets of human life. On the other hand, however, the movement also engages in a battle against public health measures and for an individualization of health, ignoring the vast amount of sound scientific evidence concerning the benefits of immunization, and subscribing to conspiracy theories concerning the government and the pharmaceutical industry's plot to undermine individuals' freedom to decide for themselves what is best for them and their children (for a review of the anti-vaccine movement, cf. the contributions to Chatterjee 2013).

Analysing the discourse of the anti-vaccine movement, my study examines whether, to what extent and how the tension between the critical, emancipatory and the conspiracist, anti-(standard)-science dimensions – i.e. *immunization critics* vs. *anti-vaxxers* – plays a role there. The main focus will be on the linguistic representations of medical aspects (diseases and the act of vaccination), the effects of immunization (risks, harms, and benefits), and the main protagonists (individuals affected, political and administrative agencies, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies).

The study draws upon corpus-based Critical Discourse Analysis (cf. Baker *et al.* 2008, Mautner 2009). It examines a structurally annotated and part-of-speech tagged corpus of lay and professional anti-vaccine



discourses, i.e. discussion forums on the one hand and books and articles written by medical experts opposed to immunization on the other. The corpus comprises approximately 1 million words.

References

Baker, Paul, Costas Gabrielatos, Majid Khosravinik, Michał Krzyżanowski, Tony McEnery, Ruth Wodak (2008). A useful methodological synergy? Combining critical discourse analysis and corpus linguistics to examine discourses of refugees and asylum seekers in the UK press. *Discourse & Society* 19 (3): 273–305.

Chatterjee, Archana (ed.) (2013). *Vaccinophobia and Vaccine Controversies of the 21st Century*. New York [etc.]: Springer.

Mautner, Gerlinde (2009). "Checks and Balances: How Corpus Linguistics can Contribute to CDA." In: Ruth Wodak and Michael Meyer (eds). *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis* (2nd edition). Los Angeles [etc.]: Sage, 122–143.

Rhetoric and Decision-Making in Media Calls for Action: A Discourse Analysis of Advocacy Campaigns

Irina Diana Mădroane

West University of Timișoara

irina.madroane@e-uvt.ro

The media advocacy or public engagement campaign targeted at social policy change is an activity type that has gained increasing visibility, but has been little explored to date. Advocacy argumentation is a challenging mixture of rhetoric and deliberation: publics are faced with making a decision in terms of giving or not their support to a cause, but at the same time they are steered towards a preferred course of action, already decided upon by the campaigners. This raises the issue of "normatively-responsible advocacy" (O'Keefe 2007) and, in what concerns the media, of the renegotiation of their institutional identity at the intersection of radical journalism (aimed at mobilization) and civic journalism (aimed at participatory democracy). In the Romanian media, a key ingredient of mobilization is the strategic use of counter-discourses that 'interpellate' in a highly critical note the political class; at the same time, these counter-discourses are incorporated into a decision-making process. As such, they provide the basis for rejection of the status-quo by claims-makers, who expose the negative consequences of existing policies, hold the authorities accountable, and put forward a solution. Importantly, counter-discourses also bring to the fore the discursive "images of the self" or the ethos (Amossy 2012) that campaigners construct for themselves, the publics called upon to act, and the campaign beneficiaries. The enactment of such identities within the campaign dispositive is crucial in legitimizing the opposition to existing policies.

The present study proposes a framework for the analysis of media advocacy campaigns which integrates rhetorical concepts with practical argumentation (the framework developed in critical discourse analysis by Fairclough and Fairclough 2012) and the pragmatic analysis of media dispositives. The approach allows both for a descriptive analysis of the discursive mechanisms in this type of campaign and for critical considerations of advocacy argumentation (the danger of sliding into populism, the openness – or not – towards anticipating counter-arguments) and of the dispositive itself (the constraints on the roles assigned to social actors, the excessive focus on individuals and events to the detriment of causes, the instrumentalization of communication).



References

Amossy, R. 2012. L'argumentation dans le discours. Paris: Armand Colin.

Fairclough, I. and Fairclough, N. 2012. *Political discourse analysis: A method for advanced students*. London: Routledge.

O'Keefe, D.J. 2007. Potential Conflicts between Normatively-Responsible Advocacy and Successful Social Influence: Evidence from Persuasion Effects Research. *Argumentation* 21 (2): 151–163.

Individual Positioning Work and the Mobilization of Responsibility in Organizational Discussions on Social Sustainability

Elizabeth R. Miller University of North Carolina at Charlotte, USA ermiller@uncc.edu

This presentation uses both corpus analysis and critical discourse analysis to explore how participants in an international research network, the Integrated Network for Social Sustainability (INSS), position themselves in relation to each other and those whom they hope to assist as they work toward the organization's primary goals of defining social sustainability and promoting sustainable practices. The organization, a 5-year research coordination network, funded by the National Science Foundation in the U.S., organizes annual conferences for its membership. Much of the conference schedule is organized around break-out sessions in which small groups discuss assigned topics with the aim of arriving at shared understandings of and concrete plans for advancing social sustainability.

This study analyzes the interactions from break-out sessions (26 total) recorded during the Year 1 and Year 2 conferences. The analysis uses corpus analysis tools (AntConc) to identify key words and to explore salient word clusters (corpus size: approximately 184,000 words). It also uses fine-grained discourse analysis to focus more closely on particular patterns in members' positioning of themselves and others through examining their situated uses of pronouns (*I/we* and *they/them*). The study argues that INSS members' lack of consensus on how to define social sustainability was *achieved*, somewhat paradoxically, through conflict-avoidance practices and an implicit orientation to maximum participation and collaboration rather than top-down strategizing in the break-out sessions. Furthermore, it explores how their orientation to shared common cause appears to have mobilized a paternalistic positioning toward others, again somewhat paradoxically, as they discussed how to empower these others to address inequitable practices or situations in which the social "pillar" of sustainability (the other two "pillars" are environmental and economic sustainability, Murphy 2012) has been ignored.

The study argues that this positioning work, while unremarkable for small group discussions, draws on and reproduces competing notions of responsibility (Trnka and Trundle 2014). These include notions of a) "responsibilization" that align with neoliberal ideals of self-regulating individuals' agency and empowerment and b) responsibility to "relations of care" (often regarded as paternalistic). The presentation discusses the implications of these competing notions of responsibility for organizational goals and advocacy work in general.

References

Murphy, K. 2012. The social pillar of sustainable development: A literature review and framework for policy analysis. *Sustainability: Science, Practice, & Policy* 8 (1): 15–29.

Trnka, S. & Trundle, C. 2014. Competing responsibilities: Moving beyond neoliberal responsibilisation.



Anthropological Forum 24 (2): 136–153.

Figurative language in the right-wing Polish discourse on immigration: Between innovation and tradition

Kamila Miłkowska-Samul Uniwersytet SWPS kmilkowska-samul@swps.edu.pl

Although the whole Europe struggles with the current immigration crisis and different views on the matter clash, in Poland the question of migrants has undergone a significant change due to a political shift caused by presidential and parliamentary elections held in 2015 and won by the conservative, nationalist, Catholic fundamentalist Prawo i Sprawiedliwość (PiS - Law and Justice).

In this paper, I would like to analyze the new Polish political discourse regarding immigration, especially the figurative mechanisms that it uses and rhetorical tools at its disposal. Cognitivism and conceptual theory of metaphor, along with rhetoric provide a theoretical framework within which the ruling party's discourse is considered. The metaphors (for example: immigrants are animals, immigrants are a natural disaster) express, but also reproduce and strengthen the ruling party's ideology. According to Critical Discourse Analysis premises, it is fundamental to discover the relations of power, systems of beliefs and values that reinforce inequalities and this is exactly the aim of this study. It would also be interesting to study the elements of innovation and tradition in the anti-immigration Polish discourse: the historical perspective may offer additional key to its interpretation. Moreover, it is crucial to highlight how a certain ideology and identity construction through language (especially us-them distinction) is universally used as a means of political power struggle.

Representing 'who we are' and 'what we do': A critical discourse analysis of medical tourism websites in Malaysia

Zuraidah Mohd Don University of Malaya zuraida@um.edu.my

Wang Nan University of Malaya wn1023@163.com

This study aims at examining how Malaysian medical providers represent themselves and their actions on their websites and how the ideology and power are conveyed behind the actors and actions. Guided by Reisigl and Wodak's Discourse Historical Approach (DHA) (Fairclough, Mulderrig, & Wodak, 2011; Reisigl & Wodak, 2005; Wodak, 2001) and Theo van Leeuwen's social actors network model (Van Leeuwen, 2008), an analysis of 73 Malaysian medical providers' websites accredited by Malaysia Healthcare Tourism Council (MHTC) was conducted. Specifically, the study focuses on the "Mission &Vision" section of Malaysian medical providers' websites.

The analysis starts with identifying macro-topics related to their self-representation, and then followed by an in-depth analysis of their discursive strategies of self-representation. Data analysis reveals DHA's five discursive strategies can only apply nomination, predication, intensification and mitigation. On the basis of the first two steps of analysis, we categorized and characterized the actors and their actions as well as examined the attributes of the social actors, enriching the set of analytical categories by using van Leeuwen's social



actors network model.

Findings showed that there are primary eight themes claimed in the given context: Care, Service, Facilities, Professionals, Innovation, Brand name, Ethics and Cost. Hospitals and clinics are activated as the primary social actors in the given context where patients and customers are backgrouding. They are represented as a personalized "we" and an impersonalized entity in turns in generally four different social practices: medical professionals, charitable organizations, educational institutions and religious siblings. Moreover, the personalized social actors tend to make propositions and the impersonalized prefer to use fact to legitimate themselves. Hospitals and clinics are primarily represented only by means of positive predications, making the others (patients and medical staff) as beneficiaries. The Self-representation of the Malaysian hospitals and clinics are intensified with superlatives and extreme adjectives in the first seven themes while mitigated with vague expressions in Cost. Such representations elevate the credibility of the medical providers' to attract more potential patients in text, and in this way, text is used to strengthen the power of the 'we' who are conducting self-promotion online.

References

Fairclough, N., Mulderrig, J., & Wodak, R. (2011). Critical discourse analysis. *Discourse studies: A multidisciplinary introduction*, 357–378.

- Reisigl, M., & Wodak, R. (2005). Discourse and discrimination: Rhetorics of racism and antisemitism: Routledge.
- Van Leeuwen, T. (2008). *Discourse and practice: New tools for critical discourse analysis*: Oxford University Press.

Wodak, R. (2001). The discourse-historical approach. Methods of critical discourse analysis, 63–94.

May the Fan Be with You! Languaging Authoriality and Representation between 'Pan-fanaticism' and 'Aug-melted' Reality

Ilaria Moschini Università di Firenze ilaria.moschini@unifi.it

"Transmedia storytelling" (Jenkins 2011) is an enhanced form of narration that helps the audience plunge into a fictional universe through a number of dispersed entry points, which provide a comprehensive fruition of a complex story. The intertwining of transmedially dispersed source texts with the artifacts that are created by the communities of fans to celebrate their preferred cultural products has reached such a climax that scholars are debating over a more expansive definition of transmediality, according to which "audiences, as well as official authors, co-construct narratives, story-worlds, and frames for engagement" (Stein and Busse 2012, 14). "Expanded transmediality" can be thus described as (at least) a bi-directional process where top-down media franchises exploit bottom-up participation, while grassroots involvement progressively influences the creation of television texts (Moschini 2014).

In such a context, the sphere of values belonging to fan communities has become pervasive since, not only these groups interact with TV series' creators, but also many screenwriters and directors tend to define themselves "fans" of the stories they wish to tell, which are often adaptations of already famous works. This phenomenon could be labeled 'pan-fanaticism' (Moschini 2015) and finds one of its most iconic examples in the "emergent authorial archetypes within convergence culture" (Scott 2012, 440), the so-called "fanboy



auteurs" (like Jack Snyder, Ronald D. Moore, Joss Whedon, Mark Gatiss and Steve Moffat), who occupy the liminal place between authors and audience.

Through the Critical Multimodal analysis (Machin 2013) of selected messages from the official social media channels of entertainment companies, the paper aims at investigating examples of the semantic and semiotic realization of transmedial 'pan-fanaticism'. Indeed, this is a kind of representation that sets the stage for the creation of transcultural/transnational "imagined communities" (Anderson 2006 [1983]) and the emergence of a sort of 'aug-melted reality', that is the mediated discursive space where global flows of "fantasyscapes" (Napier 2007) and reality converge and where collective and individual identities are negotiated.

References

- Anderson, B. 2006 [1983]. Imagined Communities. Reflections of the Origin and Spread of Nationalism. London: Verso.
- Jenkins, H. 2011 (August 1). *Transmedia 202, Further Reflections*. Retrieved on June 24, 2016, from http://henryjenkins.org/2011/08/defining_transmedia_further_re.html
- Machin, D. 2013. What is Multimodal Critical Discourse Studies?. *Critical Discourse Studies* 10 (4): 347–355.
- Moschini, I. 2014. "You Should've Seen Luke!" or the Multimodal Encoding/Decoding of the Language of Postmodern 'Webridized' TV Series. In G. Kress, R. Facchinetti, E. Adami (eds), *Text & Talk, Special Issue: Multimodality, Meaning Making and the Issue of "Text"* 34 (3): 283–305.
- Moschini, I. 2015. Nel segno dei geek: Elementary e Sherlock tra canone letterario, pratiche discorsive transmediali e 'pan-fanatismo'. In A. Guerra, *Sherlock on Air. Conan Doyle nelle serie TV Elementary e Sherlock*. Fano (PU): Aras Edizioni, Collana UrbiNoir Studi, 145–151.
- Napier, S. 2007. From Impressionism to Anime: Japan as Fantasy and Fan Cult in the Mind of the West. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Scott, S. 2012. Dawn of the Undead Author: Fanboy Auteurism and Jack Snyder's Vision. In J. Gray and D. Johnson (eds), *A Companion to Media Authorship*. Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell, 440–462.
- Stein, L. E. and Busse, K. (eds) 2012. *Sherlock and Transmedia Fandom: Essays on the BBC Series*. Jefferson, NC and London: McFarland.

Anecdotal news reporting: Recounting electioneering events in Runyankore-Rukiga

Levis Mugumya

Makerere University

lmugumya@gmail.com

The liberalization of airwaves and print media and the freeing of political space in Uganda have seen a proliferation of indigenous media outlets across the country publishing in English and local languages. The local print media has been vibrant in reporting various news events especially power struggle which are often characterized by verbal duels among political contestants.

This paper therefore, examines journalistic discourse in Uganda focusing on electioneering news recounts in Runyankore-Rukiga¹ across government-leaning and private newspapers. It demonstrates how news writers in Uganda have adopted a distinctive style of constructing a contemporary hard news story to recount power struggle among the local politicians during electoral campaigns (Orwenjo 2009; Burnes 2011; Brisset-Foucault

¹ Runyankore-Rukiga is an agglutinating Bantu language widely spoken in the whole of western Uganda and understood in north-western Tanzania and in the eastern areas of the Democratic Republic of Congo.



2014).

Drawing examples from a corpus of hard news stories from two local newspapers, *Orumuri* (the Torch) and *Entatsi* (the Spy), the paper explores linguistic resources that news writers employ to recount electioneering during parliamentary and presidential campaigns since 2001 to-date. The paper employs Appraisal theoretic principles (Martin and White 2005) to explicate the nature of linguistic devices that news writers invoke to communicate power struggle. It demonstrates how the generic construction of a contemporary Runyankore-Rukiga news story deviates from its counterpart that obtains in the Anglo-American journalistic setting whose values and norms relating to power relations are different from those prevalent in Uganda.

The paper further posits that the social and cultural context within which a story is constructed is vital and impacts the evaluative resources inherent in the news texts (Thomson and Huntson 2000). Thus, such communicative contexts within which the Runyankore-Rukiga news events are constructed define the nature of assessment that news writers employ to recount electioneering news stories. The paper also explains how the Runyankore-Rukiga journalistic tradition invokes grim humor, analogies and metaphors of war to recount electioneering news events and evaluate news actors during electoral campaigns.

References

- Brisset-Foucault, F. 2014. Domestication, coercion and resistance: the media in Central Uganda during the 2011 elections. In S. Perrot, S. Makara, J. Lafargue and M. Fouéré (eds) *Elections in a hybrid regime: revisiting the 2011 Uganda polls*. Kampala: Fountain Publishers, 208–247
- Burnes, S. 2011. Metaphors in press reports of elections: Obama walked on water, but Musharraf as beaten by a knockout. *Journal of Pragmatics* 43: 2160–2175.
- Martin J.R. and White P.R.R. 2005. *The language of evaluation: appraisal in English*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Orwenjo D.O. 2009. Political grandstanding and the use of proverbs in African political discourse. *Discourse Society*. 20 (1): 123–146.
- Thompson, G. & Huntson, S. 2000. Evaluation: an introduction. In G. Thompson and S. Huntson, (eds) *Evaluation in text: authorial stance and the construction of discourse*. Oxford: OUP, 1–27.

'Nudge' tactics in preemptive health policy: Multimodal strategies of persuasion and legitimation in the UK government's 'Change4Life' anti-obesity campaign

Jane Mulderrig

University of Sheffield

j.mulderrig@sheffield.ac.uk

In 2009 the UK government launched its first ever social marketing campaign. Titled 'Change4Life' it used colourful cartoon characters and simplified messages to 'reframe' the issue of obesity, and to encourage the public to take an active role in addressing this social problem. Anti-obesity policy is pre-emptive and in particular targets children as potentially obese future adults. This paper uses Critical Discourse Analysis to map the range of scientific, governmental, commercial, and other social practices which are brought together in this campaign. In dialogue with political theories of governmentality, it critically examines the balance of power and vested interests that lie behind the campaign, and assesses the wider political context in which insights from behavioural economics (or 'Nudge') are increasingly turned to for solutions to public policy problems. This technique particularly emphasises the importance of carefully crafted communication in



securing public compliance with desired policy outcomes. Its insidious potential and increasing importance in the statecraft of advanced economies has been widely debated in political science, economics, and health research. This paper contributes to that growing debate by offering a systematic and theoretically informed analysis of the discourse of Nudge in the context of health policy. Critical Discourse Analysis offers a rigorous framework for critical engagement with this influential approach to policy, and highlights the complex – and potentially conflicting – range of discourse practices upon which it draws. The TV advert used to launch the Change4Life campaign is analysed in detail from the perspective of intertextuality, legitimation, and representation. The findings show how scientific claims about the causes of and solutions to obesity are recontextualised, simplified, and distorted in this campaign. It is also argued that the increasing use of behavioural psychology helps legitimate an individualised solution to a collective social problem, and squeezes out public deliberation about obesity prevalence and its correlation with increasing social inequality.

Change management: The grammar is the message

Anne Murphy	Veronika Koller
Lancaster University	Lancaster University
a.murphy2@lancaster.ac.uk	v.koller@lancaster.ac.uk

This paper explores how a linguistically informed analysis of an internal "Diversity and Inclusion" action plan from a mid-sized global professional services company can offer insights into how the changes proposed in the text might be realised. It is posited that in spite of being unquestionably committed to the changes proposed, leaders and managers are engaged in discursive practices which reinforce the very things they want to change – and linguistic analysis may render this visible, and hence discussable. Thus the two research questions posed in the paper ask how change management is represented linguistically in the text, and what inferences can be drawn from this.

The paper begins with a review of traditional theories of organisational change which have influenced practice in professional services firms (Kotter 1995, 1996, Schein 1969, 1993, 1999). This is then contrasted with a relational leadership lens, a perspective which connects more readily with contemporary theorising in organisational discourse analysis (ODA) (for example, Hardy & Grant 2012, Fairhurst and Uhl-Bien 2012). It is argued that ODA is well able to illuminate the micro-context of communicative interactions and organisational change. The methodological anchor for the analysis draws on simplified elements of Hallidayan systemic-functional grammar (SFG) (Koller 2011) and highlights in particular ideational and interpersonal meaning, and their respective grammar systems of transitivity and modality.

The findings are structured around the themes of time, action and actors, and the way that each is represented linguistically in the text. The paper goes on to explore the extent to which the firm's assumptions about how change works can be inferred from the linguistic analysis. This analysis draws attention to potential "below-the-surface" elements of the way the firm sees itself in relation to change and to diversity; an unconscious linguistic bias which becomes an obstacle to realising the very change the firm aspires to. The conclusion draws attention to the communicative power of grammar and discusses contributions and limitations.

References

Hardy, C., & Grant, D. (2012). Readers beware: Provocation, problematization and...problems. *Human Relations*, 65, 547–566.

Koller, V. (2011) Hard-working, team oriented individuals: Constructing professional identities in corporate



mission statements. In Angouri, J and Marra, M (eds) Constructing identities at work. Basingstoke: Palgrave, 103–126.

Kotter, J (1995) Leading change: why transformation efforts fail. Harvard Business Review, 73(2), 59-67.

Kotter, John P. (1996). Leading Change. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

Schein, E.H (1969) *Process consultation*. Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley

Schein, E.H. (1993) On dialogue, culture, and organizational learning. *Organizational Dynamics*, 22(2), 40–52.

Schein, E.H. (1999) The corporate culture survival guide. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass

The political creation of *unAustralianness*: A critical study of in-group construction and subversion

Jill C. Murray Macquarie University jill.murray@mq.edu.au

To a major extent, the construction of a national identity is about the creation of difference, i.e. about defining what "we" are in terms of what others are not, (Wodak *et al.*, 2009). The term *un-Australian* has been the subject of critical interest mainly in the fields of cultural studies and sociology, which have explored its meanings (Alberts & Milner, 2002; Duffy, 2007; Smith & Phillips, (2001), and the marginalising impact of its targeted use (Gunders, 2012; Nahid, 2006; Selsky et. Al., 2003). However, historically contextualised corpusbased studies are lacking.

Lipset (1990) noted that there was no corresponding term *unEnglish*. Smith & Phillips (2001) identify *unAmerican* (emerging in the McCarthyist 1950s) as the closest parallel. However *unAustralian* has a longer history, being first used with positive valence in the 19th century to describe things that were more reminiscent of Britain. (Pavlidis, 2009). In the 20th century, it became associated with right wing and racist discourse, applied in connection with communists, the Irish, trade unions, pacifists, Catholics, the unemployed, as well as the generally disloyal, subversive seditious and criminal (Smith & Phillips, 2001). Frequency of use declined during the 1960s-80s, but the reascendency of conservative politics in 1996 saw a new resurgence.

Neuman (2007) undertook an exploratory study of 600 incidences in Australian parliament between 1994 and 2004. He was unable to find any patterns of meaning, concluding "at best, 'unAustralian' is used as a synonym for 'bloody awful', (2007: 481). However, it has also been suggested that the reality is more complex, and the pejorative *unAustralian* can also be reappropriated as a positive affirmation, reflecting the construction of a "non-identarian" identity, (Morton, 2008; Ranciere, 2007). Many questions remain about the purposes to which this term is put, how it is topicalised and challenged, and how its meaning and use have shifted in time.

This study focusses on newspaper texts and parliamentary transcripts of the last 10 years. Counter to expectation, the frequency was evenly spread among politicians of both left and right persuasion, but differences were found in the patterns of meaning and use, and in the assumptions entailed.

References

Alberts, P. and Millner J. 2002. Introduction: Unaustralian Activities. Continuum, 16 (1): 7–11.

Duffy, C. 2007. Conference Debates the Meaning of 'UnAustralian'. Continuum, 21 (4): 533-535.

Gunders, L. 2012. Immoral and un-Australian: the discursive exclusion of welfare recipients. *Critical Discourse Studies*, 9 (1): 1–13.

Kabir, N. 2007. What does it mean to be Unaustralian? Views of Muslim Students in 2006. People and place,



15 (1): 62–69

Lipset, S. M. 1990. Continental Divide. New York: Routledge.

Morton, J. 2008. Poofters Taking the Piss out of Anzacs: The (Un-)Australian Wit of Sydney's Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras. *Anthropological Forum*, 18 (3): 219–234.

Neumann, Klaus (2007). UnAustralian, Continuum, 21:4, 475–483.

Pavlides, E. 2009. The UnAustralian Condition: An Essay in Four Parts. *Transnational Literature* 2 (1): http://fhrc.flinders.edu.au/transnational/home.html

Rancière, J. 2007. What Does it Mean to be Un?, Continuum, 21:4, 559–569.

- Selsky, J. W., Spicer, A. and Teicher J. 2003. Totally Un-Australian! : Discursive and institutional interplay in the Melbourne Port disputes of 1997–8. *Journal of management Studies*, 40 (7): 1729–1760.
- Smith, P. and Phillips T. 2001. Popular understandings of 'UnAustralian': An investigation of the un-national. *Journal of Sociology*, 37 (4): 323–339.
- Wodak, R., de Cillia, R., Reisigl, M. and Liebhart, K. 2009. *The Discursive Construction of National Identity*. (2nd edition) Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press

Image repair or self-destruction? A corpus-assisted discourse analysis of restaurants' responses to online reviews

Antonella Napolitano University of Sannio

Maria Cristina Aiezza University of Sannio mariacristina.aiezza@unisannio.it

antonella.napolitano@unisannio.it

Customers are today becoming more and more reliant on online travel reviews for their buying decisions, such as where to stay on holiday or where to have dinner in a foreign town. In particular, TripAdvisor has become a first stop for travel planning.

People are increasingly engaging in electronic word-of-mouth (Pollach 2006), thus potentially influencing a business' economic performance. Firms cannot generally get negative reviews changed or removed, but the website grants a 'right to reply' function where owners can respond to criticism or thank customers for the compliments obtained (TripAdvisor 2014).

The present study calls into question the way restaurants are exploiting this medium, taking the opportunity to learn from the experiences of their customers or, instead, trying to discredit the reliability of the feedback received.

Complaint response represents a critical part of a business' customer relationship management, being responsiveness, compensation and contact highly valued by customers (Avant 2013). The paper aims at investigating the owners' replies to negative comments in UK and Italy. Our corpus collects a set of low score reviews left on TripAdvisor website for restaurants situated in the two countries. Zhang and Vásquez's (2014) analysis of the generic structure of hotel responses to customer complaints represents a practical reference to classify the moves enacted in the texts. Our study investigates the argumentations exploited by managers and owners to try to defend and rebuild trust and reputation, letting diners know that their opinions matter or, instead, imposing the firm's contrasting — and sometimes angry — point of view. Corpus-assisted discourse analysis (Baker 2006) constitutes a useful framework to help spot the characteristics typifying the owners' attitudes towards criticism in the two different cultural contexts, by means of the interpretation of tendencies and discursive patterns.

CADAAD 2016



References

Avant, T. 2013. Responding to TripAdvisor: How Hotel Responses to Negative Online Review Effect Hotel Image, Intent to Stay, and Intent to Return. Master's Thesis. Available online at http://scholarcommons.sc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3505&context=etd

Baker, P. 2006. Using corpora in discourse analysis. London and New York: Continuum.

Pollach, I. 2006. Electronic Word of Mouth: A Genre Analysis of Product Reviews on Consumer Opinion Web Sites. *Proceedings of the 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*: 1–10.

TripAdvisor 2014 (September 8). Guide. How to add Management Responses to TripAdvisor TravelerReviews.Availableonlineathttps://www.tripadvisor.com/TripAdvisorInsights/n2428/how-add-management-responses-tripadvisor-traveler-reviews

Zhang, Y. and Vásquez, C. 2014. Hotels' responses to online reviews: Managing consumer dissatisfaction. *Discourse, Context and Media* 6: 54–64.

"Women and work": A cross-linguistic corpus-assisted discourse study in German and in Italian

Chiara Nardone University of Bologna

chiara.nardone2@unibo.it

Interest towards corpus-assisted discourse studies has significantly grown in the last years¹, but cross-linguistic analysis still represents a small niche in this field of research, as emphasized, among others, in Partington *et al.* (2013).

Furthermore, Schafroth (2015) points out that, among romance languages, discourse analysis has not received much attention so far.

The aim of this contribution is thus to investigate, from a comparative corpus-assisted perspective, how discourse on "women and work" is constructed in German and Italian.

It is worth mentioning that Germany and Italy have a considerably different women's employment rate² and a substantial discrepancy in terms of economic participation and opportunity for women, as the Global Gender Gap Index shows³.

The analysis has been carried out on two large corpora (itTenTen⁴ and deTenTen⁵), made available through the software Sketch Engine⁶. Since "[o]ne way of making sense of a discourse of something is to compare it to a discourse of what it is not" (Baker 2005: 64), not only sentences containing "women and work" and "work

¹ For an overview of Corpus approaches to Discourse Studies see http://www.gabrielatos.com/CLDA-Biblio.htm

 $^{^{2}}$ In 2014 women's employment rate in Italy was 50,3%, whereas in Germany was 73,1% (source Eurostat, http://goo.gl/WOHbbv).

 $^{^3}$ Germany is in the 34th rank with the score of 0.739 and Italy is in 114th rank with the score of 0.574. <code>http://reports.weforum.org/global-gender-gap-report-2014/</code>

⁴ https://www.sketchengine.co.uk/ittenten-corpus/

⁵ https://www.sketchengine.co.uk/detenten-corpus/

⁶ https://www.sketchengine.co.uk/



and women"¹ but also the ones containing "men and work" and "work and men"² have been analyzed in both languages. Lexical collocates of the abovementioned pairs of words have been collected and a sample of concordance lines has been observed more in detail.

Results on collocational analysis show some interesting patterns concerning the discourse on "women and work". Firstly, women are explicitly more frequently associated with work than men in both corpora, even though men's employment rate³ is higher than women's in both countries. A reason for this could be that minority groups, women in this case, are "more unusual and/or problematic and therefore more likely to be remarked upon" (Baker 2005: 66).

Furthermore, it can be pointed out that discourse on "women and work" in German and Italian is constructed around different semantic areas (i.e. economic dimension and equality in German, opportunities and working conditions in Italian). On the grounds of these results and of the abovementioned external data, it can be argued that in both countries "women and work" is still considered a "problematic" issue, though the size and the sort of the "problems" to solve is different.

References

Baker, P. 2005. Public discourses of gay men. London: Routledge.

- Partington, A., A. Duguid and C. Taylor. 2013. *Patterns and Meanings in Discourse: Theory and practice in corpus-assisted discourse studies (CADS)*. Amsterdam & Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Schafroth, E. 2015. Vergleichende Diskursanalyse als romanistische Forschungspraxis. Zur Rezeption des Sarrazin-Diskurses in französischen, italienischen und spanischen Printmedien. In A. Heinemann and C. Schlaak (eds) *Politische und mediale Diskurse. Fallstudien aus der Romania*. Berlin: Frank & Timme, 57– 82.

Skilling the nation, empowering the citizen: Neoliberal logic in Singapore's SkillsFuture initiative

Carl Jon Way Ng City University of Hong Kong carl.jw.ng@cityu.edu.hk

Since the 2008 global financial crisis and subsequent economic woes in the Eurozone and elsewhere, there have been prognostications of the collapse of neoliberal capitalism. Despite this, neoliberalism has proven to be more resilient than thought, and continues to hold significant sway over political governance in many societies. It is in this vein that this paper focuses on a policy initiative announced by the Singapore government in 2015, known as SkillsFuture. In some sense, the initiative is a continuation of the city-state's existing Continuing Education and Training programme aimed at encouraging lifelong learning in adult workers and learners. At the same time, however, it is new in terms of its consuming scope and ambition – targeting an expanded group of Singaporeans that now includes schoolchildren, with stronger support from and coordination with industry and employers, a more comprehensive suite of programmes, and more government resources invested – in a context of economic challenges which the government deems to be global and

¹ Being the English translations for the Italian *donne e lavoro* and vice-versa and for the German *Frauen und Arbeit* and vice-versa.

² Being the English translations for the Italian *uomini e lavoro* e vice-versa and for the German *Männer und Arbeit* and vice-versa.

³ http://goo.gl/BSfLZy



unavoidable.

Examining a range of SkillsFuture-related documents and communication platforms produced by the government, such as speeches, the SkillsFuture official website, and YouTube clips, I investigate how values like competition, empowerment, choice and flexibility are semiotized in these texts to form the central themes of the government's communications. The analysis will look at linguistic choices as well as visual design, involving semiotic features like modality, pronouns and metaphor, among others. In doing so, the paper discusses how key elements of neoliberal logic, such as self-regulating competitive markets and actors, the individualization of collective challenges, vocationalization of education, and the configuration of citizens as consumers, run through the government discourse and form the lynchpin of the policy initiative.

Investigating LGBTI Asylum Claims in the UK: An Analysis of the Judicial Reviews

Maria Cristina Nisco University of Naples L'Orientale mcnisco@unior.it

According to the United Nations Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (1951), the key to the characterisation of a person as a refugee is the risk of persecution. For the purpose of refugee status determination, the asylum seeker must provide a truthful account of relevant facts so that national authorities can assert the applicability of laws and establish the reasons justifying inclusion or exclusion. However, in the process of analysis of the circumstances of displacement, one group of claimants seems to appear more vulnerable than others: LGBTI asylum seekers (Spijkerboer 2013).

In the United Kingdom, despite several progresses in the field of asylum law, the treatment of LGBTI asylum seekers continues to pose a number of challenges. The UK Border Agency officers have often proved to be inadequately trained to deal with claims based on sexual orientation and gender identity, which results in a considerably high rate of refusals.

Moving from the assumption that the notion of 'refugee' is a politically and legally contested space (Firth and Mauthe, 2004), this paper specifically investigates the judicial reviews of denied asylum claims in the UK. A corpus comprising the appeals of LGBTI asylum seekers from 2001 to early 2016 has been collected and will be analysed in search of discursive instances and linguistic patterns highlighting how the British courts address LGBTI asylum issues. Indeed, the rulings issued by both the UK Asylum and Immigration Tribunal and the Upper Tribunal (Immigration and Asylum Chamber) could shed light on the construal of the asylum seekers' *textual personas* in legal discourse. The analysis will also take into account the evaluative properties of the texts under scrutiny (Hunston and Thompson 2000; Martin and White 2005; Bednarek 2009a, 2009b), by investigating the linguistic markers signalling the legal appraisal of claimants' stories and the values emerging from how immigration judges handle these cases.

References

Bednarek, M. 2009a. Dimensions of Evaluations. Cognitive and Linguistic Perspectives. *Pragmatics and Cognition* 17 (1): 146–175.

Bednarek, M. 2009b. Language Patterns and Attitude. Functions of Language 16 (2): 165–192.

Firth, G. and Mauthe, B. 2004. Refugee Law, Gender and the Concept of Personhood. *International Journal of Refugee Law* 25 (3): 470–501.

Hunston, S. and Thompson, G. (eds). 2000. Evaluation in Text. Authorial Stance and the Construction of



Discourse. Oxford: OUP.

Martin, J.R. and White, P.R.R. 2005. *The Language of Evaluation: Appraisal in English*. London and New York: Palgrave/Macmillan.

Spijkerboer, T. (ed.). 2013. Fleeing Homophobia. Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Asylum. London and New York: Routledge.

Identity production in Family Videoconferences: A multimodal analysis

Sigrid Norris Auckland University of Technology sigrid.norris@aut.ac.nz

This paper takes a multimodal perspective (Norris, 2004, 2011a, 2012a, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2015; Geenen, 2013a, 2013b, forthcoming; Geenen, Norris & Makboon, 2015; Makboon, 2015; Pirini, 2014, 2015, 2016), building upon mediated discourse analysis (Scollon, 1998, 2001; Norris and Jones, 2005a, b) to examine how identities are produced in family videoconferencing (inter)actions.

The data comes from a relatively large project of 17 New Zealand families interaction via videoconferencing technology with family members overseas. In all, 84 individuals from the age of infant to 84 years old participated. (Inter)actions include (mostly) young children and adults, adults and their parents, and children, parents and grandparents. So far, Geenen (forthcoming) examined how children in this data set learn to (inter)act successfully. Norris (forthcoming a) has taken a methodological perspective and also examined rhythmic Zeitgeber in (inter)action (Norris, forthcoming b); and Pirini & Kusmierczyk-O'Connor (forthcoming) examined mirroring actions to 'be there' in family videoconferences.

Building upon previous studies on identity (Norris, 2005, 2008, 2011a, b, 2012b; Norris & Makboon, 2015), I focus in this presentation on the multimodal production of family identities in videoconferencing sessions, offering snippets of video data and multimodal transcripts of a number of (inter)actions. Family identities, it is shown, are produced through a multitude of higher- and lower-level actions and through the use of a great number of modes from language to gesture and layout to dress. While language certainly tells much of how family identities are produced, incorporating all relevant modes to study the (inter)actions holistically allows us to also see the tacit production of various identities that come into play in family (inter)actions such as gender or generational identities, which often are performed through silent actions and modes that are visible, but not necessarily verbally alluded to, in videoconferencing (inter)actions.

As Ballagas *et al.* (2009) and others have pointed, families connect through video technology; but here, I demonstrate how videoconferencing technology allows families to enforce and reinforce identities. So far no study has examined how identities are multimodally produced in family videoconferencing (inter)actions. Therefore, this study breaks new ground by investigating the verbal and nonverbal and thus multimodal production of family identities via videoconferencing technology.

References

Ballagas, R., Kaye, J. J., Ames, M., Go, J., & Raffle, H. (2009). Family communication: Phone conversations with children. *Proceedings of the 8th international Conference on interaction Design and Children* (pp. 321–324).

Geenen, J. 2013a. "Actionary Pertinence: Space to Place in Kitesurfing." *Multimodal Communication* 2(2): 123–54.

CADAAD 2016



- Geenen, J. 2013b. "Kitesurfing: Action, (Inter)action and Mediation." Unpublished doctoral thesis, Auckland, NZ: Auckland University of Technology.
- Geenen, J. forthcoming. Multimodal acquisition of interactive aptitudes: A microgenetic case study. *Pragmatics in Society*.
- Geenen, J.; Norris, S. and Makboon, B. 2015. Multimodal Discourse Analysis. In: *International Encyclopedia of Language and Social Interaction*. NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Makboon, B. 2015. "Communicating Religious Belief: Multimodal Identity Production of Thai Vegetarians." Unpublished doctoral thesis, Auckland, NZ: Auckland University of Technology.
- Norris, S. 2004. Analyzing Multimodal Interaction: A Methodological Framework. London: Routledge.
- Norris, S. 2005. Habitus, social identity, the perception of male domination and agency? In: Norris, Sigrid and Jones, R. (eds) *Discourse in Action: Introducing mediated discourse analysis*. London: Routledge. 183–197.
- Norris, S. 2008. Personal identity construction: A multimodal perspective. In Bhatia, Vijay, Flowerdew John, and Jones, Rodney, H. (eds) *New Directions in Discourse*. London: Routledge. 132–149.
- Norris, S. 2011a. *Identity in (Inter)action: Introducing Multimodal (Inter)action Analysis*. Berlin, Boston: de Gruyter Mouton.
- Norris, S. 2011b. Practice-based research: Multimodal explorations through poetry and painting. *Multimodal Communication* 1(1): 31–46.
- Norris, S. 2012a. Multimodal Interaction Analysis: Overview. In Carol A. Chapelle (ed). *The Encyclopedia of Applied Linguistics*. Somerset, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Norris, S. 2012b. The creation of a community artist in everyday life: Long-duration process and creative actions. In Jones, R. H. (ed) *Discourse and creativity*. Harlow, UK: Pearson Education.
- Norris, S. 2013a. Multimodal (inter)action analysis. In: Albers P, Holbrook T, Flint A.S. *New Methods of Literacy Research*. London, New York: Routledge.
- Norris, S. 2013b. Multimodal (Inter)action Analysis: An Integrative methodology. In: C. Müller, E. Fricke, A. Cienki, D. McNeill (eds). *Body Language Communication*. Berlin, New York: de Gruyter Mouton.
- Norris, S. 2013c. What is a mode? Smell, olfactory perception, and the notion of mode in multimodal mediated theory. *Multimodal Communication* 2(2): 155–169.
- Norris, S. (ed). 2015. *Multimodality: Critical Concepts in Linguistics*. 1. ed. Volumes I–IV, 1,714 pages. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Norris, S. forthcoming a. Concepts in multimodal discourse analysis with examples from video conferencing. *Yearbook of the Poznań Linguistic Meeting*. de Gruyter Open.
- Norris, S. forthcoming b. Rhythmus und Resonanz in internationalen Videokonferenzen. In: Breyer, Thiemo; Buchholz, Michael; Hamburger, Andreas; und Pfänder Stefan (Hgg). *Resonanz, Rhythmus & Synchronisierung: Erscheinungsformen und Effekte*. Bielefeld: transcript-Verlag.
- Norris, S. and Jones R.H. (eds) 2005a. *Discourse in Action: Introducing mediated discourse analysis*. London: Routledge.
- Norris, S. and Jones, R. H. 2005b. Introducing mediated action. In: Norris, Sigrid and Jones, R. (eds) *Discourse in Action: Introducing mediated discourse analysis*. London: Routledge. 15–19.
- Norris, S. and Makboon, B. 2015. Objects, Frozen actions, and Identity: A multimodal (Inter)action Analysis. *Multimodal Communication* 4(1):43–60.
- Pirini, Jesse. 2015. "Research into Tutoring: Exploring Agency and Intersubjectivity." Unpublished doctoral thesis, Auckland, NZ: Auckland University of Technology.
- Pirini, Jesse. 2016. "Intersubjectivity and Materiality: A Multimodal Perspective." *Multimodal Communication* 5(1):1–14.
- Pirini, J. & Kusmierczyk-O'Connor, E. (forthcoming). Mirroring in family videoconferences: A Multimodal analysis.
- Scollon, Ron. 1998. Mediated Discourse as Social Interaction. London: Longman.
- Scollon, Ron. 2001. Mediated Discourse: The Nexus of Practice. London, Routledge.



A critical examination of how The Guardian construed Yanis Varoufakis

Gerard O'Grady Cardiff University

ogradygn@cardiff.ac.uk

This paper investigates how the British left of Centre newspaper, *The Guardian*, construed the former Greek Finance Minister, Yanis Varoufakis during his time in office. It explores how the newspaper employed lexicogrammatical choices to realize texts, which represented Varoufakis as an inhabitant of worlds normally dissociated from politics. It shows that the newspaper mainly through its choices of Material and Relational verbal processes consistently represented him not only as an actor in a political world but also simultaneously represented him as an actor in a celebrity world. By depicting him as a celebrity, the newspapers denigrated his gravitas as a politician and situated him as both a political dilettante and interloper. This had the crucial effect of obscuring the import of Varoufakis' counter-hegemonic proposals and naturalising the Euro group's imposition of austerity as the only solution. Simultaneously alternate explanations for the crisis in the Eurozone were obscured.

References

Halliday, M. A. K. and Mathiessen C. M. I. M. 2014. *Introduction to Functional Grammar* (4th Edition). London: Routledge.

Lapavistas, C. 2012. Crisis in the Eurozone. London: Verso.

O'Grady, G. 2017/forthcoming. SFL and CDA. In W. Bowcher. L Fontaine & J Lian (eds) Cambridge Handbook of Systemic Functional Linguistics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Varoufakis, Y. 2015. *The Global Minatour: America, Europe and the Future of the Global Economy*. London: Zed books.

Resemiotisation across different media: From book to stage to screen

Kay O'Halloran

Curtin University

kay.ohalloran@curtin.edu.au

This paper adopts a multimodal social semiotic approach for exploring the semiotic changes involved in the transformation of a novel into stage and screen productions. It examines how semiotic resources are deployed in each medium through elements of *mise-en-scène*, such as speech, music, sound, lighting, props, staging, and cinematographic techniques, and the viewing perspectives and experiences that are thus established for audiences (Tan, Wignell, & O'Halloran, 2016). The genre of Gothic horror is selected for this purpose, given how this form of performance has transfixed audiences for centuries and has been adapted for both the stage and the screen. In order to demonstrate how each performance medium has produced its own unique set of foregrounding devices to enthral and captivate audiences in ways best suited to their respective environments, a comparative analysis of excerpts from the novel *The Woman in Black*, a videotaped theatrical performance, and the 2012 British horror film of the same name, is undertaken. The paper discusses the implications of the

CADAAD 2016



multimodal semiotic approach for developing a better understanding of the semiotic transformations across different media, and concludes with a view towards the changing viewership positions that are thus re-drawn for audiences.

Reference

Tan, S., Wignell, P. & O'Halloran, K.L. (2016). From Book to Stage to Screen: Semiotic Transformations of Gothic Horror Genre Conventions. *Social Semiotics Special Issue: The Languages of Performing Arts: Semiosis, Communication and Meaning-Making*, 26(4). DOI:10.1080/10350330.2016.1190082

A posthuman critical discourse analysis: Evaluating public sphere arguments with data-driven ethical subjectivities

Kieran O'Halloran King's College, University of London kieran.o'halloran@kcl.ac.uk

In traditional CDA pedagogy, critique of text is steered by a political subjectivity which contests inequality. I model an alternative CDA pedagogy which is ethically-oriented and data-driven (O'Halloran 2017). This alternative CDA focuses on public sphere arguments which characterise or attack the standpoint of socially/economically relatively powerless groups. It differs from other CDA pedagogy because students do not evaluate such arguments from their political subjectivity, but *from the perspective of the key concerns/motivations of the socially/economically relatively powerless group being attacked/characterised*.

The approach is as follows. Students act 'nomadically', searching the web for an argument attacking an unfamiliar socially/economically relatively powerless group. After this selection, students show 'digital hospitality' to the Other attacked in the argument by performing keyword/lemma/collocation analysis of a corpus of multiple texts produced by this Other, e.g., in the Other's online campaign/ their social media usage. This corpus linguistic analysis facilitates efficient identification of common concerns across the Other's standpoint. Students then use this information as a critical lens on the argument to ascertain whether or not it is a 'straw man'. This strategy is grounded in the posthuman nomadic ethics of Rosi Braidotti (Braidotti 2013); the critical lens is dependent on machines. For these reasons, I see the critical lens as an *ethical subjectivity* and the strategy as a *posthuman* form of critical discourse analysis. I highlight the strategy's pedagogical advantages and how it relates the ethical to the political.

To demonstrate the approach, I focus on a widely circulated public sphere argument which contested a recent successful campaign. This campaign, 'No More Page 3' (NMP3), asked for the removal of a topless model page from the UK popular newspaper, *The Sun*. I collected reasons given by signatories to the NMP3 petition on the website www.change.org, combining these with reasons given by the campaign initiators. Using a software tool, I identified the most frequent concerns/motivations of this NMP3 discourse. In effect, I created a posthuman ethical subjectivity. I show how this subjectivity can be used as a critical lens on the anti-NMP3 argument, revealing how this argument unravels relative to common concerns of NMP3 discourse.

References

Braidotti, R. 2013. *The Posthuman*. Cambridge: Polity. O'Halloran, K.A. 2017. *Posthuman Critical Thinking*. Abingdon: Routledge.



Discourses of extremism in an age of terror

John O'Regan UCL Institute of Education, University College London john.oregan@ucl.ac.uk Anne Betzel UCL Institute of Education, University College London a.betzel@gmail.com

This paper applies a particular model of critical discourse analysis – the dialectical-relational approach – (Fairclough 2010) to a selection of discourse data derived from the (inter)cultural contexts of islamism, white supremicism, and multiculturalism. The social phenomenon we focus upon is the discursive construction of identities in discourses of extremism and political multiculturalism on the part of islamists and white supremacists on the one hand and UK politicians on the other, and the way in which cultural essentialism and outsiderness may be seen to dominate the lenses of both discourses. We argue that there are similarities between the way in which these discourses are articulated by their distinctive protagonists. More precisely, we wish to show how in discourses of extremism and political multiculturalism, a division between us and them serves as an organizing principle which isolates certain cultural elements and identity markers within an essentialist view that reduces and 'others' the Other, and which closes off – overtly in the case of islamists and white supremacists, and at least consequentially in the case of British politicians – any possibility of a dialogic understanding of culture and intercultural relations which might alter the (inter)cultural status quo. In recent months we have seen a public sphere debate over islamist extremism and the war in Syria in which government and establishment groups have condemned those questioning official discourse positions on extremism and the need for a bombing campaign as 'apologists for terror'. We argue that this is a default strategy by which stock ideological views are produced and recycled for the constructing of a reality which accords with the current western capitalist neoliberal hegemony.

References

Fairclough, N. (2010). A dialectical-relational approach to critical discourse analysis in social research. In N. Fairclough, *Critical discourse analysis: The critical study of language*. London: Longman, 230–254.

Journalistic discourse about Gypsies in Spain: Analyzing shifting representations from the democratic transition to the present

Joan M. Oleaque Moreno Universidad Internacional de Valencia-VIU juanmanuel.oleaque@campusviu.es

This paper¹ analyzes the discourse about the Gypsy community —the oldest and biggest ethnic minority in Spain— from the beginning of democracy to the 2010s in the Spanish so-called quality press. Although the latter's influence has declined in recent years due to free, digital newspapers and the economic crisis, these prestigious media still have real power. In consequence, my purpose is to understand how far this type of

¹ This paper is framed within the project *PRODIS-NET: Procesos discursivos en Internet: confluencia de partidos, medios y ciudadanos* (Ref. FFI2015-67668-R, MINECO, granted to Universitat de València).



newspaper has played in representing the contemporary situation of this community, a community increasingly viewed by the majority of society as being different and inferior – even after six hundred years of coexistence (CIS, 2013).

My research is based on the analysis of three influential newspapers: *El País, ABC*, and *La Vanguardia*. I have divided the historical period into seven phases of two years each, from 1981 to 2010, and constructed a corpus of texts from those periods. I decided to carry out both a quantitative and qualitative. The quantitative analysis was done by using the software AntConc, taking into account 1.603.557 words from 1.661 texts. A close qualitative analysis of 21 representative texts was done via Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA), in particular by utilizing the discourse–historical approach (DHA). I focused on positive self-presentation and negative other-presentation (Reisigl and Wodak, 2015), analysing mainly referential and predicational discursive strategies and examples of argumentation strategies. I further focused on discursive categories with an ideological-meaning which are often found in texts about ethnic minorities (Van Dijk, 2003).

Taking all this into account, I come to the conclusion that the delegitimization of the Gypsies is widespread and has, in fact, grown recently. There are differences among the newspapers, but they never accepted that this community is affected by racism in Spain. Furthermore, when the ethnic group is linked to immigration, the representation is uniquely concerned with dangerous conflict, amplifying old and pre-democratic stereotypes about this minority, thereby contradicting democratic norms and journalistic rigor usually associated with the quality press.

References

- Centro de Investigaciones Sociológicas, CIS 2013. Percepción de la discriminación en España. Madrid: Centro de Investigaciones Sociológicas.
- Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2015. The discourse historical approach (DHA) in Wodak, R. and Meyer, M. (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Studies. Third Edition*. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi, Singapore: Sage, 23–61.
- Van Dijk, T.A 2003. Ideología y discurso. Barcelona: Ariel.

SAPS (South African Police Service)-SPEAK. Transformation, confusion and representation of voices in the internal documents of the post-apartheid police

Claudia Ortu

Università di Cagliari - University of Johannesburg claudiaortu@unica.it

When, in 1994, the African National Congress (ANC) took power at the end of the apartheid regime in South Africa, one of its first acts was the creation of the South African Police Service (SAPS) which, as its name tried to convey, was designed to be a service towards the population, as opposed to one of repression of political dissidents (as it was the case for its predecessor, SAP).

Researchers have been particularly critical of the outcomes of such transformation process. Especially since 2004, at the onset of the wave of protests evocatively called 'Rebellion of the Poor' (Alexander 2010), patterns of police response to public demonstrations of citizens' grievances have started to remind them of old-style apartheid policing (Dixon 2015).

SAPS activities in public order policing are recorded in the Incident Registration Information System (IRIS). From 1997 to 2013 IRIS reports 156,230 "crowd incidents"; 10% of these were considered "violent"

(Alexander *et al.* 2015, 5). Among these, incidents that are labour-related are the most numerous (24% of the total) (Alexander *et al.* 2015, 5). Each of the recorded incidents is accompanied by a "notes" section where the police detail how their intervention unfolded. This internal document offers a precious insight both in the practices and in the culture of SAPS and might help to explain its shortcomings.

The proposed paper is an analysis of the labour-related corpus (390.000 words) for linguistic evidence of continuity and change in the culture of SAPS, operationalised in: choice of language used (SA has 11 official languages), genre characteristics and genre integrity (Bhatia 2015; van Leeuwen 1993; Bhatia 2008; Fairclough 2003; Martin and Rose 2003), intertextuality (Voloshinov 1973; Bakhtin 1986; Fairclough 2003; Fairclough 1992) and its meaning for the representation of voices in the corpus and, finally ideational metafunction (Halliday and Matthiessen 2004). The corpus has been tagged and studied through the UAM corpus tool (O'Donnel 2012), which allows quantitative as well as qualitative analysis according to systemic-functional grammar. The linguistic findings are interpreted according to the different trends in political science and anthropology on the issue of police operations in the neo-liberal context.

References

- Alexander, P. 2010. Rebellion of the Poor: South Africa's Service Delivery Protests a Preliminary Analysis. *Review of African Political Economy* 37 (123): 25–40. DOI:10.1080/03056241003637870
- Alexander, P., Runciman, C. and Maruping, B. 2015. South African Police Service Data on Crowd Incidents: A preliminary analysis. University of Johannesburg. bit.ly/1JVgQri.

Bakhtin, M. 1986. Speech Genre and Other Essays. Austin.

- Bhatia, V. K. 2015. Critical Genre Analysis: Theoretical Preliminaries. *HERMES Journal of Language and Communication in Business* 27 (54): 9–20.
- Bhatia, V. K. 2008. Towards Critical Genre Analysis. In V. K. Bhatia, J. Flowerdew and R. H. Jones (eds) *Advances in Discourse Studies*. 166–77.
- Dixon, B. 2015. A Violent Legacy: Policing Insurrection in South Africa from Sharpeville to Marikana. *British Journal of Criminology*, azv056.
- Fairclough, N. 1992. Special Issue: Intertextuality in Critical Discourse Analysis. *Linguistics and Education* 4 (3): 269–93. DOI:10.1016/0898-5898(92)90004-G
- Fairclough, N. 2003. Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research. Routledge.

Halliday, M. and Matthiessen C. 2004. An Introduction to Functional Grammar. 3rd ed. Hodder Education.

Leeuwen van, T. 1993. Genre and Field in Critical Discourse Analysis: A Synopsis. *Discourse & Society* 4 (2): 193–223. DOI:10.1177/0957926593004002004

Martin, J. R. and Rose D. 2003. Working with Discourse: Meaning Beyond the Clause. Bloomsbury Academic.

O'Donnel, M. 2012. UAMCT (version 3). MacOSX. Available online at http://www.wagsoft.com/CorpusTool/index.html

Voloshinov, V. N. 1973. Marxism and the Philosophy of Language. Harvard University Press.



"Le Péril Noir": Sub-Saharan Immigrants in Moroccan Newspapers

Mohammed Ouhemmou Hassan II University ouhemou@gmail.com

Morocco is located in the extreme North-West of Africa, just 14 kilometers away from Spain. Its geographical location has made it a destination for thousands of Sub-Saharan migrants and refugees. Being an Africa state, Morocco is expected to be highly tolerant to other African immigrants. However, the reality is rather the opposite. Since their arrival in Morocco, Sub-Saharan migrants (SSM) are the subject of fear, mistrust and racism. Public discussions about those immigrants are often infested deprecating, disparaging, and racist tropes; hence, the immigrants are often referred as "dirty blacks, black locusts, invaders, and HIV carriers". Yet, instead of covering events which involve Sub-Saharan migrants with a more objective and less racist discourse, Moroccan newspapers have always adopted and endorsed a populist, racist, and fear-mongering discourse. An example of such discourse is an article in a local newspaper and whose title could be translated as "*Regiments of [African] prostitutes spread HIV in the streets of Morocco*".

This article labels Sub-Saharan women as prostitutes who intentionally infect Moroccans with HIV. In another article, the movement of Sub-Saharan migrants into the country is described in a title as follows "*Black grasshoppers invade northern Morocco*". It seeks to analyze the discourse adopted by Moroccan newspapers in reference to SSM, it demonstrates how these newspapers make use of strategies of representation, syntax, transitivity, lexicon, argumentation, as well as rhetorical choices such as euphemism, denials, metaphors, hyperbole, and Arab proverbs to create a negative image of African immigrants. The paper adopts and adapts CDA to reflect on racist discourse in a non-western context, that the characteristics of racist media discourse in Arabic newspapers. While doing so, the article adopts a comparative mindset regarding not only similar kinds of research conducted in western contexts, but also exploring the extent to which models of analysis developed by (Wodak & Meyer 2008; Gee 1996; Fowler 1989; Castle and Kosack 1972; van Dijk 1987; Fairclough,1995; Wodak 2008) could be convenient in approaching discourse in a non-Indo-European language(Arabic), different socio-cultural context (African, Islamic).

References

- Castles, S., & Kosack, G. 1972. The Function of Labour Immigration in Western European Capitalism. *New Left Review* I (73): 3–22.
- Fairclough, N.1989. Language and Power. London: Longman.
- Fairclough, N. 1995. Media Discourse. London: Hodder Arnold Publication.
- Gee, J. P. 1996. Social Linguistics and Literacies: Ideology in Discourses. London: Taylor & Francis.
- van Dijk, T. A. 1987. Communicating racism: Ethnic prejudice in thought and talk. New Delhi: Sage Publication.
- Wodak, R., & Krzyżanowski, M. 2008. *Qualitative discourse analysis in the social sciences*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Wodak, R., & Meyer, M. 2008. Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis. London: SAGE.



From theatre to digital performance: Restaging, remediating and resemiotising via social media

Sandra Petroni

University of Rome 'Tor Vergata' sandra.petroni@uniroma2.it

Can the distinctive essence of theatre and theatrical performances still survive in digital environments? What are the gains and losses in the transduction (Kress 1997) of performances from the real stage into a virtual networked stage? Recontextualising a performance via social media implies an augmented creative process of re-staging, re-mediating and re-semiotising. The Medium and its affordances become the main actors and at the same time 'direct' and remediate (Bolter and Grusin 1999) all the semiotic resources involved in the theatrical event. The dramatic text (script and/or mis-en-scene) is recontextualised into a sort of UGC (User Generated Content) and can be changed endlessly by diverse audiences from disparate places in different time. The entire process allows the "Work of Art" to re-generate its auratic nature (Benjamin 1936).

Space, time and agency, the three prototypical dramatic fundamentals around which multimodal ensembles have constructed theatrical representations of feelings, ideas, and facts over the centuries, are today deconstructed and (re)produced through digital technologies subverting and manipulating their traditional role and scope. Author/director, actor, script/text, audience, stage, technicalities, are no longer conceived as real and well-defined constituents of the act of creation. Instead, they play the game of dichotomy, or rather, they dynamically move along different continua such as: appearance/dis-appearance (Baudrillard 1983; Virilio 1991 [1980]) embodiment/dis-embodiment (Balsamo 2000; Munster 2006), real/virtual (Levy 1995; Jackson 2011), unique authorship/collective authorship (Blake 2014), isolation/interactivity (Petroni 2015). For this reason, identifying and analyzing all the semiotic changes included in the resemiotisation of performances into digital theatrical artifacts become extremely complex.

This study aims to investigate the multi-faceted, augmented and "hyper-theatrical" (Leheman 2006) dimension of digital performance and how its multiple representations produce meaning. To show this, some examples of UGC-like performances will be presented. Furthermore, the impact of these new digital forms of performance production and consumption on global-scaled audiences will be discussed in terms of how meaning is socio-culturally positioned and interpreted.

References

Balsamo, A. 2000. The virtual body in Cyberspace. In D. Bell and B.M. Kennedy (eds), *Cybercultures reader*. London: Routledge, 489–503.

Baudrillard, J. 1983. Simulations. New York: Semiotext(e).

Benjamin, W. 1936[2008]. *The Work of Art in the Age of Mechanical Reproduction*. London: Penguin Books. Blake, B. 2014. *Theatre & the Digital*. Basingstoke, Hampshire (UK): PalgraveMacmillan.

Bolter, J.D. and Grusin, R. 1999. Remediation: Understanding New Media. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Jackson, S. 2011. Social Works: Performing Arts, Supporting Publics. New York: Routledge.

Kress, G. 1997. Before Writing: Rethinking the Paths to Literacy. London & New York: Routledge.

Leheman, H. 2006. Postdramatic Theatre. New York: Routledge.

Levy, P. 1995 [1997]. Il virtuale. Milan: Raffaello Cortina Editore.

Munster, A. 2006. *Materialising New Media: Embodiment in Information Aesthetics*. Hannover, NH: Dartmouth College Press.



Petroni, S. 2015. Perceiving a fragmented unity: Antinomic Relations in Digitality. In J. Pelkey, S. W. Matthews, L. Sbrocchi (eds), *Semiotics 2014. Yearbook of the Semiotic Society of America*. Toronto, Legas publishing, 237–247.

Virilio, P. 1991. *The Aesthetics of Disappearance*. New York: Semiotext(e).

A new politics of 'fear' or fear of new politics? The construction of anti-EUism in UKIP's discourse practices

Giusy Piatto University of Naples Federico II giusy.piatto@unina.it

There is no doubt the rise of UKIP could be defined an interesting and unprecedented phenomenon whereas previous right-wing populist parties have failed to take off since they have not been consistent with the inherent moderation of the potential anti-EU electorate. As the leader of the UK's third political party (according to the last General Election), Nigel Farage indeed defines himself an expert on the failings of the EU experiment. Furthermore, UKIP's anti-politics may be contemplated as a crusade against mainstream parties, which charge it of welfare chauvinism and xenophobia.

On the other side, in UKIP's eyes everything is a threat for a regained sovereignty, as all the main parties are simultaneously dominated by the Brussels Juggernaut. The British 'slightly' right-wing movement has cleverly took advantage of the discontents of globalisation. UKIP is nevertheless "reaching out to a population who feels justly alienated and exploited by an out-of-touch aristocracy that has no concern for the vast majority of people" (Luchte 2015).

This paper aims to call into question Farage's political language whose Eurosceptic feature certainly is worth paying specific attention through discourse analysis. My argument is structured around a first section which is intended to properly identify the party and its position within 'political discourse' studies (Fairclough and Fairclough 2012). Preliminary data are intended to track down a linguistic path of the so called 'fear-driven' agenda as labelled by major parties via a corpus collection structured around two main genres of political communication consisting of: a) a selection of Farage's editorials from online newspapers websites focussing on the No-EU issue and b) the speeches of the "Say No to EU" tour, launched by UKIP in September 2015 for the forthcoming Brexit Referendum.

My intention is to offer, through a CDA analysis, a considerable hypothesis which questions whether the quest to a claimed recovered sovereignty and control of borders could be proved to be the new politics of fear on a linguistic basis.

References

Engströ Robin M. (2013), *The In-group and Out-groups of the British National Party and UK Independence Party: A corpus-based Critical Discourse Analysis*, University essay from Lunds Universitet/Masterprogram: Språk och språkvetenskap; Lunds universitet/Engelska.

Fairclough I & N. (2012), Political Discourse Analysis: A Methods for Advanced Students. London: Routledge. van Dijk T. (2001). Critical Discourse Analysis. In D. Tannen, D. Schiffrin and H. Hamilton (eds), Handbook of Discourse Analysis. Oxford: Blackwell, 352–371.



How sustainable is the concept of 'sustainability' in the tourism market?

Douglas Mark Ponton Università di Catania dponton@unict.it Vincenzo Asero Università di Catania vasero@unict.it

In tourism, the notion of sustainability, which first became widely diffused with the Brundtland Report (1987)[1], generally refers to the protection of natural environments and cultural traditions (Krippendorf, 2013). Tourist products have thus accentuated eco-friendly aspects, interaction with natural environments and minimisation of tourist impact. However, in many recent cases, sustainability has been applied indiscriminately to products that have little to do with such values: polluting cruise ships that use 'eco-friendly' detergent, for instance. The problem has practical implications in terms of the organisation and planning of tourist supply and marketing policies (Chhabra, 2010; Hall, 2008).

From a critical (eco)linguistic perspective (Harré *et al.* 1999, Dryzek 2005, Stibbe 2015), our paper uses corpus analysis of tourist texts across a range of types; from eco-friendly products to others with serious levels of environmental impact. It suggests that the buzzword 'sustainable' frequently serves merely as a component in the branding of tourist products.

Our interdisciplinary paper, then, offers two critical reflections: firstly, that responsible tourist service providers, engaged in sustainable tourism, must balance the temptation to maximise rent-seeking activities with the need to preserve the natural and cultural resources of a territory. Secondly, though there may be some social gain in the fact that ecological values warrant inclusion in the marketing strategies of the world's most important industry (Duffy 2002), there appears to be a risk that the ecological connotations of the term 'sustainability' might one day disappear.

References

- Chhabra, Deepak 2010. Sustainable Marketing of Cultural and Heritage Tourism. Routledge: London and New York,
- Dryzek, John S. 2005. The Politics of the Earth: Environmental Discourses. Oxford University Press: Oxford.

Duffy, Rosaleen 2002. A Trip too Far. Ecotourism, Politics and Exploitation. London and Sterling: Earthscan.

Hall, Colin Michael 2008. Tourism Planning: Policies, Processes and Relationships. Harlow: Pearson Education.

Harré, Rom, Brockmeier, Jens, Mühlhäuser, Peter 1999. *Greenspeak: A Study of Environmental Discourse*. London and New Delhi: Sage.

Krippendorf, Jost 2013. Le vacanze e dopo. Milano: EGEA.

Stibbe, Arran 2015. *Ecolinguistics. Language, ecology and the stories we live by.* London and New York: Routledge.



"Disarm the patients": Analysing agency in Violence metaphors in the online discourse of end-of-life care professionals

Amanda Potts Cardiff University pottsa@cardiff.ac.uk

The use of Violence metaphors in healthcare has long been criticised as detrimental to patients (Sontag, 1979) and has recently been the object of much research by both medical professionals and linguists. Recent work by scholars including Demmen *et al.* (2015), Semino *et al.* (2015), and Demjén *et al.* (forthcoming) have combined qualitative, critical analysis with corpus-based quantitative methods to analyse the frequency and variety of Violence metaphors in UK discourses of cancer and/or end-of-life care.

In recent work, we expanded upon the work of those teams to allow for a contrastive approach, taking into account another cultural context: that of the US. A new 250,000-word corpus of online discourse of US-based healthcare professionals has been collected. By utilising both corpus-based and corpus-driven methods, we found that there is no notable difference in *frequency* of use Violence metaphors by US-based and UK-based healthcare professionals, though the *topics* and *scenarios* of metaphor do vary.

To move beyond quantification and towards description of these metaphors in end-of-life care discourse, we have developed a novel framework for analysing agency in Violence metaphors. Each concordance line containing a Violence metaphor has been coded and cross-tabulated. In this paper, we consider the social actors who are constructed as enacting or receiving violence in the scenario suggested by metaphorical expressions in the data. We find that healthcare professionals most often construct *themselves* as metaphorically violent agents (126 instances in 386 metaphorical scenarios), and most frequently construct *patients* as objects of violence (65 instances).

Metaphors are important tools in talking and thinking about subjective, complex, and sensitive experiences such as illness and death (Lakoff and Johnson, 1980). Analysing metaphorical agency in discourse of end-oflife care uncovers an additional layer of meaning: we are able to move from counting instances of Violence metaphors to describing the scenarios conveyed in their use. In this case, analysis of agency brings to the fore the ways in which professionals conceptualise their power and their struggles through metaphor, as well as the ways in which patients are (further) disempowered in the healthcare system.

References

- Demjén, Z., Semino, E. and Koller, V. (forthcoming) Metaphors for 'good' and 'bad' deaths: A health professional view, *Metaphor and the Social World*.
- Demmen, J., Semino, E., Demjén, Z., Koller, V., Hardie, H., Rayson, P. and Payne, S. (2015) A computerassisted study of the use of Violence metaphors for cancer and end of life by patients, family carers and health professionals. *International Journal of Corpus Linguistics* 22 (2): 205–31.
- Lakoff, G. and Johnson, M. (1980) Metaphors We Live By. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Semino, E. (2008) Metaphor in Discourse. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Sontag, S. (1979) Illness as Metaphor. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux.



The formation of advocacy coalitions in the German biofuel policy: A media discourse analysis

Judith Puttkammer Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin judith.puttkammer@hu-berlin.de

Harald Grethe Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin grethe@hu-berlin.de

The initial point of this study is the determination of a discrepancy in German biofuel policy: The German government continues to support biofuels although especially first generation biofuels have been rejected as inefficient by scientific experts for many years. To investigate the underlying interests and belief systems that drive the persistent support for biofuels, the paper analyzes the public discourse on biofuels in Germany for the period from 1995 to 2012. It is argued that such an analysis is highly relevant in the context of interest group research as media discourses influence public opinion as well as political decision-making. In a first step, the actors involved are identified as well as their argumentation by means of a frame analysis. Based on this, a cluster analysis is conducted that investigates which actors share similar policy core beliefs and thus are likely to act as an advocacy coalition. Central findings of the study are that i) political and economic actors have a higher standing in the debate than scientific and civil-societal actors, ii) the most important Federal Ministries involved showed themselves opposed to the positioning of their own scientific advisory councils, iii) some actors showed a highly consistent structure of argumentation through the entire sample period, while others adopt much more to policy events and changing public perceptions by modifying their argumentation and iv) the actors involved can be classified into nine clusters; Whereas the German Petroleum Industry is argumentatively widely isolated, environmental NGOs as well as the German Farmers' Association have good chances to find advocates in the discourse.

Critical Language Analysis of Palestinian and Israeli Online Journalism in the 2014 Gaza War

Rami Qawariq Lancaster University rqawariq@gmail.com

It is widely accepted that the struggle over media representation in the Palestinian-Israeli struggle is no less important than the struggle on the ground (Wolfsfeld, 1997). Although the role of media in this struggle has been a focal interest for researchers, the vast majority of studies are based on content analyses (see Kempf and Shinar, 2014). They mostly adopt top-down approaches with macro-level tools of analysis which reproduce the dichotomous positive 'Self' and negative 'Other' representation. This study, in contrast, is a language-based analysis of three Israeli and three Palestinian online newspapers and news websites during the 2014 Gaza war. The selected newspapers and news websites are indicative of the media landscape in each side. By analyzing the Israeli newspapers, the study aims at revealing the linguistic differences that uncover different political orientations and ideological objectives. It adds to the growing body of research concerning the subtle ideological debate between Zionism, neo-Zionism and post-Zionism in Israeli society. On the other hand, the analysis of the Palestinian news websites is the first to examine systematically the role of the political strife between the main political blocs, Fatah and Hamas, in representing actions and actors.



CADAAD 2016

To achieve its aims, the study adopts the Dialectical-Relational Approach (Fairclough, 1995a, b, 2000, 2003). It employs transitivity (Halliday 1985; Halliday & Matthiessen, 2004), the social actor model (van Leeuwen, 1996, 2008), and the referential strategies from the Discourse Historical Approach (Reisigl & Wodak, 2009) to conduct its bottom-up analysis.

The results of this study reveal that marginal ideologies on both ends of the ideological spectrum in Israel compete with the hegemonic Zionist discourse. The study also shows that the Palestinian news websites subtly exploit the representation of actions and actors in their struggle over power, representativeness, and legitimacy. More interestingly, the study reveals some similarities between the hegemonic ideologies on one hand and between the marginal ideologies on the other in both societies. While the former depend on the common public knowledge, thus background much of the contextual information, the latter mainly function by extensive contextualization of events.

References

Fairclough, N. (1999a). Media Discourse. London: Edward Arnold.

Fairclough, N. (1995b). Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language. London: Longman.

Fairclough, N. (2000). New Labour, New Language? London: Routledge.

Fairclough, N. (2003). Analyzing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research. London: Routledge.

Halliday, M. (1985). An Introduction to Functional Grammar. London: Edward Arnold.

Halliday, M., & Matthiessen, C. (2004). An Introduction to Functional Grammar (3rd ed.). London: Arnold.

Kempf, W., & Shinar, D. (2014). *The Israeli-Palestinian conflict: War coverage and peace journalism*. Berlin: Regener.

Reisigl, M., & Wodak, R. (2009). The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). In M. Meyer & R. Wodak (eds), *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: SAGE Publications, 87–121.

Van Leeuwen, T. (2008). *Discourse and Practice: New Tools for Critical Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Wolfsfeld, G. (1997). *Media and Political Conflict: News from Middle East*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Human Rights Culture and Content Analysis

Marco A. Quiroz Vitale Università di Milano marco.quiroz@unimi.it **Enrico Damiani di Vergada Franzetti** Università di Milano

"Human rights" and "Cultures" are opposed terms in the current legal and sociological debate, however it can be assumed the creation of a human rights culture fueled by the decisions of the supreme courts of the states, the decisions of international Tribunals (like CEDU in Europe), by the recommendations of the Ombudsmen and the practices of national and transactional social actors.

We note therefore the need for supporting traditional techniques of data collection and consider it as a good opportunity to develop a more careful reflection on the analysis of the court decisions and other legal texts, as data empirically detectable and not as a simple semantic element.

Content analysis as a tool for qualitative and quantitative analysis of legal documents may act as a link between multiple forms of scientific knowledge: sociology, law, linguistics; computer science and the theory of law.

The area of fundamental rights is an outstanding field for such a type of analysis because it is possible to



analyze the consolidation of legal culture, in particular human rights culture, through the production of socially binding contents that give meaning to the general clauses and legal principles or standards apparently indeterminate. Continual production of norms in a globalized world promotes the transfer of reference models across different geographic areas and between communities and nations characterized by different stages of modernization and legal cultures.

The content analysis, in a globalized world, allows us to verify the hypothesis of the creation of a culture of human rights as opposed to the particular Cultures up to lay the foundations of a true cosmopolitanism.

The authors intend to offer an overview of current research and directions for future sociological legal research.

References

Alston P. 1994 The best interests principle: towards a reconciliation of culture and human rights. *International Journal of Law, Policy, and the Family* 8 (1): 1–25.

Berelson, B. 1952. Content analysis in communication research. New York: Free Press.

Friedman L.M. 2011. The Human Rights Culture: A Study in History and Context. quid pro books.

Weber R. P. 1990. Basic Content Analysis. London: SAGE

Wronka J. M. 2008. *Human Rights and Social Justice: Social Action and Service for the Helping and Health Professions*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

The construction of stance in pre-quotation clauses: Reporting 'signals' in news coverage of a public sector workers' strike in two Botswana newspapers

Boitshwarelo Rantsudu Cardiff University RantsuduB@cardiff.ac.uk

The essence of news reporting, as viewed by Piazza (2009) is the 'co-construction' of discourse by both the journalist and some external authoritative sources. Through this act of co-construction of discourse, journalists are successful in advancing the news narrative by attributing statements to external sources, 'highlighting' some voices and 'downplaying' others (Piazza 2009: 170). Research on patterns of attribution in the news has addressed questions relating to, for example, the choice of sources to quote, the different forms of voicing, and the type of reporting verbs used to frame the quotations, and how news reporters can use these linguistic devices in a strategic way to express their stance towards the events they cover. However, one aspect that has not been sufficiently considered in the study of attribution is the role of reporting devices that are used to introduce quotations. In this paper I argue that in order to fully capture the dynamics of stance-taking in news discourse, it is important to cast our gaze beyond the choice of news sources, the forms of voicing, and reporting verbs, and consider the linguistic structures that news writers use to introduce quotations into the news text. I refer to these structures as the *pre-quotation* clauses, italicised in (1).

(1) On the issue of maintaining essential services and ensuring service delivery, Mr Masisi said that was part and parcel of what was negotiated...

These clauses are important in the analysis of stance because they specify the *talking point*, and can subtly activate an endorsement of the attributed words, as exemplified in (1), in which the verbs *maintaining* and *ensuring* interplay with the idiomatic expression *part and parcel*. In line with the notion of 'reporting signal' (Thompson 1996), the overriding purpose of this paper is to investigate these pre-quotation clauses, and the

CADAAD 2016



attitudinal assessments and ideological positioning that they reflect. This is investigated using parallel news stories from two Botswana dailies, covering same events during a nationwide public sector workers' strike.

References

Piazza, R. 2009. News is reporting what was said: techniques and patterns of attribution. In: Haarman, L. and Lombardo, L. (eds), *Evaluation and stance in war news: A linguistic analysis of American, British and Italian television news reporting of the 2003 Iraqi war*. London: Continuum, 170–194.

Thompson, G. 1996. Voices in the text: Discourse perspectives on language reports. *Applied Linguistics* 17 (4): 501–530.

Mapping the discourse of professional identity and values of journalism students, practicing journalists and industry

Sally Reardon University of the West of England Sally2.Reardon@uwe.ac.uk

The growth of journalism higher education courses in the UK and elsewhere, alongside an increased pressure to produce 'industry-ready' graduates has led to much debate about the nature of what is required to be a journalist. Some journalism educators have long argued against a university programme which merely reproduces iterations of past practice preferring to promote a course that seeks to challenge and critique previous practice and ideas in order to produce a more engaged and critical potential journalist. However, the turn towards the vocational in higher education works to socialise students into the profession (Mensing 2011) and seem increasingly designed to please certain types of large industry employers. They can also work to perpetuate myths and reinforce journalism practice rather than challenge it (Hanna and Saunders, 2007).

This research aims to gauge the level of socialisation journalism students carry into industry by examining

the discursive construction of professional identity and values. Discourse analysis has been extensively applied to the output of news yet this approach has been underdeveloped in understanding the values and identity of those that potentially produce this output. Drawing on the tools of discursive social psychology, in particular the notion of 'interpretive repertoires' (Potter and Wetherell, 1987), this research examines how normative notions about journalism are constructed by journalism students and maps this onto the public and private constructions of industry practitioners and employers.

The analysis is based on; extended face-to-face interviews with journalism students at a UK university

in their final year; extended face-to-face interviews with practicing journalists; publically available recruitment material from the major journalism employers in the UK; and journalists writing in the media about journalism.

It is argued that by investigating the evolution of student discourses around their chosen profession

and mapping these onto the public and private discourses of journalists and employers it is possible to evaluate how closely the educational and professional discourse coincide and where they diverge. This would be a powerful tool for educators when considering course design and implementation.

References

Hanna, M. & Sanders, K. 2007. 'Journalism Education in Britain: Who Are The Students and What Do They Want?' *Journalism Practice* 1 (3): 404–420.

Mensing, D. 2011. 'Realigning Journalism Education'. In Bob Franklin and Dorica Mensing (eds) Journalism



Education, Training and Employment. Abingdon: Routledge. Potter, J. and Wetherell, M. 1987. *Discourse and Social Psychology.* London: Sage.

Affinity spaces vs. Communities of Practice in language debates on the internet: The linguistic construction of a Virtual Community

Antonio Reyes Washington and Lee University reyesr@wlu.edu

This paper discusses group relationships that social actors display on the internet when discussing language uses and changes online.

Relationships among cyber users within virtual communities online is crucial to understand, on one hand, the way actors display nuances of identity, authority and power in a prominent setting for human interaction and, on the other hand, the sense of belonging and cohesion within a community displayed by semiotic resources that set different tones. These tones can range from a violent, emotional and confrontational style (Hanna and De Nooy 2009) to a more polite configuration of interaction that avoids verbal violence (Bonnin 2014) toward different authorities and opinions on language use.

This work analyzes the semiotic resources users employ in asynchronic interaction in two different settings: 1) comments posted in response to an article published on El País's website announcing the new orthographic and spelling reforms in the Spanish language, proposed by the Royal Spanish Academy (RAE), and 2) threads of the "*Sólo español*" ("Spanish only") sub-forum within WordReference.com language forums where users discuss language use and norms by responding to doubts or questions by other users.

These data illustrate differences in group cohesion and cordiality within virtual communities such as "Affinity Spaces" (Hayes and Gee 2010: 188) and Communities of Practice (Gee 2005). Even if both communities can be "based on shared interests, lifestyles and cultural products" (Kytölä 2013: 34), Communities of Practice display more regular long-term interactions (Hara *et al.* 2009: 740) and a deeper sense of community (Kytölä 2013: 34).

Finally, the constitution and interaction of virtual communities that debate normative use of language is important because "[W]eb 2.0 not only facilitates social sharing of information, but also generates social value" (Rymes and Leone 2014: 31) in a platform that has overtaken the spaces proposed institutionally to discuss normative uses of language (Reyes and Bonnin, forthcoming). These venues allow users to share the power of nation states' institutions and elite groups in the dictation of normative use of language, preventing these institutions from having the last word about a specific issue in society (Jenkins 2006: 137).

References

- Bonnin, J. E. 2014. Pensar el castellano en Internet: discursos sobre la norma en los foros de WordReference.com [Thinking Spanish online: discourses about the norm at Wordreferences.com forums]. In E. B. N. de Arnoux (Ed.), *Temas de glotopolítica: Integración regional sudamericana y panhispanismo [Topics on Glottopolitics: South American Regional Integration and Panhispanism*] 351–372. Buenos Aires: Biblos.
- Hanna, B. E., & De Nooy, J. 2009. *Learning language and culture via public Internet discussion forums*. Basingstoke, New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillian
- Hara, N., Shachaf, P., & Stoerger, S. 2009. Online communities of practice typology revisited. *Journal of Information Science*, 35: 740–757. DOI:10.1177/0165551509342361
- Hayes, E., & Gee, J. 2010. Public pedagogy through videogames: Design, resources, and affinity spaces. In J.



A. Sandlin, B. D. Schultz, & J. Burdick (eds), *Handbook of public pedagogy: Education and learning beyond schooling*.185–193. New York, NY: Routledge.

Jenkins, H. 2006. *Fans, bloggers and gamers: Exploring participatory culture*. New York, NY: New York University Press.

Kytölä, S. 2013. Multilingual Language Use and Metapragmatic Reflexivity in Finnish Internet Football Forums. A Study in the Sociolinguistics of Globalization. Jyväskylä: Jyväskylä University Printing House.

Reyes and Bonnin (forthcoming). Negotiating use, norm and authority in online language forums

Rymes, B., & Leone, A. R. 2014. Citizen sociolinguistics: a new media methodology for understanding language and social life. *Working Papers in Educational Linguistics*: 29, 25–43.

Making 'memory makers': Interpolation, norm circles and the Holocaust Memorial Day Trust

John E. Richardson

Loughborough University

j.e.richardson@lboro.ac.uk

Remembrance and commemoration rely on representations of the past, constructed by particular social groups, which have bearings on relationships of power within society. Kansteiner (2002: 180) argues that processes of collective memorializing are informed by three "types of historical factors: the intellectual and cultural traditions that frame all our representations of the past, the memory makers who selectively adopt and manipulate these traditions, and the memory consumers who use, ignore or transform such artefacts according to their own interests". However, Kansteiner's argument pays little attention to either the dialectic relations that exist between 'tradition' and the making/consuming of collective memory, or the ways that individuals and groups can simultaneously act as both memory makers and memory consumers.

A primary objective of my research is to analyse the ways that memory makers are themselves made. The Holocaust Memorial Day Trust (HMDT) organises free workshops across the UK for people interested in organising an activity to mark Holocaust Memorial Day (HMD). These events are designed to help attendees to gain a better understanding of HMD and how to manage activities meaningful for their audiences. This presentation examines the discourses of HMD and the ways that they variously interpellate, inspire and motivate those attending to host commemorative events.

The wider project from which this presentation is drawn triangulates data from three sites: ethnographic participant observation of three HMDT workshops, attended October–November 2015; interviews with participants and organisers of all these workshops; and an auto-ethnographic account of the way the workshops provoked me to organise my own HMD event. This presentation focuses on what I am calling 'chains of interpellation' – that is, the ways that HMD discourses interpellate people in order that they go on to interpellate others. This chain of interpellation extends the 'norm circle' of Holocaust Memorialisation, or the group of people committed to endorsing a specific norm.

References

Kansteiner, W. (2002) Finding Meaning in Memory: A Methodological Critique of Collective Memory Studies, *History and Theory*, 41(2): 179–197



What does approaching British fascism as culture offer to Critical Discourse Studies?

John E. Richardson Loughborough University

j.e.richardson@lboro.ac.uk

The notion of fascist culture is contentious, and not simply because the meanings of both 'fascism' and 'culture' are highly contested. In reading British fascism as a cultural phenomenon, historians have started to chart the cultural visions and cultural outputs of British fascists during the inter- and post-war periods (cf. Gottlieb and Linehan, 2004; Copsey & Richardson, 2015). Such analysis has tended to focus on fascists' discourse on culture (and particularly the ways they position liberalism as degenerate) or on cultural texts of fascists/fascism in the form of, *inter alia*, literature, music, dress and art. Mosse (1999: x) goes as far as to argue that it is only through a cultural interpretation of fascism that we can come to understand the movement 'from the inside out'.

However, many feel morally uncomfortable with such an approach to analysing (and understanding) fascism. 'Culture', as both verb and noun, rarely have a negative semantic prosody; their 'connotational coloring' (Partington 1998: 68) are neutral or positive, respectively invoking acts and processes of propagation/cultivation, or of taste, sophistication and enlightenment. Even at its most disagreeable – e.g. 'culturing bacteria in laboratory dishes' – the verb has positive valence. Therefore arguing that we should interpret fascism *as* culture may surreptitiously introduce a new fascist mythology; a mystification which underplays fascism's political-economic foundations in general and its dystopian inegalitarian objectives in particular (Renton, 1999; 2000).

My presentation will simultaneously acknowledge and sidestep these issues and debates. Taking my lead from Highmore (2015), rather than establishing a definite terrain that can be identified and analysed as 'fascist culture' I, instead, assume that 'the cultural' can be understood as an approach to fascism rather than an identifiable component, or product, of the phenomena. Eschewing Mosse's invitation to interpret fascism *as* a culture, I nevertheless argue that contemporary (i.e. post-regime model) fascisms are promulgated through cultural networks, and that critical analysis of the continued presence of fascist political projects benefits from adopting theories and methods of cultural studies. I explore this argument through a discussion of British fascism.

References

Copsey, N. & Richardson, J.E. (eds) (2015) Cultures of Post-War British Fascism. London: Routledge.

Gottlieb, J. V. and Linehan, T. P. (eds) (2004) *The Culture of Fascism: Visions of the Far Right in Britain*. London: I.B. Tauris.

Highmore, B. (2015) Culture. London: Routledge.

Mosse, G. (1999) The Fascist Revolution: Toward a General Theory of Fascism. New York: H. Fertig.

Partington, A. (1998). *Patterns and Meanings: Using Corpora for English Language Research and Teaching.* Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins.

Renton, D. (1999) Fascism: Theory and Practice. London: Pluto Press.

Renton, D. (2000) Fascism, Anti-Fascism and Britain in the 1940s. Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan.



Using CDA to Provoke and Study Racial Literacy

Rebecca Rogers University of Missouri-St. Louis rogersrl@umsl.edu

When Ferguson, Missouri in the US erupted in August of 2014 following the shooting death of Michael Brown, an African American youth, issues of racial justice were thrust into the spotlight. I teach a literacy methods course for teacher education students in the school district from which Michael Brown graduated from high school. Many area school leaders advised teachers to remain neutral and not discuss race. The University's Board of Curators was silent on the racial injustices. Indeed, circulating discourses in the media were not about the history and context of racism but about isolated incidents. Themes of controlling dialogue, stifling emotions and remaining neutral with regard to race and racism were repeated frequently. Rather than reproduce the dominant narrative which claimed race neutrality, my class of teacher education students rethought race as an instrument of social, geographic and economic control through their literacy teaching (Guiner, 2004; Morrison, 2000; Twine, 2008). I situate CDA within expansive studies of learning (Engestrom, 1987; Stetensko, 2008) and critical race theory (Bell, 1992).

In this session, I will share findings from this semester-long study in which my teacher education students and I explored racial literacy. Data sources include: fieldnotes of our seminar, observations of literacy lessons, written documents (e.g. reflections to newspaper articles, case studies, policy documents), multimodal responses to books read aloud in class (e.g. *Painting for Peace in Ferguson*), interviews with a sub-set of the class once the class ended, and an art making session. I drew on SFL-inspired critical discourse analysis (Bartlett, 2011; Fairclough, 1992; Rogers & Mosley, 2014) before, during and after the course to better understand our racial literacy practices. Set within an ethnographic context, I attend to how discourses of race are intertwined within and between local, institutional and societal domains. My findings will focus on three episodes: recognizing and critiquing whiteness, connecting the dots of racial inequity, and narrating racial interventions. I will demonstrate how racial literacy is fundamentally about learning and building meanings about race, racism and anti-racism rather than knowing.

References

- Bartlett, T. (2012). *Hybrid voices and collaborative change: Contextualizing positive discourse analysis*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bell, D. (1992). Faces at the bottom of the well: The permanence of racism. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Boltanski, L. (2011). On critique: A sociology of emancipation. UK: Polity Press.

- Engestrom, Y. (1987). *Learning by expanding: An activity theoretical approach to developmental research.* Helsinki: Orienta-Konsultit Oy.
- Fairclough, N. (1992). Discourse and Social Change. Blackwell, Oxford.
- Guinier, L. (2004). From racial liberalism to racial literacy: Brown v. Board of Education and the interestdivergence dilemma. *The Journal of American History*, 91 (1), 92–118.
- Halliday, M.A.K. (1978). *Language as a social semiotic: The social interpretation of language and meaning.* Baltimore: University Park Press.

Morrison, T. (1992). *Playing in the dark: Whiteness and the literary imagination*. New York: Vintage Books.

Rogers, R. & Mosley Wetzel, M. (2014). *Designing critical literacy education through critical discourse analysis: Pedagogical and research tools for teacher researchers*. NY: Routledge.

Stetensko, A. (2008). From relational ontology to transformative activist stance on development and learning: Expanding Vygotsky's (CHAT) project. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 3, 471–491.



Twine, F.W. (2008). A white side of black Britain: The concept of racial literacy. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 27 (6), 1–30.

From opera to film opera: A case of multi-layered resemiotisations

Fabio Rossi University of Messina, Italy frossi@unime.it Maria Grazia Sindoni University of Messina, Italy mgsindoni@unime.it

Building on an ongoing research project on opera as a multimodal artefact bringing together multiple processes of resemiotisations (Rossi and Sindoni forthcoming; Sindoni and Rossi 2016), this paper sets about to explore resemiotisation (Iedema 2001) across media by analysing how opera can be adapted to screen in a standardised genre, i.e. film opera, that can be defined as a resemiotisation of an operatic staged and live performance. However, describing, discussing and analysing a film opera as a genre is not straightforward, especially within a multimodal critical analysis perspective.

We assume that at least five levels of meaning-making coexist in opera: 1) the literal meaning produced by the libretto's verbal text; 2) the metaphorical meaning of the libretto's verbal text; 3) the musical meaning produced by the score and singers' and musicians' performance; 4) the stage meaning produced by the way in which performers, directors and stage designers decide to take into account the textual elements of the libretto and score; all in interaction with 5) the socio-semiotic level. Furthermore, other socio semiotic resources cooperate in meaning making, such as stage lighting, props, costumes, painted backdrops, and, in the case of film opera, the use of editing and camera (Citron 2000). In terms of resemiotisation, a film opera is the last stage of a series of transitions intrinsic to opera as a genre: subject \rightarrow libretto \rightarrow score \rightarrow stage \rightarrow screen. Each resemiotisation needs to be read in a critical light, for example considering cuts (e.g. due to casting, music and stage conventions, censorship), condensation, hybridisation (e.g. borrowings and self-borrowings).

Focusing on two case studies of film operas from Gioachino Rossini's *La Cenerentola*, (i.e. *La Cenerentola* by Jean-Pierre Ponnelle, Germany, 1981 and *Cenerentola: una favola in diretta* by Carlo Verdone, Italy, 2014), we will address the questions of how film operas resemiotise staged and live opera, also with reference to how semiotic transductions work across the different meaning making levels. In a critical perspective, we will also discuss how the opera audience has been shaped and modified along the concurrent resemiotisations across media, i.e. from staged to recorded opera.

References

Citron, M. J. 2000. Opera on Screen. New Haven and London: Yale University Press.

Iedema, R. 2001. Resemiotization. Semiotica 37 (1/4): 23-40.

- Rossi, F., Sindoni, M.G. forthcoming. The phantoms of the opera: Towards a multi-dimensional interpretative framework of analysis. In M. G. Sindoni, J. Wildfeuer, K. L. O'Halloran (eds) *Multimodal Perspectives in Performing Arts*, London and New York: Routledge.
- Sindoni, M.G., Rossi, F. 2016. "Un nodo avviluppato": Rossini's *La Cenerentola* as a prototype of multimodal resemiotization. *Social Semiotics* XXVI (4): 385–403. Special issue "The languages of performing arts: semiosis, communication and meaning-making" edited by M. G. Sindoni, J. Wildfeuer, K. L. O'Halloran.



The influence of value priorities on self-concepts for adaptation to educational context: A study with immigrant adolescents

Elisabetta Sagone University of Catania esagone@unict.it

Orazio Licciardello University of Catania o.licciardello@unict.it Maria Elvira De Caroli University of Catania m.decaroli@unict.it

Daniela Damigella University of Catania danieladamig@libero.it

The value priorities in educational contexts and their influence on self-concepts in adolescence represented the main framework of this study. According to the Schwartz's Values Theory (1992) in a multicultural perspective, these dimensions can improve or obstacle the adaptation of immigrant adolescents to new social reality and, particularly, to educational context, affecting the perception of their self-concept and social identity, as happen for the refugees asylum seekers (see Jasinskaja-Lahti and Liebkind 2001; Ullman and Tatar 2001; Sagone and De Caroli 2012).

In line with these issues, the purpose of this study is to verify the positive or negative influence of value priorities showed by 83 immigrant middle and late adolescents on their actual and future self-concepts. These immigrant adolescents were recruited from three Reception Centers in Sicily and came from Afghanistan, Lebanon, Iran, Somalia, Nigeria and Senegal. We used a self-report questionnaire consisting of the two following measures: 1) Portrait Value Questionnaire (Capanna, Vecchione and Schwartz 2005) to explore the four cross-cultural value areas (self-transcendence, conservation, openness to change, and self-enhancement) and 2) Semantic Differential Technique (Osgood *et al.* 1957) to investigate the representation of actual and future self-concepts expressed by immigrant adolescents.

Results showed that these adolescents judged mostly important the values linked to self-transcendence and conservation, whereas lowly important those linked to self-enhancement and openness to change and expressed a good representation of their self-concepts (mostly, of the future self valued as highly positive by the middle ones). Some of these value priorities influenced the representation of actual self-concept (R=,534; R²=,285; F=7,759, p<.001); in detail, self-transcendence and openness to change affected positively, while conservation affected negatively the actual self-concept. Similar situation is observed in relation to the representation of future self-concept (R=,504; R²=,254; F=6,623, p<.001): so, self-transcendence influenced positively, while conservation has a negative impact on future self-concept.

This investigation originates from the attention to developmental contexts of present and future social life of these adolescents and, first of all, to the most important educational context (that is, the school) which actively participates in the building of their self-image as immigrants.

References

Capanna, C., Vecchione, M., and Schwartz, S. H. 2005. La misura dei valori: un contributo alla validazione del Portrait Values Questionnaire su un campione italiano. *Bollettino di Psicologia Applicata*, 246: 29–41.

Jasinskaja-Lahti, I., and Liebkind, K. 2001. Perceived discrimination and psychological adjustment among Russian-speaking immigrant adolescents in Finland. *International Journal of Psychology*, 36 (3): 174–185.

Osgood, C.E., Suci, G.J., and Tannenbaum, P.H. 1957. The measurement of meaning. Urbana, USA:



University of Illinois Press.

Sagone, E. and De Caroli, M.E. 2012. Portrait values, similarity in aspects of everyday life, self and group representations in refugees asylum seekers. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences* 46: 5463–5469.

Schwartz, S.H. 1992. Universals in the content and structure of value: theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. In M.P. Zanna (ed.) Advances in Experimental Social Psychology. New York: Academic Press, vol.25, 1–65.

Ullman, C., and Tatar, M. 2001. Psychological adjustment among Israeli adolescent immigrants: a report on life satisfaction, self-concept, and self-esteem. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 30 (4): 449–463.

Hermeneutics of the subject as multimodal globalized discourse: Gay commemoration of Pierre Seel in the reception of *Il Rosa Nudo / The Naked Rose* in Italy

Paul Sambre KU Leuven

paul.sambre@kuleuven.be

This talk examines the reception of an artistic video about gays persecuted by nationalsocialism. Pierre Seel (1994), an Alsacian gay which became a symbol of gay persecution in postwar gay activism, is a central figure in this respect: he appears first, in a French autobiography co-written with French activist Jean Le Bitoux (never translated in Italian), then, in cinema, through the acclaimed American documentary Paragraph 175 by Roy Epstein and Jeffrey Friedman (2000), which provides voice to persecuted gays in Germany and France, among which Pierre Seel, and, more recently in Italy, through an a short video Il Rosa Nudo ./ The Naked Rose (2013) by Sardinian Giovanni Coda, directly inspired by Seel's testimony. On an empirical level, through the analysis of press reporting in Italian art criticism and general press on the one hand and a national Italian LGBT activism website on the other, we describe how the Italian reception of the latter multimodal movie product (and indirectly, of the former book and documentary) provides access to discourse about (non-)acceptance of homosexual identity in contemporary Italy and elsewhere, and how it is instrumentalized in advocating commemoration of gay persecution in Italy. Seel's individual speaking in post-war France and throughout the world gets recontextualized as a source of inspiration in a different Italian regional (Sardiny) and national tradition and therefore becomes part of what Fairclough (2006) calls the globalized dialectic between the local and the universal. In this process, the independent contribution of an individual film director inspires not only small gay minorities' bottom up commitment, such as Italian Arcigay but also shows up in mainstream (regional and national Italian) general and art press. As such, it contributes to social debate on (homo)sexual identity and recognition of gay persecution in Italy after fascism. This globalized discourse had theoretical consequences for CDA, on a philosophical level: our concrete analysis of bottom up activist and film criticism evolving around Coda's video may complement CDA's Foucauldian inspiration, mainly inspired until now by concepts about top orders of (top) down discourse and power in the early archaeological Michel Foucault, and calls for integrating in CDA Michel Foucault's (2001, 2009) later notions of heterotopy and recent work on the Hermeneutics of the Subject (Author fc.).

References

Author. fc. *Herméneutique du sujet et commémoration de deux homosexuels persécutés*. Albrecht Becker et de Pierre Seel dans le documentaire Paragraphe 175.

Fairclough, Norman. 2006. Language and Globalization. London and New York: Routledge.



Foucault, Michel. 2001. L'Herméneutique du sujet. Cours au Collège de France (1981–1982). Paris: Seuil/Gallimard.

Foucault, Michel. 2009. Le Corps utopique suivi de Les hétérotopies. Paris: Lignes.

Seel, Pierre. 1994. Moi, Pierre Seel, déporté homosexuel: Récit écrit en collaboration avec Jean Le Bitoux. Paris: Calmann-Lévy.

Student Biographies. Unexpected Pathways of Young Immigrants

Mariagrazia Santagati Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore mariagrazia.santagati@unicatt.it

Ethnicity can be identified as the main source of social and educational inequality: it is, along with socioeconomic status and gender, the ascriptive feature that primarily affects educational pathways. Immigrant students, compared to natives, show persistent disadvantages in the learning process, higher risks of failure, and drop out, as well as more relational problems with classmates and teachers. Despite these difficulties, some pupils are featured by determination, perseverance and dedication, and obtain good academic results thanks to a remarkable ability to make the most of available educational opportunities. Drawing from these ambivalent elements, the paper focuses on excellent students with an immigrant background, analysing improbable and unexpected pathways of disadvantaged students, characterized by positive academic achievements and educational/biographical success.

In particular, I will use some "successful biographies" of immigrant students, gathered through qualitative studies, in order to develop some theoretical and methodological reflexions: the analysis of these student biographies could help to identify social and individual factors that lead to educational excellence, highlighting social constraints but also personal resources in individual pathways. Ethnic difference is not considered merely in terms of the reproduction of predestined outcomes, but rather in a dynamic fashion, where students are part of a complex process that may no doubt reproduce inequalities, but are also largely able to contrast its effects. Moreover, narrative approach offers the possibility to integrate the perspectives of individual and society trough the biographical organization of life experiences and the temporal transformation of social structures, assuming learning as a way to react, handle and control ruptures and discontinuities in young biographies.

A new kind of Probation in Italy. Experiences and practices in the socio-legal field

Chiara Scivoletto Università di Parma chiara.scivoletto@unipr.it

The law n. 67/2014 has introduced a new kind of probation, addressed to accused of age. Legislative novelty requires different cultures and professions and also causes the necessity to re-think the rehabilitation model, even if this marked by ambiguity and lack of efficiency, widely showed by the sociology. At the same time, it refers to the potentiality of the restorative justice (neither completely shared even in the juvenile justice), in



the same time approaching its snakes. The paper refers to the first outcomes of a case-study on the application of the law 67/14 in the Emilia Romagna region.

The law gives also a good opportunity for the socio-juridical research to observe the rehabilitation model and his social legitimization. On the other hand, the law offers an important chance to study the communication (language tools, methods and techniques) between different professions (UEPE, Magistratura di sorveglianza, lawyers) involved in the same frame.

The papers will present some outcomes of a case study realized during the year 2015 in the Emilia Romagna Region, in particular referred to: guidellines; first query of application; contents of the first execution, referred to this new kind of probation, called 'messa alla prova'. The research was based on qualitative and quantitative methods and especially focused on the types of authors, on the duration of the proofs, on the contents of the probation programs, on the positive/negative results (also in the perspective of recidivism). In the same time, the research was also oriented to the creation of a specific local/regional data base, useful in the implementation of this legal tool. The paper will show also as the research's outcomes could contribute to activate specific local conventions with association, charities, and so on, in order to expand the better possible use of the community services, as the law previewed.

Who is in control of your sexual health? A discursive examination of self-surveillance in HIV and AIDS prevention campaigns

Irene Segopolo University of Botswana impule@gmail.com irene.segopolo@mopipi.ub.bw

Sexual health prevention campaigns problematize certain behaviours as risky and use various strategies that persuade individuals to guard themselves against the risk of infection. This paper examines three HIV and AIDS posters to analyze the seemingly discursive shift from overt risk-blaming techniques to subliminal strategies in which responsibility for sexual health is constructed through the use of discourses that are meant to instill, build and shape self-responsibility. The paper argues that although three decades later, HIV infections are reported to be declining in the regions that were worst hard hit, specifically southern Africa, there still is a need to promote sexual health among youth aged between 13 and 25. The posters have been purposively sampled from a host of HIV prevention materials from three universities in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Informed by Foucault's notion of the 'panoptic gaze' and 'techniques of the self', an in-depth textual analysis of the posters is conducted using Fairclough's CDA three-dimensional framework, augmented by Thompson's (1990) critical modes of operation; Kress and van Leeuwen's (1996/2006) Grammar of Visual Representations. To this end, CDA is used to reveal the language and visual strategies used by the originators of the posters to reveal risk governmentality that may be subsumed in the interplay between the verbal and non-verbal features used in the texts. The paper argues that alternative discourses of sexuality that center on power and identity which border on active participation through the use of the discursive self 'I' and the second-person deictic pronoun 'You' are strategies employed by the campaigns to promote self-surveillance and individual agency. The paper concludes that the underlying meaning emanating from responsibilized discourses used in the texts such as these ones, allude to the power that renders the ability to control ones' body's eroticism, sexual desires and sensuality.



References

Fairclough, N. (1995). Critical discourse analysis. The critical study of language. Language in social life series. London: Longman

Kress, G. & van Leeuwen, T. (1996). *Reading Images: The Grammar of Visual Design* (1st ed.). London: Routledge.

Thompson, J.B. (1990). *Ideology and modern culture: critical social theory in the era of mass communication*. Cambridge: Polity Press

Framing the President as an Effective Crisis Manager: A Corpus-based Analysis of Crisis Rhetoric in American Foreign Policy Discourse

Christine S. Sing WU Vienna University of Economics and Business csing@wu.ac.at

The concept of crisis has long been a question of great interest in a wide range of fields. Recent political developments have led to a renewed interest in crisis discourses (e.g. Wodak & Angouri 2014, Lischinsky 2011, Krzyżanowski 2009). Modern discontinuities are arguably also a major factor in the pervasiveness of crises in American political discourse. A much debated question in the field of presidential crisis rhetoric is therefore to what extent conceptualizations of crisis derive from an 'objective', factual, crisis event or, rather, result from the discursive construction thereof. While theorizing on the political uses of crisis has centred on the latter, there is, to date, little empirical evidence of the discourse strategies used by American presidents in shaping such events as crises.

It is this gap that the present study proposes to fill. It will be argued that the notion of crisis is a framing device instrumental in, but not exclusive to, legitimation and morality discourses. More precisely, a careful distinction will be made between distinct stages in crisis rhetoric, i.e., distinguishing, on the one hand, between discourses constructing events as crises and thus constituting the US government's reply to these events, and those that legitimate political action as an appropriate response to, or handling of, the crisis situation concerned.

The database of this study consists of a corpus of American presidential speeches, including all inaugural and state-of-the-union addresses as well as major foreign policy speeches since the beginning of the 20th century, i.e., the onset of 'American internationalism'. The approach taken is a mixed methodology based on computation and interpretation. In so doing, it extends the Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA) (Reisigl & Wodak 2009) by means of corpus-based discourse analysis (Baker 2006) and frame theory (Werth 1999).

It will be shown that the discursive construction of crisis in American foreign policy discourse is closely linked to the concept of change, in that the political utility of international crisis situations is exploited to effect change in public opinion at home. Another main finding is that, in crisis rhetoric, the president claims rhetorical leadership in framing government actions as moral acts in the best national interest while employing selfrepresentation strategies that frame him as an effective crisis manager. There is also evidence of ideological discourse structures attaching opposing value judgments in the discursive construction of crisis situations.

References

Baker, P. 2006. Using Corpora in Discourse Analysis. London: Continuum.Bostdorff, D. M. 1994. The Presidency and the Rhetoric of Foreign Crisis. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press.



Fairclough, I. and Fairclough N. 2011. Practical reasoning in political discourse: The UK government's response to the economic crisis in the 2008 Pre-Budget Report. *Discourse & Society* 22 (3): 243–68.

Holland, J. 2013. *Selling the War on Terror: Foreign Policy Discourses after 9/11*. London: Routledge. Krzyżanowski, M. 2009. Europe in crisis? *Journalism Studies* 10 (1): 18–35.

Kuypers, J. A. 1997. Presidential crisis rhetoric and the press in the post-cold war world. Westport: Praeger.

- Lischinsky, A. 2011. In times of crisis: A corpus approach to the construction of the global financial crisis in annual reports. *Critical Discourse Studies* 8 (3): 153–68.
- Reisigl, M. and Wodak R. 2009. The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds) *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: Sage, 87–121.

Rycker de, A. and Mohd Don Z. 2013 (eds). Discourse and Crisis. Amsterdam: Benjamins.

- Sing, C. S. 2010. "Yes, we can" framing political events in terms of change: A corpus-based analysis of the 'change' frame in American presidential discourse. *Belgium Journal of Linguistics* (24):139–63.
- Werth, P. 1999. Text worlds: Representing conceptual space in discourse. London: Longman.

How sustainable European energy companies are: Corpus-based insights from corporate press releases by country

Hanna Skorczynska Universidad Politécnica de Valencia

hskorczy@idm.upv.es

Corporate press releases play a fundamental role in building an organization's relationships with its stakeholders, but also in communicating news to investors. In this sense, they can strongly affect market reactions and eventually cause changes in the stock price, trading volume and the information environment of the firm (e.g. Callen et al. 2006; Clayton et al. 2005; Graham et al. 2066; Tetlock 2010). Corporate press releases also serve an important role in an organization's alignment with the values of the society in which they are nested (Sagiv & Schwartz 2007). The issues related to sustainability, in its environmental and related senses are crucial for companies generating energy, since they constantly seek the general public's approval of their activities. The conflict between this particular need and the thriving industrial activity, involving the extraction and provision of non-renewable resources, exert pressure on corporate communicative practices, which in turn need to accommodate to the societal and cultural environment of such business. In this study, we look at how sustainability is communicated by energy companies based in three European countries: Britain, Poland and Spain. Three corpora of English-language press releases, with 120,000 words each were electronically queried with Sketch engine for 'sustainable' and 'sustainability'. The results show that these two words were most frequently used in the Spanish corpus (64 and 67 tokens respectively), followed by the British (36 and 12), and the Polish (24 and 0). Following that, the thesaurus tool of the software mentioned was used to identify words with a similar meaning to these two lexical items. The results vary in this sense as well, with the highest number of similar words in the Spanish corpus, and the lowest in the Polish. In the final stage of the study, we will look into the collocates of the two lexical items and of the most similar words, in order to identify the recurrent patterns of meaning related to sustainability. It seems that significant variations are likely to be detected, and this could point to different communicative strategies employed, aiming at distinct societal and cultural environments from which the companies operate.

Wodak, R. and Angouri, J. 2014. From Grexit to Grecovery: Euro/crisis discourses. *Discourse & Society* 25 (4): 417–23.



References

Callen, J. L., Livnat, J. & Segal, D. (2006). Accounting restatements: Are they always bad for investors? *Journal of Investing* 15, 57–68.

Clayton, M. C., Hartzell, J. C. & Rosenberg, J. (2005). The impact of CEO turnover on equity volatility. *Journal of Business* 78, 1779–1808.

- Graham, J. R., Koski, J. L. & Loewenstein, U. (2006). Information flow and liquidity around anticipated and unanticipated dividend announcements. *Journal of Business* 79, 2301–2336.
- Sagiv, L. & Schwartz, S. H. (2007). Cultural values in organisations: insights for European Journal of International Management 1(3), 176–190.

Tetlock, P. C. (2010). Does public financial news resolve asymmetric information? *Review of Financial Studies* 23, 3520–3557.

A "Gutenberg moment" or another example of New Zealand's disability digital divide?

Philippa Smith Auckland University of Technology philippa.smith@aut.ac.nz

The United Nation's (2006) suggestion that Information Communication Technologies (ICTs) would be liberating for people with disabilities by allowing them "to play their part in society's development" offers a politicised discourse that serves to reinforce the dichotomy of normal versus abnormal (Ellis & Kent 2011: 85). This paper investigates the 'disabled-non-disabled' discourse in the context of disability digital divides from the perspective of eleven New Zealanders with disabilities ranging from hearing and vision impairments to cognitive and mobility issues.

Participants aged 45 years and over – selected because they had experienced life both before and after the advent of the internet – were asked to talk about their use of ICTs. Critical discourse analysis that can aid disability studies in its goal of social change (Grue 2011), was used to analyse the narratives of participants to understand their construction of self when it came to engagement with digital technologies. Although the participants described the internet to be "life changing" or a "Gutenberg moment" in their lives, they also spoke about the barriers they encountered in their ICT use including the limitations of ICT design and the negative attitudes of others towards them.

In applying the discourse historical approach of Critical Discourse Analysis with a focus on the discursive construction of self and other representation (Wodak 2001), my findings show that the 'us' and 'them' discourse inherent in the participants' narratives reflected the 'disabled-non-disabled' and 'normal-abnormal' dichotomies that form hegemonic discourses about people with disabilities as an inferior group. I suggest that the socially imposed condition of disability was implicated through the notion of the disabled 'other' when it came to ICT use because of the participants' need for alternative or assistive devices or software, or the requirement for specialist ICT training. I argue that this social construction of 'disabled-non-disabled' is a barrier that needs addressing in spite of the "utopian discussions around the web and the benefits for people with disability" (Ellis & Kent 2011: 85). A greater understanding is required of the need to recognise the rights of people with disabilities and the need to aim for universal accessibility.

References

Ellis, K. & Kent, M. 2011. Disability and New Media. New York: Routledge.



Grue, J. 2011. Discourse analysis and disability: Some topics and issues. *Discourse & Society* 22 (5): 532–546.

Wodak, R. 2001. The discourse-historical approach. In R. Wodak and M. Meyer (eds) *Methods of critical discourse analysis*. London: Sage, 63–94.

Exploring Francophone Belgians' Language Attitudes: A Discursive Analysis

Bénédicte Snyers Université Catholique de Louvain benedicte.snyers@uclouvain.be

Since its inception in the early 1960s, language attitude research, which can be defined as "the explicit, scientific study of attitudinal consequences of dissimilar language varieties" (Bradac 1990: 388), has relied upon a variety of direct and indirect methods. Among these methods, interviews and questionnaires designed to openly ask people about their attitudes regarding various language behaviours have been widely used (Cargile *et al.* 1994: 212). However, a number of authors have expressed concerns about the validity of the information gathered by means of such direct elicitation techniques, arguing that the responses collected may not accurately reflect informants' privately-held and possibly unconscious attitudes (Ryan *et al.* 1987–8: 1071; Ihemerre 2006: 195). In particular, research carried out in the context of Francophone Belgium has shown that speakers' abstract discourse on language does not always correspond to their evaluations of and reactions to concrete examples of language use, leading some authors to oppose speakers' potentially 'incorrect' linguistic discourse to their 'real' language judgments (Moreau 1997).

This presentation aims to discuss the advantages and limitations of using Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) as part of the direct elicitation of language attitudes. This endeavor lies within a PhD thesis which examines the issue of language legitimacy among Francophone Belgians and its implication in the naturalization and reproduction of social inequalities. Using a discourse analytical study of ideology in this respect seems highly relevant given that "people acquire, express and reproduce their ideologies largely by text or talk" (Van Dijk 2006: 115). Furthermore, CDA – and more precisely the argumentation theory used in the Discourse-Historical Approach – provides efficient tools to assess the general rootedness of the language attitudes expressed in the informants' discourse and to put forth the ideological and interdiscursive processes behind the reproduction of such seemingly unfounded discourses.

References

- Bradac, J. J. 1990. Language Attitudes and Impression Formation. In H. Giles and W. P. Robison (eds) *Handbook of Language and Social Psychology*. Chichester: Wiley & Sons Ltd, 387–412.
- Cargile, A. C., Giles, H., Ryan, E. B. and Bradac, J. J. 1994. Language Attitudes as a Social Process: A Conceptual Model and New Directions. *Language and Communication* 14 (3): 211–236.
- Ihemere, K. U. 2006. An Integrated Approach to the Study of Language Attitudes and Change in Nigeria: The Case of the Ikwerre of Port Harcourt City. In O. F. Arasanyin and M. A. Pemberton (eds) Selected Proceedings of the 36th Annual Conference on African Linguistics. Somerville, Mass.: Cascadilla Proceedings Project, 194–207.
- Moreau, M.-L. 1997. Le Bon Français de Belgique: D'un Divorce entre Norme et Discours sur la Norme. In D. Blampain *et al.* (eds) *Le Français en Belgique: Une Langue, une Communauté*. Louvain-la-Neuve: Duculot, 391–399.



Ryan, E. B., Giles, H. and Hewstone, M. 1987–8. The Measurement of Language Attitudes. In U. Ammon, N. Dittmar and K. J. Mattheier (eds) *Sociolinguistics: An International Handbook of the Science of Language and Society*. Vol. 2. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 1068–1081.

Van Dijk, T. A. 2006. Ideology and Discourse Analysis. Journal of Political Ideologies 11 (2): 115–140.

Utopia of Global Tertiary Education: The Discourse of 'Critical Thinking'

Xianlin Song University of Western Australia xianlin.song@uwa.edu.au **Greg McCarthy University of Western Australia** gregory.mccarthy@adelaide.edu.au

Contemporary Australian universities are situated in a multicultural environment where approximately one in five tertiary students is from overseas, ranking the third highest in the world after the US and UK. Despite the cultural reconfiguration of students' population entailing the urgent need for a recontestation and renegotiation in policy approach and pedagogical practice, the reverse has happened. In the name of quality assurance and accountability, universities have moved to implement a managerial agenda to standardize educational activities on campus, redefine 'graduate attributes', and enforce prescribed pedagogies and curricula on educators. Located in this context of surveillance, regulation and academic resistance, the policy of teaching 'critical thinking' has been mandated as the essential for all graduates by all universities in Australia. This paper examines the discourse of 'critical thinking' and argues that higher education in Australia can be understood as the dominant site of a neoliberal 'social imaginary' which not only frames educational policies, but also shapes the possibilities of students' identities and defines educational practices. This 'social imaginary', as defined by Rizvi and Lingard, is 'a way of thinking shared in a society by ordinary people, the common understandings that make everyday practices possible, giving them sense and legitimacy' (Rizvi and Lingard 2010: 34). In this utopia imaginary, all university students in Australia should become enculturated by a superior way of 'critical thinking'. Set against the ideal model to benchmark against the deficiency scenario often associated with Asian international students, 'critical thinking' as a central plank of an ideology serves as the primary infrastructure of this discourse. The paper calls for an alternative 'social imaginary' that reshapes the identities of international students in higher education, and advocates for an educational paradigm that regards everyone, irrespective of where they come from, as - in Confucius' terms - 'educable' and international not as a utopia but as a right of equal access to quality education.

References

Rizvi, F., & Lingard, B. 2010. *Globalizing education policy*. London and New York: Routledge.

Song, X. (2016) 'Critical Thinking' and Pedagogical Implications for Higher Education. *East Asia: an International Quarterly* 33: 25–40.



Translating news discourse on the Crimean conflict: Where CDA and Translation Studies meet

Anneleen Spiessens Ghent University Anneleen.Spiessens@UGent.be Piet Van Poucke Ghent University Piet.VanPoucke@UGent.be

This paper combines Translation Studies and Critical Discourse Studies to analyze the coverage of the Russian-Ukrainian confrontation in Crimea in "Western" and Russian media. It is our aim to underscore the fundamental and sometimes problematic role of news discourse in political conflicts, where it shapes perceptions, creates identities and influences attitudes (see also van Dijk 1988). In particular, our study illustrates the impact of translation, as a form of intercultural communication, on the news production process.

Translation, in today's globalized world, is not only an act of intercultural communication but an integral part of political discourse. Information is made available (or not) and that particular interpretations of reality are promoted or contested on an international level. We consider translation as a discursive practice in its own right, "socially constitutive as well as socially shaped" (Faiclough and Wodak 1997, 258), or, as translation scholars have formulated it, never "neutral" and "transparent" but "untidy and partial" (Hermans 2002, 11; Ieţcu-Fairclough 2008; Tymoczko 2007, xviii). Instead of being *just* a form of "relayed communication", it appears as the *par excellence* arena to reconfigure and "reframe" existing discourse through more or less subtle shifts (Baker 2006; Goffman 1974; Schäffner 2004).

Our analysis will focus on the popular Russian website *InoSMI* (ИноСМИ), a media project affiliated with *RIA Novosti* news agency that monitors and translates foreign press into Russian. We will explore how cultural understandings of the Russian identity are created, reinforced or contested in Western media discourse on Crimea, and how they are *reframed* on *InoSMI* through selective appropriation, shifts in translation and visual strategies, thus highlighting the potential richness of a multimodal corpus.

References

Baker, M. 2006. Translation and Conflict. A Narrative Account. London: Routledge.

Fairclough, N. and Wodak, R. 1997. Critical Discourse Analysis: An Overview. In T.A. van Dijk (ed.) *Discourse Studies: A Multidisciplinary Introduction*, Vol. 2. London: Sage, 66–97.

Goffman, E. 1974. Frame Analysis: An Essay on the Organization of Experience. London: Harper and Row.

Hermans, T. 2002. Paradoxes and Aporias in Translation and Translation Studies. In A. Riccardi (ed.) *Translation Studies. Perspectives on an Emerging Discipline*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 10–23.

Ieţcu-Fairclough, I. 2008. Critical Discourse Analysis and Translation Studies: Translation, Recontextualization, Ideology. *Bucharest Working Papers in Linguistics* 2: 67–73.

- Schäffner, C. 2004. Political Discourse Analysis from the Point of View of Translation Studies. *Journal of Language and Politics* 3 (1): 117–50.
- Tymoczko, M. 2007. *Enlarging Translation, Empowering Translators*. Manchester: St. Jerome Publishing. van Dijk, T. A. 1988. *News as Discourse*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.



If they speak in dialect, knife them: Normalized aggression and (extra)linguistic conflict in promoting standard Croatian on national television

Anđel Starčević

University of Zagreb astarcev@ffzg.hr

Propagating ideological views through national electronic media is arguably the most powerful method of normalizing them among the general public, i.e. turning them into dominant, 'commonsensical' and 'natural' ideas which are rarely questioned in public discourse (van Dijk 2001). Language ideologies are also regularly promoted as 'self-evident' and/or based on 'neutral', 'objective' scholarly work in linguistics. This paper deals with the portrayal of standard and non-standard Croatian in the language-focused program Jezik za svakoga [Language for everyone], broadcast three days a week on Croatian Radio-Television's Channel 1 [Hrvatska radiotelevizija, HRT 1]. The program often features sketches performed by professional actors which are aimed at drawing the average speaker's attention to 'common errors' in using standard Croatian and at their 'correction'. The present study investigates all such sketches available on YouTube and in HRT's online ondemand archive, aired between October 2014 and June 2015 (N = 20). Both the linguistic and the extralinguistic aspects of the material have been subjected to a critical analysis of discourse and ideologies (Verschueren 2012; Fairclough 2015). The results indicate that, even though the setting of the sketches varies considerably, their 'stories' and discourse steadily propagate several recognizable and interrelated types of language ideologies: (1) the ideology of the standard language (Milroy 2001), (2) the ideology of telementation by a fixed code (Harris 2003), (3) the ideology of constant standard language use, (4) the ideology of purism, (5) the ideology of discrete codes, (6) the ideology of invisible dialects, (7) the ideology of monosemy, and (8) the ideology of discrete literal and metaphorical meanings. The production of most average speakers of Croatian is stigmatized and classified as incorrect, and the sociolinguistic data presented in the program is simplified and essentialized through erasure (Gal and Irvine 1995). The sketches depict prescriptive rules as descriptive, while aggressive behavior and correction practices are presented as normal and/or entertaining. All these results point to a need for a critical reassessment of the manner in which linguistic issues are presented on national television, i.e. in which non-scholarly views and aggressive behavior are normalized as authoritative and as 'common sense'.

References

Fairclough, N. 2015. *Language and Power* (3rd edition). London/New York: Routledge.

- Gal, S. and Irvine, J. T. 1995. The Boundaries of Languages and Disciplines: How Ideologies Construct Difference. *Social Research* 62 (4): 967–100.
- Harris, R. 2003. On redefining linguistics. In H. G. Davis and T. J. Taylor (eds) *Rethinking linguistics*. London/New York: RoutledgeCurzon, 17–68.
- Milroy, J. 2001. Language ideologies and the consequences of standardization. *Journal of Sociolinguistics* 5 (4): 530–555.

van Dijk, T. A. 2001. Critical Discourse Analysis. In D. Schiffrin, D. Tannen and H. E. Hamilton (eds) *The Handbook of Discourse Analysis*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 352–371.

Verschueren, J. 2012. Ideology in Language Use. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.



The construction of roles and responsibility in "Europe's" migrant crisis – A study on news agency reports

Maija Stenvall Research Unit for Variation, Contacts and Change in English University of Helsinki maija.stenvall@helsinki.fi

The paper examines – what news agencies call – "Europe's migrant crisis". Hundreds of thousands of migrants have reached Europe, "fleeing war and poverty at home" (AP). In AP and Reuters news dispatches from late October and early November 2015, the migrants' story starts in Europe, most often in Greece; their past is referred to only fleetingly.

My focus is on the roles construed to, e.g., various European states tackling the crisis – often accusing their neighbours –, and on the issues of responsibility. States have metaphorically been personalised (on state-asperson metaphor, see Chilton and Lakoff 1995), and can thus be evaluated by Appraisal values (e.g., Martin&White 2005): Sweden is "tolerant", Germany "lenient", "tiny Slovenia" is "worried", etc. At the same time, migrants are often depersonalised: they are described – using liquid metaphors – as "the tide streaming toward rich EU nations" (AP), or as "the flow of around 135,000 people" (Reuters). AP even sees them as the symbol of humanity: "[t]he miserable wave of humanity".

Since these two global news agencies strive for objectivity and factuality, their journalists are cautious about naming the culprits for the crisis, and, instead, resort to an impersonalised style: e.g., "the surge of people spilled over from neighboring Balkan states" (AP). However, Reuters puts, at least indirectly, some blame on "hundreds of thousands of migrants whose chaotic movements have divided EU leaders and jeopardised the bloc's open internal borders". In fact, the images construed by the agencies of "waves" and "flows" passing the borders conflict with their other reports on refugees "stuck in the open" (AP), spending nights in muddy fields, and on migrants' determination to move on to "wealthier countries", such as Germany, Sweden, or Austria.

How to "stem the flow" is a central issue in this ongoing narrative, and, recently, stricter measures have been adopted. In March and April 2016, I collected another batch of AP and Reuters dispatches, to see if, for example, the roles of 'state-persons' have now been construed differently. Besides Appraisal, my linguistic analysis mainly draws on M.A.K. Halliday's Systemic Functional Grammar (1994), for example, on notions of transitivity and ergativity.

References

Chilton, P. and Lakoff, G. 1995. Foreign policy by metaphor. In C. Schäffner and A.L. Wenden (eds) *Language and Peace*. Dartmouth: Aldershot, 37–59.

Halliday, M. 1994. An Introduction to Functional Grammar (2nd edition). London: Edward Arnold.

Martin, J.R. and White, P.R.R. 2005. *The Language of Evaluation: Appraisal in English*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. London: Edward Arnold.



The discursive construction of leadership in corrupt times: Reinventing the leader

Arran Stibbe University of Gloucestershire astibbe@glos.ac.uk

This paper begins by conducting detailed critical discourse analysis of standard economics textbooks to reveal how they construct the identity of a leader. An unflattering ideology emerges of leaders primarily obsessed with their own power, status and salary, secondarily obsessed with the profits of their organisation, and not at all concerned about the wellbeing of workers, customers, society or the environment. If this portrayal of leaders in standard textbooks used across the world is seen as 'normal' and adopted then it could encourage the kind of profit-centred corruption that harms people and the environment this is becoming increasingly evident.

The paper continues by examining the discourse of actual leaders who resist this self-centred construction of leadership and perform alternative identities of ethical leaders whose primary concern is for making the world a better place (e.g., Anderson 2011). The basic distinction is between leadership based on the extrinsic values promoted in economics textbooks (e.g., profit, status, power and salary) and leaders whose discourse is based around intrinsic values, i.e., values such as relieving poverty, contributing to a fairer society, or protecting the environment, which are valuable for their own sake (Crompton 2010, Chilton *et al.* 2012). The methodology is an extension of cognitive linguistics, examining standard cognitive structures such as metaphors and frames (Sullivan 2013, Charteris-Black 2014), but also investigating other types of cognitive structures which manifest themselves in patterns of appraisal, modality and salience.

The first aim of the research is to contribute to critical language awareness (Fairclough 1992) among the next generation of leaders so that they can be aware of how dominant discourses construct leadership based on narrow extrinsic values. The second aim is to raise awareness that there are other discursive ways of performing leadership based on intrinsic values, and to describe the detailed linguistic features of these discourses. The aims are therefore not only to open up alternative possibilities for future leaders to base their identities on, but also to provide them with a practical toolkit of ways of to use language to perform these identities.

References

Anderson, R., 2011. Confessions of a Radical Industrialist. London: Random House Business.

Charteris-Black, J., 2014. Analysing political speeches: Rhetoric, discourse and metaphor. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Chilton, P., Tom, C., Kasser, T., Maio, G., and Nolan, A., 2012. *Communicating bigger-than-self problems to extrinsically-oriented audiences*. WWF UK.

Crompton, T., 2010. Common cause: The case for working with our cultural values [online]. WWF-UK. Available online at http://assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/common_cause_report.pdf

Fairclough, N. (ed.) 1992. Critical language awareness. London: Longman.

Sullivan, K., 2013. Frames and constructions in metaphoric language. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.



Power, discourse and 'the international': A Foucauldian discourse analysis of Higher Education strategy at two Scottish universities

Dalene Swanson University of Stirling, Scotland dalene.swanson@stir.ac.uk

Emma Guion Akdag University of Stirling, Scotland emma.guionakdag@stir.ac.uk

'Internationalisation', as applied in Higher Education (HE), loosely refers to activities that involve cross border, cross cultural or international connotations and has therefore become a 'catch all phrase' (Knight 2010:14). This paper argues that internationalisation in this context can also be framed within exchange relations according to Emerson's power-dependency theory (Emerson 1964), locating power at the interdependencies among actors embedded in social relations. The discourses of internationalisation may also illustrate Foucault's power-knowledge concept (Foucault 1977) which states it is not only power that has the exclusive right to generate knowledge, but also that knowledge/discourse gives power over people.

Discourse in documents is analysed from two different sets of data sources from two Scottish universities; firstly, publicly available documents that are specific internationalisation strategy reports and secondly, documents that are a strategy document or annual reports with a focus on internationalisation.

It is clear that internationalisation discourses in HE are dominantly managerial and corporate, contributing to what has become recognised as the ongoing neoliberalisation of HE institutes (Andreotti, 2013; de Sousa Santos, 2014). Furthermore, HE has become a terrain for marketisation agendas and a means to generating more income (Swanson 2011). As a result, it may be argued that HE has become synonymous with training for 'employability', threatening other historical moral intellectual and democratic purposes of universities, most importantly the scope for independent critical analysis (Levidow 2002).

This paper comprises of stages aiming to explore the discourses of internationalisation from a Foucauldian discourse analysis (FDA) perspective, with the intention of unpacking the work of internationalisation discourses, and how these discourses may shape the dominant view, hinting also at their possible effects. The aim is to reveal what knowledge is foregrounded, what alternative discourses are excluded, and to investigate how internationalisation is performed and effected. The analysis has been approached by bringing together a post-structural Foucauldian discursive analytic perspective and a postcolonial/decolonial lens in order to make a critical contribution by way of presenting an alternative set of meanings and judgements about internationalisation, policy, power and its possible influences and affects/effects in relation to ethics, (in)equality and (in)justice.

References

- Andreotti, V., 2013. Global Education and Social Change: The Imperative to engage with different discourses.
 In N. Forghani-Arani, H. Hartmeyer, E. O'Loughlin & L. Wegimont, (eds) *Global Education in Europe*.
 New York: Waxmann Publishing, 171–177.
- de Sousa Santos, B., 2014. Epistemologies of the South. Colorado: Paradigm Publishers.
- Emerson, R. M., 1964. Power-Dependence Relations: Two Experiments. Sociometry, 27(3), 282–298.
- Foucault, M., 1977. Discipline and Punish: The Birth of the Prison. New York: Random House.
- Knight, J. (2010). Five myths about internationalization, International Higher Education, 62, 14-15.
- Levidow, L., 2002. Marketizing higher education: neoliberal strategies and counter-strategies. In: K. Robins & F. Webster, (eds) *The Virtual University? Knowledge, Markets and Management*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 227–248.



Swanson, D., 2011. Parallaxes and paradoxes of Global Citizenship: Critical reflections and possibilities of praxis in/through an international online course. In: L. Schulz, A. A. Abdi & G. H. Richardson, (eds) *Global Citizenship Education in Post Secondary Institutions: Theories, Practices, Policies*. New York: Peter Lang, 120–139.

Micro–meso–macro movements: Analyzing the value of truth in neo-liberal policy texts through metaphors

Nadira Talib National Institute of Education, Nanyang Technological University nadiratalib@gmail.com Richard Fitzgerald University of Macau RFitzgerald@umac.mo

This paper presents detailed methods for constructing a flexible philosophical–analytical model through which to apply the analytic principles of CDA for the interpretation of metaphors across policy texts. Drawing on a theoretical framing from Foucault and the augmentation of Nietzsche's views on valuation, we sketch a framework for examining ways in which evaluative semantic categories can be linked to sociological theories in order to bring out their relevance for the purpose of Critical Discourse Analysis. This multi-level research framework draws upon a relationship between language analysis, the philosophical study of valuation, and political economy as a composite formulation of values through which neo-liberalism is discursively entwined and progressed through a system of principles of e/valuation.

Glocalizing Singapore: A Critical Analysis of Singapore's National Day Rally Speech

Peter Teo Nanyang Technological University Singapore peter.teo@nie.edu.sg

"Glocalization" is a term coined to reflect the marriage of local and global considerations especially in the business world. Originally used to describe a product or service fashioned to cater to local consumers while being distributed and marketed globally, the term has since been applied to a variety of contexts and domains beyond the business world. In this paper, I propose to examine the discursive construction of Singapore's national identity that endeavours to reconcile the need to adopt a global outlook to remain economically competitive with the need to attend to local loyalties in order to build a socially cohesive nation. Specifically, the paper analyses a National Day Rally speech delivered by Singapore's Prime Minister in 2010 to critically unravel the discursive strategies used to glocalize Singapore. Inspired by the theoretical framework of Critical Discourse Analysis and using methods of linguistic analysis developed by Halliday and van Leeuwen, it uncovers interesting patterns related to the type, extent and effects of various agency roles attributed to the government and people of Singapore. A transitivity analysis reveals agency over everyday affairs being assigned to the people while power to influence state matters is strategically reserved for the government. At the macro-discursive level, strategies that exploit specific references to local personalities, places and institutions to celebrate the success of the Singapore 'brand' as well as real-life anecdotes aimed at reifying and promulgating Singaporean values and attitudes are also discussed. Through this multilayered analysis of



the Prime Minister's National Day Rally speech, the study demonstrates how political discourse is used to manage and negotiate competing economic and socio-political imperatives and, in so doing, fashion a glocalized identity for Singapore and Singaporeans to embrace.

Stream of consequence: A critical metaphor analysis of parliamentary debates about restrictive politics towards Bosnian and Syrian asylum-seekers in Norway

Jovana Todorovic University of Oslo jovana.todorovic@stv.uio.no

Increased numbers of immigrants from non-Western countries has raised the question of how West European countries define and exclude *Others*. The process of national exclusion and inclusion is largely metaphorically constructed, just as most of the other social phenomena (Lakoff & Johnson 1980). Earlier research has shown how immigrants are often represented in the West in terms of WATER and INVASION ARMY (Refaie 2001), NATURE CATASTROPHY (Charteris-Black 2006), ANIMALS, SICKNESS, and DIRT (Santa Ana 1999).

This paper investigates metaphorical framings in Norwegian discourse on Bosnian and Syrian asylumseekers. Analytical framework is critical metaphor analysis; a combination of discourse analysis (Laclau & Mouffe 1980, Hansen 2006) and cognitive metaphor theory developed by Lakoff and Johnson (1980). Here metaphors are seen as a window into conceptualizations and classifications, which are building blocks both of discourses and social structures. The paper aspires on throwing light on the constitutive relationship between discourses and metaphors about *Others* and politics. The research question is as following: *Which discourses are dominant in Norwegian asylum debates about Bosnian and Syrian asylum-seekers? Which metaphors support these discourses and how can metaphors and discourses together contribute to illuminate different political crossroads?* The focus in on political elites and the data material consists of parliamentary debates.

In the paper discourses are defined by which groups they are setting upon each other and in regard to which groups the restrictive politics are being legitimized (Lynn & Lea 2003). The paper shows that different metaphors naturalize these discursive group divisions which form the ground for different policy proposals. The paper shows how asylum-seekers to which the more restrictive policies are directed to are often metaphorically referred to as STREAMS, WAVES, PRESSURE and BURDEN, while the other asylum-seekers and refugees are referred to as people. In this way metaphors themselves are the main legitimization tool for more restrictive asylum policies. The comparative research design makes it possible to make conclusions about Norwegian views on asylum-seekers from their own European yard, versus the ones from outside of it, but it also opens for generating knowledge on discursive changes and repetitions in asylum discourses.

References

Charteris-Black, J. 2006. Britain as a container: immigration metaphors in the 2005 election campaign. *Discourse & Society*, 17(5), 563–581.

Hansen, L. 2006. Security as practice: discourse analysis and the Bosnian war. London: Routledge.

- Lynn, N., & Lea, S. 2003. A phantom menace and the new Apartheid': the social construction of asylumseekers in the United Kingdom. *Discourse & Society*, 14(4), 425–452.
- Laclau, E., & Mouffe, C. 1985. *Hegemony and socialist strategy: Towards a radical democratic politics.* London: Verso.



Lakoff, G., & Johnson, M. 1980. Metaphors we live by. Chicago: University of Chicago press.

Refaie, E. 2001. Metaphors we discriminate by: Naturalized themes in Austrian newspaper articles about asylum seekers. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 5(3), 352–371.

Santa Ana, O. 1999. Like an animal I was treated: Anti-immigrant metaphor in US public discourse. *Discourse & society*, 10(2), 191–224.

Gendered discourses in a 'policy package for creating a society in which all women shine'

Ayako Tominari Hokkaido University

atmnr@imc.hokudai.ac.jp

This paper investigates gendered discourses (Sunderland 2004) in the 'policy package for creating a society in which all women shine' announced by the Japanese government in October 2014. The package is part of the policy to 'create a society in which all women shine' introduced by Prime Minister Shinzo Abe, the current Japanese prime minister. The policy puts importance on the 'potential power' of women to revive Japan's economy and make the society better. The package aims to improve various difficult situations Japanese women have so that they can realize their dreams and hopes regarding career and family choices. Although the policy including the package seemingly aims at female empowerment, some experts have criticized the name of the policy itself and doubt Abe's seriousness on the matter upon examining the bills actually passed by the government (e.g. Ito 2014).

I apply Critical Discourse Analysis (Fairclough *et al.* 2011) from a feminist perspective to analyse the policy package. At a glance, the package shows unconventional linguistic features regarding gender, for example: the word 'women' is frequently mentioned; women in various situations (pregnant women, single mothers, economically disadvantaged women and so forth) are prudently mentioned; and 'women' precedes 'men' when both are mentioned. However, an in-depth analysis of the text reveals a traditional gendered discourse in which women are at the centre of childrearing and caring for the elderly.

The paper demonstrates how both conventional and unconventional gendered discourses can be identified in lexical and sentence levels and the structure of the text, with an explanation of some features of Japanese language. The analysis indicates a contradictory position of the policy package. Finally, the findings are discussed in terms of the current government's attitudes towards gender and socio-political backgrounds of gender issues in Japan.

References

Fairclough, N. Mulderring, J. and Wodak, R. 2011. Critical Discourse Analysis. In van Dijk, T. (ed.) *Discourse studies: A multidisciplinary introduction.* 2nd edition. London: Sage, 357–378.

Ito, M. 2014 (November 22). Can women really "shine" under Abe? The Japan Times.

Sunderland, J. 2004. Gendered discourses. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.



"I said we should just be friends": Non-conforming Female Discourse in *Masters of Sex*

Laura Tommaso

Università del Molise laura.tommaso@unimol.it

The presentation of women on television has a longstanding history of one dimensionality. Though, more recently, they have become just as varied, alluring, confusing, loved, hated, complex, and fully realized as the men (Virdis 2012). And nowhere is that more evident than in *Masters of Sex* (2013–), the tv series based on Thomas Maier's 2012 biography. The year is 1956, and as Virginia Johnson (played by Lizzy Caplan) the single mother of two has just slept with the more senior medic, the audience waits for the expected *Mad Men*-style brush-off. Instead, the opposite occurs. "I said we should just be friends," says Johnson gently to her bemused doctor, before going on to explain that sex is sex and a relationship would be too confusing for her children. It might seem like a jarring, anachronistic intrusion of the modern, but it is based in reality: Johnson, who went on to work alongside respected gynaecologist William Masters (played by Michael Sheen), was a very unusual woman for her era – twice divorced by 1957 at the age of 31 and unapologetic about her sexuality and desires. As Michelle Ashford, the show's creator, has declared in a number of interviews, Johnson's appeal lay in her willingness to cross boundaries. What sort of linguistic performance may we expect? A discourse analysis will be applied as the main theoretical and methodological framework in order to investigate Virginia Johnson's "expressive character identity" (Bednarek 2010: 118; 2011) and linguistic features and how these features are used to mark distinct attitudes, values and ideologies.

References

Bednarek, M. 2010. The Language of Fictional Television: Drama and Identity. London: Continuum.
Bednarek, M. 2011. Expressivity and televisual characterization. Language and Literature 20 (1): 1–19.
Masters of Sex: Season One & Two. Writ. Thomas Maier. Sony Pictures Television. 2015. DVD.
Virdis, D.F. 2012. Serialised Gender: A Linguistic Analysis of Femininities in Contemporary TV Series and Media. Genova: ECIG.

The discursive construction of fear by the victims of the Chilean Military Regime

Elizabeth Torrico-Ávila University of Southampton Eta2q11@soton.ac.uk

This presentation aims at analysing the discourses employed by the victims of the National Intelligence Directorate (henceforth DINA) and National Information Centre (henceforth CNI) and observing the discursive strategies used by them to talk about fear, the DINA and CNI agents, and the concentration camps in which they were tortured. I will observe how fear is expressed by the victims focusing on the text they employ to describe the horror they experienced within those camps.



CADAAD 2016

I have collected the data from the commemoration of the 40 years of the Military Regime carried out by the Chilean TV programme called '*Mentiras Verdaderas*'. They broadcasted nine documentaries regarding the remembrance. The aims of the programme were to reconstruct the story, to bring light to the horror suffered by the victims of the Chilean secret police, i.e. DINA and CNI, to make their voices heard and their experiences known. Thus, by exposing those stories on national TV, victims hope Chileans face their past, learn from their historical mistakes and never repeat them again.

I have used a critical perspective to discourse analysis, i.e. CDA, to uncover the linguistic realisation of fear, actors and places involved in the events. In order to do so, I draw on van Leeuwen (1996) and van Leeuwen and Wodak (1999) to reconstruct fear as an actor, as actions and as circumstance. I thus rely on Halliday's (1995) systemic functional linguistics to elaborate on the relevant metafunctions. The preliminary analysis of the data has revealed some interesting patterns employed by the victims to talk about the terror they felt when they were imprisoned in the concentration camps. For instance, the use of metaphors to describe fear as an actor; the action associated with fear is sexual violence and denial; the circumstances in which such events took place are compared with hell and purgatory.

Finally, I construct knowledge regarding the discourses of the victims of the military regime by drawing on previous work on the field (Oteiza 2010; Oteiza and Pinuer 2010; Angelcos-Gutierrez 2014). The findings of this research will contribute to the understanding of Chilean contemporary history as well as its historical memory.

References

- Angelcos-Gutierrez, N. (2014). A cuarenta años del golpe de Estado en Chile. Vias para repensar la relación entre violencia y política. *Economía, Sociedad y Territorio* 14 (45): 593–599.
- Becerra, A. (2013b). *Mentiras Verdaderas Programa Completo*. Tuesday, September 10, 2013 [Online]. Last accessed March 3, 2015 at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1Kac4NlN67c
- Laso, G. (2013a). *Mentiras Verdaderas*. Tuesday, September 3, 2013 [Online]. Last accessed March 3, 2015 at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s61ImTrXFb0
- Letelier, O. (2013b). *Mentiras Verdaderas*. Tuesday, September 10, 2013 [Online]. Last accessed March 3, 2015 at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1Kac4NlN67c
- Oteíza, T. (2010). De la conspiración de silencio al reconocimiento de voces alternativas. Las violaciones a los derechos humanos en Chile según el Informe Valech. *Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios del Discurso (ALED)* 9 (1): 87–112.
- Oteiza, T. and Pinuer, C. (2010). La temporalidad, recurso estratégico en documentos oficiales de derechos humanos en Chile. *Estudios Filológicos* 46: 81–99.
- Rebolledo, J. (2013). El despertar de los cuervos: El origen del exterminio en Chile. Santiago: CEIBO.
- Reisigl M. and Wodak, R. (2001). Discoure and Discrimination. London/ New York: Routledge.
- van Leeuwen. T (1996). The representation of social actors. In C. Caldas-Coulthard and M. Coulthard (eds) *Texts and Practices: Readings in Critical Discourse Analysis*, London: Routledge, 32–70.
- van Leeuwen. T. and Wodak, R. (1999). Legitimizing immigration control: A Discourse-Historical analysis. *Discourse Studies* 1 (1): 83–118.



Late modern (non) identities. Operationalizing a pragmatic framework in a CDA of online self-representation

Eva Triebl Karl-Franzens University Graz eva.triebl@uni-graz.at

One of the defining features of the changing conceptualizations of self-identity in late modernity (cf. Beck/Beck-Gernsheim 2001) is a shift from relatively few traditional social categories perceived as rather permanent and affecting large-scale aspects of our lives such as work or family relations towards an increasing number of less permanent, smaller-scale social categories based on individual choice and agency (cf. Marko 2015: 11). In this context of an increasingly large pool of identity categories to self-reflexively choose from, the neoliberal pressure to have a 'competitive edge' (cf. Maier 2010: 502) and to be different (from a group) might be becoming more important than belonging. A further tenet of late modern identities is that we constantly have to manage them by monitoring which signifiers – from consumer goods to non-work-related practices, but also including discourse – point to which aspects of the self.

The starting point for the proposed paper is the assumption that any reference to a social category in discourse is thus part of an overall late modern identity management. I will examine this claim by focusing on one particular structure, viz. the negative identifier "I + copula + *not* + indefinite NP", in the genre of online discussion forums. Using analytical tools from pragmatics and Conversational Analysis in combination with a Critical Discourse Analytical approach, this study analyses which identity categories are referred to, how speakers dissociate from them and whether they are really used to manage wider implications of social identities or whether identity disclaimers are rather used strategically for local conversational purposes.

The data for this study is a corpus of 1.000 forum threads containing negative identifiers which has been annotated for pragmatic and contextual features.

References

- Beck, Ulrich & Elisabeth Beck-Gernsheim (2001). *Individualization. Institutionalized Individualism and its Social and Political Consequences.* London: Sage.
- Maier, Charles (2010). "Neoliberalism". In: R. Jackson & M. Hogg (eds). *Encyclopedia of Identity*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE. 502–505.
- Marko, Georg (2015). *Heart-healthy or Cardioprotective. A Critical Analysis of Medicalization, Health Promotion and the Discourse of Self-help Books on Cardiovascular Diseases.* (Unpublished habilitation treatise, Karl-Franzens-University Graz).



Constructing Hispanic Masculinity: A Critical Discourse Analysis of News Reporting in Two American Newspapers

Tommaso Trillò

University of Łódź Gender and Cultures of Equality in Europe – GRACE Project tommaso.trillo@uni.lodz.pl

A growing corpus of literature is focusing on the stereotypical representation of the Hispanic community in US news media. However, most studies so far have focused on the representation of the Hispanics community as a whole (e.g. Vargas 2000) or that of Hispanic women (e.g. Correa 2010). The few studies focusing on Hispanic masculinities in the media remained limited to the study of representations in the movie industry (e.g. Liberato *et al.* 2009). This study aims at filling this gap in the literature by offering a case study on how Hispanic masculinities are constructed in American newspaper reporting.

Critical Discourse Analysis (Fairclough 1985) was used to explore a small corpus of newspaper articles from the Tampa Bay Times and the Orange County Register over a five-year span (2010–2014). The ideological-discursive formations (Fairclough 1985; Foucault 1972) regarding masculinity in the corpus have been explored and outlined through close reading of the text.

Connell's (2005) concept of "hegemonic masculinity" was the key theoretical tool to interpret how Hispanic masculinities are represented in a hierarchy of conflicting masculine identities. Chavez's (2013) study of the "Latino Threat" narrative was used to contextualize the corpus in a broader narrative that racializes Hispanics as undesirable "others". Bonilla-Silva's (2014) "Latin Americanization" of US race relations was used to cluster observations in three main categories based on the classed, racialized, and gendered representation of the Hispanic men in the corpus.

Findings suggest that Hispanic men are object of an ideological-discursive formation that constructs them as a subordinated and racialized masculinity. However, the extent to which Hispanic masculinity is racialized varies with class status and engagement with a "white" American cultural repertoire.

Underclass Hispanic men are presented along the stereotype of the "macho" (Torres *et al.* 2002). This includes irrationality, and proclivity to violence. Middle class Hispanics are represented as individuals performing a hard-earned "bourgeois" masculinity. This implies a clear separation between public and private life, fatherhood, and ultimately economic success. Hispanics politicians are represented as performing a particularly successful masculinity thanks to their human capital endowment and their strife for self-improvement.

References

Bonilla-Silva, E. 2014. *Racism without Racists: Color-Blind Racism and the Persistence of Racial Inequality in America* (4th ed.). Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers Inc.

Chavez, L.R. 2013. *The Latino Threat: Constructing Immigrants, Citizens, and the Nation* (2nd ed.). Palo Alt, CA: Stanford University Press.

Connell, R.W. 2005. *Masculinities* (2nd ed.). St. Leonard, Australia: Allen & Unwin.

- Correa, T. 2010. Framing Latinas: Hispanic women through the lenses of Spanish-language and English-language news media. *Journalism* 11 (4): 425–443.
- Fairclough, N. 1985. Critical and Descriptive Goals in Discourse Analysis. In N. Fairclough (ed.) 2010. *Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language* (2nd ed.). Harlow UK: Longman, 30–55.



Foucault, M. 1972. The Archaeology of Knowledge. London: Tavistock.

- Liberato, A.S.Q., Rebollo-Gil, G., Foster, J.D. and Moras, A. 2009. Latinidad and masculinidad in Hollywood scripts. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 32 (6): 948–966.
- Torres, J.B., Solberg, V.S.H. and Carlstrom, A.H. 2002. The myth of sameness among Latino men and their machismo. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 72 (2): 163–181.
- Vargas, L. 2000. Genderizing Latino news: An analysis of a local newspaper's coverage of Latino current affairs. *Critical Studies in Media Communication* 17 (3): 261–293.

A diachronic discourse analysis of women's roles in partner relationships in Flemish women's magazines

Maaike Van de Voorde Vrije Universiteit Brussel maaike.van.de.voorde@vub.ac.be Martina Temmerman Vrije Universiteit Brussel martina.temmerman@vub.ac.be

The general interest in printed magazines is declining, but women's magazines seem to resist this tendency better than their general news counterparts. Their relevance cannot be underestimated since they contribute to the wider cultural processes which define the position of women in a given society at a given point of time. Furthermore, they help to create both the woman's self-image and that which society has of her. The popularity of these magazines, together with their great impact, warrants an academic interest into the way they have (not) responded to or contributed to contemporary ideas about womanhood and gender, and more in particular, the issue of women's roles in their (partner) relationships.

The present paper is part of a larger, historical study of the Flemish women's magazines *Het Rijk der Vrouw, Libelle* and *Flair* (1953–2013), in which we want to gain insight into the way these magazines articulate and represent women's roles in partner relationships. This paper presents the results of the first part of the study, namely the linguistic discourse analysis, in which we analyzed the textual representation of women, men and their mutual relationships. The research focus is diachronic: we started by analyzing the magazines of 1953 and then continued up to 2013. Inspired by the framework of Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) (Fairclough 1999; Van Dijk 1993; Wodak and Meyer 2001; Wodak and Chilton 2005; Machin and Mayr 2012), we have conducted a lexical analysis of the naming practices used to refer to women and men, and consequently, their mutual relationships.

The key findings suggest that women's relationships with men, although different, are still integral to the ethos of these magazines. As could be expected, the focus on marriage has declined. At the same time, the number of roles that men can take on in women's lives has increased, and, most notably, the presence of a loving man in women's lives is still a central theme.

References

Fairclough, N. 1999. Linguistic and Intertextual Analysis within Discourse Analysis. In A. Jaworski and N. Coupland (eds), *The Discourse Reader*. London: Routledge, 183–212.

Machin, D. and Mayr, A. 2012. *How to do Critical Discourse Analysis. A Multimodal Introduction*. London: SAGE Publications.

van Dijk, T.A. 1993. Principles of Critical Discourse Analysis. Discourse & Society 4 (2): 249-283.

Wodak, R. and Meyer, M. 2001. Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis. London: SAGE Publications.

Wodak, R. and Chilton, P. 2005. A New Agenda in (Critical) Discourse Analysis: Theory, Methodology and Interdisciplinarity. Amsterdam: Benjamins.



World War I in French and German history textbooks. A war without belligerents?

Patricia von Münchow

Université Paris Descartes – Sorbonne Paris Cité

Within the theoretical framework of what I call Cross-Cultural Discourse Analysis (CCDA), in the tradition of French Discourse Analysis and cross-cultural studies, this paper deals with the contrastive analysis of the respective chapters on Word War I in four French and seven German history textbooks, all of them recent and issued by major textbook publishers. The French textbooks are all designed for the ninth grade whereas the German textbooks are supposed to be used more flexibly in grades 8 to 10, depending on the Land. The German data set is larger than the French in order to include samples of books for the four different types of schools that exist in Germany at this level (Gymnasium, Realschule, Hauptschule, Gesamtschule or Gemeinschaftsschule) as well as for a variety of Länder.

Drawing on translingual categories such as social agency as expressed by syntax (van Leeuwen), nomination and discursive heterogeneity or more precisely representation of "other discourse" (Authier-Revuz), the analysis aims at showing which representations of the war the textbooks convey and what kind of relationship the authors construct between the students and the war era, as a historical object on the one hand, and as a learning item, on the other hand.

The results of the study show that French textbook authors try to construct a (contemporary) European perspective on World War I, which they do not always manage to maintain. Indeed, the "synchronisation" (Blommaert 2005: 142) of different "simultaneous layers" (*op. cit.*: 130–131) of discourse turns out to be problematic. German authors, for their part, operate frequent shifts in time and space, probably in order to reach the educational goal of "multiperspectivity" (Bergmann 2000). Various factors can be put forward to explain these results, such as history itself, historiographical traditions (Becker 2006), educational cultures (von Münchow 2009), didactics of history (Bergmann 2000; Lautier and Allieu-Mary 2008), editorial constraints (Macgilchrist 2011), etc.

References

- Authier-Revuz, J. 2012. Représentation du Discours Autre et catégorisation métalangagière. In Y. Grinshpun and J. Nyée-Doggen (eds) Regards croisés sur la langue française: Usages, pratiques, histoire, Mélanges en l'honneur de Sonia Branca-Rosoff. Paris: Presses Sorbonne Nouvelle, 157–170.
- Becker, J.-J. 2006. L'évolution de l'historiographie de la Première Guerre mondiale. *Revue historique des armées* 242. Retrieved January 14, 2015, from http://rha.revues.org/index4152.html
- Bergmann, K. 2000. Multiperspektivität. Geschichte selber denken. Schwalbach: Wochenschau.
- Blommaert, J. 2005. Discourse. A Critical Introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lautier, N. and Allieu-Mary, N. 2008. La didactique de l'histoire. Revue française de pédagogie 162: 95–131.
- Macgilchrist, F. 2011. Schulbuchverlage als Organisationen der Diskursproduktion: Eine ethnographische Perspektive. Zeitschrift für Soziologie der Erziehung und Sozialisation 31(3): 248–263.
- van Leeuwen, T. 2008. *Discourse and Practice. New Tools for Critical Discourse Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- von Münchow, P. 2009. Entre valeurs universelles et centration sur le sujet: Comparaison de manuels de lecture français et allemands. *Synergies Pays riverains de la Baltique* 6: 125–133.



Evaluation of 'communities' in migration discourse

Marie Veniard Université Paris Descartes marie.veniard@parisdescartes.fr

Melani Schröter University of Reading m.schroeter@reading.ac.uk Charlotte Taylor University of Sussex charlotte.taylor@sussex.ac.uk

Andreas Blätte University of Duisburg-Essen andreas.blaette@uni-due.de

In this paper, we address the evaluative use of 'community', and its equivalents in British, Italian, French and German newspaper discourse over the period 1998–2012. The study employs cross-linguistic corpus-assisted discourse studies (Partington *et al.* 2013; Vessey 2013; Taylor 2014) to investigate the four comparable corpora which were created using a set of search terms relating to migration. For each country, one centre-right and one centre-left newspaper was included to allow us to identify patterns which are more or less strongly associated with country and with political orientation.

'Community' was chosen as a research focus because the analysis showed it to be a significant collocate of migration-related terms and this led us to hypothesise that it could be considered a discourse keyword of migration. In the first stage of the analysis, the most significant collocates of 'community' from the four languages were identified and categorised, thus allowing for comparison of themes and senses relating to the lexical items. In this presentation, we focus more specifically on the evaluative functions of 'community' which became apparent from this process.

This aspect is of particular interest because, perhaps contrary to expectations (William 1983; Gallissot *et al.* 2007), communities were seen to be frequently negatively evaluated and associated with societal isolation and unrest. In the second stage, we investigate this further by identifying how salient groups are talked about when they are described as a 'community', e.g. 'the Muslim community' and how these groups are presented and construed when they are not referred to as 'communities'. Third, we explore the meta-discussion of community by investigating comments upon the word itself and (less frequent) terms which present community existence as a non-desirable state of the society (e.g. it. '*comunitarismo*'/ fr. '*communautarisme*').

References

Gallissot, R., M. Kilani and A. Rivera. 2007. *L'Imbroglio Etnico in Quattordici Parole-Chiave* (3rd Edition). Bari: Edizioni Dedalo.

Partington, A., Duguid, A. & Taylor, C. 2013. *Patterns and Meanings in Discourse: Theory and Practice in Corpus-Assisted Discourse Studies*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Taylor, C. 2014. Investigating the representation of migrants in the UK and Italian press: A cross-linguistic corpus-assisted discourse analysis. *International Journal of Corpus Linguistics* 19(3): 368–400.

Vessey, R. 2013. Challenges in cross-linguistic corpus-assisted discourse studies. Corpora 8(1): 1-26.

Williams, R. 1983. Keywords: A Vocabulary of Culture and Society (second edition). London: Fontana.



The Politics of Academic Knowledge Production: Movements across Centres and Peripheries

Dimitra Vladimirou Goldsmiths, University of London d.vladimirou@gold.ac.uk

Maria Daskalaki Kingston University m.daskalaki@kingston.ac.uk

Academic knowledge production and evaluation has been studied as a phenomenon situated across global and (semi)peripheral contexts (Lillis and Curry, 2010; Lillis *et al.* 2010). "Over the past two decades, academic journal publishing has risen from relative obscurity to become a global industry dominated by big international publishing houses...the growth in both demand and supply seems set fair to continue as more academics around the world are drawn into the game" (ABS: 11). This 'journal list fetishism' discriminates against emergent research, encourages attention "to safe and frequently trivial topics based upon conservative methodologies" (Willmott, 2011: 434), results in mimetic scholarship that reinforces hegemonic structures (Özbilgin, 2009) and discriminates against region-focused journals. It can also have an impact upon the marginalization of certain areas of academic scholarship.

Drawing on previous work in the areas of sociolinguistics and critical management studies this paper seeks to reflect upon the discourse of organisation studies in globalised contexts. We draw on 3 datasets of organization studies journal articles, with each journal occupying a different position in the impact factor continuum. Building on the work of Lillis and Curry (2010) and the metaphor of scales (Blommaert, 2010), we study academic discourses as practices that develop across vertical, hierarchically organized layers. In our analysis we first examine the epistemological profile of organisation studies, as reflected in differentially ranked journals located in European contexts we study We then explore the complex configuration of spaces/localities within and around which the production of knowledge takes place, by examining networks of author affiliations in relation to the identified sites in the empirical papers included in the corpus. Finally, we examine how constructions of the 'local' and the 'global' relate to the themes foregrounded in the aims and scope of each journal and we explore how discourses of the 'local' and the 'global' relate to key concepts in the field of organization studies, including institutions, alternatives and resistance, as well as power and gender.

References

ABS 2012. Academic Journal Quality Guide, version 4, *Association of Business Schools*. Retrieved April 1, 2012 from www.associationofbusinessschools.org/node/1000257

Blommaert, J. 2010. The Sociolinguistics of Globalisation. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.

Lillis, T. and Curry, M. J. 2010. Academic Writing in a Global Context. London: Routledge.

Lillis T., Hewings A., Vladimirou, D. and Curry, M.J. 2010. The Geolinguistics of English as an Academic Lingua Franca: Citation Practices across English medium national and English medium international journals. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics* 20 (1): 111–135.

Özbilgin, M. 2004. "International" human resource management: Academic parochialism in editorial boards of the "top" 22 journals on international human resource management. *Personnel Review* 33 (2): 205–221.

Willmott, H. 2011. Journal List Fetishism and the Perversion of Scholarship Organization, 18: 429-42.



The construction of hierarchy in secondary school group activities in Japan: A critical discourse analytic perspective

Zi Wang University of Duisburg-Essen (Germany) wz1205@gmail.com

Seniority-based hierarchical relations (*jouge kankei*) are prevalent in Japanese group dynamics. But where do they come from, and how are they constructed and maintained? Based on preliminary analyses of data gathered during a recently concluded ethnographic fieldwork, this presentation addresses the discursive construction of hierarchical relations between upper-grade and lower-grade students in daily activities, especially in extra-curricular club settings.

Considering *jouge kankei* as a social institution, this presentation shows that extra-curricular club activities at the junior and senior high school levels are places where such forms of hierarchies are introduced to young social actors through various forms discursive practice – the use of written and spoken texts as well as symbols. The analysis draws mainly from vignettes taken from participant observation field notes in three student clubs in two schools in Tokyo, conversation analysis of recorded interactions between upper-grade and lower-grade students, as well as text analyses of school and club documents.

The findings show that upon entering junior high school, young children in Japan experience immediate socialisation into the institutional order of age-based hierarchical system in and through talk. They acquaint themselves with values, routines, and norms that strictly regulate comportment, in particular when dealing with seniors (*senpai*) and juniors (*kouhai*) in their respective club activities. Besides the afore-mentioned findings, this presentation also makes a case for the application of a similar research methodology (comprising of discourse analytic elements) to examine the prevalent phenomenon of *jouge kankei* in Japanese group dynamics in other social arenas in future studies.

From protest to music video to on-line viewer comments: Shifting political discourse in social protest

Lyndon CS Way Izmir University of Economics Lyndoncsway@hotmail.com

Protest music may be defined as "a song which addresses a political issue in a way which aligns itself with the underdog" (Lynskey, 2010, ii). However, close inspection of protest music reveals specific resources and conventions are used to articulate discourses of anger, authenticity and populism rather than detailed and clear subversive politics. This is done through abstractions of who does what to whom and why, instead of directly addressing political issues. Much research on music and politics finds these discourses in lyrics. However, music is multimodal, relying on lyrics as well as visuals and musical sounds (Machin 2010). So, a close semiotic analysis of these modes is essential in unlocking the meaning potential of semiotic resources in music commodities. Using a promotional video from a sample of over one-hundred posted on Youtube from Turkey's 2013 protests, I perform a multimodal critical discourse analysis of the video to reveal how protest politics are articulated. I then examine how these politics are used by on-line viewers. I use Critical Discourse Analysis to



CADAAD 2016

analyse viewers' comments to reveal the political discourses they articulate. It is found that viewers use the comments not to discuss the protest or actual events represented in the video. Instead viewers frame their comments in terms of wider forms of allegiances to, and betrayal of, a true Turkish people and in the light of homogenised and reduced forms of history. These finding call into question some scholars' beliefs who present highly optimistic views of social media being instrumental in successful protest movements (Howard and Hussain 2011). Instead, what we find here closely resembles a poorly informed shouting match rather than a debate envisioned as a Habermasian coffee shop.

References

Howard, P. and Hussain, M. 2011. The Role of Digital Media. *Journal of Democracy* 22(3): 35–48. Lynskey, D. 2010. *33 Revolutions per minute: A history of protest songs*. London: Faber. Machin, D. 2010. *Analysing popular music: Images, sound, text*. London: Sage.

"A New Level": A corpus-based method for the critical analysis of gender-variant identity representations via Twitter

Lexi Webster Lancaster University 1.webster3@lancaster.ac.uk

This paper critically analyses identity constructions and representations among gender-variant people in an effort to demonstrate the heterogeneity of gender-variant identities.

'Transgender' can be considered a catch-all term for behaviours diverging from the current norm of binary sex-gender congruence, and the individuals who display said behaviours (Stryker, 2006). Here, I will use the terms 'transgender' and 'gender variant' interchangeably.

Within linguistics, Zimman is a primary – and rare – force in researching gender-variant discourse and identities from a perspective internal to the discourse, having studied the speech of female-to-male transgender persons in the perception of sexuality, and discursive constructions of transmasculine sex/bodies (Zimman, 2013, 2014). However, where Zimman uses groups of people with one specific identity, I aim to capture the semiotic behaviours of a variety of gender variant identities via Twitter.

The data comprises four text corpora: two corpora of user biographies and two of text posts (one corpus of each for 'general' users, one corpus of each for 'superordinate' celebrity users). The text data also contain key metadata, such as the number of times a post has been retweeted and the number of comments in response to the post. A 'visual corpus' of profile pictures also informs the analysis. The corpora contain the text data, profile pictures, and metadata of 4,500 users.

The methodology combines corpus linguistic (CL) and Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) approaches. A shallow corpus-assisted content analysis illuminates word frequencies and collocates (collocate frequencies, likelihood of collocation and strength of collocation), informing the identification of key features for in-depth critical analysis (e.g. the over-use of 'journey' metaphors by self-identifying transsexual persons, in comparison to other self-identification categorizations).

I utilise aspects of several CDA approaches. In-/out-group construction (van Dijk, 2009), though primarily aimed at identifying social elites among different social groups, can be used in identifying social elites *within* gender-variant discourse. The political nature of transgender history suggests that the historical narratives of transgender are also salient in the identity constructions and representations of gender-variant persons at



present. Hence, elements of the Discourse-Historical Approach (Wodak, 2001; Reisigl and Wodak, 2009) are also salient in the analysis.

References

- Reisigl, M. and Wodak, R. 2009. The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). In: R. Wodak and M. Meyer. *Methods for Critical Discourse Analysis*. 2nd ed. London: SAGE, 87–121.
- Stryker, S. 2006. (De)Subjugated knowledges: An introduction to transgender studies. In: S. Stryker and S. Whittle. *The Transgender Studies Reader*. New York, NY: Routledge, 1–17.
- van Dijk, T.A. 2009. Critical Discourse Studies: A sociocognitive approach. In: R. Wodak and M. Meyer. *Methods for Critical Discourse Analysis*. 2nd ed. London: SAGE, 62–86.
- Wodak, R. 2001. The Discourse-Historical Approach. In: R. Wodak and M. Meyer. *Methods for Critical Discourse Analysis*. London: SAGE, 63–94.
- Zimman, L. 2013. Hegemonic masculinity and the variability of gay-sounding speech: The perceived sexuality of transgender men. *Journal of Language and Sexuality*. 2(1): 1–39
- Zimman, L. 2014. The discursive construction of sex: Remaking and reclaiming the gendered body in talk about genitals among trans men. In: L. Zimman, J. Raclaw and J. Davis, *Queer excursions: retheorizing binaries in language, gender and sexuality.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 13–34.

From Phonograph Records to Movies: The recontextualization of pre-existing music into film soundtracks

Johnny Wingstedt Dalarna University, Falun, Sweden jwi@du.se

Since the early days of film, the practice of using previously existing music compositions and recordings has been prevalent alongside original scores composed exclusively for a specific movie. Examining how preexisting recordings are used for narrative purposes in film illustrates how discursive meaning is multimodally constructed and resemiotized across several contextual levels. On a cultural level the notion of *provenance*, where the music 'comes from', is of fundamental significance. Van Leeuwen (1999) points out how the semiotic potential of music may be influenced by the listener's ideas about and attitudes towards the era, culture, social group or social context with which a certain musical expression is associated. Such associations can be prompted by different semiotic levels of the musical sound; recognition of a specific song, a musical genre – or associations made on a micro level to certain ways of using semiotic resources such as rhythm, tempo, pitch and harmony.

On a narrative level the chosen diegetic position of music offers different narrative affordances and functions (Wingstedt 2008, 2012). Van Leeuwen (2008) takes a view on discourse as the *recontextualization of social practice* showing how elements of social practice, such as *participants*, *actions*, *locations*, etc., enter into multimodal texts. Music will, depending on if being diegetic or non-diegetic, contribute different narrative meaning potentials regarding aspects of cultural or situational locations and activities – often by means of musical genre or culturally known material. Diegetic music will typically contribute perspectives on narratively represented participants, in how they relate to the musical sound. Diegetic music also tends to be taken for granted by the listener, allowing for unobtrusive or concealed ideological statements, similar to how strategies of *presupposition* and *nominalisation* work (Machin and Mayr 2012).

In addition to how pre-existing music is recontextualized regarding cultural and narrative perspectives, the multimodal context - how semiotic modes constructing multimodal ensembles contextualize each other - must

CADAAD 2016



also be considered. Wingstedt *et al.* (2010) have described how the use of culturally known music, contrasting or complementing the visuals, will invite rhetorical narrative functions expressing irony and ideological dimensions. This paper will be presented using illustrating examples from film and television.

References

Machin, D. and Mayr, A. 2012. *How to Do Critical Discourse Analysis: A Multimodal Introduction*. London: Sage Publications.

Van Leeuwen, T. 1999. Speech, Music, Sound. London: Macmillan press.

- Van Leeuwen, T. 2008. *Discourse and Practice: New Tools for Critical Discourse Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wingstedt, J. 2008. *Making Music Mean: On Functions of, and Knowledge about, Narrative Music in Multimedia*. Doctoral dissertation. Luleå University of Technology, Dept. of music and media. Available online at http://epubl.ltu.se/1402-1544/2008/43/
- Wingstedt, J. 2012. Metafunktioner, dieges och interaktivitet [Metafunctions, diegesis and interactivity]. In G. Ternhag and J. Wingstedt (eds) *På tal om musikproduktion: Elva bidrag till ett nytt kunskapsområde* [Talking about music production: Eleven contributions to a new field of knowledge]. Göteborg: Bo Ejeby Förlag, 182–196.
- Wingstedt, J., Brändström, S. and Berg, J. 2010. Narrative Music, Visuals and Meaning in Film. *Visual Communication* 9 (2): 193–210.

Evaluation of research impact and the discursive construction of academic ethos

Marta Natalia Wróblewska University of Warwick m.n.wroblewska@warwick.ac.uk

The introduction of 'extra-academic impact' as an element of assessing academic work constitutes a major change in the way the value of research is constructed and conceptualised. Scholars, accustomed to being evaluated on the basis of the quality of their research – however that 'excellence' be defined and assessed (Lamont, 2009) – now have to face a novel challenge of proving that their work has brought about "effect on, change or benefit to the economy, society, culture, public policy or services, health, the environment or quality of life, beyond academia" (HEFCE et. al, 2012). This shift in the evaluative practices within academia has led to noticeable changes of both everyday practices of researchers and elements of academic discourse.

Attempts to introduce systems of evaluation of impact have been made in many national and supra-national contexts (eg. Netherlands, Sweden, Australia, EU), but the British Research Excellence Framework (REF) with its Impact Agenda is the most robust system implemented to date. In my doctoral research I focus precisely on the latter of the mentioned systems, looking at case studies submitted to the exercise and interviews conducted with their authors. I investigate in particular the co-construction, or 'problematisation' (Foucault, 1998; Rose, 1999) of the notion of 'research impact' and mechanisms of constructing 'academic ethos' (Amossy, 2001) in its context.

In constructing their academic self in the context of the evaluation practice, researchers draw on various resources: different concepts of academic 'merit' or 'value', disciplinary boundaries etc. There is a noticeable tension between institutional requirements, conditioned by structural trends of quantification, managerialism and audit-culture (or simply 'academic capitalism': Münch, 2014) and individual stances, shaped by academic traditions, disciplinary cultures, personal biographies etc. This tension leads to what I describe in my analysis as a growing distance between a front-stage and back-stage academic performance (Goffman, 1956). I will



attempt to present this process of distancing oneself from the front-stage academic 'persona' on the example of textual material.

The talk will hopefully stimulate reflections on (changing) representations of academic ethos in various national contexts, which can lead to a simulating comparative exchange.

References

- Amossy, R. (2001). Ethos at the Crossroads of Disciplines: Rhetoric, Pragmatics, Sociology. *Poetics Today*, 11(1), 1–23.
- Foucault, M. (1998). Polemics, Politics and Problematizations. In R. Paul (ed.), *Essential Works of Foucault* (Vol. 1 "Ethics"): The New Press.
- Goffman, E. (1956). *The presentation of self in everyday life*. Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh, Social Sciences Research Centre.
- HEFCE et. al. (2012). Assessment framework and guidance on submissions Retrieved from http://www.ref.ac.uk/media/ref/content/pub/assessmentframeworkandguidanceonsub missions/GOS including addendum.pdf
- Lamont, M.I. (2009). *How Professors Think: Inside the curious world of academic judgment*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Münch, R. (2014). *Academic Capitalism: Universities in the global struggle for excellence*. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.

Combining Argument Reconstruction-Based Critical Discourse Analysis, Computer-Assisted Data Analysis (NVivo) & Corpus Analysis: A New Approach to Studying Large Bodies of Political Texts

Rachel Wyman King's College London rachel.wyman@kcl.ac.uk

This paper details a new mixed methods approach to studying large numbers of political texts by combining argument reconstruction-based critical discourse analysis (Fairclough & Fairclough 2012) with corpus analysis and qualitative NVivo coding. The data being investigated in this project are 420 of U.S. President Barack Obama's *Weekly Addresses to the Nation* spanning 2009–2016. In order to examine the overall narrative that these speeches form, an initial corpus study of the 420 speeches was conducted to identify the lexical and semantic patterns in Obama's language. In the second step, the major argument in each individual speech was isolated and qualitatively coded into five separate functional argument units with NVivo: *claim for action, goal, means-goal, circumstances* and *values*. The functional units from each argument where then used to create five distinct corpora, which were additionally analyzed. The resulting data shows how Obama's arguments have been constructed in individual speeches as well as how his prototypical arguments have come to define his presidential narrative across eight years. These prototypical arguments were then evaluated with a focus on how Obama's linguistic representations of the world entered into his arguments in support of political action. The final part of this study is a critical discourse analysis of the overall narrative these 420 speeches construct, viewing it as a discursive representation of reality or an ideology in itself.

References

Fairclough, I. & Fairclough, N. 2012. Political Discourse Analysis. New York: Routledge.

Rose, N. (1999). Governing the Soul: The shaping of the private self. Sidmouth: Free Association Books.



Creating the Utopia of an 'Asian Education' in the French Media: A Journey into Nostalgia

E-Lynn Yeow Universiti Putra Malaysia **Regis Machart** Universiti Putra Malaysia rmachart@hotmail.com

The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) was first implemented by the OECD in 2000 to evaluate the academic results of 15-year old teenagers from different countries and territories in different disciplines. It takes place every three years and its results are largely reported in various national mass media, which in turn often take the publication of its report at face value — although its methodology is increasingly being criticised by certain academic circles. Venturing into the macro dimension, the media no longer uses the PISA tests as a tool to compare the level of individual students, but the achievements and/or failures of national/territorial education systems. Thus, newspapers and TV channels alike 'analyse' and repeat ad infinitum one of PISA's major 'outcomes': the continual rise of Asia (Shanghai, Singapore, Hong Kong, South Korea) which contrasts with the ongoing decline of Europe (in particular its champion Finland), while other countries (i.e. France) are blaming themselves for their relatively mediocre results. As a direct result thereof, European mass media have become increasingly fond of a new character: the 'Asian student'. Thus, in a country like France, the Asian student and Asian education in general have generated a large set of reportages, the results (or goals?) of which were to abruptly contrast an imagined, ancestral and hardworking East with a more 'modern', individualistic and leisure-oriented West following ethnic boundaries (Yeow, 2016). We claim however that the relative praising of 'Asian values' is in fact also a form of adulation for a bygone era. The discourse on Asian education presented in eight videos downloaded from YouTube (2010-2012) will be compared to the three seasons of the French reality show Le Pensionnat [The Boarding School] (2004–2013), which stages a group of teenagers who follow a 1950s-style education. By acclaiming certain achievements of some 'Asian' individuals, the French mass media seem to perpetuate a certain form of nostalgia.

References

Yeow. E.-L. 2016. French media critics of Asian education: A systematic quest for the cultural Other. In R. Machart, F. Dervin, & M. Gao (eds) Intercultural masquerade: New Orientalism, New Occidentalism, Old Exoticism. Heidelberg: Springer, 51–66.

Dialogic Analysis of Discourses of Familial Love in Russian Culture

Olga Zaytseva University of New Mexico oz0527@gmail.com

Familial love plays an important role in human life. Numerous books and movies depict relations between parents and their children. These relations (or a lack of such) leave their mark on the entire life of an individual, including his or her own parenting. Familial love is usually presented as private and unrelated to ideology, but cultural ideology is at the core of relations between parents and children. Analyzing individual experiences of familial love and their connections to prevalent cultural discourses may provide better understanding of selves,

discourses, and social realities and contribute to developing a more humane society.

Love plays a special role in Russian society and is often viewed as a core cultural concept. Love, including familial love, occupies a prominent place in Russian literature, art, and official ideology. At the same time, cultural expectations for expressing love are gender specific. For example, female existence is often viewed as rooted in and made meaningful by love (for her husband, family, and children). Thus, discourses of love work to perpetuate and reinforce the existing gender order.

This present study explores how Russian and Russian-American women experience love in their families and how those experiences are influenced by cultural discourses of love. The study includes 30 individual open-ended, in-depth interviews that involve not only questions about participants' lived experiences of love but also discussions of selected cultural texts (i.e., novels, poems, and songs), because fictional representations of love relationships are known to depict cultural norms, mores, and ideals.

The study employs the concept of dialogue as developed by Mikhail Bakhtin and the method of discourse analysis based on his ideas. In the analysis of the interview discourses, dialogue is examined on several interrelated levels, such as dialogue between the different love ideologies present in interviewees' stories and cultural texts; dialogue between the interviewees' ways of communicating familial love and the ways they perceive their parents' expressions of love; dialogue between the interviewer and the interviewee, etc. This analysis involves examining shifting speaking positions, changing footing, redirecting the message to a different addressee, and shifting interaction dynamics.

Transgender in the spotlight. The other-representation of trans people in the British press: A corpus-based discourse analysis

Angela Zottola University of Napoli Federico II angela.zottola@unina.it

In the last decade, transgender identity and the other-representation of the community has become seminal for scholars in the field of linguistics and, more in general, in society at large, due to the increasing attention raised in the social, cultural and legal spheres by public episodes such as the transition of former athlete Caitlyn Jenner, in the U.S.A.

In a society where gender diversity is one of the most discussed topics, language, due to its social function, takes on a major role in shaping and representing new gendered communities of practice. The existing binary and heteronormative linguistic categories, generally used in defining gender, are clashing with emerging communities, possibly leading to the creation of new hybrid, inclusive, non-discriminating discourses that comprise social, cultural and legal issues. On the basis of this popularity, the press works as one of the most active actors in the creation of this discourse.

Against this backdrop, the aim of this contribution is to investigate the representation of transgender people in the British press. Indeed, given the recent surge in media attention surrounding the announcement of the first transgender officer of the British Army, Captain Hannah Winterbourne, in January 2015, a corpus of newspaper articles taken from the major British newspapers, both quality and popular (Jucker, 1992), has been collected and will be analysed in order to determine the media stance on transgender people in the UK.

Within the framework of Critical Discourse Analysis (Fairclough, 2011, 1995) and through the use of Corpus Linguistics (Baker, 2006, 2008, 2014), this study focuses on the representation of transgender people and the specific lexicalization that might be attributed to this community. By addressing a comparison between

CADDAAI criteri Approximento Discon

CADAAD 2016

the two sub-corpora comprising popular vs. quality press, the strategies of 'legitimization' employed in the representation will be taken into consideration (Van Leeuwen, 2007). The analysis will focus on which linguistic choices are employed in the British press for the representation of the transgender community as a 'social subject' and their impact on the readership.

References

Baker, P. 2006. Using Corpora in Discourse Analysis. London/New York: Continuum.

Baker, P. 2008. Sexed Texts. Language, Gender and Sexuality. London: Equinox.

Baker, P. 2014. Using Corpora to Analyze Gender. London: Bloomsbury.

Fairclough, N. 1995. Critical Discourse Analysis. The Critical Study of Language. London, New York: Longman.

Fairclough, N. 2011. Discourse Hibridity and Social change in Critical Discourse Analysis. In S. Sarangi, V. Polese and G. Caliendo (eds) *Genre(s) on the Move Hybridization and Discourse Change in Specialized Communication*. Napoli: Edizioni Scientifiche Italiane, 11 – 26.

Jucker, A.1992. *Social Stylistics*. Berlin, New York: Mouton de Gruyter.

Van Leeuwen, T. 2007. Legitimation in Discourse and Communication. *Discourse and Communication* 1 (1): 113–139.